## Pulmonary immune responses against influenza A virus infection



Katrijn Neyt

# Pulmonary immune responses against influenza A virus infection

Katrijn Neyt

Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the degree "Doctor in health sciences"

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Ghent University, 2016







Inflammation Research Center A VIB-UGENT DEPARTMENT

Cover design: Kevin Verwimp

© Katrijn Neyt, 2016

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form without permission of the author.

Pulmonary immune responses against influenza A virus infection

Academic year 2016-2017

Katrijn Neyt

Laboratory of Immunoregulation and Mucosal Immunology Internal medicine, Pulmonary medicine, Ghent University **VIB Inflammation Research Center** Technologiepark 927 9052 Zwijnaarde Belgium

Promotor	Prof. Dr. Bart Lambrecht Internal medicine, Ghent University VIB Inflammation Research Center, Belgium
Co-promotors	Prof. Dr. Martin Guilliams Biomedical molecular biology VIB Inflammation Research Center, Belgium
	Dr. Corine Geurts van Kessel Viroscience Erasmus MC Rotterdam, The Netherlands



**fwo** Katrijn Neyt was supported by an Aspirant grant from Fonds Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek Vlaanderen (FWO)

#### Examination committee

Chairman	Prof. Dr. Bruno Verhasselt Clinical chemistry, microbiology and immunology Ghent University, Belgium	
Reading committee	Prof. Dr. Guy Brusselle Internal medicine Ghent University, Belgium	
	Prof. Dr. Geert Leroux-Roels Clinical chemistry, microbiology and immunology Ghent University, Belgium	
	Prof. Dr. Xavier Saelens Biomedical molecular biology VIB Medical Biotechnology Center, Belgium	
	Prof. Dr. Muriel Moser Immunobiologie Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgium	
	Prof. Dr. Guus Rimmelzwaan Viroscience Erasmus MC Rotterdam, The Netherlands	
	Dr. Michael Schotsaert Microbiology Mount Sinai School of Medicine New York, USA	

The most exciting phrase to hear in science, the one that heralds the most discoveries, is not "Eureka!" but "That's funny..."

Isaac Asimov

#### ABSTRACT

Influenza infections usually run a mild course, but pandemics with a more severe outcome can occur when the fragmented genome of the virus undergoes antigenic shift. The continuous threat of a pandemic combined with the ongoing antigenic drift makes that development of a universal protective vaccine is currently impossible. Therefore it is of great interest to thoroughly study the immune response against influenza virus infection as a better understanding of these processes can help to develop new protective or therapeutic strategies.

In this thesis we studied different aspects of the immune system with a focus on the heterogeneity of different cell types and immune reactions. A first study focused on dendritic cell subsets. We identified a maturation status of cDC2s that acquires typical cDC1 functions. This observation draws attention to the fact that a strict delineation of subsets and their function during steady-state conditions is not necessarily applicable to inflammatory settings. In a second study T cell subsets after influenza infection were studied in detail with a focus on the currently weakly defined CD4·CD8· double negative T cells. These cells reside in the lung tissue in a preactivated state and are recruited and maintained in a dendritic cell dependent manner. Functionally, double negative T cells were shown to control the balance of dendritic cell subsets. The scope of the last study is the involvement of the early innate IL-1 signal on iBALT formation. We show that the lung is already conditioned 2 days post infection. In this context early IL-1R signaling is crucial for CXCL13 expression and later iBALT formation.

#### **ABBREVIATIONS**

AMF	alveolar macrophage
BM	bone marrow
CD	cluster of differentiation
cDC	conventional dendritic cell
CDP	common DC progenitor
сМоР	common monocyte progenitor
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DC	dendritic cell
dLN	draining lymph node
DN T cell	CD4 <sup>-</sup> CD8 <sup>-</sup> double negative T cell
Dpi	days post infection
DT	diphtheria toxin
DTR	diphtheria toxin receptor
FDC	follicular dendritic cell
Flt3-L	FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand
FRC	follicular reticular cell
GC	germinal center
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
HA	hemagglutinin
HEV	high endothelial venule
IAV	Influenza A virus
ibalt	inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue
IFN	interferon
la	immunoalobulin
IL	interleukin
i.n.	intranasal
i.t.	intratracheal
i.v.	intravenous
LTi cell	lymphoid tissue inducer cell
LTo cell	lymphoid tissue organizer cell
MC	monocyte-derived cell
MF	macrophage
MFI	mean fluorescence intensity
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MLN	mediastinal lymph node
MoDC	monocyte-derived DC
NA	neuraminidase
NET	neutrophil extracellular trap
NLR	NOD-like receptor
NK cell	natural killer cell
NP	nucleoprotein
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
pDC	plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
RLR	RIG-I-like receptor
RNP	ribonucleoprotein
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
SLO	secondary lymphoid organ
SP	surfactant protein

T <sub>cm</sub> cell	central memory T cell
TCR	T cell receptor
T <sub>em</sub> cell	effector memory T cell
TF	transcription factor
Tfh cell	follicular helper T cell
Tg	transgenic
Th cell	T helper cell
TLO	tertiary lymphoid organ
TLR	toll-like receptor
Treg cell	regulatory T cell
T <sub>rm</sub> cell	resident memory T cell
WT	wild type

#### CONTENTS

Influenza8Epidemiology of influenza A virus infections8Structure and genomic organization of influenza A virions8Viral replication10Antigenic shift and drift11The innate immune response against influenza A virus12Epithelial integrity and antiviral soluble innate immunity12Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition receptors14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Epidemiology of influenza A virus infections8Structure and genomic organization of influenza A virions8Viral replication10Antigenic shift and drift11The innate immune response against influenza A virus12Epithelial integrity and antiviral soluble innate immunity12Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition receptors14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Structure and genomic organization of influenza A virions8Viral replication10Antigenic shift and drift11The innate immune response against influenza A virus12Epithelial integrity and antiviral soluble innate immunity12Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Viral replication10Antigenic shift and drift11The innate immune response against influenza A virus12Epithelial integrity and antiviral soluble innate immunity12Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Antigenic shift and drift11The innate immune response against influenza A virus12Epithelial integrity and antiviral soluble innate immunity12Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition12receptors14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections26De cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and
The innate immune response against influenza A virus12Epithelial integrity and antiviral soluble innate immunity12Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition12receptors14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Epithelial integrity and antiviral soluble innate immunity12Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition receptors14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory viral infection32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition receptors14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory viral infection32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Indeceptions14Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses16Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and34
Dendritic cells bidge innate and adaptive innitune responses10Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung16Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and
Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions18What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?19Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and32
Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses21Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid organs34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and31
Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections23Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and33
Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection26Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and32
Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses26B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory20viral infection32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and
B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies29Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory32viral infection32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and
Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratoryviral infection32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and
viral infection32Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and
Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs32Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth34Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures34Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs41Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and41
Inerapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs 41   Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and 41
Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and
immunopathology 42
Lung dendritic cells and virus-induced immunopathology 43
renary lymphoid organs in immunopathology 43
Aims and outline of the thesis65
IFNAR signaling induces a functional IRF8 module in type 2 conventional dendritic cells
during influenza infection 69
Double-negative T resident memory cells of the lung react to influenza virus infection via CD11c <sup>hi</sup> dendritic cells 99
Early IL-1 signaling promotes iBALT induction after influenza virus infection 125
Summarizing discussion and future perspectives 143
Nederlandse samenvatting 153
About the author 157
Dankwoord 163

## Chapter 1

### Introduction

Adapted from:

<u>Neyt K</u>, Perros F, GeurtsvanKessel CH, Hammad H, Lambrecht BN. 2012. Tertiary lymphoid organs in infection and autoimmunity. Trends Immunol. 33(6):297-305.

<u>Neyt K</u> & Lambrecht B. 2013. The role of lung dendritic cell subsets in immunity to respiratory viruses. Immunol Rev. 255(1):57-67.

Lambrecht BN, <u>Neyt K</u>, GeurtsvanKessel CH, Hammad H. 2013. Lung dendritic cells and pulmonary defense mechanisms to bacteria. In Prince A (Ed.), Mucosal immunology of acute bacterial pneumonia. Springer Science+Business Media New York. ISBN: 978-1-4614-5325-3 (Print), 978-1-4614-5326-0 (Online).

Lambrecht BN, <u>Neyt K</u>, van Helden MJ. 2015. The mucosal immune response to respiratory viruses. In Mestecky J, Strober W, Russel M, Cheroutre H & Lambrecht B (Eds.), Mucosal Immunology. Academic Press Amsterdam. ISBN: 9780124158474 (Print), 9780124159754 (eBook).

#### Influenza

Influenza, commonly called "the flu", is caused by infection with an influenza virus. Influenza viruses are negative-sense, single-stranded, enveloped RNA viruses with a segmented genome and are classified in the family of Orthomyxoviridae. Based on differences in the conserved nucleoprotein (NP) and matrix (M) proteins, influenza viruses are subdivided in 3 genera: influenza A, B and C<sup>1</sup>. Influenza virus A and B have 8 genome segments, whereas influenza C only has 7 genome segments<sup>2, 3</sup>. Influenza A viruses (IAV) are further subdivided into subtypes based on differences in the hemagglutinin (H1-18) and neuraminidase (N1-11) surface proteins (http://www.cdc.gov/flu/avianflu/influenza-a-virus-subtypes.htm).

#### Epidemiology of influenza A virus infections

Annually 5-10% of adults and 20-30% of children get infected with influenza virus (www.who.int fact sheet N°211). The virus mainly spreads via aerosols caused by coughing and sneezing. The aerosols can infect people directly or reside on the hands of infected people and be passed on via poor hand hygiene. Illness is usually mild and characterized by fever, coughing, headache, muscle pain, malaise, a sore throat and a runny nose. Occasionally, influenza viruses can cause severe illness and even death; especially in the high-risk groups including pregnant women, young children, elderly and people with underlying immune compromising disease.

#### Structure and genomic organization of influenza A virions

IAV is an enveloped virus with a spherical or filamentous form. The lipid envelope is derived from the host cell membrane during the process of viral budding and consists of only 3 viral surface proteins: hemagglutinin (HA), neuraminidase (NA) and Matrix Protein M2<sup>3</sup>(Figure 1). The HA is responsible for binding to the host cell and membrane fusion, NA is involved in viral budding and is necessary to release the newly formed viral particles from the host cell. The M2 protein is a pH-regulating ion channel necessary for viral uncoating. The viral RNA polymerase complex is formed by 3 subunits: Basic Polymerase Protein (PB) 1 and 2 and Acidic Polymerase Protein (PA)<sup>3</sup>. Furthermore, the viral particle consists of the M1 matrix protein, which interacts with the viral RNA, the RNA binding Nucleoprotein (NP), the Nuclear Export Protein (NEP) and the Nonstructural Protein NS1 that regulates gene expression<sup>3</sup>.

All viral RNA segments are bound to NP inside the virion and form ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complexes<sup>4</sup>. Historically it was thought that only these 10 proteins are transcribed from the 8 viral RNA segments of the IAV virus<sup>3</sup>(Figure 1) but more recently additional splice variants of the polymerase, matrix and non structural protein were defined<sup>5</sup>. Segments 1, 4, 5 and 6 each encode only 1 protein: PB2 (basic polymerase protein 2), HA, NP and NA respectively. Segment 2 encodes PB1 and the accessory protein PB1-F2 and PB1-N40, an N-truncated form of PB1. Segment 3 encodes the acidic polymerase protein (PA) and its related proteins PA-X, PA-N155 and PA-N182. Segment 7 encodes the matrix protein M1, the ion channel protein M2 and M42. Segment 8 encodes NS1,

NEP and NS3, an isoform of NS1. Table 1 summarizes the different proteins that are derived from the 8 gene segments and their respective function.



Figure 1- Structure of the influenza A virion

Influenza A virus particles are spherical and consist of a host-derived lipid membrane with three viral surface proteins (neuraminidase, hemagglutinin and the M2 ion channel) that surrounds the 8 ssRNA genome segments

SEGMENT	PROTEIN	FUNCTION	
1	Basic Polymerase Protein 2 (PB2)	Generating cap structure for viral mRNA	
2	Basic Polymerase Protein 1 (PB1)	RNA polymerase, RNA elongation	
	PB1-F2	Synergistic effect on PA and PB2, regulation of innate immune	
		response, pro-apoptotic, pro-inflammatory	
	PB1-N40	Interaction with PB1 and PB1-F2, not PA	
3	Acidic Polymerase Protein (PA)	Helicase and ATP-binding	
	РА-Х	Repression of cellular gene expression by degradation of host mRNA	
	PA-N155, PA-N182	No polymerase activity, exact function in replication cycle not defined	
4	Hemagglutinin (HA)	Fusion with host cell by binding to sialic acid containing receptors on the cell surface of host cells	
5	Nucleoprotein (NP)	Transcription and replication, nuclear import	
6	Neuraminidase (NA)	Release of viral particles from infected cells via sialidase activity	
7	Matrix Protein 1 (M1)	Separation of RNP from viral membrane, RNA nuclear export regulation, viral budding	
	Matrix Protein 2 (M2)	pH regulating ion channel, virus uncoating and assembly	
	M42	Similar to M2	
8	Nonstructural Protein 1 (NS1)	Regulation of cellular and viral protein expression, interferon	
		antagonist	
	Nuclear Export Protein (NEP, NS2)	Nuclear export of RNA	
	NS3	Host adaptation (hypothesis)	

Table 1 - Influenza proteins encoded by the gene segments and their respective function

#### Viral replication

The composition of IAV viruses is relatively simple as their RNA encodes for a limited set of proteins. As a consequence, they have to use elements of the host transport, replication, transcription and translation machinery in addition to their own proteins to successfully complete their life cycle<sup>6, 7</sup>(Figure 2). Viral HA recognizes and binds to sialic acid on the host cell surface. After binding to the host cell, the viral particle is endocytosed. This is a process consisting of two steps: firstly the viral envelope merges with the endosomal membrane; secondly the virion is internally acidified via the M2 ion channel, which allows the release of viral RNPs into the cellular cytoplasm<sup>8</sup>.



Figure 2 - Schematic representation of the replication cycle of influenza virus HA = hemagglutinin, NA = neuraminidase, SA = sialic acid, ER = endoplasmic reticulum vRNA = viral RNA, mRNA = messenger RNA, cRNA = complementary RNA

RNPs are then transported to the nucleus of the cell for RNA synthesis<sup>9</sup>. The negative stranded viral-RNAs (vRNA) serve as a template to synthesize messenger RNA (mRNA) and complementary positive stranded RNA (cRNA) that on its turn serves as a template to transcribe more vRNAs. The host translation machinery in the cytosol translates viral mRNA into proteins. The surface proteins are post-translationally modified in the endoplasmic reticulum and transported to the cell membrane via the Golgi complex. The IAV core proteins interact with the vRNA to form the RNPs. In the cytoplasm, the RNPs are assembled into newly synthesized viral particles that bud from the infected cell, thereby obtaining their viral membrane containing viral surface proteins. NA activity is crucial during this process to release the newly formed viruses that will next use HA to bind sialylated proteins on the host cell membrane<sup>10</sup>.

#### Antigenic shift and drift

The RNA-dependent RNA polymerase mechanism that synthesizes mRNA and cRNA from the negative stranded vRNA template lacks proofreading capacity and therefore random point mutations can be introduced in the viral genome during replication. Owing to this error-prone replication mechanism and the fact that the genome is segmented, these viruses are sensitive to undergo so-called antigenic drift and shift<sup>3</sup>(Figure 3).

Antigenic drift is caused by minor genetic changes that arise as a consequence of natural occurring mutations that are not corrected during the replication phase or due to selective pressure under the influence of virus-specific antibodies. This process can result in changes in the antigenic sites of the viral proteins. When the HA or NA surface genes are sufficiently altered, the pre-existing neutralizing antibodies might not be able to recognize the HA or NA epitopes and thereby the virus can escape the prior memory mechanisms of the immune response of the host, causing the yearly influenza epidemics.



Figure 3 - Genetic drift and shift of influenza A virus in the host cell

During genetic drift minor changes are introduced in the influenza A viral genome, which can result in a change in the antigenic sites of the viral proteins. When two different viral strains are present in the same host cell antigenic shift can occur. During this process gene segments are exchanged. H = hemagglutinin, N = neuraminidase

Contrary to the small changes introduced by antigenic drift, a new virus with antigenically unrelated surface proteins can arise when 2 or more viruses co-exist in the same host and exchange viral segments. This process is called antigenic shift. If the newly generated virus is efficiently transmittable from human to human, it can cause influenza pandemics like the Spanish flu in 1918 (H1N1), the Asian flu in 1957 (H2N2), the Hong Kong flu in 1968 (H3N2) and the more recent outbreak of Mexican flu in 2009 (H1N1) since no pre-existing imp munity is present in the majority of the population.

This flexibility of the viral genome is a great challenge for vaccine development. The circulating viruses in humans need to be monitored continuously to follow the genetic changes and predict future changes. Based on these observations the composition of the vaccine is adjusted every year. The vaccine generally consists of the 3 or 4 most relevant circulating viral types: 2 IAV of subtypes H1N1 and H3N2 and one or 2 IBV types. The vaccines are most effective when the vaccine viruses antigenically match the actual circulating viruses, but since antigenic shift and drift are random processes and therefore hard to control and predict, there is never a guarantee for total protection with the current vaccine strategies. In depth knowledge about the molecular and cellular mechanisms of IAV infection is therefore necessary to develop vaccination strategies that overcome the limits of the currently available vaccines<sup>11</sup>.

#### The innate immune response against influenza A virus

#### Epithelial integrity and antiviral soluble innate immunity

Because of their air-exchange function, the lungs are continuously exposed to particles from the environment such as microbes, allergens, mineral and organic dust particles and pollutants. Therefore a fine balance must be maintained between tolerating non-harmful particles from the environment and mounting a strong and protective immune response against harmful organisms that enter the lungs. To avoid immune reactions in non-harmful conditions, epithelial cells produce suppressive signals. Influenza virus aerosols enter via the respiratory tract and its first target cell is the epithelial cell. To be able to enter and infect the epithelial cells, IAV needs to pass intrinsic protection mechanisms such as the mucus layer and antiviral peptides that can prevent attachment and viral entry. The lining fluid of the lungs that surrounds the cilia of the ciliated bronchial epithelial cells is crucial for the functioning of the mucociliary blanket as this fluid contains numerous soluble molecules that mediate a first line of innate defense. These comprise, lysozyme, lactoferrin, defensins, complement and surfactant proteins A and D. Surfactant protein (SP) A and D play an important role in innate humoral defense mechanisms of the lung as demonstrated in SPA and SPD deficient mice that develop a more severe IAV infection<sup>12, 13</sup>. SPD serves to balance protection against alveolar damage and virus elimination by binding IAV particles, thus preventing infection of epithelial cells and facilitating the clearance of these particles by phagocytic cells<sup>14</sup>. Furthermore binding of viral particles to Galectin-1 decreases susceptibility to infection<sup>15</sup> and viral membranes can be destructed directly by LL-37

that is released from neutrophil granules and by epithelial cells<sup>16</sup>. Recent genetic studies linked genetic polymorphisms in the complement system proteins to the outcome of IAV infection<sup>17, 18</sup>. Especially component C3 was shown to contribute to protection<sup>19</sup>. In contrast, complement activation was also linked to acute lung injury<sup>20</sup>. Defensins can be constitutively produced by epithelial cells and neutrophils and in response to infection. They inhibit the infection of epithelial cells through direct interactions with the virus or through induction of aggregation of the virus<sup>21-26</sup>.

Once the virus breaches this first physical barrier, it can infect the epithelial cells, which results in the loss of epithelial integrity and subsequent loss of homeostatic signals.

Besides suppressive signals that are constitutively produced in the lungs, one of the earliest soluble antiviral proteins that are induced upon recognition of a viral threat are type I interferons (IFN). Type I IFNs consist of 14 IFN $\alpha$  subtypes (only 13 in humans) and one subtype of IFN $\beta$ , IFN $\epsilon$ , IFN $\kappa$  and IFN $\varpi$  that all bind to the type I IFN receptor composed of an IFNAR1 and an IFNAR2 chain<sup>27, 28</sup>. Type I IFNs are crucial for the defense against most viruses, including respiratory viruses. According to the classical paradigm, type I IFNs induce an antiviral state in neighboring non-infected cells whereby they inhibit protein synthesis in host cells and limit viral replication, a process often referred to as "viral interference"<sup>29</sup>. In recent years, many studies using RNA sequencing and RNA expression arrays have been performed in virus-infected cells, including those lacking type I IFN receptors. From these studies a common "type I interferon signature" has emerged. Genes often induced by type I IFNs are summarized in Table 2.

IFN INDUCED GENE	FUNCTION	REFERENCE
IFIT family	Inhibition of cellular translation	30
IFITM1-3	Control of IAV infection by interfering with viral-host receptor binding	31 32
1111011-5	and entry of RNPs into the cytosol	51, 52
ISG15	Conjugation of NS1, thereby inhibiting its function	33-37
	Interference with viral RNA replication by interacting with RNA helicases	
Mx1, Mx2	and viral NP Susceptibility or resistance to IAV infection is associated with	38-41
	polymorphisms	
	Creates co-factor for RNAseL which cleaves RNA, stopping (viral)	
OAS1, OASL1	replication; cleaved products activate RIG-I providing a positive	42, 43
	feedback loop for IFN production	
PKR	Limiting viral replication by a general block of translation	44
Tothorin	Holds newly produced viral particles at the cell surface; role during IAV	15 19
lettenti	infection is questionable	+5*40
	Activation of RIG-I signaling pathway, enhancing the type I IFN response	
TRIM protein family	Interaction with NP leads to proteosomal degradation	49-51
	Hampers RNA synthesis	
Viporin	Inhibits budding from the plasmamembrane of infected cells in vitro; not	52 52
vipenn	confirmed in vivo	52, 55

Table 2 - Interferon stimulated genes and their function

Despite the strong antiviral activities that are initiated by these genes before activation of the adaptive humoral and cellular immune responses, they are not proficient of preventing viral infections as IAV developed evasion strategies to temper the interferon response<sup>54</sup>. In the coming years, it will be important to unravel the precise importance of these individual genes in explaining the antiviral state in more detail.

Almost all cell types can produce type I IFN. As a consequence, the exact source of type I IFN during infections can differ according to the type of virus, the anatomical location and structure and the timing.

Activation of antiviral cellular innate immunity by stimulation of pattern recognition receptors

Innate immune cells have evolved to recognize conserved pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) through specific pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs) and NOD-like receptors (NLRs). Viral nucleic acids can be recognized by TLRs located in the endosomal compartment: DNA viruses by TLR9, ssRNA by TLR7 and 8 and dsRNA by TLR3. Viral proteins can also bind to TLRs located on the cell surface<sup>55</sup>. The intracellular RLRs RIG-I, MDA5 and LGP2 are present in the cytosol of most cell types and induced by IFN in a positive feedback loop of virus detection. RLRs are essential for induction of innate immune defense mechanisms and type-I IFN production in response to RNA virus infection<sup>56</sup>. RIG-I recognizes RNA with 5' triphosphates whereas MDA5 recognizes long and stable dsRNA<sup>57</sup>. Apart from the conventional RNA helicases RIG-I and MDA5, a new group of RNA helicases, DEXDc helicases, able to activate innate immune cells has been described<sup>58-62</sup>. It is currently unknown if lung immune cells rely solely on these helicases to recognize particular viral infections or certain phases of the replicating virus.

NLRs have a N-terminal effector domain for interaction with adaptor proteins. When PAMPs are detected, large molecular complexes, called inflammasomes, are formed. Activation of inflammasomes leads to the activation of pro-inflammatory genes through NF $\kappa$ B signaling in a two-step process<sup>63, 64</sup>. IAV virus infection predominantly activates the NLRP3 inflammasome<sup>65-68</sup>. In a first step viral RNA is recognized by TLR7, which leads to production of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  or pro-IL-18. Consequently a second signal uses the M2 ion channel to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome<sup>69</sup>, leading to activation of pro-caspase 1 to caspase 1<sup>70</sup> and subsequent cleavage of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  or pro-IL-18 into a bioactive form.

The essence of these PRRs is illustrated by the fact that many viruses have evolved evasion mechanisms to circumvent the activation of PRRs. For example, the non-structural proteins of influenza and RSV viruses evade immune recognition via PRRs<sup>71, 72</sup>.

Lung resident cells act as sentinels via their PRRs and can initiate the recruitment of various cell types to the site of inflammation. Epithelial cells are the first target cells for IAV infection<sup>73</sup>. The virus can cause productive infection of these epithelial cells resulting in the release of large numbers of infectious virus progeny<sup>74-76</sup>. The PRRs on their surface will recognize viral particles, which eventually will lead to induction of type I IFN and production of cytokines and chemokines such as IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-8, CXCL10, CCL2 and CCL5 to coordinate the innate immune defense to prevent spreading of the virus<sup>77-84</sup>. Infection of murine tracheal epithelial cells leads to induction of IFN $\beta$ ,  $\alpha$ 4 and  $\alpha$ 5, but not the other subtypes, in a RIG-I dependent manner<sup>85</sup>.

Alveolar macrophages (AMFs) reside in the lung where they produce IL-10 to dampen the immune responses<sup>86-89</sup>. When pathogens enter the respiratory system, the phagocytic AMFs are crucial as a first line of defense against IAV infection as they constitute over 90% of the cells in the naïve lung<sup>90-95</sup>. Studies in IFNα reporter mice have revealed that AMFs can also be massive producers of type I IFNs after intranasal infection with certain RNA viruses<sup>96, 97</sup>. During influenza infection, epithelial cells produce CCL2 in a type I IFN dependent manner, which attracts CCR2<sup>+</sup> monocytes from the blood into the lung<sup>91, 98</sup>. These monocytes can differentiate into macrophages or monocyte-derived dendritic cells and have the duality of being protective and harmful for the lung environment<sup>91, 99</sup>. Furthermore tissue resident macrophages and DCs produce CCL2 for self-amplification of early infiltrated Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocytes upon type I IFN produced from epithelial cells<sup>100</sup>. Recruited monocytic cells can serve as reservoirs for influenza virus replication early following infection<sup>101</sup>.

Neutrophils form the phagocytic compartment together with macrophages and are the first white blood cells that are recruited to the sites of inflammation<sup>94, 95</sup>. They are equipped with multiple strategies to eliminate pathogens. Upon encounter with a pathogen, neutrophils phagocytose the organism and kill it by production of reactive oxygen species<sup>102, 103</sup> or by the release of antibacterial peptides from its granules<sup>16, 21, 24, 104-107</sup>. These proteins can also be released directly in the extracellular milieu to kill organisms without phagocytosing them. Whether neutrophils take up viral particles directly<sup>108</sup> or via ingestion of infected epithelial cells<sup>95</sup> remains a matter of debate. In either case, they are not permissive for productive infection<sup>95, 109, 110</sup>. An additional killing mechanism is the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). These NETs are composed of a DNA element to which histories, proteins and enzymes that are released from the neutrophil granules are attached. This forms a network where pathogens can be "trapped" to facilitate phagocytosis and prevent their spread<sup>111</sup>. The recruitment of neutrophils during IAV infection reduces the disease severity by limiting viral replication<sup>94, 112-114</sup>. Besides effector cells participating in the early responses, neutrophils can also participate in the adaptive response. They can acquire antigen-presenting functions and thereby contribute to the adaptive immune response and induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses<sup>115-118</sup>.

Another cell type responsible for the first-line defense against infections is the natural killer (NK) cell. They reside in the healthy lung, but are further recruited from the blood to the lung by type I IFN of epithelial cells within the first days after infection<sup>100, 119, 120</sup>. Neutrophils are required for NK cell homeostasis and function<sup>121</sup>. During influenza virus infection, type I IFN-signaling on NK cells is necessary for their activation and expression of the cytolytic effector function and production of IFNy<sup>122-124</sup>. NK cells are involved in regulating viral clearance<sup>125-130</sup> and are also important for epithelial tissue regeneration<sup>131</sup> thereby limiting morbidity and mortality. The NKp46 NK cell receptor interacts with viral HA and this interaction leads to enhanced cytotoxicity against the infected cells<sup>132-136</sup>. NK cells not only limit the viral replication by killing infected cells prior to the full activation of the adaptive immune response<sup>137</sup>, they are also involved in initiating this adaptive response<sup>138, 139</sup>. In contrast to the protective roles of NK cells, some studies described an exacerbating role of NK cells on morbidity and pathology<sup>140, 141</sup>. Most likely, the dual role of NK cells depends on the viral dose and pathogenicity of the different influenza subtypes<sup>142</sup>. Because of the import first-line defense mechanisms of NK cells, IAV virus has also evolved mechanisms to evade or escape NK cell recognition<sup>143-146</sup>.

#### Dendritic cells bridge innate and adaptive immune responses

To cope with the continuous exposition to foreign particles, the lung is equipped with an elaborate network of dendritic cells (DCs). DCs are the so-called sentinels of the immune system that link sensing by ancient innate immune system receptors to activation of adaptive immunity. Ralph Steinman identified them in 1973 as cells with processes or "dendrites"<sup>147-149</sup> that are functionally distinct from macrophages by their ability to stimulate naïve T cells in mixed-lymphocyte reactions<sup>150, 151</sup>.

Although once identified as a single cell type, it is now clear that DCs have many faces. In the lungs, DC subsets perform different tasks of antigen sampling, recognition of pathogens and allergens, migration to lymph nodes, induction of cellular CD4 or CD8 immunity, and production of inflammatory chemokines. As a result many different subsets have been described by various investigators in the last 40 years. A major pitfall when studying DCs is that the poor consistency in nomenclature that is used to describe different subsets makes it hard to compare studies. To create a more robust nomenclature, a classification system based on two levels was recently proposed<sup>152</sup> and summarized in Table 3. The first level is based on ontogeny and makes a distinction between monocytes and monocyte-derived cells (MCs) that are derived from the common monocyte progenitor (cMoP) and dendritic cells (DCs) that are derived from the common DC precursor (CDP)<sup>153, 154</sup>. The second level subdivides the true DCs into three major subtypes based on the developmental pathway. The conventional DCs (cDC) develop from the CDP via the pre-cDC stage into either cDC1s (BATF3<sup>155-157</sup>, Id2<sup>157-159</sup> and IRF8<sup>160-162</sup> dependent, CD103<sup>+</sup> and CD8α<sup>+</sup> DCs) or cDC2s (IRF4<sup>162-165</sup>, ZEB2<sup>166</sup> and KLF4<sup>167, 168</sup> or NOTCH2<sup>169, 170</sup> dependent, CD11b<sup>+</sup> and Sirp1a (CD172a)<sup>+</sup> DCs). The pre-pDC gives rise to pDCs in an E2-2 dependent manner<sup>171-173</sup>. Next to the pre-pDC origin, a lymphoid origin has been suggested for the pDC population<sup>174-181</sup> but as most of these studies were performed in vitro or by transfer of precursors into irradiated mice, the true in vivo relevance remains a matter of debate<sup>182, 183</sup>.

#### Dendritic cell subsets in the steady state mouse lung

Any discussion on the biology of DCs needs to consider the heterogeneity of these cells in various tissues and anatomical locations. In the absence of inflammation, lung conventional DCs can be subdivided in three distinct subsets based on the expression of a combination of specific cell surface markers and their ontogeny (Table 3): CD11c<sup>hi</sup> CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s that belong to the CD8a-type cDCs, CD11c<sup>hi</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2s and CD11c<sup>dim</sup> pDCs<sup>184, 185</sup>. Conventional DCs are differentially distributed in the lung (Figure 4). In the epithelial layer of the conducting airways a network of CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup> cDC1s can be found<sup>186-188</sup>. They form long cellular extensions that run in between the basolateral space made up of basal epithelial cells. The lamina propria, which is positioned below the basement membrane, contains CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2s<sup>189-191</sup>. These DCs are CD103<sup>-</sup>, but upon inflammation some of these cells can acquire a CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> phenotype as observed in the intestine<sup>192</sup>. Next to conventional DCs, the conducting airways also contain pDCs<sup>186, 193-195</sup>. In the parenchymal compartment of the lung, gas exchange is taking place at the alveolocapillary membrane. Both CD11b<sup>+</sup> and CD11b<sup>-</sup> cDCs and pDCs are found in the alveolar septa of the lung parenchyma<sup>196</sup>. So-called patrolling monocytes, mainly expressing CX3CR1 and CD11b, can patrol the vessel wall of the pulmonary arterial vasculature and can capture injected embolic material<sup>197, 198</sup>. Little is known about the subpleural DCs that were described in the first articles on lung DCs<sup>199</sup>, but it is likely that these are either inside or on their way to afferent lymphatics that are found in the visceral pleura and drain antigen to the regional lymph nodes.

SUBSET	MOUSE	HUMAN PRECURSOR TRANSCRIPTION		MARKERS USED FOR	
	SUBSET	SUBSET		FACTOR	IDENTIFICATION
cDC1	CD103+ CD8α+ XCR1+ DC	CD141+ (BDCA3) XCR1+	CDP ↓ Pre-cDC	IRF8 Id2 BATF3 (can be compensated by other BATF factors <sup>157</sup> )	CD11c <sup>hi</sup> CD11b <sup>low</sup> XCR1+ Clec9a/DNGR-1+ MAR-1- CD64- SIRPa- CD24+ CD103+ CD207+(Langerin) F4-80 <sup>low</sup>
cDC2	CD11b⁺ DC	CD1c⁺ (BDCA1)	CDP ↓ Pre-cDC	IRF4 ZEB2 NOTCH2 KIf4	CD11c <sup>hi</sup> CD11b <sup>+</sup> SIRPa <sup>+</sup> MAR-1 <sup>-</sup> CD64 <sup>-</sup> CD103 <sup>+/-</sup> (a) CD24 <sup>+/-</sup> (b) CX3CR1 <sup>int</sup> F4-80 <sup>int</sup>
pDC	pDC	BDCA4+ BDCA2+	CDP ↓ Pre-pDC	IRF8 E2-2 ZEB2	CD11c <sup>dim</sup> CD11b <sup>low</sup> Siglec H+ MAR-1 <sup>-</sup> CD64 <sup>-</sup> F4-80 <sup>low</sup> Ly6C+ BST-2/PDCA1(120G8)+
MC	Ly6C <sup>h</sup> (TipDC) MoDC	CD14+ CD16 <sup>.</sup>	cMoP ↓ monocyte	IRF8 PU.1	CD11c <sup>hi</sup> CD11b+ Ly6C <sup>hi/-</sup> (c) F4/80+ MerTk <sup>int</sup> MAR-1+ CD64+

Table 3 - Mapping of the existing dendritic cell subsets according to the new nomenclature

a: small fraction expresses CD103 upon inflammation in the lung, but this subset is predominant in the gut b: can be heterogeneous for CD24 – e.g. in heart and skin

c: Ly6C is rapidly downregulated when entering the tissue

cDC = conventional DC, pDC = plasmacytoid DC, MC = monocyte-derived cell Markers indicated in italic and bold are used to define DC subsets throughout this thesis





cDC1s (CD103+ CD11b-) extend their dendrites in between the pulmonary epithelium; cDC2s (CD103-CD11b+) and pDCs (B220+PDCA1+) are located in the lamina propria; alveolar macrophages (MF), cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs reside in the alveolar septa. During inflammation, inflammatory monocyte-derived cells (MC) are recruited to the lung in addition to cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs.

#### Mouse dendritic cell subsets in inflammatory conditions

When the lungs are challenged with foreign antigen, for example during IAV infection, additional CD11b<sup>+</sup> monocyte-derived cells (MC) with a DC-like phenotype, historically called MoDCs, are recruited to the conducting airways and lung parenchyma (Figure 4). Although it is clear that monocytes can acquire features typically associated with cDCs (antigen-presentation for example) upon their differentiation during inflammation, it is often difficult to distinguish MCs from cDC2s. This is due to the fact that both MCs and cDC2s express CD11c, MHC II, CD172a and CD11b. As a consequence, it is now clear that many studies have been focusing on a mixture of MCs and cDC2s. Ly6C was for example proposed as a marker to distinguish CD11b+ cDC2s from CD11b<sup>+</sup> MCs because it is highly expressed on monocytes<sup>186, 191, 200-202</sup>. One major drawback to the use of Ly6C as discriminative marker is the fact that Ly6C is rapidly downregulated when monocytes differentiate into DC-like or macrophage-like cells<sup>203-205</sup>. Next to the use of Ly6C, caution should also be taken when analyzing the monocyte-origin of cell types based solely on their CCR2-dependency. Ly6Chi monocytes require CCR2 to egress from the bone marrow into the bloodstream and as a result Ccr2-deficient mice have much less LyC6<sup>hi</sup> monocytes in circulation<sup>206, 207</sup>. Therefore the dependency on CCR2 has been typically used as argument to propose the monocytic origin of phagocytes<sup>205, 207-209</sup>. However, it has recently been shown that a fraction of pre-cDC-derived CD11b<sup>+</sup> intestinal cDC2s express CCR2 and depend on this receptor for their development and/or survival<sup>210</sup>, indicating that CCR2-expression and CCR2-dependency does not necessarily imply monocytic origin. In my view, a good way to complement CCR2-dependency studies is to transfer the pre-cDC and monocyte progenitors and follow their fate in vivo with a cell tracer.

An alternative surface marker that has been proposed to be MC specific is the MAR-1 antibody directed against the  $\alpha$  subunit of the high-affinity IgE receptor (Fc $\epsilon$ RI). Lung DCs recruited in response to viral infection and allergen challenge stain strongly with the MAR-1 antibody, whereas steady-state cDC2s do not<sup>202, 211</sup>. In addition, several groups have described the use of the high affinity IgG receptor, CD64, in discriminating MCs from cDCs. In the skin, muscle, gut and lung CD64 has been proposed to stain MCs and macrophages, but not cDCs<sup>165, 205, 208, 209, 212</sup>. Therefore the combination of both CD64 and MAR-1 expression was proposed as a method to discriminate between MCs and cDCs in the lung and mediastinal lymph node (MLN)<sup>205</sup>. Recent data from the Immgen Consortium (http://www.immgen.org) has also identified CD64 and MerTk as markers of macrophages and MCs but not cDCs.

We have previously found that CD64<sup>+</sup> cells are already present in the steady-state lungs, where they account for about 25% of the CD11b+CD11c+MHCII+ lung cells. The fact that MCs are present amongst the CD11b<sup>+</sup> population of lung DCs also explains why previous work reporting on the use of LysM-Cre mediated lineage tagging found a high percentage of LysM-Cre tagged cells in the steady state lung DC population whereas only some CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDCs express LysM<sup>213</sup>. Recently, both cDC subsets but not MCs were shown to specifically express Zbtb46, a transcription factor that seems highly specific for cDCs and which in the future should be helpful for proper identification of cDCs<sup>214, 215</sup>. Zbtb46 is not required for development of cDCs, but is a negative regulator of DC activation that is downregulated upon TLR stimulation<sup>216</sup>. Zbtb46 reporter mice only show tagging of up to 50% of lung CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs, whereas virtually all CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s are expressing Zbtb46, indicating the high prevalence of MCs in the CD11b<sup>+</sup> gate<sup>215</sup>. The recently developed Zbtb reporter (zDC<sup>GFP</sup>) mice and conditional knockout mice (zDC<sup>iCre</sup> and zDC<sup>Cre</sup>) now provide powerful tools to study cDCs<sup>217, 218</sup>. Moreover, once the cDC phenotype is determined, one can specifically target cDC1s by using the XCR1-DTR<sup>219</sup> or Karma mice<sup>220,221</sup>. These observations point out that results obtained by studying CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs should be interpreted with caution as this population is heterogeneously composed of cDCs and MCs when no additional markers are used to separate both cell types. An overview of the markers, transcription factors and developmental signals is shown in Table 3.

#### What is the true nature of the monocyte-derived cell?

Macrophages (MFs) are generally long-lived and derived from embryonic precursors<sup>222-225</sup>. They are not one uniform cell type throughout the body, but acquire tissue-specific gene expression profiles and specific characteristics based on the imprinting by their micro-environment<sup>226-228</sup>. However, it was recently shown that BM-derived monocytes could also differentiate into self-maintaining MFs that are transcriptionally and functionally equivalent to their embryonic counterparts when they get access to the macrophage niche<sup>229, 230</sup>.

As discussed above, monocytes can also acquire DC characteristics and in this case they are often referred to as MoDCs. The standard protocol to culture DCs from bone marrow<sup>231</sup> and peripheral blood monocytes (PBMCs)<sup>232</sup> makes use of GM-CSF. These protocols enabled us to isolate large amounts of DCs for in vitro studies. Recent in vivo transfer studies showed however that monocytes could develop into DCs when GM-CSF is present but that monocytes are not able to reconstitute the cDC compartment<sup>154, 233-235</sup>. This raised questions about the true nature of these GM-CSF DCs. The total DC population usually consists of an MHCII<sup>int</sup> and an MHCII<sup>hi</sup> population, historically considered immature and mature MoDCs respectively. However, recently it was shown that GM-CSF DCs also contain contaminating cDC2s<sup>236</sup>. As a result, MHCII<sup>hi</sup> cells consist of a mixture of cells derived from CDPs and cMoPs, in contrast the MHCIlint cells are mainly derived from cMoPs. Although, not recognized as such at the time, single-cell RNA-Seg also identified two subsets of cells in these cultures with only one of them being very DC-like<sup>237</sup>. Based on micro-array analysis, the CDP-derived DCs in the culture are most closely related to cDC2s. In accordance, their development is controlled by IRF4. In contrast, the cMoP/monocyte-derived cells in the culture were proposed to be macrophage-like cells but did not cluster with any known in vivo macrophage population, underlining the importance of tissue imprinting for macrophages. This learns that conclusions made based on in vitro cultured GM-CSF DCs should be reconsidered in the light of the fact that these cultures are also monocyte-derived cells but contain contaminating cDC2s.

MCs can simultaneously express macrophage (CD64, MerTK, F4/80) and DC (CD11c, MHCII) markers<sup>205, 208, 209</sup>. They can also display typical DC (present antigen to naïve T cells) and macrophage (excel at phagocytosis) features simultaneously<sup>209, 238</sup>. The difficulty of categorizing MCs can be illustrated by intestinal CX3CR1<sup>hi</sup> MCs, which have been well studied. These cells have for example been categorized by some labs as DCs due to the fact that they possess transepithelial dendrites and express very high levels of CD11c and MHCII<sup>239, 240</sup>, but have also been categorized as MFs by others due to the fact that they excel in phagocytosis and fail to migrate to the intestinal draining lymph nodes<sup>241</sup>. As opposed to these observations, MCs have also been described to be located within the T cell zone of lymph nodes and can efficiently present antigen to naïve T cells in some cases<sup>209</sup>.

The CD64<sup>+</sup>MHCII<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> MCs in the lung have not been well characterized yet. These cells are of monocytic origin<sup>205</sup> but whether these cells possess typical DC and/or macrophage features is currently unknown. I have therefore decided to label these cells as monocyte-derived cells or MCs in this thesis to avoid that preconceived functions would be attributed to these cells solely based on the fact that they would be categorized as "MoDC" or "macrophage".

During this thesis the recently described gating strategy to separate cDC1s, cDC2s and MCs based on CD64 and MAR-1 expression is used<sup>205</sup>. After gating out the doublets, debris, dead cells, T cells and B cells (CD3<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup>), CD11c<sup>+</sup>MHCll<sup>+</sup> cells are separated into CD11b<sup>-</sup>CD103/CD24<sup>+</sup>MAR-1<sup>-</sup>CD64<sup>-</sup> cDC1s, CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD103/CD24<sup>-</sup>MAR-1<sup>-</sup>CD64<sup>-</sup> cDC2s and CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD103/CD24<sup>-</sup>MAR-1<sup>+</sup>CD64<sup>+</sup> MCs (Figure 5).



Lung cells are pregated for single cells and non-debris. The image is a representative image of the lung 4dpi mock infection. L/D = Live/Dead marker

#### Dendritic cell activation in response to respiratory viruses

#### Direct activation by viral infection

DCs reside in an immature state in the periphery of the lung, where they are strategically located to detect inhaled particulate and soluble antigen. They express specific pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) for conserved pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs) and NOD-like receptors (NLRs) as discussed above. Immgen array gene expression data have for example shown that mouse lung CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s mainly express TLR3, whereas CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD103<sup>-</sup> cDC2s mainly express TLR2 and TLR7<sup>187</sup>.

It has long been enigmatic whether DCs presenting viral antigen to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were directly infected or acquired viral antigen indirectly via other cells succumbing from viral infection in the respiratory tract, a process called cross-presentation. Alternatively, some DCs might also acquire preformed MHCI-peptide complexes from other cells, a process called cross-dressing<sup>242, 243</sup>. Besides attachment of HA to SA on the cell surface, viral particles can enter into the cell in a SA-independent manner by binding the C-type lectin receptors DC-SIGN and L-SIGN with the mannose-rich glycans on the surface of the virion<sup>244</sup>. DC-SIGN is highly expressed on some DC subsets thus rendering these DCs susceptible for infection. L-SIGN is only expressed in humans. DCs that migrated to the lymph node after IAV can be virus-infected, but this happens only after infection with higher inocula<sup>245, 246</sup> and only the CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1 subset was shown to carry infectious virus to the draining lymph nodes (dLN)<sup>247</sup>. Others, using an elegant strategy with an IAV virus carrying GFP in a non-structural NS1 protein, found that only CD103+ cDC1s carry viral antigens in their endosomal compartments during transport to the mediastinal lymph nodes (MLN), but demonstrated that the virus did not productively infect CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s<sup>97</sup>. Moreover, this study identified type I IFN as the major mediator of protection of CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s against infection. This observation was confirmed in a more recent study that showed that IFITM3 is induced in DCs in an IRF7 and IRF3 dependent manner. This inhibits direct infection of DCs, permits migration from lung to

LN and optimal priming of virus-specific T cell<sup>248</sup>. In contrast, it was shown that that type I IFN responses are attenuated in CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s<sup>247</sup>, rendering them more sensitive to infection. Additional studies will be required to settle this issue, but most likely timing, viral strain, infection route and dose play an important role in the outcome.

#### Indirect activation of dendritic cells in trans

Although direct recognition of viral PAMPS by PRRs is the most likely explanation of how DCs respond to virus, it is now clear that recognition of PAMPs by the nearby bronchial or alveolar epithelial cells is at least as important in activating the lung DC network<sup>191</sup>. Lung epithelial cells can produce the essential chemokines that attract immature cDCs and inflammatory monocytes to the site of antigen exposure: IL-12p80 homodimers are produced by bronchial epithelial cells upon viral and mycobacterial infection of the lung, and IL12p80 recruits DCs to the lung epithelium<sup>249</sup>. Epithelial cells not only make chemokines that attract immature monocytes or pre-cDCs, but they also produce critical maturation cytokines such as IL-1, GM-CSF (Csf2) and TSLP that can activate the recruited monocytes and pre-cDCs to differentiate in DCs and induce their maturation into fully competent antigen-presenting cells. In contrast to the generally accepted dogma that GM-CSF controls the development of inflammatory DCs, it appeared that GM-CSF provides survival signals to CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s and induces CD8<sup>+</sup>T cell immunity<sup>250</sup>. The observation that GM-CSF might be dispensable for CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2s survival is still under discussion because of the presence of a contaminating MC population that might obscure the results. Additionally, Csf2<sup>-/-</sup> or Csf2r<sup>-/-</sup> mice also lack AMFs and develop alveolar proteinosis that severely alters lung homeostasis and does not allow us to draw firm conclusions about the importance of GM-CSF activation of CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s in these mice. In fact, reconstitution of Csf2r<sup>-/-</sup> mice with wild-type AMFs was sufficient to restore resistance of these mice to the infection, strongly suggesting that the main effects observed in Csf2r<sup>-/-</sup> mice are due to the lack of AMFs. This does of course not exclude that Csf2r-signaling in cDC1s may be important, and this can be checked by crossing the recently described Csf2r-floxed mice<sup>251</sup> onto cDC1-specific Cre mice (for example XCR1-Cre mice<sup>220</sup>).

TLR4 triggering of bronchial epithelial cells induces IL-1 $\alpha$ , which acts in an autocrine manner to trigger the release of the DC-attracting chemokines, GM-CSF and IL-33 by epithelial cells<sup>252</sup>. A recent study showed that IL-1 is not only signaling via the epithelium, but that IL-1 can also directly stimulate DCs and that signaling through the IL-1R was required for induction of virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses after influenza virus infection<sup>253</sup>. TSLP has been shown to activate CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs to support local reactivation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>254</sup>.

Trans-activation of DCs can also be modulated by soluble mediators of the innate immune system, like SPD and complement factors, and other innate immune cells. For example C3 stimulates migration of dendritic cells to the dLN of the lung<sup>255</sup>. Complement C3 and C5 itself is mainly produced by CD103<sup>+</sup> cDCs upon influenza infection<sup>256</sup>. Furthermore SPD has been shown to increase the antigen presenting capacity of GM-CSF cultured bone marrow derived DCs in vitro<sup>257, 258</sup>.

Innate type I IFNs induce an antiviral state, but this is not their sole function. Viruses that strongly activate type I IFN synthesis are also best at inducing adaptive immunity via induction of lung DC maturation<sup>259</sup>. In a model of co-culture of human DCs with airway epithelial cells, it was found that type I IFN from the epithelial cells (together with IL-6) was able to modulate DC maturation<sup>260</sup>. NK cells induce DC migration to the LN and virus uptake by DCs by perforin-mediated lysis of infected cells<sup>122</sup>. Neutrophils that are recruited early in the response to virus infection have also been shown to affect the activation of DCs<sup>261</sup>.

# Lung dendritic cells and induction of adaptive immunity to respiratory virus infections

#### Migration to the draining lymph node

Viral infection of DCs induces maturation-related changes in cell surface chemokine receptor expression. Chemokine CCR7 receptor upregulation is crucial for migration of lung DCs to the dLN<sup>262-265</sup>. Activation and migration of cDCs and bone marrow-derived GM-CSF DCs to the dLN can also be enhanced by type I IFN signaling<sup>266-270</sup> and this can lead to enhanced cross-presentation capacity of cDC1s<sup>271-273</sup>.

Upon IAV infection, DCs rapidly migrate to the dLN and return to their basal migration level after 48h, despite still ongoing inflammation<sup>274</sup>. This might be explained by the virus that renders the DCs insensitive to migration or by the immune system that has a built-in protective mechanism against too much damage. DC migration is not dose dependent, but defects in respiratory DC migration occur upon ageing. This defect is related to an increased level of PGD2 in the lung. PGD2 inhibits CCR7 upregulation, which renders DCs unresponsive to migratory signals via the CCR7 receptor<sup>275, 276</sup>. The lack of induction of CCR7 by specific viruses like human metapneumovirus (HMPV) and human respiratory syncytial virus (HRSV) can prevent DCs from migrating to the lymph nodes and thereby hamper the induction of protective responses<sup>277, 278</sup>.

#### Role of conventional dendritic cells in antiviral immunity

The role of lung DC subsets in promoting antiviral CD4 and CD8 immunity has been studied best in the context of IAV infection. During IAV infection, CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2s and CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s both take up antigen in endocytic vesicles and express high levels of costimulatory molecules and antigen presenting molecules in contrast to MCs and pDCs<sup>279</sup>. Initial studies have demonstrated that antiviral CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses were induced mainly by a non-migratory resident CD8a<sup>+</sup> cDC1 population of the MLN. Antigen was proposed to be carried to this resident population by a migratory lung derived CD11b<sup>-</sup> (i.e. CD103<sup>+</sup>) cDC1 population<sup>280</sup>. Our group has demonstrated that CD11b<sup>-</sup>CD103<sup>+</sup> airway derived cDC1s can however also directly present viral derived antigens to CD8 (and CD4) T cells, in addition to the resident CD8a<sup>+</sup> cDC1s<sup>186, 281</sup>. Studies using Batf3-deficient mice (that lack CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s and CD8a<sup>+</sup> cDC1s) have shown that CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s were crucial for inducing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell immunity to IAV<sup>97</sup>.

The reason why CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s are so efficient at inducing a protective response to influenza virus could be because they are the only DC subset able to capture and cross-present apoptotic epithelial cells that died from infection<sup>97</sup>. CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s express

receptors for apoptotic cells along with the machinery to cross-present phagocytosed dead cells<sup>187</sup> and they have enhanced capacity to process and load viral antigens in MHC I molecules<sup>282</sup>. Cross-priming of antigen delivered by dying epithelial cells has been proposed to occur via the dendritic cell receptor DNGR-1 (CLEC9A)<sup>283-285</sup>. Both in human and mouse, the biggest proportion of the DC subset preferentially expressing DNGR-1 belongs to the CD8 $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup>-like/CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s family<sup>286</sup>.

Naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells encounter antigen in the LN, get activated and then proliferate in an ordered way. The tempo is regulated by antigen availability, which is determined by antigen delivery by MHCII<sup>hi</sup>, so called migratory, CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s<sup>97, 186</sup>. Because CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1 migration is increased for only a short time after infection and T cell proliferation goes on for a longer period, antigen might also be presented by LN resident DCs, which received antigen from migrating DCs via cross-presentation<sup>280</sup>. There is heterogeneity in the proliferation status of T cells; this is caused by sequential migration of circulating naïve T cells into the lymph node, followed by their activation there and exit back to the tissue<sup>287</sup>. MHCII<sup>I0</sup> DCs display lower levels of costimulatory molecules and therefore are less likely to be the ones inducing proliferation of T cells. In contrast, they have the capacity to induce apoptosis of proliferating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in an IL-12 induced, FasL dependent manner<sup>246</sup>.

At later time points coinciding with the peak of viral infection, CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs accumulate in the LN and represent the predominant DC subset stimulating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells via expression of the costimulatory molecule CD70<sup>288</sup>. This later wave of antigen presentation could potentially be involved in the expansion of activated effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the LN. What is not clear from these studies is whether the CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs also contained MCs, as no discriminating markers were used.

Although most studies on lung DCs in viral infection have been performed in the context of IAV, the importance of DC subsets might differ according to the type of viral infection as well. Despite their good presentation capacity, it is not the CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1 population that predominates the lung upon RSV and IAV infection, but the CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC population. During RSV infection, both cDC1s and cDC2s contain RSV RNA and present equally well to CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>289</sup>. In a model of pulmonary vaccinia virus infection, CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s that migrated from the lung to the LN are the best inducers of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells proliferation compared to CD11b<sup>+</sup> migrating DCs and CD103<sup>+</sup> MHCII<sup>10</sup> cDC1s.

#### Role of monocyte-derived cells in antiviral immunity

Upon IAV infection, monocytes are recruited to the lung and differentiate rapidly into cells that share features of both DCs and macrophages<sup>99, 290, 291</sup>. This process has been shown to be dependent on type I IFN signaling<sup>292</sup> and CCR2<sup>91</sup>. Human monocyte infection with IAV was shown to be sufficient to differentiate monocytes into type I IFN producing macrophage-like MCs capable of limiting viral replication *in vitro*<sup>99</sup>. These MCs do not upregulate MHC II and costimulatory molecules, nor produce proinflammatory mediators. They are not able to induce T cell proliferation but secrete large amounts of MCP-1 and IP-10, classical monocyte chemoattractants. As a conclusion, they fail to function as conventional antigen presenting cells. The strong type I IFN induction and upregulation of cytosolic RNA sensors RIG-I and MDA5 point 24

towards a direct antiviral activity. Virus-induced MCs are not the primary DC subset that presents antigen to naïve T lymphocytes. They do provide positive feedback to attract more monocytes to the site of infection via MCP-1 and IP-10 secretion<sup>99, 293</sup>. The lack of antigen-presenting capacity is further supported by the observation that MCs can stimulate naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells modestly and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells only minimally after influenza virus infection, although they have the capacity to do so when stimulated with pre-processed peptide<sup>279, 294</sup>.

It is not clear if MCs are capable of migrating to the dLN and actively participate to the induction of influenza effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses. On one hand, it was suggested that CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs that massively migrated to the LN upon influenza infection were MCs<sup>288</sup> whereas on the other hand it was argued that the CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs were cDC2s due to their low Ly6C expression<sup>279</sup>. These contradictory views again argue for better discrimination between the two CD11b<sup>+</sup> subsets and this is one of the major aims of this thesis.

Although MCs were able to limit viral replication, Ccr2<sup>-/-</sup> mice or mice treated with a CCR2 antagonist did not show increased viral loads<sup>91</sup> but they did display significantly less effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the lungs during influenza infection<sup>295</sup>. Therefore it is very likely that MCs would be crucial in the interaction with effector T cells locally in the infected tissues, rather than in the induction of effector T cells in the LN<sup>254</sup>. CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells can in turn license MCs for effective pathogen killing through the secretion of CCL3<sup>296,-297</sup>.

Role of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in antiviral immunity

Whereas pDCs are a copious source of type I IFN<sup>298-300</sup>, their role during respiratory viral infections remains debatable as they were shown to react differently upon infection with various types of virus and only produce type I IFN upon systemic infection, and not upon respiratory virus infection<sup>96, 301</sup>.

These conflicting views regarding the contributions of pDCs to antiviral immunity make it hard to firmly state how pDCs are involved in antiviral immunity in the lung. The importance of pDCs also appears to differ among different viral model systems.

pDCs are increased in the lung and the LN for a long period after RSV infection. When depleted with i.p. injections of 120G8 antibody, it was shown that pDCs play a direct antiviral role by secreting IFN $\alpha$  but also modulate T cell-mediated responses leading to lung pathology characterized by airway hyperresponsiveness, mucus production and inflammation<sup>302, 303</sup> via the TLR7-MyD88 dependent signaling pathway<sup>300, 304</sup>. In contrast, in vitro studies have shown that pDCs are unable to express maturation markers whereas they were able to produce IFN $\alpha$  <sup>305</sup>. This suggests that the role of pDCs might be more oriented towards an antiviral response than towards induction of adaptive T cell responses. There is also evidence that pDCs do not productively contribute to IFN $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  and thus exhibit antiviral activity to prevent infection of neighboring cells<sup>307, 308</sup>.

pDCs accumulate in the lung and bronchoalveolar space in response to influenza virus infection, but the observation that pDCs can induce a strong influenza specific CD8 response in vitro<sup>309-312</sup> does not translate to in vivo or ex vivo models. Ikaros<sup>L/L</sup> mice that lack pDCs<sup>313</sup> and mice in which DCs were depleted using 120G8 antibody<sup>186</sup>

demonstrate a similar course of disease and did not have differences in the strength of the antiviral type I IFN and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response. pDCs fail to activate either naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells when they are not pulsed with pre-processed peptide or exposed to antigen-specific immunoglobulins<sup>279, 312, 314</sup>. pDCs might even be involved in FasL mediated killing of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during lethal influenza infection<sup>315</sup>. One function that could be attributed to pDCs is formation of HA-specific antibodies<sup>186, 316</sup>. Furthermore it has been suggested that pDCs can provide help for cDCs during antigen presentation via IFN production, but this seems not to be the case. IFN rather appears to serve as a negative feedback loop to control pDC numbers<sup>317</sup>.

Using the newly developed BDCA2-DTR mice, pDCs can be depleted conditionally. By infecting these mice with MCMV and VSV it was shown that pDCs were involved in virus-specific NK and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell induction. However, it remains to be elucidated if pDCs will react in the same manner during infection with respiratory viruses<sup>318</sup>

These contradictory results regarding the function of pDCs during respiratory infection, might be explained by the observation that in fact 3 distinct pDC populations can be determined based on CD8 $\alpha$  and CD8 $\beta$  expression: CD8 $\alpha$ ' $\beta$ ', CD8 $\alpha$ + $\beta$ <sup>-</sup> and CD8 $\alpha$ + $\beta$ + cells<sup>319</sup>. These subsets display different cytokine secretion profiles and functional properties in a model of airway inflammation. CD8 $\alpha$ + $\beta$ - and CD8 $\alpha$ + $\beta$ + pDCs can induce tolerance in vivo most likely via induction of regulatory T cells. In contrast, CD8 $\alpha$ - $\beta$ - pDCs have pro-inflammatory properties. It remains to be determined if respiratory viruses can differentially modulate these three pDC subsets and hence influence the outcome of the infection. However recently it was hypothesized that the different pDC populations are not stable subsets, but that CD8 expression is inducible by TLR stimulation and these subsets rather represent a different activation state<sup>320</sup>.

#### Adaptive immune responses against influenza A virus infection

Long term adaptive T cell memory to respiratory viruses

The recovery from influenza virus infection requires cooperation between CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-helper (Th) cells. Naïve T cells migrate to the lymph node by expression of the lymph node homing receptors CD62L and CCR7. Once in the dLN they are stimulated upon triggering of the T cell receptor (TCR) by antigen presented by DCs in a MHC-I or MHC-II dependent manner for CD8<sup>+</sup> or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells respectively<sup>321</sup>. Antigenic stimulation of T cells alone (signal 1) is insufficient to induce effector cells. T cells will become anergic unless a costimulatory signal via CD28 and CD80/CD86 or CD40L and CD40 (signal 2) is given<sup>322</sup> and when inflammatory cytokines stimulate the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (signal 3)<sup>323</sup>(Figure 6). After their proliferation and differentiation into effector cells, T cells migrate back to the airways by downregulation of CD62L and CCR7 and upregulation of the adhesion molecule CD44 where they can exert their specific function in order to clear the virus from the respiratory tract. To produce high levels of cytokines locally, T cells need to reencounter their cognate antigen in the lung. The proposed antigen-presenting cell for local reactivation of T cells is a CD11b<sup>+</sup>DC, thus representing cDC2s and/or MCs<sup>324</sup>.



Figure 6 - The 3 steps of T cell activation

Besides antigenic stimulation via the T cell receptor (signal 1), T cells need a costimulatory signal via CD28-CD80/86 or CD40L/CD40 interactions with dendritic cells (signal 2) and a stimulation by inflammatory cytokines (signal 3) for their effective activation.

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells acquire cytolytic activity and upregulate chemokine receptors that allow them to migrate to the site of inflammation. The function of antiviral CD8<sup>+</sup> T effector cells depends on the cell type presenting the viral antigen. Firstly, MHCI expression and costimulation via CD80 and CD86 on professional antigen presenting cells are necessary for pro-inflammatory cytokine production (IFN<sub>γ</sub>, TNF<sub>α</sub>, MIP-1<sub>α</sub> etc.), but this cytokine production also contributes to lung pathology and may not be essential for virus clearance since viral clearance is not affected when costimulatory signals are blocked. Secondly, induction of cytotoxicity is induced by MHCI presentation on epithelial cells without the need for costimulatory signals<sup>325, 326</sup>. When cytotoxic T cells detect virally infected epithelial cells, they will kill them indirectly by release of the cytolytic molecules perforin and granzyme or directly via Fas/FasL interactions<sup>327</sup>.

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can differentiate into different types of Th cells from which the functional capacities depend on the environmental context. The most common Th phenotypes are Th1 (driven by IL-12 and IFN $\gamma$ ), Th2 (driven by IL-4 and IL-6), Th17 (driven by IL-6 and TGF $\beta$ ), T follicular helper (Tfh) (driven by IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$ ) and regulatory T cell (Treg) (driven by TGF $\beta$ ) cells<sup>328</sup>. IAV infection is mostly associated with a Th1 response producing IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$  and IL-2; complemented with a Tfh response initiating a robust antibody response providing B cell help and orchestrating the germinal center reaction<sup>329, 330</sup>. Furthermore Th17 might influence the recruitment of neutrophils to the site of infection<sup>331, 332</sup>. Additionally, Treg cells are induced after IAV infection. Treg cells generally dampen antigen-specific responses thereby limiting the corresponding tissue damage<sup>333, 334</sup>. During acute viral infections Treg cells delay the clearance of the virus, but also inhibit the proliferation of infected cells, promote memory formation and influx and efflux of the dLN<sup>335</sup>. Besides the prevention of tissue damage, Treg cells can assist directly in recovery of the tissue damage in an amphiregulin-dependent manner after the virus is cleared<sup>336, 337</sup>.

Whereas CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were seen as the typical T cell fighting influenza infection, the role of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was long underestimated as a helper cell. More and more evidence is

accumulating that point towards a broader function of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>338</sup>. During IAV infection CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells promote CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and B cell responses to influenza virus infection although they are not critical for this process<sup>339-341</sup>. Adoptive transfer studies demonstrated that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are also able to control viral load and exert direct cytotoxic effector functions in the lung environment<sup>342, 343</sup>. Phenotypically, CD4<sup>+</sup> CTLs resemble Th1 effector cells that additionally express granzyme B and perforin and have direct cytotoxic activity ex vivo. CD4<sup>+</sup> CTLs show perforin-dependent protection against lethal IAV infection in both mouse models and human studies of infection and vaccination<sup>342, 344-347</sup> but the contribution of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell cytotoxicity to viral clearance in vivo in the lungs is modest<sup>346</sup>. Depletion of either CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells alone still allows recovery from the viral infection, but slower than with fully functional CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells together<sup>343, 348-352</sup> suggesting that cooperation between CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is necessary for an optimal immune response or that the division between CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is not absolute and that each cell can acquire some characteristics of the other when necessary.

Non-conventional T cells that express a functional TCR but lack expression of CD4 and CD8 co-receptors (therefore called double negative (DN) T cells), are observed in various disease models –auto-immunity, infection, cancer, post-transplantation tolerance– in human and mice, in which they were attributed different functions ranging from inflammatory cell, to immune suppressive cells and homeostatic cell<sup>353</sup>. The lungs are one of the many tissues where DN T cells were described in steady state<sup>354-357</sup> and following insults to the lung. In an infection model using Francisella tularensis DN T cells produced high amounts of IL-17 and IFN $\gamma^{358}$  while they produce predominantly IL-5 in a model of Toxocara canis<sup>359</sup>. Furthermore they are also involved in the defense against Mycobacterium bovis infection<sup>375, 357, 378, 360</sup>. As DN T cells are defined by exclusion, they are very heterogeneous, arising either from the thymus or extrathymically. Classical DN T cells express intermediate levels of  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> T cells that are often found to lack CD4 and CD8 expression, and therefore fall under the DN T definition<sup>361, 362</sup>

As acute infections are cleared, effector T cells further differentiate into KLRG-1<sup>hi</sup>CD127<sup>lo</sup> short-lived effector cells and CD127<sup>hi</sup> memory precursor effector cells capable of generating long-lived memory cells<sup>363, 364</sup>. Memory T cells are a heterogeneous population (Table 4). All memory T cells retain expression of CD44 but are heterogeneous in expression of CD62L and CCR7. CCR7<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> cells are lymphoid homing and recirculate via lymphoid organs and are called central memory T cells (T<sub>cm</sub>). They do not have immediate effector functions, but in response to a secondary infection they can expand and differentiate into effector cells that subsequently migrate back to the lungs. CD62L<sup>-</sup>CCR7<sup>-</sup> memory cells are the effector memory (T<sub>em</sub>) cells that patrol in and out of peripheral tissues<sup>365-368</sup> but they can also reside for prolonged periods in the lungs as T resident memory cells (T<sub>rm</sub>) that express high levels of CD69, CD11a and/or CD103<sup>364</sup>. Triggered by retained antigen presented by DCs<sup>369</sup>, T<sub>rm</sub> cells were shown to reside for months in the lungs of IAV infected mice and infected
volunteers, thus providing immunity from reinfection with the same or heterologous strain of influenza by rapidly acquiring effector functions<sup>364, 370-380</sup>.

As for effector CD4 and CD8 T cells, also Treg cells can differentiate into a memory population<sup>381</sup>. Antigen-specific memory Treg cells control the CD8<sup>+</sup> recall response upon secondary infection<sup>382</sup>.

	CHARACTERISTIC							
CELL TYPE	CD44	CD62L	CCR7	CD69	CD103	Location	Migratory	
		-		-	-		сарасну	
Naïve	-	+	+	-	-	Lymphoid tissue	Yes	
Effector	+	-	-	+	-	Peripheral tissue	Yes	
Tcm	int	+	+	-	-	Lymphoid tissue	Yes	
Tem	+	-	-	-	-	Peripheral tissue	Yes	
Trm	+	-	-	+	CD4: -	Peripheral tissue	Resident	
					CD8: +			

Table 4 - Different types of memory T cells compared to naïve and effector T cells

Cross-reactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes can induce heterosubtypic immunity Virus-specific T cells increase in frequency and number during infection. They mainly recognize the internal proteins NP, matrix protein and polymerase, which are genetically more conserved than HA and NA<sup>383</sup>. Small mutations in epitopes recognized by T cells due to genetic drift can lead to immune-escape; but generally these mutations occur less in conserved epitopes since this can have a potential functional consequence for the virus<sup>384</sup>. This makes the virus specific T cells against internal proteins ideal candidates to provide heterosubtypic immunity. Although the main role for heterosubtypic immunity is attributed to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>385, 386</sup>, there is evidence that also

## B cells can provide long-term protection by generation of antibodies

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>374, 387</sup> and B cells<sup>388, 389</sup> can contribute to heterosubtypic immunity.

The generation of antigen specific B cells is orchestrated in the lymphoid organs or locally in the respiratory tract in the mucosal-associated or bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue in two phases<sup>390</sup>. Dendritic cells carry virus-derived antigens to the dLN and present the antigen not only to T cells but also to B cells. The recognition of antigen by the B cell receptor activates a differentiation process during which the B cells migrate to the edge of the LN and proliferate<sup>391-393</sup>. After recognition through the B cell receptor, the antigen is internalized and processed to be presented by the B cell. CD4+ The cells that recognize antigen presented via MHC II on the B cells provide a CD40-CD40L costimulatory signal that is necessary to induce affinity maturation, isotype switching and memory B-cell development<sup>394, 395</sup>. The B cells enter the germinal center (GC) reaction where they undergo somatic hypermutation, affinity maturation and class-switch recombination (from IgM to IgA or IgG) leading to high-affinity antibody secreting plasma cells and memory B cells<sup>396</sup>. Respiratory B cell activation and the antibody class switching are mediated by innate type I IFN signaling via the IFNAR resulting in a larger amount and better quality of antibody response<sup>397-399</sup>. As IAV infection primarily involves the respiratory mucosa, IgA+ B cells are a major component of the response to infection. The secreted dimeric IgA that is present at the respiratory mucosa can provide immediate immunity as it can cross link viral particles before it can enter the cells of the host, a process known as immune exclusion<sup>400, 401</sup>.

The high-affinity antibody secreting plasma cells produce the early antibody wave after infection, but this population contracts rapidly after clearance of the virus. Memory B cells are in contrast long lived and migrate to the bone marrow and respiratory mucosa where they are maintained several months after infection. Upon reencounter with IAV virus they differentiate into antibody-producing plasma cells rapidly thus providing protection against reinfection<sup>402</sup>. Studies of IAV-infected mice have shown broad dispersion to secondary lymphoid organs and lung localization of virus-specific memory B cells<sup>403</sup>. Strikingly, a recent study showed that B cells are directly infected by IAV virus through BCR-mediated internalization<sup>404</sup>. They subsequently produce viral particles and succumb to infection, particularly in the lung epithelium. This mechanism provides respite for the virus in the lung epithelium. Infection of the rare virus-specific memory B cells impairs the kinetics of the memory response and confers an advantage to the virus, ensuring a window for replication even in the immune host that could promote horizontal transmission.

Virus-specific antibodies can neutralize the virus directly by binding the matching antigen of the virus and thereby inhibiting the function of the bound antigen. Anti-HA antibodies neutralize IAV virus by preventing interactions with sialylated glycoproteins on the surface of the host cell or preventing HA-mediated fusion of virus and host membranes in the endosome, thereby interfering with viral entry. Furthermore antibodies opsonize viral particles by forming antigen-antibody complexes. These complexes can facilitate killing of virus-infected cells (antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity) and phagocytosis of virus-infected cells by binding to Fc receptor expressing cells (e.g. macrophages and NK cells) <sup>405, 406</sup>. Antigen-antibody complexes can also activate the complement cascade and kill the cells by complement-dependent cytotoxicity<sup>407</sup>.

The HA protein consists of a head region and a stem region. Antibodies that recognize the more conserved stem region of the HA protein often can recognize multiple viral subtypes and provide cross-reactive immunity. However, stem-specific neutralizing antibodies are rare and thus do not provide the main source of cross-reactive immunity. Anti-NA antibodies<sup>408</sup> do not neutralize the viral particles, but limit viral spread by inhibiting the sialidase function of NA and thereby preventing penetration through the mucus layer lining the respiratory epithelium<sup>409</sup> and release of newly produced viral particles from the infected cell<sup>410</sup>. They also facilitate antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity, contributing to clearance of infected cells by phagocytes and NK cells<sup>411</sup> and complement-dependent cytotoxicity<sup>407</sup>. They may as well interfere in the attachment of HA to the host cell by steric hindrance<sup>412</sup>.

Antibodies against the highly conserved ectodomain of the M2 protein (M2e) have a high potential for long-term protection against multiple subtypes of influenza virus, but M2e has a low immunogenicity and therefore antibodies against M2 are only raised to a limited extent after natural infection<sup>413-417</sup>.

The last class of antibodies that provides protection against IAV infection is directed against the conserved NP protein. In contrast to the previous antibodies, this is an intracellular protein and these antibodies can therefore not neutralize viral particles, but they can provide protection in a FcR-dependent manner<sup>418, 419</sup>.

B cells are not strictly necessary to clear influenza infections since B cell deficient mice manage to recover from IAV infection<sup>420</sup>, mainly through a CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-dependent mechanism. Combining the lack of B cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells however leads to lethal infections<sup>421</sup> suggesting that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells alone are not sufficient to clear infections. Since CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are described to have important helper functions during the immune response against IAV infection, it is clear that the optimal immune response requires interaction between CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and B cells.

### Innate natural antibodies and antiviral immunity

Although B cells are traditionally seen as parts of the adaptive immune system, some B cells produce natural antibodies that have a broad virus neutralizing capacity. Normally the process of antibody generation by conventional B cells only starts upon encounter with antigens. Nonetheless, antibodies can be found in the serum prior to contact with pathogens and in germ free mice. This antibody pool consists mainly of IgM antibodies and is generated independently of antigen challenge by B-1 cells<sup>422-424</sup>. B-1 cells are fundamentally different from the conventional B-2 cells, which might be the reason for their antigen-independent regulation, however the mechanisms of natural antibody generation are still poorly known<sup>425-427</sup>. B-1 cells are not very abundantly present in lymph nodes, but are the major B cell population in the peritoneal and pleural cavities<sup>425</sup>. Nonetheless, the spleen and bone marrow were shown to be the major source of secreted natural IgM antibodies<sup>428</sup>. Many of the circulating IgM antibodies are directed against self-antigens, which gives them the potential to induce auto-immunity<sup>429-431</sup> but due to their polyreactivity they can also bind PAMPs of microbial<sup>432-435</sup> and viral<sup>436</sup> particles.

Natural antibodies bind antigens with low affinity because they did not undergo affinity maturation during germinal center reactions<sup>437</sup>, but due to their pentameric structure they are capable of binding antigens with a high avidity. This specific characteristic provides an important defense mechanism against pathogen replication prior to establishment of specific immune responses<sup>438</sup>. As an example, the airways contain natural IgM antibodies that provide a powerful tool to fight influenza infection since survival is abrogated in the absence of these natural IgM<sup>439</sup>. Natural antibodies can neutralize influenza virus<sup>440</sup> via two possible mechanisms: either transport to the mucosal surface via the poly-Ig receptor<sup>441</sup> or via complement-dependent cytotoxicity<sup>442</sup>. Furthermore, natural IgM can activate complement prior to the development of an effective antibody response<sup>442</sup>.

# Inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue is formed in the lungs after respiratory viral infection

## Definition and structure of tertiary lymphoid organs

The immune system has evolved in a way that optimizes the chance of encounter between the rare antigen-specific T and B cells of the adaptive immune system with antigen presenting cells of the innate immune system in organized lymphoid tissues, such as the spleen, lymph nodes and Peyer's patches. These so-called secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs) have three unique features. First, they filter lymph or blood and sample the antigens in these fluids. Second, they allow entry of antigen-loaded DCs and other innate immune cells. Third, they allow recirculating naive T and B cells that have encountered antigen to extravasate, arrest temporarily, proliferate and differentiate<sup>443</sup>. To achieve this goal, the LNs and spleen are connected during embryogenesis to the lymph and bloodstream and are organized into well-defined areas rich in T cells or B cells. These areas are supported by a network of mesenchymal cells that provide the chemokine cues and extracellular matrix on which cells can meaningfully migrate and find each other in such a complex structure<sup>444, 445</sup>. This highly efficient structural organization of antigen encounter and lymphocyte migration and activation can also be recapitulated after birth, in the form of tertiary lymphoid organs (TLOs), particularly when there is continued need for extravasation of leukocytes and a persistent source of antigen, such as seen in zones of infection, transplant rejection, auto-immune attack and cancer (summarized in table 5).

It is well known that when inflammation becomes chronic, plasma cells and lymphocytes gradually increase in number, lymphangiogenesis is induced, and blood vessels acquire characteristics of high endothelial venules (HEV) specialized in allowing extravasation of lymphocytes. In some conditions, the chronic infiltrate organizes into structured lesions, such as those seen in chronic granulomatous inflammation in tuberculosis, Crohn's disease, and sarcoidosis. Sometimes, the chronic infiltrate organizes into distinct T cell-rich and B cell-rich aggregates. Various terms, such as ectopic lymphoid tissue, lymphoid tissue neogenesis and TLOs, have been used to describe the occurrence of these organized structures. These structures can also be named according to their anatomical site, such as inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue (iBALT) and vascular associated lymphoid tissue (VALT).

A problem that arises in defining TLO structures is that the difference between a chronic infiltrate and a TLO resides in the degree of its internal organization. According to pathologists, the term TLO can only be used when all the following criteria are fulfilled:

1) The organized infiltrate contains anatomically distinct yet adjacent T cell and B cell compartments

2) The T cell area contains an extensive network of fibroblast reticular cells (FRC)

- 3) PNAd<sup>+</sup> or MECA79<sup>+</sup> HEVs are present in the T cell area
- 4) There is evidence of B cell class switching and GC reactions in the B cell follicles
- 5) The AID enzyme is present
- 6) Follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) are present

Often, it appears that strictly speaking not all criteria are fulfilled, while the organized structure can still function as a TLO. Although in most disease models the structures do not fully cover the proposed TLO definition, we use the term TLO because we believe the functional resemblance with SLOs is much more relevant than the structural resemblance.

DISEASE	LOCATION	SPECIES	Ag SPECIFIC?	REF				
	Micr	obial causes						
Influenza	iBALT	mouse	yes	446, 447				
Vaccinia virus Ankara	lung	mouse	naive T cell activation	448				
Intesting migraphists	isolated lymphoid	mouse humon	3	449,450,				
Intestinal micropiota	follicles in intestinal wall	mouse, numan	ſ	451				
Helicobacter pylori	gastric wall	mouse, human	yes	452				
Helicobacter hepaticus	liver	mouse	?	453				
Borrelia burgdorferi	multiple sites Lyme's disease	human	?	?				
Chlamydia pneumoniae	iBALT	mouse	?	454				
Chronic LPS exposure	iBALT	neonatal mice	LPS ?	455				
Autoimmune disease								
Common variable immunodeficiency	iBALT	human	Yes: Ko67+ GC	456				
Phoumatoid arthritis	synovial space	human	yes	457, 458				
	lung interstitium	human	yes	459				
Ankylosing spondylitis	Synovium	human	Yes	460				
Primary biliary cirrhosis	liver	human	No: absence of any clonal T or B cell proliferation	461				
Hashimoto's thyroiditis	thyroid gland	human	thyroglobulin, thyroperoxidase	462				
Diabetes	periductally in pancreatic parenchyma		yes, anti-insulin Ab responses	463, 464				
Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis	meninges at deep cerebral sulci	mouse (EAE), human	myelin and neuronal antigens: suggested	465, 466				
Myasthenia gravis	thymus	human	acetyl choline receptor: correlation of autoantibodies	467				
	gastric lamina propria	mouse		468				
SLE	E tubulointerstitial nephritis		Yes (clonal restriction and mutated antibodies)	469, 470				
Chronic transplant rejection								
human								
	Heart, lung, kidney	mouse	Yes, alloantigens	471-473				
Cigarette smoke	iBALT and interstitial	mouse	infection	474-476				
Inhaled organic dust	interstitial TLO in hypersensitivity pneumonitis	human	fungal spores in moldy hay	459				
Diesel particles	iBALT	mouse	?	477				
Hypercholesterolemia	atherosclerotic plaques	mouse	?	478				
Metal-on-metal prosthetic joints	soft tissues around joints	human	cobalt or nickel?	479, 480				
Protein-cage nanoparticles	iBALT	mice		481				
Pristane adjuvant (2,6,10,14-tetramethyl- pentadecane)	stane adjuvant 6,10,14-tetramethyl- ntadecane) peritoneal cavity (milky spots)			470				
	"Idiopa	athic" disorders						
Usual interstitial pneumonia, idiopathic lung fibrosis	interstitial pneumonia, athic lung fibrosis		autoimmune component?	459, 482				
Idiopathic pulmonary	athic pulmonary perivascular lesions of		likely autoimmune	483				
arterial hypertension	the lung	rat	component	484				
		Cancer						
Breast, lung, colorectal, pancreatic, renal, germ cell, skin cancer	Mostly peritumoral Rarely intratumoral	Human, mouse	Tumor-associated antigens	485, 486				

Table 5 - Diseases and experimental models in which tertiary lymphoid organs have been identified

## Development of organized lymphoid tissues before birth

Before discussing the mechanisms controlling TLO development during chronic inflammation, it is important to summarize organogenesis of SLOs, reviewed in detail elsewhere<sup>444</sup> and summarized in figure 7. SLOs develop in predefined areas in the embryo, often at the crossroads of lymphatics. The lymph node anlagen are first identified in mice on embryonic day 14.5 by the presence of ROR $\gamma^+$  lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi) cells<sup>487</sup>. During SLO development<sup>444</sup> it is crucial that CD3-CD4+CD45+ LTi cells interact with stromal lymphoid tissue organizer (LTo) cells in a process involving lymphotoxin  $\alpha$ 1 $\beta$ 2 (LTa1b2) signaling to the lymphotoxin- $\beta$  receptor (LT $\beta$ R). When these cells interact, LTo cells express several adhesion molecules (VCAM1, ICAM1, MADCAM1) and homeostatic chemokines (CCL19, CCL21 and CXCL13). These molecules act as the driving force for recruitment of lymphocytes. In addition, production of lymphangiogenetic growth factors, such as VEGF-C, VEGF-D, FGF-2 and HGF, leads to formation of Lyve-1+ lymphatic vessels<sup>488, 489</sup>.

LTo cells develop further into FDCs and FRCs that provide the conduit framework on which T cells and B cells migrate and interact with each other. Before LTi cells can cluster, an  $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$ -independent instructive signal is given to local fibroblasts to start producing the initial CXCL13 to attract LTi cells. Recent insights indicate that signals derived from the nervous system could provide this first signal for LN development<sup>490, 491</sup>. Together, these studies have highlighted the importance of interactions between hematopoietic cells and stromal cells, and between  $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$  signaling and homeostatic chemokines in the complex organization of SLOs.

## Induction of tertiary lymphoid structures

Which cytokines and chemokines are involved in TLO formation?

Formation of TLOs at sites of chronic inflammation follows many of the pathways also used by lymphoid organogenesis before birth. Indeed, when LTa, CCL21, or CXCL13 are overexpressed from a tissue specific promoter, ectopic lymphoid tissues are induced before or soon after birth<sup>492-499</sup>. Conversely, in experiments in which either CXCL13, its receptor CXCR5, CCR7 or LTa was genetically absent or neutralized, TLO structures did not develop in various infectious and autoimmune models<sup>452, 458, 478, 500-502</sup>. Like in SLO formation, LTa-seems to instruct stromal cells to develop into FDCs and HEVs, whereas CCL19 and CCL21 acting via CCR7 control the organization of the T cell zones of the TLO<sup>446, 458, 500, 503</sup>.

The homeostatic cytokine IL-7 deserves separate mentioning. II7-/- mice lack lymph nodes and Peyer's patches, whereas overexpression of IL-7 induces development of additional lymph nodes<sup>504</sup>. IL-7 is involved in stimulating LTi cells and in maintaining survival of T lymphocytes. IL-7 produced by lymphatic endothelial cells has been linked to the retention of Th2 memory cells in iBALT structures upon allergic airway inflammation<sup>505</sup>. IL-7 expression is augmented in the synovial tissue of RA patients, and there is a strong correlation between IL-7 expression and LT $\beta$  expression<sup>506</sup>. In the perivascular TLOs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary hypertension (IPAH) we found strong immunoreactivity for IL-7 very close to ER-TR7<sup>+</sup> FRC cells<sup>483</sup>.



Figure 7 - Development and structure of secondary lymphoid organs

During development of secondary lymphoid organs, the earliest instructive signal is given by a neuronal cell that induces the local fibroblasts to upregulate CXCL13 and thus attract lymphoid tissue inducer cells (LTi). These cells express LTb and instruct the local fibroblasts to become LT organizer cells (LTo) that start producing chemokines for B cells (CXCL13), T cells and DCs (CCL19, CCL21). At the same time, the fibroblasts upregulate cell adhesion molecules to allow LTi cells and recruited T and B cells to stick together. Local angiogenic growth factors are also made to allow the development of high endothelial venules (HEVs), as well as afferent and efferent lymph vessels. As a result, a well-organized structure with a separate B cell (blue) and T cell zone (red) is formed. This allows cell-cell contact at the appropriate time; and entry and exit of lymphocytes and antigen via the HEVs and lymphatics.

Together these data illustrate that homeostatic chemokines and cytokines are both sufficient and necessary for the induction of TLOs. Given this, it has been suggested that inflammation-induced TLOs might have developed during evolution before SLOs did.

Are lymphoid tissue inducer cells necessary for inducing formation of tertiary lymphoid organs?

In contrast to the involvement of CD3<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup> LTi cells in the formation of lymph nodes, their necessity for TLO induction is controversial<sup>444</sup>. The differentiation of LTi cells from lymphoid progenitors involves the transcription factors Id2 and retinoic acid receptor-like orphan receptor RORyt. Mice lacking these factors do not develop most LNs (except nasal associated mucosal tissues, NALT, and tear duct associated lymphoid tissue, TALT)487, 507-509. When Id2-/- or Rorc-/- mice lacking LTi cells were infected with influenza virus, they developed normal iBALT structures in the lung<sup>446, 449, 455</sup>. Other phenomena that do not depend on LTi cells are postnatal development of omental milky spots (these are organized lymphomyelopoietic tissue in the peritoneal cavity), isolated lymphoid follicles and TLOs in the intestine caused by DSS-induced colitis, and TLOs in autoimmune thyroiditis or insulitis<sup>449, 495, 510, 511</sup>. The controversy surrounding the role of LTi cells stems from three observations. First, adoptive transfer studies provide evidence that injection of LT<sub>i</sub> cells into normal skin is sufficient to induce TLO structures<sup>512</sup>. Second, LT<sub>i</sub> cells have been observed in models of spontaneous TLO development, such as the perivascular TLOs seen in hypercholesterolemic Apoe<sup>-/-</sup> mice and the iBALT structures seen in neonatal lungs exposed to LPS<sup>455</sup>. Human TLOs, such as those seen in IPAH, also contain adult LTi-like cells that are CD4<sup>-</sup>, cKit<sup>+</sup> and OX40L positive, and also express RORyt and Id2<sup>483</sup>. Third, overexpression of homeostatic chemokines under a tissue-specific promoter to induce TLOs (e.g. the rat insulin promoter or the intestine-specific villin promoter driving expression of CXCL13) and transgenic overexpression of IL-7 both resulted in increased numbers of LTi cells and dependence of TLO formation on LTi cells<sup>511</sup>. However, in these systems lymphoid organogenesis starts before birth, which means that the requirement for LTi cells in induction of TLO formation could be overestimated. Nevertheless, most groups agree that LTa1B2 is necessary for TLO induction<sup>500, 502</sup>.

Which other cells can act as lymphoid tissue inducer cells in chronic inflammation? In the models in which LTi cells have been shown to be redundant, the question arises as to which other  $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$ -expressing cell type could be providing the instructive signal to activate stromal organizer cells and initiate TLO formation? It has been proposed that B cells, T cells or DCs could substitute for LTi cells in their inductive function, especially when they are activated and express  $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$  on their surface<sup>447, 449, 513, 514</sup>. Progression towards mature, fully structured TLOs is dependent on  $LT\beta$ -sufficient B cells<sup>503</sup> most likely via a positive feedback loop of CXCL13 production and  $LT\beta$  expression as shown in lungs of COPD patients<sup>515</sup>. According to this hypothesis B cells are activated via TLR signaling, induce expression of LT $\beta$  on their surface and interact with LT $\beta$  R bearing B cells. This LT $\beta$  signaling will induce CXCL13 production and release, which attracts more B cells and upregulates LT $\beta$  expression. T cells can also play a role as LTi cells as was shown in a model of thyroid overexpression of CCL21 that CD3+CD4+ activated T cells interacted with DCs at sites of chronic inflammation, and subsequently the activated T cells acted as LTi cells in the absence of Id2 activity<sup>495</sup>. CD4<sup>+</sup> memory T cells different from Th1, Th2, Treg and Tfh cells isolated from the synovial tissue of patients with rheumatoid arthritis were able to secrete CXCL13 and attract B cells; rendering them a possible candidate to function as LTi cells during ectopic lymphoid structure formation in the synovium<sup>516</sup>. In two recent studies on neonatal mice exposed to endotoxin inhalation and on mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis respectively, an activated Th17 CD4 T cell population was found to be involved in inducing TLO structures<sup>455, 517</sup>. ROR<sub>Y</sub>t<sup>+</sup> IL-17-producing cells were also found inside TLOs of patients with IPAH. In humans, Th17 cells express the CCR6 receptor, and in the bloodstream of IPAH patients circulating CCR6<sup>+</sup> cells were fewer, while the ligand CCL20 was produced in the perivascular TLOs<sup>483</sup>. However, TLOs seem to develop normally in Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup> mice<sup>455</sup>. The induction of TLOs by Th17 cells was dependent on expression of podoplanin, but why this is the case remains unknown. One possibility is that podoplanin is required for retention of Th17 cells at sites of TLO formation<sup>455, 517</sup>, a process that is inhibited by IL-27<sup>518</sup>. It remains to be seen whether all forms of TLO depend on IL-17 production, and whether IL-17A and/or IL-17F is involved. In this regard, iBALT induced by infection with modified vaccinia virus ankara or influenza virus is not affected by deficiency of IL-17A while Pseudomonas Aeruginosainduced iBALT is dependent on IL-17 signaling<sup>519, 449</sup>. LTBR signaling is not triggered only via LTa1p2; LIGHT (TNFSF14) can also bind the LTpR. In a model of non-obese diabetes, LIGHT expressed on T cells was shown to be important in the development and maintenance of TLO structures<sup>520</sup>.

Finally, LTi functions have also been attributed to DCs. In almost all TLO structures that have been described, the T cell area contained antigen-presenting DCs<sup>447, 483</sup>. As DCs activate T cells, it has been suggested that DCs are sufficient for TLO induction<sup>463</sup>. Repeated injection of DCs into the lungs of mice is sufficient for induction of iBALT structures accompanied by induction of myofibroblast differentiation<sup>447, 521</sup>. During formation of Peyer's patches, a CD11c<sup>+</sup> cell type expressing  $LT\alpha\beta$  accumulates at the LN anlagen and is necessary for stromal instruction<sup>491</sup>. DCs might also directly instruct stromal cells irrespectively of their effects on T cells. In TLO structures induced in the thymus, DCs were specifically necessary for induction of lymphangiogenesis from stromal cells<sup>522</sup>. How DCs induce TLOs is less clear. In virus-induced iBALT, mainly CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs accumulate; these cells express instructive  $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$  while also producing the homeostatic chemokines CXCL13 and CCL19/CCL21447. However, in some models mostly pDCs accumulate, suggesting a functional role for type I IFN. This is the case in TLOs found in end-stage COPD patients and in a murine SLE model<sup>470, 476</sup>. Three studies have shown that depletion of DCs leads to disappearance of existing TLO structures, suggesting that DCs are necessary for structural organization and maintenance of TLOs, most likely through transpresentation of chemokines, or by provision of a continuous source of antigen presentation to T cells<sup>447, 448, 522</sup>.

Overall, there is no strong evidence pointing towards one specialized lymphoid tissue inducer cell type in TLO induction. LTi cells, B cells, T cells and DCs all remain candidate

cell types to instruct organizer cells. Presumably the different cell types are redundant and the model defines which cell type exerts the dominant role of LTi cell.

## What is the nature of the stromal organizer cell?

Stromal cells, such as FDCs of the B cell area, FRCs of the T cell area, lymphatic endothelial cells and HEVs, play an important role in the functioning of SLOs by producing cytokines, chemokines and forming the connective tissue conduits on which immune cells interact<sup>523</sup>. It has become clear that TLOs have the same complicated network of stromal cells and conduits, although their function remains undetermined<sup>511</sup>. Upon LTBR triggering by LTi cells or inflammatory cells, LTo cells express cell adhesion molecules and produce chemokines that attract B cells and T cells, produce cytokines that maintain lymphocyte viability (e.g. IL-7), and differentiate into FRCs and FDCs. LTBR signaling from host cells is involved in formation of lymphatic vessels in thyroid TLO<sup>502, 522</sup> and in formation of the reticular network<sup>511</sup>. Several studies have suggested that LTo cells and FRC cells of the T cell zone, like myofibroblasts, stain positive for a-smooth muscle actin and produce desmin<sup>524</sup>. It was elegantly demonstrated that inflammation could induce this program of myofibroblast differentiation in tissue resident fibroblasts, while at the same time inducing the production of the homeostatic chemokines CXCL13 and CCL21, and of lymphangiogenic cytokines. This programming did not require adaptive immunity, innate lymphoid cells, LTi cells, inflammasomes, or pattern recognition receptors, but was dependent on a myeloid cell population, most likely neutrophils. The molecular signal released by these myeloid inflammatory cells is not known<sup>489</sup>. Myofibroblasts are typically seen at sites of scarring and fibrosis, which might explain the occurrence of TLOs in patients with COPD, scleroderma, lung fibrosis and primary biliary cirrhosis<sup>474, 482, 525</sup>. In a model of atherosclerosis, it was shown that mouse aorta smooth muscle cells could differentiate into a cell type that resembles the LTo cell<sup>478, 526</sup>.

During neuroinflammation the macrophages of the brain, the microglia, are the main source of CXCL13 in the central nervous system, making them ideal candidates to function as LTo cells during lymphoid follicle formation in multiple sclerosis<sup>527</sup>.

In several instances where TLOs have been found in humans, they were also closely associated with c-Kit<sup>+</sup> mast cells<sup>483, 506</sup>. Mast cells produce cytokines (e.g. TNFα) and express surface molecules (CD40L) that could help in structuring TLOs. They are also an important source of VEGF-C, which induces lymphangiogenesis.

Finally, our views on TLO formation are even fundamentally changing. It has always been assumed that a cell-cell dependent interaction between LTo cells and LTi cells is necessary for TLO induction. Recently, an interaction via soluble factors has also been proposed in the model of atherosclerotic-related TLO formation<sup>528</sup>. In this model vascular smooth muscle cells are conditioned to become LTo cells in an LT $\beta$ R-independent manner by M1 type macrophages.

In conclusion, TLO formation (Figure 8) follows the same basic set of rules also implicated in formation of the lymph nodes and Peyer's patches (Figure 7). Controversies remain however on the precise nature of the LTi and LTo cell, and how they communicate with each other. Most likely the nature of the inducer and organizer



#### Figure 8 - Development and structure of tertiary lymphoid structures

During chronic immune responses or transplant rejection, DCs continuously present antigens to T cells and B cells. Activated B cells express LTb and can act as potent LTi-like cells, to induce an LTo phenotype in local myofibroblasts. Alternatively, chronic antigen presentation by DCs might also lead to induction of a Th17 cell response that can also induce TLOs through unclear mechanisms. Th17 cells are held in place via interactions with podoplanin. As in SLOs, TLOs are divided into discrete B (blue) and T (red) cell areas. Although, fully formed TLO structures often contain only a single T cell area and a larger B cell area, in which germinal center reactions (GC) can be seen. These also contain DCs and follicular DCs. At the periphery, an elaborate network of lymphatics (Lyve1+ and Prox1+) is commonly found but it is currently unknown if these are afferent or efferent lymphatics.

cell depends on the anatomical environment where TLOs develop as well as the initiating antigen.

## The function of tertiary lymphoid organs

TLOs develop in areas of chronic immune stimulation. However, although different infectious and immune or inflammatory triggers exhibit the same degree of chronic inflammation and inflict similar damage, their capacity to induce TLOs can vary widely. Moreover, tertiary lymphoid tissues develop more easily in neonates<sup>455</sup>. There is accumulating evidence that TLOs represent an adaptation of the body to increased demand for a localized immune response. The evolutionary pressure could be the constant equilibrium between commensals and the mucosal immune system, such as occurs typically in the gut and the lung. Isolated lymphoid follicles (ILF) are a specialized type of TLO that forms postnatal in the intestinal wall, through epithelial recognition of NOD1 ligands derived from commensals<sup>529</sup>. Although the deeper lung was once considered sterile, there is now evidence that it is not, particularly following viral infection or chronic cigarette smoking, typical triggers of TLO formation in the lung<sup>530</sup>. Here again, commensals could be a driving force for TLO development.

Tertiary lymphoid organs as immune inductive sites for protective immunity to (re-)infection

Just like SLOs that bring together naive T cells, B cells and DCs, TLOs have been shown to allow the activation of recirculating naive T cells and the activation of B cells within germinal centers. One caveat is that these studies were performed in mice lacking LNs, which could lead to overestimation of the potential of TLOs<sup>446</sup>. However, recent work has suggested that TLOs can be immune inductive even in mice with normal LN anatomy and a fully functional immune system. Dendritic cells in TLOs often have an activated phenotype, suggesting that they are the predominant antigen presenting cells stimulating immunity<sup>470</sup>. The function of DCs in TLO biology has been studied mainly in iBALT structures induced by modified vaccinia ankara virus or influenza virus<sup>447, 448</sup>. Preformed iBALT structures collect DCs that are injected into the trachea, but it is unclear how these DCs reach the T cell area of iBALT<sup>448</sup>. One possibility is that iBALT structures are connected to afferent lymphatics located immediately underneath the epithelial basement membrane<sup>525</sup>. In many instances, the TLOs are found immediately next to lymphatics, but no study so far has been able to determine if these lymphatics are afferent (bringing antigen to the TLO) or efferent (exporting lymphocytes). It is also possible that the remodeling around blood vessels and the subepithelial areas leads to formation of a conduit system that provides a path for the encountered antigens to reach the TLO. This is supported by the close resemblance between the type of extracellular matrix found in atherosclerosis-associated or IPAH-associated TLOs compared with the one found in the FRC network and conduit system of LNs<sup>478, 483</sup>. Whatever the mechanism, TLO structures do allow the extravasation of naive T cells and their differentiation into effector T cells upon contact with DCs448.

Major constituents of TLOs are the B cells that accumulate on the FDC network. Almost all TLOs described exhibit signs of B cell class switching, as exemplified by the presence

of high amounts of the AID enzyme and the presence of germinal center reactions<sup>447, 483</sup>. Such B cells provide an important source of memory B cells that are activated upon reinfection<sup>447, 459</sup>. Plasma cells are found in the immediate vicinity of the TLOs and secrete antibodies specific for the pathogen that induced the TLO, such as influenza virus or Helicobacter species<sup>447, 453</sup>. Although some of the B cells generated in the TLO also seem to reach the bone marrow, where they could reside as long lived plasma cells, the iBALT system that forms after influenza virus infection and the ILFs that form in response to intestinal commensals mainly serve to produce local mucosal IgA<sup>447, 475, 531</sup>.

It is not known why some infections leave behind TLO structures whereas others do not. In a model of influenza, for T cell immunity to persist, there is continued dependency on lung DCs that take viral antigens from the lung to the MLN, even long after the virus has been cleared, for presentation to memory T cells. As CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs could be found mainly in iBALT in the lung long after virus was cleared, it is possible that they capture retained viral antigens from the FDC network<sup>532</sup>.

It remains to be determined if persistence of T<sub>rm</sub> cells after IAV infection depends on the induction of TLOs as a sanctuary for TLO survival. In the skin at least, T<sub>rm</sub> cells accumulate in organized clusters resembling TLOs.

## Therapeutic applications of tertiary lymphoid organs

Exploiting the induction of TLOs by vaccines could be a valuable option in promoting long-lasting, local antimicrobial immunity in the lung and gut<sup>533</sup>. Mice pre-treated with protein-caged nanoparticle (PCN) adjuvants in the absence of any specific viral antigens were protected against both sub-lethal and lethal doses of two different influenza viruses, a mouse-adapted SARS-coronavirus, and a mouse pneumovirus. Treatment with PCN significantly increased survival, enhanced viral clearance, accelerated induction of virus-specific antibody production, and significantly decreased morbidity and lung damage; these changes were attributed to prior development of iBALT<sup>481</sup>. A deeper understanding of the mechanism of action of this protection is needed before we can rationally design adjuvants that induce TLOs.

As TLOs are found in many chronic diseases with an autoimmune component and in chronic transplant rejection, interfering with their induction or maintenance could be developed into a novel therapeutic approach. One possibility is to interfere with the LTβR. In a model of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice, disrupting TLOs by antagonizing the action of LIGHT with LTβR inhibited formation of autoaggressive T cells and progression to diabetes<sup>520</sup>. Similarly, disruption of TLOs in the salivary glands that develop in the NOD model of Sjögren's disease also led to partial restoration of salivary function<sup>501</sup>. Another approach could be to target crucial TLO chemokines or their receptors, such as CXCL13 or the CXCR5 receptor. In a model of rheumatoid arthritis, Cxcr5<sup>-/-</sup> mice had significantly reduced joint destruction<sup>458</sup>. In a model of diabetes in NOD mice, neutralization of CXCL13 led to disorganized TLOs, yet there was no clear effect on diabetes incidence<sup>534</sup>. Clearly, more preclinical studies on these compounds are needed before we can envisage an intervention study in humans.

Given the fact that the function of TLOs are similar to those of SLOs, the basic question for the field is why exactly our defense system mounts this at first sight redundant response. The capacity of TLOs to generate of tissue-directed autoantibodies, argues that targeting TLO formation could be beneficial in autoimmune diseases. On the other hand, stimulating the formation of TLOs can be beneficial in the fight against viral and bacterial infections.

# Pulmonary immune responses: a fine balance between protection and immunopathology

To efficiently eliminate a viral infection from the lungs, the activation of both the innate and adaptive immune system is necessary. As a consequence, this results in the release of several cytokines, proteins and reactive oxygen species that have beneficial effects in defending the body against the insult, but may also induce tissue damage.

Type I IFNs counteract a viral infection by inducing an antiviral state, inducing apoptosis and interfering with the viral replication cycle. These antiviral actions can be responsible for side effects and pathological damage. The apoptotic TRAIL<sup>535, 536</sup> and FAS-FASL<sup>537</sup> pathway are induced to inhibit the spread of IAV but if the apoptosis-inducing proteins are expressed on the surface of structural cells, tissue damage can be induced. This mechanism can be linked to the susceptibility to IAV infection. More pathogenic strains were found to induce a stronger and more sustained type I IFN signal that leads to successive upregulation of TRAIL expression by monocytes and the TRAIL-ligand DR5 on epithelial cells<sup>538</sup>.

Besides induction of apoptosis, type I IFNs also lead to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as CCL2 that recruit monocyte-derived DCs and macrophages to the site of infection, resulting in infection-associated pulmonary pathology and mortality as they are extensive cytokine secretors and can mediate TRAIL-induced cell death of the respiratory epithelium<sup>91, 535</sup>. In contrast to these pathology-inducing characteristics of type I IFN, it has also been described that type I IFNs have the potency to limit tissue inflammation by induction of the immune regulatory cytokine IL-10 and by inhibiting neutrophil recruitment and affecting monocyte differentiation<sup>539, 540</sup>.

One of the first cell types recruited to the lungs after IAV infection is the neutrophil. Improper or prolonged activation of neutrophils leads to an increased exposure to reactive oxygen species<sup>541</sup> and the proteolytic enzymes on the NETS<sup>92, 93, 542</sup>, which can lead to tissue injury and can cause pneumonia and acute respiratory distress syndrome<sup>543, 544</sup>. The host inflammatory response is of greater impact on the lethality of IAV infection than the effect of the pathogen itself. For example, a reduced infiltration of neutrophils mostly correlates with reduced pathology and lethality<sup>545-547</sup>. More specifically gene-expression analysis learned that lethality correlates better with neutrophil activation than with viral load<sup>548</sup>. In contrast to the possible severe side effects of neutrophil products, they are beneficial as their antibacterial peptides can prevent secondary bacterial superinfection<sup>549-551</sup>.

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are highly associated with lung injury caused by the pulmonary inflammation. Excess T cell infiltration into the virus-infected lung compromises lung function and compliance. One of the main factors that contribute to this inflammation is TNF $\alpha$ . Inhibition of TNF $\alpha$  can significantly reduce lung damage, but TNF $\alpha$  was shown to be essential for proper viral clearance as inhibition of TNF $\alpha$  results in a delayed viral clearance<sup>552</sup>. To protect the host against the detrimental effects, interaction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with NK cells activates a negative feedback loop to limit TNF $\alpha$  production<sup>553</sup>.

## Lung dendritic cells and virus-induced immunopathology

After activation in the lung, DCs can play dual roles during the immune response against respiratory viral infections. On the one hand, they are necessary to mount the antiviral CD8 cytotoxic T cell response in the draining lymph node (LN) that leads to viral clearance. On the other hand, the inflammation induced by DCs contributes to disease severity and even death from acute lung injury<sup>554</sup>. This implies that an unbalanced immune response can have detrimental effects on systemic illness and survival.

When effector cells return to the lung after being generated in the MLN, there is evidence that DCs are also necessary locally for boosting effector function, which could eventually lead to immunopathology<sup>326, 555</sup>. MCs (or TIP-DCs) have been proposed to be the predominant cause of immune pathology caused by influenza and RSV virus infection<sup>554, 556</sup>. High pathogenic strains induce more TNF and iNOS producing (TIP)-DC recruitment to the lung. They promote immune-induced pathology, but their complete depletion is detrimental<sup>295</sup>. This might be related to the fact that iNOS-derived nitric oxide also has direct antiviral activity to IAV<sup>557</sup>.

The final function of antiviral CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector cells is instructed by the phenotype of the cell type presenting the viral antigen. MHC class I expression and costimulation via CD80 and CD86 on professional antigen presenting cells are necessary for pro-inflammatory cytokine production, whereas induction of cytotoxicity is induced by MHCI presentation on epithelial cells without the need of costimulatory signals. This cytokine production also contributes to lung pathology and may not be essential for viral clearance since viral clearance is not affected when costimulatory signals are blocked<sup>325, 326</sup>.

## Tertiary lymphoid organs in immunopathology

The presence of TLOs in models of chronic autoimmunity and in chronic transplant rejection (see Table 5) and their association with tissue destruction<sup>449, 465, 466, 472, 473, 558</sup> has led to the suggestion that they are important inductive sites for self-reactive T lymphocytes and antibodies that contribute to pathology. However, the evidence for this is rather sparse. In the TLOs associated with diabetes in NOD mice, T lymphocytes are detected that destroy islets and plasma cells with specificity for insulin<sup>464, 520</sup>. The expansion of B cells inside an individual TLO around islets is often oligoclonal, suggesting the presence of an autoantigen<sup>559</sup>. In the lungs of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, B cells in the TLO were found to produce rheumatoid factor and antibodies against citrullinated proteins, typical self-antigens in this disease<sup>525</sup>. In human autoimmune

thryroiditis, most B cells inside ectopic GCs bound the autoantigens thyroglobulin and thyroidal peroxidase<sup>462</sup>.

However, it is less clear which antigens the lymphocytes might react to in more severely degenerative diseases such as COPD induced by cigarette smoke and atherosclerosis induced by western diet. Although it has been proposed that there is an autoimmune component in many chronic tissue-destructive diseases such as COPD, another explanation could be colonization of the lung by latent adenovirus or unexpected commensals in the lung<sup>560</sup>. Until we know the antigen-specificity of the B cell and T cell responses in TLOs, we can only speculate on the nature of the antigens presented in diseases such as IPAH and cirrhosis. In any case, the extensive formation of myofibroblast-like cells that constitute part of the stromal organizing network might contribute to local fibrosis that could compromise organ function.

### References

- 1. Lamb RA. Orthomyxoviridae: the viruses and their replication, vol. 4th edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2001.
- 2. Palese P, Shaw M. Orthomyxoviridae: the viruses and their replication. In: Knipe DM, Howley PM (eds). Fields Virology. Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams @ Wilkins: Philadelphia, 2007.
- 3. Bouvier NM, Palese P. The biology of influenza viruses. Vaccine 2008; 26 Suppl 4: D49-53.
- 4. Lamb RA, Choppin PW. The gene structure and replication of influenza virus. Annual review of biochemistry 1983; 52: 467-506.
- Vasin AV, Temkina OA, Egorov VV, Klotchenko SA, Plotnikova MA, Kiselev OI. Molecular mechanisms enhancing the proteome of influenza A viruses: an overview of recently discovered proteins. Virus research 2014; 185: 53-63.
- 6. Nagata K, Kawaguchi A, Naito T. Host factors for replication and transcription of the influenza virus genome. Reviews in medical virology 2008; 18(4): 247-260.
- 7. Eisfeld AJ, Neumann G, Kawaoka Y. At the centre: influenza A virus ribonucleoproteins. Nat Rev Microbiol 2015; 13(1): 28-41.
- 8. Sun X, Whittaker GR. Entry of influenza virus. Advances in experimental medicine and biology 2013; 790: 72-82.
- 9. York A, Fodor E. Biogenesis, assembly, and export of viral messenger ribonucleoproteins in the influenza A virus infected cell. RNA biology 2013; 10(8): 1274-1282.
- 10. Rossman JS, Lamb RA. Influenza virus assembly and budding. Virology 2011; 411(2): 229-236.
- 11. Treanor JJ. Prospects for broadly protective influenza vaccines. Vaccine 2015; 33 Suppl 4: D39-45.
- 12. Li G, Siddiqui J, Hendry M, Akiyama J, Edmondson J, Brown C et al. Surfactant protein-A--deficient mice display an exaggerated early inflammatory response to a beta-resistant strain of influenza A virus. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2002; 26(3): 277-282.
- 13. LeVine AM, Whitsett JA, Hartshorn KL, Crouch EC, Korfhagen TR. Surfactant protein D enhances clearance of influenza A virus from the lung in vivo. J Immunol 2001; 167(10): 5868-5873.
- 14. Hillaire ML, Haagsman HP, Österhaus AD, Rimmelzwaan GF, van Eijk M. Pulmonary surfactant protein D in firstline innate defence against influenza A virus infections. J Innate Immun 2013; 5(3): 197-208.
- 15. Yang ML, Chen YH, Wang SW, Huang YJ, Leu CH, Yeh NC et al. Galectin-1 binds to influenza virus and ameliorates influenza virus pathogenesis. J Virol 2011; 85(19): 10010-10020.
- 16. Tripathi S, Tecle T, Verma A, Crouch E, White M, Hartshorn KL. The human cathelicidin LL-37 inhibits influenza A viruses through a mechanism distinct from that of surfactant protein D or defensins. J Gen Virol 2013; 94(Pt 1): 40-49.
- 17. Zuniga J, Buendia-Roldan I, Zhao Y, Jimenez L, Torres D, Romo J et al. Genetic variants associated with severe pneumonia in A/H1N1 influenza infection. Eur Respir J 2012; 39(3): 604-610.
- 18. Zhou J, To KK, Dong H, Cheng ZS, Lau CC, Poon VK et al. A functional variation in CD55 increases the severity of 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza A virus infection. J Infect Dis 2012; 206(4): 495-503.
- 19. O'Brien KB, Morrison TE, Dundore DY, Heise MT, Schultz-Cherry S. A protective role for complement C3 protein during pandemic 2009 H1N1 and H5N1 influenza A virus infection. PLoS One 2011; 6(3): e17377.
- Sun S, Zhao G, Liu C, Wu X, Guo Y, Yu H et al. Inhibition of complement activation alleviates acute lung injury induced by highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus infection. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2013; 49(2): 221-230.
- 21. Doss M, White MR, Tecle T, Gantz D, Crouch EC, Jung G et al. Interactions of alpha-, beta-, and theta-defensins with influenza A virus and surfactant protein D. J Immunol 2009; 182(12): 7878-7887.
- 22. Salvatore M, Garcia-Sastre A, Ruchala P, Lehrer RI, Chang T, Klotman ME. alpha-Defensin inhibits influenza virus replication by cell-mediated mechanism(s). J Infect Dis 2007; 196(6): 835-843.
- 23. Hartshorn KL, White MR, Tecle T, Holmskov U, Crouch EC. Innate defense against influenza A virus: activity of human neutrophil defensins and interactions of defensins with surfactant protein D. J Immunol 2006; 176(11): 6962-6972.
- 24. Tecle T, White MR, Gantz D, Crouch EC, Hartshorn KL. Human neutrophil defensins increase neutrophil uptake of influenza A virus and bacteria and modify virus-induced respiratory burst responses. J Immunol 2007; 178(12): 8046-8052.
- 25. Jiang Y, Wang Y, Kuang Y, Wang B, Li W, Gong T et al. Expression of mouse beta-defensin-3 in MDCK cells and its anti-influenza-virus activity. Archives of virology 2009; 154(4): 639-647.
- 26. Ryan LK, Dai J, Yin Z, Megjugorac N, Uhlhorn V, Yim S et al. Modulation of human beta-defensin-1 (hBD-1) in plasmacytoid dendritic cells (PDC), monocytes, and epithelial cells by influenza virus, Herpes simplex virus, and Sendai virus and its possible role in innate immunity. J Leukoc Biol 2011; 90(2): 343-356.
- 27. van Pesch V, Lanaya H, Renauld JC, Michiels T. Characterization of the murine alpha interferon gene family. J Virol 2004; 78(15): 8219-8228.
- 28. Uze G, Schreiber G, Piehler J, Pellegrini S. The receptor of the type I interferon family. Current topics in microbiology and immunology 2007; 316: 71-95.
- 29. Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences 1957; 147(927): 258-267.
- 30. Yan N, Chen ZJ. Intrinsic antiviral immunity. Nat Immunol 2012; 13(3): 214-222.
- 31. Brass AL, Huang IC, Benita Y, John SP, Krishnan MN, Feeley EM et al. The IFITM proteins mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, West Nile virus, and dengue virus. Cell 2009; 139(7): 1243-1254.
- 32. Everitt AR, Clare S, Pertel T, John SP, Wash RS, Smith SE et al. IFITM3 restricts the morbidity and mortality associated with influenza. Nature 2012; 484(7395): 519-523.
- Lenschow DJ, Lai C, Frias-Staheli N, Giannakopoulos NV, Lutz A, Wolff T et al. IFN-stimulated gene 15 functions as a critical antiviral molecule against influenza, herpes, and Sindbis viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104(4): 1371-1376.

- 34. Lai C, Struckhoff JJ, Schneider J, Martinez-Sobrido L, Wolff T, Garcia-Sastre A et al. Mice lacking the ISG15 E1 enzyme UbE1L demonstrate increased susceptibility to both mouse-adapted and non-mouse-adapted influenza B virus infection. J Virol 2009; 83(2): 1147-1151.
- 35. Tang Y, Zhong G, Zhu L, Liu X, Shan Y, Feng H et al. Herc5 attenuates influenza A virus by catalyzing ISGylation of viral NS1 protein. J Immunol 2010; 184(10): 5777-5790.
- 36. Zhao C, Hsiang TY, Kuo RL, Krug RM. ISG15 conjugation system targets the viral NS1 protein in influenza A virusinfected cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010; 107(5): 2253-2258.
- 37. Hsiang TY, Zhao C, Krug RM. Interferon-induced ISG15 conjugation inhibits influenza A virus gene expression and replication in human cells. J Virol 2009; 83(12): 5971-5977.
- 38. Haller O, Arnheiter H, Lindenmann J, Gresser I. Host gene influences sensitivity to interferon action selectively for influenza virus. Nature 1980; 283(5748): 660-662.
- 39. Haller O, Staeheli P, Kochs G. Protective role of interferon-induced Mx GTPases against influenza viruses. Revue scientifique et technique 2009; 28(1): 219-231.
- 40. Zimmermann P, Manz B, Haller O, Schwemmle M, Kochs G. The viral nucleoprotein determines Mx sensitivity of influenza A viruses. J Virol 2011; 85(16): 8133-8140.
- 41. Wisskirchen C, Ludersdorfer TH, Muller DA, Moritz E, Pavlovic J. Interferon-induced antiviral protein MxA interacts with the cellular RNA helicases UAP56 and URH49. J Biol Chem 2011; 286(40): 34743-34751.
- 42. Chakrabarti A, Jha BK, Silverman RH. New insights into the role of RNase L in innate immunity. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2011; 31(1): 49-57.
- 43. Malathi K, Dong B, Gale M, Jr., Silverman RH. Small self-RNA generated by RNase L amplifies antiviral innate immunity. Nature 2007; 448(7155): 816-819.
- 44. Pindel A, Sadler A. The role of protein kinase R in the interferon response. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2011; 31(1): 59-70.
- 45. Yondola MA, Fernandes F, Belicha-Villanueva A, Uccelini M, Gao Q, Carter C et al. Budding capability of the influenza virus neuraminidase can be modulated by tetherin. J Virol 2011; 85(6): 2480-2491.
- 46. Watanabe R, Leser GP, Lamb RA. Influenza virus is not restricted by tetherin whereas influenza VLP production is restricted by tetherin. Virology 2011; 417(1): 50-56.
- 47. Bruce EA, Abbink TE, Wise HM, Rollason R, Galao RP, Banting G et al. Release of filamentous and spherical influenza A virus is not restricted by tetherin. J Gen Virol 2012; 93(Pt 5): 963-969.
- 48. Londrigan SL, Tate MD, Job ER, Moffat JM, Wakim LM, Gonelli CA et al. Endogenous Murine BST-2/Tetherin Is Not a Major Restriction Factor of Influenza A Virus Infection. PLoS One 2015; 10(11): e0142925.
- 49. Munir M. TRIM proteins: another class of viral victims. Science signaling 2010; 3(118): jc2.
- 50. Liu B, Li NL, Shen Y, Bao X, Fabrizio T, Elbahesh H et al. The C-Terminal Tail of TRIM56 Dictates Antiviral Restriction of Influenza A and B Viruses by Impeding Viral RNA Synthesis. J Virol 2016; 90(9): 4369-4382.
- 51. Di Pietro A, Kajaste-Rudnitski A, Oteiza A, Nicora L, Towers GJ, Mechti N et al. TRIM22 inhibits influenza A virus infection by targeting the viral nucleoprotein for degradation. J Virol 2013; 87(8): 4523-4533.
- 52. Wang X, Hinson ER, Cresswell P. The interferon-inducible protein viperin inhibits influenza virus release by perturbing lipid rafts. Cell Host Microbe 2007; 2(2): 96-105.
- 53. Tan KS, Olfat F, Phoon MC, Hsu JP, Howe JL, Seet JE et al. In vivo and in vitro studies on the antiviral activities of viperin against influenza H1N1 virus infection. J Gen Virol 2012; 93(Pt 6): 1269-1277.
- 54. Garcia-Sastre A. Induction and evasion of type I interferon responses by influenza viruses. Virus research 2011; 162(1-2): 12-18.
- 55. Arpaia N, Barton GM. Toll-like receptors: key players in antiviral immunity. Curr Opin Virol 2011; 1(6): 447-454.
- 56. Ireton RC, Gale M, Jr. RIG-I like receptors in antiviral immunity and therapeutic applications. Viruses 2011; 3(6): 906-919.
- 57. Pichlmair A, Schulz O, Tan CP, Naslund TI, Liljestrom P, Weber F et al. RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to singlestranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates. Science 2006; 314(5801): 997-1001.
- 58. Kim T, Pazhoor S, Bao M, Zhang Z, Hanabuchi S, Facchinetti V et al. Aspartate-glutamate-alanine-histidine box motif (DEAH)/RNA helicase A helicases sense microbial DNA in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2010; 107(34): 15181-15186.
- 59. Zhang Z, Kim T, Bao M, Facchinetti V, Jung SY, Ghaffari AA et al. DDX1, DDX21, and DHX36 helicases form a complex with the adaptor molecule TRIF to sense dsRNA in dendritic cells. Immunity 2011; 34(6): 866-878.
- 60. Zhang Z, Yuan B, Bao M, Lu N, Kim T, Liu YJ. The helicase DDX41 senses intracellular DNA mediated by the adaptor STING in dendritic cells. Nature immunology 2011; 12(10): 959-965.
- 61. Zhang Z, Yuan B, Lu N, Facchinetti V, Liu YJ. DHX9 pairs with IPS-1 to sense double-stranded RNA in myeloid dendritic cells. Journal of immunology 2011; 187(9): 4501-4508.
- 62. Parvatiyar K, Zhang Z, Teles RM, Ouyang S, Jiang Y, Iyer SS et al. The helicase DDX41 recognizes the bacterial secondary messengers cyclic di-GMP and cyclic di-AMP to activate a type I interferon immune response. Nature immunology 2012; 13(12): 1155-1161.
- 63. Pirhonen J, Sareneva T, Kurimoto M, Julkunen I, Matikainen S. Virus infection activates IL-1 beta and IL-18 production in human macrophages by a caspase-1-dependent pathway. J Immunol 1999; 162(12): 7322-7329.
- 64. Jacobs SR, Damania B. NLRs, inflammasomes, and viral infection. Journal of leukocyte biology 2012; 92(3): 469-477.
- 65. Thomas PG, Dash P, Aldridge JR, Jr., Ellebedy AH, Reynolds C, Funk AJ et al. The intracellular sensor NLRP3 mediates key innate and healing responses to influenza A virus via the regulation of caspase-1. Immunity 2009; 30(4): 566-575.
- 66. Allen IC, Scull MA, Moore CB, Holl EK, McElvania-TeKippe E, Taxman DJ et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome mediates in vivo innate immunity to influenza A virus through recognition of viral RNA. Immunity 2009; 30(4): 556-565.
- 67. Ichinohe T, Lee HK, Ogura Y, Flavell R, Iwasaki A. Inflammasome recognition of influenza virus is essential for adaptive immune responses. J Exp Med 2009; 206(1): 79-87.

- 68. McAuley JL, Tate MD, MacKenzie-Kludas CJ, Pinar A, Zeng W, Stutz A et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by IAV virulence protein PB1-F2 contributes to severe pathophysiology and disease. PLoS Pathog 2013; 9(5): e1003392.
- 69. Ichinohe T, Pang IK, Iwasaki A. Influenza virus activates inflammasomes via its intracellular M2 ion channel. Nat Immunol 2010; 11(5): 404-410.
- 70. Kanneganti TD, Body-Malapel M, Amer A, Park JH, Whitfield J, Franchi L et al. Critical role for Cryopyrin/Nalp3 in activation of caspase-1 in response to viral infection and double-stranded RNA. J Biol Chem 2006; 281(48): 36560-36568.
- 71. van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk S, Watkiss ER. Pathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus. Curr Opin Virol 2012; 2(3): 300-305.
- 72. van de Sandt CE, Kreijtz JH, Rimmelzwaan GF. Evasion of influenza a viruses from innate and adaptive immune responses. Viruses 2012; 4(9): 1438-1476.
- 73. van Riel D, Munster VJ, de Wit E, Rimmelzwaan GF, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD et al. Human and avian influenza viruses target different cells in the lower respiratory tract of humans and other mammals. Am J Pathol 2007; 171(4): 1215-1223.
- 74. Manicassamy B, Manicassamy S, Belicha-Villanueva A, Pisanelli G, Pulendran B, Garcia-Sastre A. Analysis of in vivo dynamics of influenza virus infection in mice using a GFP reporter virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010; 107(25): 11531-11536.
- 75. Nakajima N, Sato Y, Katano H, Hasegawa H, Kumasaka T, Hata S et al. Histopathological and immunohistochemical findings of 20 autopsy cases with 2009 H1N1 virus infection. Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc 2012; 25(1): 1-13.
- 76. Pan W, Dong Z, Li F, Meng W, Feng L, Niu X et al. Visualizing influenza virus infection in living mice. Nature communications 2013; 4: 2369.
- 77. Teijaro JR, Walsh KB, Cahalan S, Fremgen DM, Roberts E, Scott F et al. Endothelial cells are central orchestrators of cytokine amplification during influenza virus infection. Cell 2011; 146(6): 980-991.
- 78. Hsu AC, Parsons K, Barr I, Lowther S, Middleton D, Hansbro PM et al. Critical role of constitutive type I interferon response in bronchial epithelial cell to influenza infection. PLoS One 2012; 7(3): e32947.
- 79. Zeng H, Goldsmith C, Thawatsupha P, Chittaganpitch M, Waicharoen S, Zaki S et *al*. Highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 viruses elicit an attenuated type i interferon response in polarized human bronchial epithelial cells. J Virol 2007; 81(22): 12439-12449.
- 80. Chan MC, Chan RW, Yu WC, Ho CC, Chui WH, Lo CK et al. Influenza H5N1 virus infection of polarized human alveolar epithelial cells and lung microvascular endothelial cells. Respir Res 2009; 10: 102.
- Chan MC, Cheung CY, Chui WH, Tsao SW, Nicholls JM, Chan YO et al. Proinflammatory cytokine responses induced by influenza A (H5N1) viruses in primary human alveolar and bronchial epithelial cells. Respir Res 2005; 6: 135.
- 82. Vareille M, Kieninger E, Edwards MR, Regamey N. The airway epithelium: soldier in the fight against respiratory viruses. Clinical microbiology reviews 2011; 24(1): 210-229.
- 83. Wang J, Nikrad MP, Phang T, Gao B, Alford T, Ito Y et al. Innate immune response to influenza A virus in differentiated human alveolar type II cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2011; 45(3): 582-591.
- 84. Yu WC, Chan RW, Wang J, Travanty EA, Nicholls JM, Peiris JS et al. Viral replication and innate host responses in primary human alveolar epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages infected with influenza H5N1 and H1N1 viruses. J Virol 2011; 85(14): 6844-6855.
- 85. Crotta S, Davidson S, Mahlakoiv T, Desmet CJ, Buckwalter MR, Albert ML et al. Type I and type III interferons drive redundant amplification loops to induce a transcriptional signature in influenza-infected airway epithelia. PLoS Pathog 2013; 9(11): e1003773.
- 86. Chanteux H, Guisset AC, Pilette C, Sibille Y. LPS induces IL-10 production by human alveolar macrophages via MAPKinases- and Sp1-dependent mechanisms. Respir Res 2007; 8: 71.
- 87. Holt PG, Oliver J, Bilyk N, McMenamin C, McMenamin PG, Kraal G et al. Downregulation of the antigen presenting cell function(s) of pulmonary dendritic cells in vivo by resident alveolar macrophages. J Exp Med 1993; 177(2): 397-407.
- 88. Thepen T, Van Rooijen N, Kraal G. Alveolar macrophage elimination in vivo is associated with an increase in pulmonary immune response in mice. J Exp Med 1989; 170(2): 499-509.
- 89. Blumenthal RL, Campbell DE, Hwang P, DeKruyff RH, Frankel LR, Umetsu DT. Human alveolar macrophages induce functional inactivation in antigen-specific CD4 T cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 107(2): 258-264.
- Schneider C, Nobs SP, Heer AK, Kurrer M, Klinke G, van Rooijen N et al. Alveolar macrophages are essential for protection from respiratory failure and associated morbidity following influenza virus infection. PLoS Pathog 2014; 10(4): e1004053.
- 91. Lin KL, Suzuki Y, Nakano H, Ramsburg E, Gunn MD. CCR2+ monocyte-derived dendritic cells and exudate macrophages produce influenza-induced pulmonary immune pathology and mortality. J Immunol 2008; 180(4): 2562-2572.
- 92. Kim HM, Lee YW, Lee KJ, Kim HS, Cho SW, van Rooijen N et al. Alveolar macrophages are indispensable for controlling influenza viruses in lungs of pigs. J Virol 2008; 82(9): 4265-4274.
- 93. Tate MD, Pickett DL, van Rooijen N, Brooks AG, Reading PC. Critical role of airway macrophages in modulating disease severity during influenza virus infection of mice. J Virol 2010; 84(15): 7569-7580.
- 94. Tumpey TM, Garcia-Sastre A, Taubenberger JK, Palese P, Swayne DE, Pantin-Jackwood MJ et al. Pathogenicity of influenza viruses with genes from the 1918 pandemic virus: functional roles of alveolar macrophages and neutrophils in limiting virus replication and mortality in mice. J Virol 2005; 79(23): 14933-14944.
- 95. Hashimoto Y, Moki T, Takizawa T, Shiratsuchi A, Nakanishi Y. Evidence for phagocytosis of influenza virusinfected, apoptotic cells by neutrophils and macrophages in mice. J Immunol 2007; 178(4): 2448-2457.
- 96. Kumagai Y, Takeuchi O, Kato H, Kumar H, Matsui K, Morii E et al. Alveolar macrophages are the primary interferon-alpha producer in pulmonary infection with RNA viruses. Immunity 2007; 27(2): 240-252.

- 97. Helft J, Manicassamy B, Guermonprez P, Hashimoto D, Silvin A, Agudo J et al. Cross-presenting CD103+ dendritic cells are protected from influenza virus infection. The Journal of clinical investigation 2012; 122(11): 4037-4047.
- 98. loannidis I, McNally B, Willette M, Peeples ME, Chaussabel D, Durbin JE et al. Plasticity and virus specificity of the airway epithelial cell immune response during respiratory virus infection. J Virol 2012; 86(10): 5422-5436.
- 99. Cao W, Taylor AK, Biber RE, Davis WG, Kim JH, Reber AJ et al. Rapid differentiation of monocytes into type I IFNproducing myeloid dendritic cells as an antiviral strategy against influenza virus infection. Journal of immunology 2012; 189(5): 2257-2265.
- 100. Uyangaa E, Kim JH, Patil AM, Choi JY, Kim SB, Eo SK. Distinct Upstream Role of Type I IFN Signaling in Hematopoietic Stem Cell-Derived and Epithelial Resident Cells for Concerted Recruitment of Ly-6Chi Monocytes and NK Cells via CCL2-CCL3 Cascade. PLoS Pathog 2015; 11(11): e1005256.
- 101. Pang IK, Pillai PS, Iwasaki A. Efficient influenza A virus replication in the respiratory tract requires signals from TLR7 and RIG-I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013; 110(34): 13910-13915.
- 102. Akaike T, Noguchi Y, Ijiri S, Setoguchi K, Suga M, Zheng YM et al. Pathogenesis of influenza virus-induced pneumonia: involvement of both nitric oxide and oxygen radicals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996; 93(6): 2448-2453.
- 103. Skulachev VP. Possible role of reactive oxygen species in antiviral defense. Biochemistry Biokhimiia 1998; 63(12): 1438-1440.
- 104. Daher KA, Selsted ME, Lehrer RI. Direct inactivation of viruses by human granulocyte defensins. J Virol 1986; 60(3): 1068-1074.
- 105. Okrent DG, Lichtenstein AK, Ganz T. Direct cytotoxicity of polymorphonuclear leukocyte granule proteins to human lung-derived cells and endothelial cells. The American review of respiratory disease 1990; 141(1): 179-185.
- 106. Currie SM, Findlay EG, McHugh BJ, Mackellar A, Man T, Macmillan D et al. The human cathelicidin LL-37 has antiviral activity against respiratory syncytial virus. PLoS One 2013; 8(8): e73659.
- 107. Gwyer Findlay E, Currie SM, Davidson DJ. Cationic host defence peptides: potential as antiviral therapeutics. BioDrugs : clinical immunotherapeutics, biopharmaceuticals and gene therapy 2013; 27(5): 479-493.
- 108. Ratcliffe D, Migliorisi G, Cramer E. Translocation of influenza virus by migrating neutrophils. Cellular and molecular biology 1992; 38(1): 63-70.
- 109. Tate MD, Ioannidis LJ, Croker B, Brown LE, Brooks AG, Reading PC. The role of neutrophils during mild and severe influenza virus infections of mice. PLoS One 2011; 6(3): e17618.
- 110. Watanabe Y, Hashimoto Y, Shiratsuchi A, Takizawa T, Nakanishi Y. Augmentation of fatality of influenza in mice by inhibition of phagocytosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 337(3): 881-886.
- 111. Tripathi S, Verma A, Kim EJ, White MR, Hartshorn KL. LL-37 modulates human neutrophil responses to influenza A virus. J Leukoc Biol 2014; 96(5): 931-938.
- 112. Tate MD, Brooks AG, Reading PC. The role of neutrophils in the upper and lower respiratory tract during influenza virus infection of mice. Respir Res 2008; 9: 57.
- 113. Egan CE, Sukhumavasi W, Bierly AL, Denkers EY. Understanding the multiple functions of Gr-1(+) cell subpopulations during microbial infection. Immunol Res 2008; 40(1): 35-48.
- 114. Tate MD, Deng YM, Jones JE, Anderson GP, Brooks AG, Reading PC. Neutrophils ameliorate lung injury and the development of severe disease during influenza infection. J Immunol 2009; 183(11): 7441-7450.
- 115. Beauvillain C, Delneste Y, Scotet M, Peres A, Gascan H, Guermonprez P et al. Neutrophils efficiently cross-prime naive T cells in vivo. Blood 2007; 110(8): 2965-2973.
- 116. Tate MD, Brooks AG, Reading PC, Mintern JD. Neutrophils sustain effective CD8(+) T-cell responses in the respiratory tract following influenza infection. Immunol Cell Biol 2012; 90(2): 197-205.
- 117. Hufford MM, Richardson G, Zhou H, Manicassamy B, Garcia-Sastre A, Enelow RI et al. Influenza-infected neutrophils within the infected lungs act as antigen presenting cells for anti-viral CD8(+) T cells. PLoS One 2012; 7(10): e46581.
- 118. Duffy D, Perrin H, Abadie V, Benhabiles N, Boissonnas A, Liard C et al. Neutrophils transport antigen from the dermis to the bone marrow, initiating a source of memory CD8+ T cells. Immunity 2012; 37(5): 917-929.
- 119. van Helden MJ, Zaiss DM, Sijts AJ. CCR2 defines a distinct population of NK cells and mediates their migration during influenza virus infection in mice. PLoS One 2012; 7(12): e52027.
- 120. Wang J, Li F, Zheng M, Sun R, Wei H, Tian Z. Lung natural killer cells in mice: phenotype and response to respiratory infection. Immunology 2012; 137(1): 37-47.
- 121. Jaeger BN, Donadieu J, Cognet C, Bernat C, Ordonez-Rueda D, Barlogis V et al. Neutrophil depletion impairs natural killer cell maturation, function, and homeostasis. J Exp Med 2012; 209(3): 565-580.
- 122. Ge MQ, Ho AW, Tang Y, Wong KH, Chua BY, Gasser S et al. NK cells regulate CD8+ T cell priming and dendritic cell migration during influenza A infection by IFN-gamma and perforin-dependent mechanisms. Journal of immunology 2012; 189(5): 2099-2109.
- 123. He XS, Draghi M, Mahmood K, Holmes TH, Kemble GW, Dekker CL et al. T cell-dependent production of IFNgamma by NK cells in response to influenza A virus. J Clin Invest 2004; 114(12): 1812-1819.
- 124. Hwang I, Scott JM, Kakarla T, Duriancik DM, Choi S, Cho C et al. Activation mechanisms of natural killer cells during influenza virus infection. PLoS One 2012; 7(12): e51858.
- 125. Dong L, Mori I, Hossain MJ, Kimura Y. The senescence-accelerated mouse shows aging-related defects in cellular but not humoral immunity against influenza virus infection. J Infect Dis 2000; 182(2): 391-396.
- 126. Liu B, Mori I, Hossain MJ, Dong L, Takeda K, Kimura Y. Interleukin-18 improves the early defence system against influenza virus infection by augmenting natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J Gen Virol 2004; 85(Pt 2): 423-428.
- 127. Nogusa S, Ritz BW, Kassim SH, Jennings SR, Gardner EM. Characterization of age-related changes in natural killer cells during primary influenza infection in mice. Mechanisms of ageing and development 2008; 129(4): 223-230.

- 128. O'Brien KB, Schultz-Cherry S, Knoll LJ. Parasite-mediated upregulation of NK cell-derived gamma interferon protects against severe highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza virus infection. J Virol 2011; 85(17): 8680-8688.
- 129. Stein-Streilein J, Guffee J. In vivo treatment of mice and hamsters with antibodies to asialo GM1 increases morbidity and mortality to pulmonary influenza infection. J Immunol 1986; 136(4): 1435-1441.
- 130. Stein-Streilein J, Guffee J, Fan W. Locally and systemically derived natural killer cells participate in defense against intranasally inoculated influenza virus. Regional immunology 1988; 1(2): 100-105.
- 131. Kumar P, Thakar MS, Ouyang W, Malarkannan S. IL-22 from conventional NK cells is epithelial regenerative and inflammation protective during influenza infection. Mucosal Immunol 2013; 6(1): 69-82.
- 132. Arnon TI, Achdout H, Lieberman N, Gazit R, Gonen-Gross T, Katz G et al. The mechanisms controlling the recognition of tumor- and virus-infected cells by NKp46. Blood 2004; 103(2): 664-672.
- 133. Gazit R, Gruda R, Elboim M, Arnon TI, Katz G, Achdout H et al. Lethal influenza infection in the absence of the natural killer cell receptor gene Ncr1. Nat Immunol 2006; 7(5): 517-523.
- 134. Glasner A, Zurunic A, Meningher T, Lenac Rovis T, Tsukerman P, Bar-On Y et al. Elucidating the mechanisms of influenza virus recognition by Ncr1. PLoS One 2012; 7(5): e36837.
- 135. Draghi M, Pashine A, Sanjanwala B, Gendzekhadze K, Cantoni C, Cosman D et al. NKp46 and NKG2D recognition of infected dendritic cells is necessary for NK cell activation in the human response to influenza infection. J Immunol 2007; 178(5): 2688-2698.
- 136. Mandelboim O, Lieberman N, Lev M, Paul L, Arnon TI, Bushkin Y et al. Recognition of haemagglutinins on virusinfected cells by NKp46 activates lysis by human NK cells. Nature 2001; 409(6823): 1055-1060.
- 137. Stein-Streilein J, Bennett M, Mann D, Kumar V. Natural killer cells in mouse lung: surface phenotype, target preference, and response to local influenza virus infection. J Immunol 1983; 131(6): 2699-2704.
- 138. Altfeld M, Fadda L, Frleta D, Bhardwaj N. DCs and NK cells: critical effectors in the immune response to HIV-1. Nat Rev Immunol 2011; 11(3): 176-186.
- 139. Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol 2008; 9(5): 503-510.
- 140. Abdul-Careem MF, Mian MF, Yue G, Gillgrass A, Chenoweth MJ, Barra NG et al. Critical role of natural killer cells in lung immunopathology during influenza infection in mice. J Infect Dis 2012; 206(2): 167-177.
- 141. Zhou G, Juang SW, Kane KP. NK cells exacerbate the pathology of influenza virus infection in mice. Eur J Immunol 2013; 43(4): 929-938.
- 142. Zhou K, Wang J, Li A, Zhao W, Wang D, Zhang W et al. Swift and Strong NK Cell Responses Protect 129 Mice against High-Dose Influenza Virus Infection. J Immunol 2016; 196(4): 1842-1854.
- 143. Guo H, Kumar P, Malarkannan S. Evasion of natural killer cells by influenza virus. J Leukoc Biol 2011; 89(2): 189-194.
- 144. Mahmoud AB, Tu MM, Wight A, Zein HS, Rahim MM, Lee SH et al. Influenza Virus Targets Class I MHC-Educated NK Cells for Immunoevasion. PLoS Pathog 2016; 12(2): e1005446.
- 145. Bar-On Y, Glasner A, Meningher T, Achdout H, Gur C, Lankry D et al. Neuraminidase-mediated, NKp46dependent immune-evasion mechanism of influenza viruses. Cell reports 2013; 3(4): 1044-1050.
- 146. Bar-On Y, Seidel E, Tsukerman P, Mandelboim M, Mandelboim O. Influenza virus uses its neuraminidase protein to evade the recognition of two activating NK cell receptors. J Infect Dis 2014; 210(3): 410-418.
- 147. Steinman RM, Lustig DS, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. 3. Functional properties in vivo. J Exp Med 1974; 139(6): 1431-1445.
- 148. Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. II. Functional properties in vitro. J Exp Med 1974; 139(2): 380-397.
- 149. Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J Exp Med 1973; 137(5): 1142-1162.
- 150. Steinman RM, Witmer MD. Lymphoid dendritic cells are potent stimulators of the primary mixed leukocyte reaction in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1978; 75(10): 5132-5136.
- 151. Nussenzweig MC, Steinman RM, Gutchinov B, Cohn ZA. Dendritic cells are accessory cells for the development of anti-trinitrophenyl cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1980; 152(4): 1070-1084.
- 152. Guilliams M, Ginhoux F, Jakubzick C, Naik SH, Onai N, Schraml BU et al. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. Nat Rev Immunol 2014; 14(8): 571-578.
- 153. Naik SH, Sathe P, Park HY, Metcalf D, Proietto Al, Dakic A et al. Development of plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell subtypes from single precursor cells derived in vitro and in vivo. Nat Immunol 2007; 8(11): 1217-1226.
- 154. Onai N, Obata-Onai A, Schmid MA, Ohteki T, Jarrossay D, Manz MG. Identification of clonogenic common Flt3+M-CSFR+ plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Nat Immunol 2007; 8(11): 1207-1216.
- 155. Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M et al. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. Science 2008; 322(5904): 1097-1100.
- 156. Edelson BT, Kc W, Juang R, Kohyama M, Benoit LA, Klekotka PA et al. Peripheral CD103+ dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8alpha+ conventional dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2010; 207(4): 823-836.
- 157. Jaiswal H, Kaushik M, Sougrat R, Gupta M, Dey A, Verma R et al. Batf3 and Id2 have a synergistic effect on Irf8directed classical CD8alpha+ dendritic cell development. J Immunol 2013; 191(12): 5993-6001.
- 158. Hacker C, Kirsch RD, Ju XS, Hieronymus T, Gust TC, Kuhl C et al. Transcriptional profiling identifies Id2 function in dendritic cell development. Nat Immunol 2003; 4(4): 380-386.
- 159. Jackson JT, Hu Y, Liu R, Masson F, D'Amico A, Carotta S et al. Id2 expression delineates differential checkpoints in the genetic program of CD8alpha+ and CD103+ dendritic cell lineages. EMBO J 2011; 30(13): 2690-2704.
- 160. Tailor P, Tamura T, Morse HC, 3rd, Ozato K. The BXH2 mutation in IRF8 differentially impairs dendritic cell subset development in the mouse. Blood 2008; 111(4): 1942-1945.

- 161. Hambleton S, Salem S, Bustamante J, Bigley V, Boisson-Dupuis S, Azevedo J et al. IRF8 mutations and human dendritic-cell immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med 2011; 365(2): 127-138.
- 162. Bajana S, Turner S, Paul J, Ainsua-Enrich E, Kovats S. IRF4 and IRF8 Act in CD11c+ Cells To Regulate Terminal Differentiation of Lung Tissue Dendritic Cells. J Immunol 2016; 196(4): 1666-1677.
- 163. Gao Y, Nish SA, Jiang R, Hou L, Licona-Limon P, Weinstein JS et al. Control of T helper 2 responses by transcription factor IRF4-dependent dendritic cells. Immunity 2013; 39(4): 722-732.
- 164. Persson EK, Uronen-Hansson H, Semmrich M, Rivollier A, Hagerbrand K, Marsal J et al. IRF4 transcription-factordependent CD103(+)CD11b(+) dendritic cells drive mucosal T helper 17 cell differentiation. Immunity 2013; 38(5): 958-969.
- 165. Schlitzer A, McGovern N, Teo P, Zelante T, Atarashi K, Low D et al. IRF4 transcription factor-dependent CD11b+ dendritic cells in human and mouse control mucosal IL-17 cytokine responses. Immunity 2013; 38(5): 970-983.
- 166. Scott CL, Soen B, Martens L, Skrypek N, Saelens W, Taminau J et al. The transcription factor Zeb2 regulates development of conventional and plasmacytoid DCs by repressing Id2. J Exp Med 2016.
- 167. Tussiwand R, Everts B, Grajales-Reyes GE, Kretzer NM, Iwata A, Bagaitkar J et al. Klf4 expression in conventional dendritic cells is required for T helper 2 cell responses. Immunity 2015; 42(5): 916-928.
- 168. Park CS, Lee PH, Yamada T, Burns A, Shen Y, Puppi M et al. Kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) promotes the survival of natural killer cells and maintains the number of conventional dendritic cells in the spleen. J Leukoc Biol 2012; 91(5): 739-750.
- 169. Satpathy AT, Briseno CG, Lee JS, Ng D, Manieri NA, Kc W et al. Notch2-dependent classical dendritic cells orchestrate intestinal immunity to attaching-and-effacing bacterial pathogens. Nat Immunol 2013; 14(9): 937-948.
- 170. Lewis KL, Caton ML, Bogunovic M, Greter M, Grajkowska LT, Ng D et al. Notch2 receptor signaling controls functional differentiation of dendritic cells in the spleen and intestine. Immunity 2011; 35(5): 780-791.
- 171. Cisse B, Caton ML, Lehner M, Maeda T, Scheu S, Locksley R et al. Transcription factor E2-2 is an essential and specific regulator of plasmacytoid dendritic cell development. Cell 2008; 135(1): 37-48.
- 172. Nagasawa M, Schmidlin H, Hazekamp MG, Schotte R, Blom B. Development of human plasmacytoid dendritic cells depends on the combined action of the basic helix-loop-helix factor E2-2 and the Ets factor Spi-B. Eur J Immunol 2008; 38(9): 2389-2400.
- 173. Esashi E, Liu YJ. E-box protein E2-2 is a crucial regulator of plasmacytoid DC development. Eur J Immunol 2008; 38(9): 2386-2388.
- 174. Sathe P, Vremec D, Wu L, Corcoran L, Shortman K. Convergent differentiation: myeloid and lymphoid pathways to murine plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Blood 2013; 121(1): 11-19.
- 175. Corcoran L, Ferrero I, Vremec D, Lucas K, Waithman J, O'Keeffe M et al. The lymphoid past of mouse plasmacytoid cells and thymic dendritic cells. J Immunol 2003; 170(10): 4926-4932.
- 176. Spits H, Couwenberg F, Bakker AQ, Weijer K, Uittenbogaart CH. Id2 and Id3 inhibit development of CD34(+) stem cells into predendritic cell (pre-DC)2 but not into pre-DC1. Evidence for a lymphoid origin of pre-DC2. J Exp Med 2000; 192(12): 1775-1784.
- 177. Manz MG, Traver D, Miyamoto T, Weissman IL, Akashi K. Dendritic cell potentials of early lymphoid and myeloid progenitors. Blood 2001; 97(11): 3333-3341.
- 178. Wu L, D'Amico A, Hochrein H, O'Keeffe M, Shortman K, Lucas K. Development of thymic and splenic dendritic cell populations from different hemopoietic precursors. Blood 2001; 98(12): 3376-3382.
- 179. Chicha L, Jarrossay D, Manz MG. Clonal type I interferon-producing and dendritic cell precursors are contained in both human lymphoid and myeloid progenitor populations. J Exp Med 2004; 200(11): 1519-1524.
- 180. D'Amico A, Wu L. The early progenitors of mouse dendritic cells and plasmacytoid predendritic cells are within the bone marrow hemopoietic precursors expressing Flt3. J Exp Med 2003; 198(2): 293-303.
- 181. Pelayo R, Hirose J, Huang J, Garrett KP, Delogu A, Busslinger M et al. Derivation of 2 categories of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in murine bone marrow. Blood 2005; 105(11): 4407-4415.
- 182. Karsunky H, Merad M, Mende I, Manz MG, Engleman EG, Weissman IL. Developmental origin of interferonalpha-producing dendritic cells from hematopoietic precursors. Exp Hematol 2005; 33(2): 173-181.
- 183. Shigematsu H, Reizis B, Iwasaki H, Mizuno S, Hu D, Traver D et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells activate lymphoidspecific genetic programs irrespective of their cellular origin. Immunity 2004; 21(1): 43-53.
- 184. Heath WR, Carbone FR. Dendritic cell subsets in primary and secondary T cell responses at body surfaces. Nat Immunol 2009; 10(12): 1237-1244.
- 185. Guilliams M, Henri S, Tamoutounour S, Ardouin L, Schwartz-Cornil I, Dalod M et al. From skin dendritic cells to a simplified classification of human and mouse dendritic cell subsets. European journal of immunology 2010; 40(8): 2089-2094.
- 186. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Kool M, Baas C et al. Clearance of influenza virus from the lung depends on migratory langerin+CD11b- but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2008; 205(7): 1621-1634.
- 187. Desch AN, Randolph GJ, Murphy KM, Gautier E, Kedl R, Lahoud M et al. Efferocytic CD103+ pulmonary dendritic cells selectively acquire and present apoptotic cell-associated antigen. JExpMed 2011; 208: 1789-1797.
- 188. Sung SS, Fu SM, Rose CE, Jr., Gaskin F, Ju ST, Beaty SR. A major lung CD103 (alphaE)-beta7 integrin-positive epithelial dendritic cell population expressing Langerin and tight junction proteins. J Immunol 2006; 176(4): 2161-2172.
- 189. Beaty SR, Rose CE, Jr., Sung SS. Diverse and potent chemokine production by lung dendritic cells in homeostasis and in allergic lung inflammation. J Immunol 2007; 178(3): 1882-1895.
- 190. van Rijt LS, Jung S, Kleinjan A, Vos N, Willart M, Duez C et al. In vivo depletion of lung CD11c+ dendritic cells during allergen challenge abrogates the characteristic features of asthma. J Exp Med 2005; 201(6): 981-991.
- 191. Hammad H, Chieppa M, Perros F, Willart MA, Germain RN, Lambrecht BN. House dust mite allergen induces asthma via Toll-like receptor 4 triggering of airway structural cells. Nat Med 2009; 15(4): 410-416.

- 192. Persson EK, Scott CL, Mowat AM, Agace WW. Dendritic cell subsets in the intestinal lamina propria: ontogeny and function. Eur J Immunol 2013; 43(12): 3098-3107.
- 193. Kool M, van Nimwegen M, Willart MA, Muskens F, Boon L, Smit JJ et al. An anti-inflammatory role for plasmacytoid dendritic cells in allergic airway inflammation. J Immunol 2009; 183(2): 1074-1082.
- 194. de Heer HJ, Hammad H, Soullie T, Hijdra D, Vos N, Willart MA et al. Essential role of lung plasmacytoid dendritic cells in preventing asthmatic reactions to harmless inhaled antigen. J Exp Med 2004; 200(1): 89-98.
- 195. Wikstrom ME, Stumbles PA. Mouse respiratory tract dendritic cell subsets and the immunological fate of inhaled antigens. Immunol Cell Biol 2007; 85(3): 182-188.
- 196. von Garnier C, Filgueira L, Wikstrom M, Smith M, Thomas JA, Strickland DH et al. Anatomical location determines the distribution and function of dendritic cells and other APCs in the respiratory tract. J Immunol 2005; 175(3): 1609-1618.
- 197. Auffray C, Fogg D, Garfa M, Elain G, Join-Lambert O, Kayal S et al. Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior. Science 2007; 317(5838): 666-670.
- 198. Willart MA, Jan de Heer H, Hammad H, Soullie T, Deswarte K, Clausen BE et al. The lung vascular filter as a site of immune induction for T cell responses to large embolic antigen. J Exp Med 2009; 206(12): 2823-2835.
- 199. Sertl K, Takemura T, Tschachler E, Ferrans VJ, Kaliner MA, Shevach EM. Dendritic cells with antigen-presenting capability reside in airway epithelium, lung parenchyma, and visceral pleura. J Exp Med 1986; 163: 436-451.
- GeurtsvanKessel CH, Bergen IM, Muskens F, Boon L, Hoogsteden HC, Osterhaus AD et al. Both conventional and interferon killer dendritic cells have antigen-presenting capacity during influenza virus infection. PLoS One 2009; 4(9): e7187.
- 201. Jakubzick C, Helft J, Kaplan TJ, Randolph GJ. Optimization of methods to study pulmonary dendritic cell migration reveals distinct capacities of DC subsets to acquire soluble versus particulate antigen. J Immunol Methods 2008; 337(2): 121-131.
- 202. Grayson MH, Cheung D, Rohlfing MM, Kitchens R, Spiegel DE, Tucker J et al. Induction of high-affinity IgE receptor on lung dendritic cells during viral infection leads to mucous cell metaplasia. J Exp Med 2007; 204(11): 2759-2769.
- 203. Cheong C, Matos I, Choi JH, Dandamudi DB, Shrestha E, Longhi MP et al. Microbial stimulation fully differentiates monocytes to DC-SIGN/CD209(+) dendritic cells for immune T cell areas. Cell 2010; 143(3): 416-429.
- 204. Leon B, Lopez-Bravo M, Ardavin C. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells formed at the infection site control the induction of protective T helper 1 responses against Leishmania. Immunity 2007; 26(4): 519-531.
- 205. Plantinga M, Guilliams M, Vanheerswynghels M, Deswarte K, Branco Madeira F, Toussaint W et al. Conventional and monocyte-derived CD11b+ dendritic cells initiate and maintain T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity to house dust mite allergen. Immunity 2013; 38: doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.1010.1016.
- 206. Serbina NV, Kuziel W, Flavell R, Akira S, Rollins B, Pamer EG. Sequential MyD88-independent and -dependent activation of innate immune responses to intracellular bacterial infection. Immunity 2003; 19(6): 891-901.
- 207. Serbina NV, Pamer EG. Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2. Nat Immunol 2006; 7(3): 311-317.
- 208. Langlet C, Tamoutounour S, Henri S, Luche H, Ardouin L, Gregoire C et al. CD64 expression distinguishes monocyte-derived and conventional dendritic cells and reveals their distinct role during intramuscular immunization. J Immunol 2012; 188(4): 1751-1760.
- 209. Tamoutounour S, Henri S, Lelouard H, de Bovis B, de Haar C, van der Woude CJ et al. CD64 distinguishes macrophages from dendritic cells in the gut and reveals the Th1-inducing role of mesenteric lymph node macrophages during colitis. Eur J Immunol 2012.
- 210. Scott CL, Bain CC, Wright PB, Sichien D, Kotarsky K, Persson EK et al. CCR2(+)CD103(-) intestinal dendritic cells develop from DC-committed precursors and induce interleukin-17 production by T cells. Mucosal Immunol 2015; 8(2): 327-339.
- 211. Hammad H, Plantinga M, Deswarte K, Pouliot P, Willart MA, Kool M et al. Inflammatory dendritic cells--not basophils--are necessary and sufficient for induction of Th2 immunity to inhaled house dust mite allergen. J Exp Med 2010; 207(10): 2097-2111.
- 212. Bain CC, Scott CL, Uronen-Hansson H, Gudjonsson S, Jansson O, Grip O et al. Resident and pro-inflammatory macrophages in the colon represent alternative context-dependent fates of the same Ly6Chi monocyte precursors. Mucosal Immunol 2013; 6(3): 498-510.
- 213. Jakubzick C, Bogunovic M, Bonito AJ, Kuan EL, Merad M, Randolph GJ. Lymph-migrating, tissue-derived dendritic cells are minor constituents within steady-state lymph nodes. J Exp Med 2008; 205(12): 2839-2850.
- 214. Meredith MM, Liu K, Darrasse-Jeze G, Kamphorst AO, Schreiber HA, Guermonprez P et al. Expression of the zinc finger transcription factor zDC (Zbtb46, Btbd4) defines the classical dendritic cell lineage. The Journal of experimental medicine 2012; 209(6): 1153-1165.
- 215. Satpathy AT, Kc W, Albring JC, Edelson BT, Kretzer NM, Bhattacharya D et al. Zbtb46 expression distinguishes classical dendritic cells and their committed progenitors from other immune lineages. The Journal of experimental medicine 2012; 209(6): 1135-1152.
- 216. Meredith MM, Liu K, Kamphorst AO, Idoyaga J, Yamane A, Guermonprez P et al. Zinc finger transcription factor zDC is a negative regulator required to prevent activation of classical dendritic cells in the steady state. The Journal of experimental medicine 2012; 209(9): 1583-1593.
- 217. Loschko J, Rieke GJ, Schreiber HA, Meredith MM, Yao KH, Guermonprez P et al. Inducible targeting of cDCs and their subsets in vivo. J Immunol Methods 2016.
- 218. Loschko J, Schreiber HA, Rieke GJ, Esterhazy D, Meredith MM, Pedicord VA et al. Absence of MHC class II on cDCs results in microbial-dependent intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med 2016; 213(4): 517-534.
- 219. Yamazaki C, Sugiyama M, Ohta T, Hemmi H, Hamada E, Sasaki I et al. Critical roles of a dendritic cell subset expressing a chemokine receptor, XCR1. J Immunol 2013; 190(12): 6071-6082.

- 220. Alexandre YO, Ghilas S, Sanchez C, Le Bon A, Crozat K, Dalod M. XCR1+ dendritic cells promote memory CD8+ T cell recall upon secondary infections with Listeria monocytogenes or certain viruses. J Exp Med 2016; 213(1): 75-92.
- 221. Crozat K, Tamoutounour S, Vu Manh TP, Fossum E, Luche H, Ardouin L et al. Cutting edge: expression of XCR1 defines mouse lymphoid-tissue resident and migratory dendritic cells of the CD8alpha+ type. J Immunol 2011; 187(9): 4411-4415.
- 222. Ginhoux F, Greter M, Leboeuf M, Nandi S, See P, Gokhan S et al. Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. Science 2010; 330(6005): 841-845.
- 223. Hashimoto D, Chow A, Noizat C, Teo P, Beasley MB, Leboeuf M et al. Tissue-resident macrophages self-maintain locally throughout adult life with minimal contribution from circulating monocytes. Immunity 2013; 38(4): 792-804.
- 224. Yona S, Kim KW, Wolf Y, Mildner A, Varol D, Breker M et al. Fate mapping reveals origins and dynamics of monocytes and tissue macrophages under homeostasis. Immunity 2013; 38(1): 79-91.
- Ginhoux F, Guilliams M. Tissue-Resident Macrophage Ontogeny and Homeostasis. Immunity 2016; 44(3): 439-449.
   Gautier EL, Shay T, Miller J, Greter M, Jakubzick C, Ivanov S et al. Gene-expression profiles and transcriptional regulatory pathways that underlie the identity and diversity of mouse tissue macrophages. Nat Immunol 2012;
- 13(11): 1118-1128.
  227. Lavin Y, Winter D, Blecher-Gonen R, David E, Keren-Shaul H, Merad M et al. Tissue-resident macrophage enhancer landscapes are shaped by the local microenvironment. Cell 2014; 159(6): 1312-1326.
- 228. Gosselin D, Link VM, Romanoski CE, Fonseca GJ, Eichenfield DZ, Spann NJ et al. Environment drives selection and function of enhancers controlling tissue-specific macrophage identities. *Cell* 2014; 159(6): 1327-1340.
- 229. van de Laar L, Saelens W, De Prijck S, Martens L, Scott CL, Van Isterdael G et al. Yolk Sac Macrophages, Fetal Liver, and Adult Monocytes Can Colonize an Empty Niche and Develop into Functional Tissue-Resident Macrophages. Immunity 2016; 44(4): 755-768.
- 230. Scott CL, Zheng F, De Baetselier P, Martens L, Saeys Y, De Prijck S et al. Bone marrow-derived monocytes give rise to self-renewing and fully differentiated Kupffer cells. Nature communications 2016; 7: 10321.
- 231. Inaba K, Inaba M, Romani N, Aya H, Deguchi M, Ikehara S et al. Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J Exp Med 1992; 176: 1693-1702.
- 232. Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alfa. J Exp Med 1994; 179: 1109-1118.
- 233. Naik SH, Metcalf D, van Nieuwenhuijze A, Wicks I, Wu L, O'Keeffe M et al. Intrasplenic steady-state dendritic cell precursors that are distinct from monocytes. Nat Immunol 2006; 7(6): 663-671.
- 234. Varol C, Landsman L, Fogg DK, Greenshtein L, Gildor B, Margalit R et al. Monocytes give rise to mucosal, but not splenic, conventional dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2007; 204(1): 171-180.
- 235. Liu K, Victora GD, Schwickert TA, Guermonprez P, Meredith MM, Yao K et al. In vivo analysis of dendritic cell development and homeostasis. Science 2009; 324(5925): 392-397.
- 236. Helft J, Bottcher J, Chakravarty P, Zelenay S, Huotari J, Schraml BU et al. GM-CSF Mouse Bone Marrow Cultures Comprise a Heterogeneous Population of CD11c(+)MHCII(+) Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. Immunity 2015; 42(6): 1197-1211.
- 237. Shalek AK, Satija R, Adiconis X, Gertner RS, Gaublomme JT, Raychowdhury R et al. Single-cell transcriptomics reveals bimodality in expression and splicing in immune cells. Nature 2013; 498(7453): 236-240.
- 238. Guilliams M, van de Laar L. A Hitchhiker's Guide to Myeloid Cell Subsets: Practical Implementation of a Novel Mononuclear Phagocyte Classification System. Front Immunol 2015; 6: 406.
- 239. Rescigno M, Urbano M, Valzasina B, Francolini M, Rotta G, Bonasio R et al. Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. Nat Immunol 2001; 2: 361-367.
- 240. Kim KW, Vallon-Eberhard A, Zigmond E, Farache J, Shezen E, Shakhar G et al. In vivo structure/function and expression analysis of the CX3C chemokine fractalkine. Blood 2011; 118(22): e156-167.
- 241. Cerovic V, Bain CC, Mowat AM, Milling SW. Intestinal macrophages and dendritic cells: what's the difference? Trends Immunol 2014; 35(6): 270-277.
- 242. Smyth LA, Hervouet C, Hayday T, Becker PD, Ellis R, Lechler RI et al. Acquisition of MHC:peptide complexes by dendritic cells contributes to the generation of antiviral CD8+ T cell immunity in vivo. Journal of immunology 2012; 189(5): 2274-2282.
- 243. Li L, Kim S, Herndon JM, Goedegebuure P, Belt BA, Satpathy AT et al. Cross-dressed CD8alpha+/CD103+ dendritic cells prime CD8+ T cells following vaccination. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2012; 109(31): 12716-12721.
- 244. Londrigan SL, Turville SG, Tate MD, Deng YM, Brooks AG, Reading PC. N-linked glycosylation facilitates sialic acid-independent attachment and entry of influenza A viruses into cells expressing DC-SIGN or L-SIGN. J Virol 2011; 85(6): 2990-3000.
- 245. Legge KL, Braciale TJ. Lymph node dendritic cells control CD8+ T cell responses through regulated FasL expression. Immunity 2005; 23(6): 649-659.
- 246. Legge KL, Braciale TJ. Lymph node dendritic cells control CD8+ T cell responses through regulated FasL expression. Immunity 2005; 23: 649-659.
- 247. Moltedo B, Li W, Yount JS, Moran TM. Unique type I interferon responses determine the functional fate of migratory lung dendritic cells during influenza virus infection. PLoS Pathog 2011; 7(11): e1002345.
- 248. Infusini G, Smith JM, Yuan H, Pizzolla A, Ng WC, Londrigan SL et al. Respiratory DC Use IFITM3 to Avoid Direct Viral Infection and Safeguard Virus-Specific CD8+ T Cell Priming. PLoS One 2015; 10(11): e0143539.
- 249. Walter MJ, Kajiwara N, Karanja P, Castro M, Holtzman MJ. Interleukin 12 p40 production by barrier epithelial cells during airway inflammation. J Exp Med 2001; 193(3): 339-351.

- 250. Greter M, Helft J, Chow A, Hashimoto D, Mortha A, Agudo-Cantero J et al. GM-CSF Controls Nonlymphoid Tissue Dendritic Cell Homeostasis but Is Dispensable for the Differentiation of Inflammatory Dendritic Cells. Immunity 2012; 36(6): 1031-1046.
- 251. Croxford AL, Lanzinger M, Hartmann FJ, Schreiner B, Mair F, Pelczar P et al. The Cytokine GM-CSF Drives the Inflammatory Signature of CCR2+ Monocytes and Licenses Autoimmunity. Immunity 2015; 43(3): 502-514.
- 252. Willart MA, Deswarte K, Pouliot P, Braun H, Beyaert R, Lambrecht BN et al. Interleukin-1alpha controls allergic sensitization to inhaled house dust mite via the epithelial release of GM-CSF and IL-33. J Exp Med 2012; 209(1505-1517).
- 253. Pang IK, Ichinohe T, Iwasaki A. IL-1R signaling in dendritic cells replaces pattern-recognition receptors in promoting CD8(+) T cell responses to influenza A virus. Nature immunology 2013; 14(3): 246-253.
- 254. Yadava K, Sichelstiel A, Luescher IF, Nicod LP, Harris NL, Marsland BJ. TSLP promotes influenza-specific CD8+ Tcell responses by augmenting local inflammatory dendritic cell function. Mucosal immunology 2013; 6(1): 83-92.
- 255. Kopf M, Abel B, Gallimore A, Carroll M, Bachmann MF. Complement component C3 promotes T-cell priming and lung migration to control acute influenza virus infection. Nat Med 2002; 8(4): 373-378.
- 256. Kandasamy M, Ying PC, Ho AW, Sumatoh HR, Schlitzer A, Hughes TR et al. Complement mediated signaling on pulmonary CD103(+) dendritic cells is critical for their migratory function in response to influenza infection. PLoS Pathog 2013; 9(1): e1003115.
- 257. Brinker KG, Garner H, Wright JR. Surfactant protein A modulates the differentiation of murine bone marrowderived dendritic cells. American journal of physiology Lung cellular and molecular physiology 2003; 284(1): L232-241.
- 258. Brinker KG, Martin E, Borron P, Mostaghel E, Doyle C, Harding CV et al. Surfactant protein D enhances bacterial antigen presentation by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2001; 281(6): L1453-1463.
- 259. Rudd BD, Luker GD, Luker KE, Peebles RS, Lukacs NW. Type I interferon regulates respiratory virus infected dendritic cell maturation and cytokine production. Viral Immunol 2007; 20(4): 531-540.
- 260. Rate A, Upham JW, Bosco A, McKenna KL, Holt PG. Airway epithelial cells regulate the functional phenotype of locally differentiating dendritic cells: implications for the pathogenesis of infectious and allergic airway disease. J Immunol 2009; 182(1): 72-83.
- 261. van Gisbergen KP, Sanchez-Hernandez M, Geijtenbeek TB, van Kooyk Y. Neutrophils mediate immune regulation of dendritic cells through glycosylation-dependent interactiona between Mac-1 and DC-SIGN. J Exp Med 2005; 201(8): 1281-1292.
- 262. Grayson MH, Ramos MS, Rohlfing MM, Kitchens R, Wang HD, Gould A et al. Controls for lung dendritic cell maturation and migration during respiratory viral infection. Journal of immunology 2007; 179(3): 1438-1448.
- 263. del Rio M-L, Rodriguez-Barbosa J-I, Kremmer E, Forster R. CD103- and CD103+ bronchial lymph node dendritic cells are specialized in presenting and cross-presenting innocuous antigen to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. J Immunol 2007; 178: 6861-6866.
- 264. Hintzen G, Ohl L, del Rio ML, Rodriguez-Barbosa JI, Pabst O, Kocks JR et al. Induction of tolerance to innocuous inhaled antigen relies on a CCR7-dependent dendritic cell-mediated antigen transport to the bronchial lymph node. J Immunol 2006; 177(10): 7346-7354.
- 265. Heer AK, Harris NL, Kopf M, Marsland BJ. CD4+ and CD8+ T cells exhibit differential requirements for CCR7mediated antigen transport during influenza infection. Journal of immunology 2008; 181(10): 6984-6994.
- 266. Yoo JK, Baker DP, Fish EN. Interferon-beta modulates type 1 immunity during influenza virus infection. Antiviral Res 2010; 88(1): 64-71.
- 267. Rouzaut A, Garasa S, Teijeira A, Gonzalez I, Martinez-Forero I, Suarez N et al. Dendritic cells adhere to and transmigrate across lymphatic endothelium in response to IFN-alpha. Eur J Immunol 2010; 40(11): 3054-3063.
- 268. Parlato S, Santini SM, Lapenta C, Di Pucchio T, Logozzi M, Spada M et al. Expression of CCR-7, MIP-3beta, and Th-1 chemokines in type I IFN-induced monocyte-derived dendritic cells: importance for the rapid acquisition of potent migratory and functional activities. Blood 2001; 98(10): 3022-3029.
- 269. Ito T, Amakawa R, Inaba M, Ikehara S, Inaba K, Fukuhara S. Differential regulation of human blood dendritic cell subsets by IFNs. J Immunol 2001; 166(5): 2961-2969.
- 270. Montoya M, Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Gresser I, Belardelli F, Borrow P et al. Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. Blood 2002; 99(9): 3263-3271.
- 271. Le Bon A, Etchart N, Rossmann C, Ashton M, Hou S, Gewert D et al. Cross-priming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon. Nat Immunol 2003; 4(10): 1009-1015.
- 272. Le Bon A, Durand V, Kamphuis E, Thompson C, Bulfone-Paus S, Rossmann C et al. Direct stimulation of T cells by type I IFN enhances the CD8+ T cell response during cross-priming. J Immunol 2006; 176(8): 4682-4689.
- 273. Spadaro F, Lapenta C, Donati S, Abalsamo L, Barnaba V, Belardelli F et al. IFN-alpha enhances crosspresentation in human dendritic cells by modulating antigen survival, endocytic routing, and processing. Blood 2012; 119(6): 1407-1417.
- 274. Legge KL, Braciale TJ. Accelerated migration of respiratory dendritic cells to the regional lymph nodes is limited to the early phase of pulmonary infection. Immunity 2003; 18(2): 265-277.
- 275. Zhao J, Legge K, Perlman S. Age-related increases in PGD(2) expression impair respiratory DC migration, resulting in diminished T cell responses upon respiratory virus infection in mice. The Journal of clinical investigation 2011; 121(12): 4921-4930.
- 276. Hammad H, de Heer HJ, Soullie T, Hoogsteden HC, Trottein F, Lambrecht BN. Prostaglandin D2 inhibits airway dendritic cell migration and function in steady state conditions by selective activation of the D prostanoid receptor 1. J Immunol 2003; 171(8): 3936-3940.
- 277. Le Nouen C, Hillyer P, Munir S, Winter CC, McCarty T, Bukreyev A et al. Effects of human respiratory syncytial virus, metapneumovirus, parainfluenza virus 3 and influenza virus on CD4+ T cell activation by dendritic cells. PLoS One 2010; 5(11): e15017.

- 278. Le Nouen C, Hillyer P, Winter CC, McCarty T, Rabin RL, Collins PL et al. Low CCR7-mediated migration of human monocyte derived dendritic cells in response to human respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus. PLoS pathogens 2011; 7(6): e1002105.
- 279. Kim TS, Braciale TJ. Respiratory dendritic cell subsets differ in their capacity to support the induction of virusspecific cytotoxic CD8+T cell responses. PLoS One 2009; 4(1): e4204.
- 280. Belz GT, Smith CM, Kleinert L, Reading P, Brooks A, Shortman K et al. Distinct migrating and nonmigrating dendritic cell populations are involved in MHC class I-restricted antigen presentation after lung infection with virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101(23): 8670-8675.
- 281. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Lambrecht BN. Division of labor between dendritic cell subsets of the lung. Mucosal Immunol 2008; 1(6): 442-450.
- 282. Ho AW, Prabhu N, Betts RJ, Ge MQ, Dai X, Hutchinson PE et al. Lung CD103+ dendritic cells efficiently transport influenza virus to the lymph node and load viral antigen onto MHC class I for presentation to CD8 T cells. Journal of immunology 2011; 187(11): 6011-6021.
- 283. Iborra S, Izquierdo HM, Martinez-Lopez M, Blanco-Menendez N, Reis e Sousa C, Sancho D. The DC receptor DNGR-1 mediates cross-priming of CTLs during vaccinia virus infection in mice. The Journal of clinical investigation 2012; 122(5): 1628-1643.
- 284. Schreibelt G, Klinkenberg LJ, Cruz LJ, Tacken PJ, Tel J, Kreutz M et al. The C-type lectin receptor CLEC9A mediates antigen uptake and (cross-)presentation by human blood BDCA3+ myeloid dendritic cells. Blood 2012; 119(10): 2284-2292.
- 285. Zelenay S, Keller AM, Whitney PG, Schraml BU, Deddouche S, Rogers NC et al. The dendritic cell receptor DNGR-1 controls endocytic handling of necrotic cell antigens to favor cross-priming of CTLs in virus-infected mice. The Journal of clinical investigation 2012; 122(5): 1615-1627.
- 286. Poulin LF, Reyal Y, Uronen-Hansson H, Schraml BU, Sancho D, Murphy KM et al. DNGR-1 is a specific and universal marker of mouse and human Batf3-dependent dendritic cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid tissues. Blood 2012; 119(25): 6052-6062.
- 287. Yoon H, Legge KL, Sung SS, Braciale TJ. Sequential activation of CD8+ T cells in the draining lymph nodes in response to pulmonary virus infection. Journal of immunology 2007; 179(1): 391-399.
- 288. Ballesteros-Tato A, Leon B, Lund FE, Randall TD. Temporal changes in dendritic cell subsets, cross-priming and costimulation via CD70 control CD8(+) T cell responses to influenza. Nat Immunol 2010; 11(3): 216-224.
- 289. Lukens MV, Kruijsen D, Coenjaerts FE, Kimpen JL, van Bleek GM. Respiratory syncytial virus-induced activation and migration of respiratory dendritic cells and subsequent antigen presentation in the lung-draining lymph node. Journal of virology 2009; 83(14): 7235-7243.
- 290. Unkel B, Hoegner K, Clausen BE, Lewe-Schlosser P, Bodner J, Gattenloehner S et al. Alveolar epithelial cells orchestrate DC function in murine viral pneumonia. J Clin Invest 2012; 122(10): 3652-3664.
- 291. Osterholzer JJ, Chen GH, Olszewski MA, Curtis JL, Huffnagle GB, Toews GB. Accumulation of CD11b+ lung dendritic cells in response to fungal infection results from the CCR2-mediated recruitment and differentiation of Ly-6Chigh monocytes. J Immunol 2009; 183(12): 8044-8053.
- 292. Seo SU, Kwon HJ, Ko HJ, Byun YH, Seong BL, Uematsu S et al. Type I interferon signaling regulates Ly6C(hi) monocytes and neutrophils during acute viral pneumonia in mice. PLoS pathogens 2011; 7(2): e1001304.
- 293. Gill MA, Long K, Kwon T, Muniz L, Mejias A, Connolly J et al. Differential recruitment of dendritic cells and monocytes to respiratory mucosal sites in children with influenza virus or respiratory syncytial virus infection. The Journal of infectious diseases 2008; 198(11): 1667-1676.
- 294. Lin KL, Sweeney S, Kang BD, Ramsburg E, Gunn MD. CCR2-antagonist prophylaxis reduces pulmonary immune pathology and markedly improves survival during influenza infection. Journal of immunology 2011; 186(1): 508-515.
- 295. Aldridge JR, Jr., Moseley CE, Boltz DA, Negovetich NJ, Reynolds C, Franks J et al. TNF/iNOS-producing dendritic cells are the necessary evil of lethal influenza virus infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2009; 106(13): 5306-5311.
- 296. Narni-Mancinelli E, Campisi L, Bassand D, Cazareth J, Gounon P, Glaichenhaus N et al. Memory CD8+ T cells mediate antibacterial immunity via CCL3 activation of TNF/ROI+ phagocytes. The Journal of experimental medicine 2007; 204(9): 2075-2087.
- 297. Narni-Mancinelli E, Soudja SM, Crozat K, Dalod M, Gounon P, Geissmann F et al. Inflammatory monocytes and neutrophils are licensed to kill during memory responses in vivo. PLoS pathogens 2011; 7(12): e1002457.
- 298. Cella M, Jarrossay D, Facchetti F, Alebardi O, Nakajima H, Lanzavecchia A et al. Plasmacytoid monocytes migrate to inflamed lymph nodes and produce large amounts of type I interferon. Nature Med 1999; 5: 919-923.
- 299. Siegal FP, Kadowaki N, Shodell M, Fitzgerald-Bocarsly PA, Shah K, Ho S et al. The nature of the principal type I interferon-producing cells in human blood. Science 1999; 284: 1835-1837.
- 300. Diebold SS, Kaisho T, Hemmi H, Akira S, Reis e Sousa C. Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of single-stranded RNA. Science 2004; 303(5663): 1529-1531.
- 301. Thomas JM, Pos Z, Reinboth J, Wang RY, Wang E, Frank GM et al. Differential responses of plasmacytoid dendritic cells to influenza virus and distinct viral pathogens. J Virol 2014; 88(18): 10758-10766.
- 302. Wang H, Peters N, Schwarze J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells limit viral replication, pulmonary inflammation, and airway hyperresponsiveness in respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Immunol 2006; 177(9): 6263-6270.
- 303. Smit JJ, Rudd BD, Lukacs NW. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells inhibit pulmonary immunopathology and promote clearance of respiratory syncytial virus. The Journal of experimental medicine 2006; 203(5): 1153-1159.
- 304. Davidson S, Kaiko G, Loh Z, Lalwani A, Zhang V, Spann K et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells promote host defense against acute pneumovirus infection via the TLR7-MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Journal of immunology 2011; 186(10): 5938-5948.
- 305. Boogaard I, van Oosten M, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Kimman TG, Lambrecht BN et al. Respiratory syncytial virus differentially activates murine myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Immunology 2007; 122(1): 65-72.

- 306. Jewell NA, Vaghefi N, Mertz SE, Akter P, Peebles RS, Jr., Bakaletz LO et al. Differential type I interferon induction by respiratory syncytial virus and influenza a virus in vivo. Journal of virology 2007; 81(18): 9790-9800.
- 307. Cao W, Taylor AK, Biber RE, Davis WG, Kim JH, Reber AJ et al. Rapid differentiation of monocytes into type I IFNproducing myeloid dendritic cells as an antiviral strategy against influenza virus infection. J Immunol 2012; 189(5): 2257-2265.
- 308. Diebold SS, Montoya M, Unger H, Alexopoulou L, Roy P, Haswell LE et al. Viral infection switches nonplasmacytoid dendritic cells into high interferon producers. Nature 2003.
- 309. Fonteneau JF, Gilliet M, Larsson M, Dasilva I, Munz C, Liu YJ et al. Activation of influenza virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells: a new role for plasmacytoid dendritic cells in adaptive immunity. Blood 2003.
- 310. Cella M, Facchetti F, Lanzavecchia A, Colonna M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells activated by influenza virus and CD40L drive a potent TH1 polarization. Nat Immunol 2000; 1(4): 305-310.
- 311. Hoeffel G, Ripoche AC, Matheoud D, Nascimbeni M, Escriou N, Lebon P et al. Antigen crosspresentation by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Immunity 2007; 27(3): 481-492.
- 312. Kool M, Geurtsvankessel C, Muskens F, Madeira FB, van Nimwegen M, Kuipers H et al. Facilitated antigen uptake and timed exposure to TLR ligands dictate the antigen-presenting potential of plasmacytoid DCs. J Leukoc Biol 2011; 90(6): 1177-1190.
- 313. Wolf AI, Buehler D, Hensley SE, Cavanagh LL, Wherry EJ, Kastner P et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are dispensable during primary influenza virus infection. Journal of immunology 2009; 182(2): 871-879.
- 314. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Kool M, Baas C et al. Clearance of influenza virus from the lung depends on migratory langerin+CD11b- but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. The Journal of experimental medicine 2008; 205(7): 1621-1634.
- 315. Langlois RA, Legge KL. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells enhance mortality during lethal influenza infections by eliminating virus-specific CD8 T cells. J Immunol 2010; 184(8): 4440-4446.
- 316. Jego G, Palucka AK, Blanck JP, Chalouni C, Pascual V, Banchereau J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce plasma cell differentiation through type I interferon and interleukin 6. Immunity 2003; 19(2): 225-234.
- 317. Swiecki M, Wang Y, Vermi W, Gilfillan S, Schreiber RD, Colonna M. Type I interferon negatively controls plasmacytoid dendritic cell numbers in vivo. The Journal of experimental medicine 2011; 208(12): 2367-2374.
- 318. Swiecki M, Gilfillan S, Vermi W, Wang Y, Colonna M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cell ablation impacts early interferon responses and antiviral NK and CD8(+) T cell accrual. Immunity 2010; 33(6): 955-966.
- 319. Lombardi V, Speak AO, Kerzerho J, Szely N, Akbari O. CD8alpha(+)beta(-) and CD8alpha(+)beta(+) plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells and prevent the induction of airway hyper-reactivity. Mucosal immunology 2012; 5(4): 432-443.
- 320. Brown AS, Bourges D, Ang DK, Hartland EL, van Driel IR. CD8 subunit expression by plasmacytoid dendritic cells is variable, and does not define stable subsets. Mucosal Immunol 2014; 7(1): 200-201.
- 321. Jung S, Unutmaz D, Wong P, Sano G, De los Santos K, Sparwasser T et al. In vivo depletion of CD11c(+) dendritic cells abrogates priming of CD8(+) T cells by exogenous cell-associated antigens. Immunity 2002; 17(2): 211-220.
- 322. Bertram EM, Dawicki W, Watts TH. Role of T cell costimulation in anti-viral immunity. Semin Immunol 2004; 16(3): 185-196.
- 323. Curtsinger JM, Mescher MF. Inflammatory cytokines as a third signal for T cell activation. Curr Opin Immunol 2010; 22(3): 333-340.
- 324. McLachlan JB, Catron DM, Moon JJ, Jenkins MK. Dendritic cell antigen presentation drives simultaneous cytokine production by effector and regulatory T cells in inflamed skin. Immunity 2009; 30(2): 277-288.
- 325. Hufford MM, Kim TS, Sun J, Braciale TJ. Antiviral CD8+ T cell effector activities in situ are regulated by target cell type. J Exp Med 2011; 208(1): 167-180.
- 326. McGill J, Van Rooijen N, Legge KL. IL-15 trans-presentation by pulmonary dendritic cells promotes effector CD8 T cell survival during influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 2010; 207(3): 521-534.
- 327. Hufford MM, Kim TS, Sun J, Braciale TJ. The effector T cell response to influenza infection. Current topics in microbiology and immunology 2015; 386: 423-455.
- 328. Hirahara K, Nakayama T. CD4+ T-cell subsets in inflammatory diseases: beyond the Th1/Th2 paradigm. Int Immunol 2016; 28(4): 163-171.
- 329. Butler NS, Kulu DI. The regulation of T follicular helper responses during infection. Curr Opin Immunol 2015; 34: 68-74.
- 330. Crotty S. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol 2011; 29: 621-663.
- 331. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P et al. Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 2001; 194(4): 519-527.
- 332. Liang SC, Long AJ, Bennett F, Whitters MJ, Karim R, Collins M et al. An IL-17F/A heterodimer protein is produced by mouse Th17 cells and induces airway neutrophil recruitment. J Immunol 2007; 179(11): 7791-7799.
- 333. Josefowicz SZ, Lu LF, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. Annu Rev Immunol 2012; 30: 531-564.
- Veiga-Parga T, Sehrawat S, Rouse BT. Role of regulatory T cells during virus infection. Immunol Rev 2013; 255(1): 182-196.
- 335. Boer MC, Joosten SA, Ottenhoff TH. Regulatory T-Cells at the Interface between Human Host and Pathogens in Infectious Diseases and Vaccination. Front Immunol 2015; 6: 217.
- 336. Moser EK, Hufford MM, Braciale TJ. Late engagement of CD86 after influenza virus clearance promotes recovery in a FoxP3+ regulatory T cell dependent manner. PLoS Pathog 2014; 10(8): e1004315.
- 337. Arpaia N, Green JA, Moltedo B, Arvey A, Hemmers S, Yuan S et al. A Distinct Function of Regulatory T Cells in Tissue Protection. Cell 2015; 162(5): 1078-1089.
- 338. Swain SL, McKinstry KK, Strutt TM. Expanding roles for CD4(+) T cells in immunity to viruses. Nat Rev Immunol 2012; 12(2): 136-148.

- 339. Sun J, Dodd H, Moser EK, Sharma R, Braciale TJ. CD4+ T cell help and innate-derived IL-27 induce Blimp-1dependent IL-10 production by antiviral CTLs. Nat Immunol 2011; 12(4): 327-334.
- 340. Belz GT, Wodarz D, Diaz G, Nowak MA, Doherty PC. Compromised influenza virus-specific CD8(+)-T-cell memory in CD4(+)-T-cell-deficient mice. J Virol 2002; 76(23): 12388-12393.
- 341. Lee BO, Rangel-Moreno J, Moyron-Quiroz JE, Hartson L, Makris M, Sprague F et al. CD4 T cell-independent antibody response promotes resolution of primary influenza infection and helps to prevent reinfection. J Immunol 2005; 175(9): 5827-5838.
- 342. Brown DM, Lee S, Garcia-Hernandez Mde L, Swain SL. Multifunctional CD4 cells expressing gamma interferon and perforin mediate protection against lethal influenza virus infection. J Virol 2012; 86(12): 6792-6803.
- 343. Scherle PA, Palladino G, Gerhard W. Mice can recover from pulmonary influenza virus infection in the absence of class I-restricted cytotoxic T cells. J Immunol 1992; 148(1): 212-217.
- 344. Brown DM, Lampe AT, Workman AM. The Differentiation and Protective Function of Cytolytic CD4 T Cells in Influenza Infection. Front Immunol 2016; 7: 93.
- 345. Appay V, Zaunders JJ, Papagno L, Sutton J, Jaramillo A, Waters A et al. Characterization of CD4(+) CTLs ex vivo. J Immunol 2002; 168(11): 5954-5958.
- 346. Brown DM, Dilzer AM, Meents DL, Swain SL. CD4 T cell-mediated protection from lethal influenza: perforin and antibody-mediated mechanisms give a one-two punch. J Immunol 2006; 177(5): 2888-2898.
- 347. Graham MB, Braciale VL, Braciale TJ. Influenza virus-specific CD4+ T helper type 2 T lymphocytes do not promote recovery from experimental virus infection. J Exp Med 1994; 180(4): 1273-1282.
- 348. Eichelberger M, Allan W, Zijlstra M, Jaenisch R, Doherty PC. Clearance of influenza virus respiratory infection in mice lacking class I major histocompatibility complex-restricted CD8+T cells. J Exp Med 1991; 174(4): 875-880.
- 349. Bender BS, Croghan T, Zhang L, Small PA, Jr. Transgenic mice lacking class I major histocompatibility complexrestricted T cells have delayed viral clearance and increased mortality after influenza virus challenge. J Exp Med 1992; 175(4): 1143-1145.
- 350. Epstein SL, Misplon JA, Lawson CM, Subbarao EK, Connors M, Murphy BR. Beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice can be protected against influenza A infection by vaccination with vaccinia-influenza recombinants expressing hemagglutinin and neuraminidase. J Immunol 1993; 150(12): 5484-5493.
- 351. Allan W, Tabi Z, Cleary A, Doherty PC. Cellular events in the lymph node and lung of mice with influenza. Consequences of depleting CD4+ T cells. J Immunol 1990; 144(10): 3980-3986.
- 352. Riberdy JM, Christensen JP, Branum K, Doherty PC. Diminished primary and secondary influenza virus-specific CD8(+) T-cell responses in CD4-depleted Ig(-/-) mice. J Virol 2000; 74(20): 9762-9765.
- 353. D'Acquisto F, Crompton T. CD3+CD4-CD8- (double negative) T cells: saviours or villains of the immune response? Biochem Pharmacol 2011; 82(4): 333-340.
- 354. Abraham E, Freitas AA, Coutinho AA. Purification and characterization of intraparenchymal lung lymphocytes. J Immunol 1990; 144(6): 2117-2122.
- 355. Ibraghimov AR, Lynch RG. T cell specialization at environmental interfaces: T cells from the lung and the female genital tract of Ipr and gld mice differ from their splenic and lymph node counterparts. Eur J Immunol 1994; 24(8): 1848-1852.
- 356. Oreshkova T, Wang H, Seier AM, Sindrilaru A, Varga G, Grabbe S et al. Beta(2) integrin deficiency yields unconventional double-negative T cells distinct from mature classical natural killer T cells in mice. Immunology 2009; 128(2): 271-286.
- 357. Watanabe H, Miyaji C, Kawachi Y, Iiai T, Ohtsuka K, Iwanage T et al. Relationships between intermediate TCR cells and NK1.1+ T cells in various immune organs. NK1.1+ T cells are present within a population of intermediate TCR cells. J Immunol 1995; 155(6): 2972-2983.
- 358. Cowley SC, Meierovics AI, Frelinger JA, Iwakura Y, Elkins KL. Lung CD4-CD8- double-negative T cells are prominent producers of IL-17A and IFN-gamma during primary respiratory murine infection with Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain. J Immunol 2010; 184(10): 5791-5801.
- 359. Takamoto M, Kusama Y, Takatsu K, Nariuchi H, Sugane K. Occurrence of interleukin-5 production by CD4- CD8-(double-negative) T cells in lungs of both normal and congenitally athymic nude mice infected with Toxocara canis. Immunology 1995; 85(2): 285-291.
- 360. Kawakami K, Teruya K, Tohyama M, Kudeken N, Yonamine Y, Saito A. Mac1 discriminates unusual CD4-CD8double-negative T cells bearing alpha beta antigen receptor from conventional ones with either CD4 or CD8 in murine lung. Immunol Lett 1995; 46(1-2): 143-152.
- 361. Augustin A, Kubo RT, Sim GK. Resident pulmonary lymphocytes expressing the gamma/delta T-cell receptor. Nature 1989; 340(6230): 239-241.
- 362. Rajasekar R, Augustin A. Selection of pulmonary CD4-, CD8-, alpha beta+ T cells expressing V beta 8 T cell receptors. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10(1): 79-84.
- 363. Joshi NS, Cui W, Chandele A, Lee HK, Urso DR, Hagman J et al. Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. Immunity 2007; 27(2): 281-295.
- 364. Turner DL, Bickham KL, Thome JJ, Kim CY, D'Ovidio F, Wherry EJ et al. Lung niches for the generation and maintenance of tissue-resident memory T cells. Mucosal Immunol 2014; 7(3): 501-510.
- 365. Ahmadzadeh M, Farber DL. Functional plasticity of an antigen-specific memory CD4 T cell population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99(18): 11802-11807.
- 366. Bingaman AW, Patke DS, Mane VR, Ahmadzadeh M, Ndejembi M, Bartlett ST et al. Novel phenotypes and migratory properties distinguish memory CD4 T cell subsets in lymphoid and lung tissue. Eur J Immunol 2005; 35(11): 3173-3186.
- 367. Masopust D, Vezys V, Marzo AL, Lefrancois L. Preferential localization of effector memory cells in nonlymphoid tissue. Science 2001; 291(5512): 2413-2417.
- 368. Sallusto F, Lenig D, Forster R, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. Nature 1999; 401(6754): 708-712.

- 369. Zammit DJ, Turner DL, Klonowski KD, Lefrancois L, Cauley LS. Residual antigen presentation after influenza virus infection affects CD8 T cell activation and migration. Immunity 2006; 24(4): 439-449.
- 370. Teijaro JR, Turner D, Pham Q, Wherry EJ, Lefrancois L, Farber DL. Cutting edge: Tissue-retentive lung memory CD4 T cells mediate optimal protection to respiratory virus infection. J Immunol 2011; 187(11): 5510-5514.
- 371. Hogan RJ, Zhong W, Usherwood EJ, Cookenham T, Roberts AD, Woodland DL. Protection from respiratory virus infections can be mediated by antigen-specific CD4(+) T cells that persist in the lungs. J Exp Med 2001; 193(8): 981-986.
- 372. Hogan RJ, Cauley LS, Ely KH, Cookenham T, Roberts AD, Brennan JW et al. Long-term maintenance of virusspecific effector memory CD8+ T cells in the lung airways depends on proliferation. J Immunol 2002; 169(9): 4976-4981.
- 373. Liang S, Mozdzanowska K, Palladino G, Gerhard W. Heterosubtypic immunity to influenza type A virus in mice. Effector mechanisms and their longevity. J Immunol 1994; 152(4): 1653-1661.
- 374. Wilkinson TM, Li CK, Chui CS, Huang AK, Perkins M, Liebner JC et al. Preexisting influenza-specific CD4+ T cells correlate with disease protection against influenza challenge in humans. Nat Med 2012; 18(2): 274-280.
- 375. McKinstry KK, Strutt TM, Kuang Y, Brown DM, Sell S, Dutton RW et al. Memory CD4+ T cells protect against influenza through multiple synergizing mechanisms. J Clin Invest 2012; 122(8): 2847-2856.
- 376. Wu T, Hu Y, Lee YT, Bouchard KR, Benechet A, Khanna K et al. Lung-resident memory CD8 T cells (TRM) are indispensable for optimal cross-protection against pulmonary virus infection. J Leukoc Biol 2014; 95(2): 215-224.
- 377. Purwar R, Campbell J, Murphy G, Richards WG, Clark RA, Kupper TS. Resident memory T cells (T(RM)) are abundant in human lung: diversity, function, and antigen specificity. PLoS One 2011; 6(1): e16245.
- 378. Sathaliyawala T, Kubota M, Yudanin N, Turner D, Camp P, Thome JJ et al. Distribution and compartmentalization of human circulating and tissue-resident memory T cell subsets. Immunity 2013; 38(1): 187-197.
- 379. Piet B, de Bree GJ, Smids-Dierdorp BS, van der Loos CM, Remmerswaal EB, von der Thusen JH et al. CD8(+) T cells with an intraepithelial phenotype upregulate cytotoxic function upon influenza infection in human lung. J Clin Invest 2011; 121(6): 2254-2263.
- 380. Lee YT, Suarez-Ramirez JE, Wu T, Redman JM, Bouchard K, Hadley GA et al. Environmental and antigen receptor-derived signals support sustained surveillance of the lungs by pathogen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Virol 2011; 85(9): 4085-4094.
- 381. Sanchez AM, Zhu J, Huang X, Yang Y. The development and function of memory regulatory T cells after acute viral infections. J Immunol 2012; 189(6): 2805-2814.
- 382. Brincks EL, Roberts AD, Cookenham T, Sell S, Kohlmeier JE, Blackman MA et al. Antigen-specific memory regulatory CD4+Foxp3+ T cells control memory responses to influenza virus infection. J Immunol 2013; 190(7): 3438-3446.
- 383. Gotch F, McMichael A, Smith G, Moss B. Identification of viral molecules recognized by influenza-specific human cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1987; 165(2): 408-416.
- 384. Berkhoff EG, de Wit E, Geelhoed-Mieras MM, Boon AC, Symons J, Fouchier RA et al. Functional constraints of influenza A virus epitopes limit escape from cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Virol 2005; 79(17): 11239-11246.
- 385. Hillaire ML, Osterhaus AD, Rimmelzwaan GF. Induction of virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes as a basis for the development of broadly protective influenza vaccines. Journal of biomedicine & biotechnology 2011; 2011: 939860.
- 386. Hillaire ML, van Trierum SE, Kreijtz JH, Bodewes R, Geelhoed-Mieras MM, Nieuwkoop NJ et al. Cross-protective immunity against influenza pH1N1 2009 viruses induced by seasonal influenza A (H3N2) virus is mediated by virus-specific T-cells. J Gen Virol 2011; 92(Pt 10): 2339-2349.
- 387. Richards KA, Chaves FA, Sant AJ. Infection of HLA-DR1 transgenic mice with a human isolate of influenza a virus (H1N1) primes a diverse CD4 T-cell repertoire that includes CD4 T cells with heterosubtypic cross-reactivity to avian (H5N1) influenza virus. J Virol 2009; 83(13): 6566-6577.
- 388. Nguyen HH, van Ginkel FW, Vu HL, McGhee JR, Mestecky J. Heterosubtypic immunity to influenza A virus infection requires B cells but not CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Infect Dis 2001; 183(3): 368-376.
- 389. Droebner K, Haasbach E, Fuchs C, Weinzierl AO, Stevanovic S, Buttner M et al. Antibodies and CD4(+) T-cells mediate cross-protection against H5N1 influenza virus infection in mice after vaccination with a low pathogenic H5N2 strain. Vaccine 2008; 26(52): 6965-6974.
- 390. Baumgarth N. A two-phase model of B-cell activation. Immunol Rev 2000; 176: 171-180.
- 391. Dubois B, Massacrier C, Vanbervliet B, Fayette J, Briere F, Banchereau J et al. Critical role of IL-12 in dendritic cell-induced differentiation of naive B lymphocytes. J Immunol 1998; 161(5): 2223-2231.
- 392. MacPherson G, Kushnir N, Wykes M. Dendritic cells, B cells and the regulation of antibody synthesis. Immunol Rev 1999; 172: 325-334.
- 393. Berney C, Herren S, Power CA, Gordon S, Martinez-Pomares L, Kosco-Vilbois MH. A member of the dendritic cell family that enters B cell follicles and stimulates primary antibody responses identified by a mannose receptor fusion protein. J Exp Med 1999; 190(6): 851-860.
- 394. Grewal IS, Flavell RA. The role of CD40 ligand in costimulation and T-cell activation. Immunol Rev 1996; 153: 85-106.
- 395. Parker DC. T cell-dependent B cell activation. Annu Rev Immunol 1993; 11: 331-360.
- 396. De Silva NS, Klein U. Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol 2015; 15(3): 137-148.
- 397. Coro ES, Chang WL, Baumgarth N. Type I IFN receptor signals directly stimulate local B cells early following influenza virus infection. J Immunol 2006; 176(7): 4343-4351.
- 398. Chang WL, Coro ES, Rau FC, Xiao Y, Erle DJ, Baumgarth N. Influenza virus infection causes global respiratory tract B cell response modulation via innate immune signals. J Immunol 2007; 178(3): 1457-1467.
- 399. Rau FC, Dieter J, Luo Z, Priest SO, Baumgarth N. B7-1/2 (CD80/CD86) direct signaling to B cells enhances IgG secretion. J Immunol 2009; 183(12): 7661-7671.

- 400. Asahi Y, Yoshikawa T, Watanabe I, Iwasaki T, Hasegawa H, Sato Y et al. Protection against influenza virus infection in polymeric Ig receptor knockout mice immunized intranasally with adjuvant-combined vaccines. J Immunol 2002; 168(6): 2930-2938.
- 401. Asahi-Ozaki Y, Yoshikawa T, Iwakura Y, Suzuki Y, Tamura S, Kurata T et al. Secretory IgA antibodies provide crossprotection against infection with different strains of influenza B virus. J Med Virol 2004; 74(2): 328-335.
- 402. Onodera T, Takahashi Y, Yokoi Y, Ato M, Kodama Y, Hachimura S et al. Memory B cells in the lung participate in protective humoral immune responses to pulmonary influenza virus reinfection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012; 109(7): 2485-2490.
- 403. Joo HM, He Y, Sangster MY. Broad dispersion and lung localization of virus-specific memory B cells induced by influenza pneumonia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008; 105(9): 3485-3490.
- 404. Dougan SK, Ashour J, Karssemeijer RA, Popp MW, Avalos AM, Barisa M et al. Antigen-specific B-cell receptor sensitizes B cells to infection by influenza virus. Nature 2013; 503(7476): 406-409.
- 405. DiLillo DJ, Tan GS, Palese P, Ravetch JV. Broadly neutralizing hemagglutinin stalk-specific antibodies require FcgammaR interactions for protection against influenza virus in vivo. Nat Med 2014; 20(2): 143-151.
- 406. Corti D, Voss J, Gamblin SJ, Codoni G, Macagno A, Jarrossay D et al. A neutralizing antibody selected from plasma cells that binds to group 1 and group 2 influenza A hemagglutinins. Science 2011; 333(6044): 850-856.
- 407. Verbonitz MW, Ennis FA, Hicks JT, Albrecht P. Hemagglutinin-specific complement-dependent cytolytic antibody response to influenza infection. J Exp Med 1978; 147(1): 265-270.
- 408. Wohlbold TJ, Krammer F. In the shadow of hemagglutinin: a growing interest in influenza viral neuraminidase and its role as a vaccine antigen. Viruses 2014; 6(6): 2465-2494.
- 409. Matrosovich MN, Matrosovich TY, Gray T, Roberts NA, Klenk HD. Neuraminidase is important for the initiation of influenza virus infection in human airway epithelium. J Virol 2004; 78(22): 12665-12667.
- 410. Marcelin G, Sandbulte MR, Webby RJ. Contribution of antibody production against neuraminidase to the protection afforded by influenza vaccines. Reviews in medical virology 2012; 22(4): 267-279.
- 411. Mozdzanowska K, Maiese K, Furchner M, Gerhard W. Treatment of influenza virus-infected SCID mice with nonneutralizing antibodies specific for the transmembrane proteins matrix 2 and neuraminidase reduces the pulmonary virus titer but fails to clear the infection. Virology 1999; 254(1): 138-146.
- 412. Webster RG, Brown LE, Laver WG. Antigenic and biological characterization of influenza virus neuraminidase (N2) with monoclonal antibodies. Virology 1984; 135(1): 30-42.
- 413. Black RA, Rota PA, Gorodkova N, Klenk HD, Kendal AP. Antibody response to the M2 protein of influenza A virus expressed in insect cells. J Gen Virol 1993; 74 (Pt 1): 143-146.
- 414. Feng J, Zhang M, Mozdzanowska K, Zharikova D, Hoff H, Wunner W et al. Influenza A virus infection engenders a poor antibody response against the ectodomain of matrix protein 2. Virol J 2006; 3: 102.
- 415. Kitikoon P, Strait EL, Thacker EL. The antibody responses to swine influenza virus (SIV) recombinant matrix 1 (rM1), matrix 2 (M2), and hemagglutinin (HA) proteins in pigs with different SIV exposure. Veterinary microbiology 2008; 126(1-3): 51-62.
- 416. Mozdzanowska K, Feng J, Eid M, Kragol G, Cudic M, Otvos L, Jr. et al. Induction of influenza type A virus-specific resistance by immunization of mice with a synthetic multiple antigenic peptide vaccine that contains ectodomains of matrix protein 2. Vaccine 2003; 21(19-20): 2616-2626.
- 417. Schotsaert M, Ysenbaert T, Neyt K, Ibanez LI, Bogaert P, Schepens B et al. Natural and long-lasting cellular immune responses against influenza in the M2e-immune host. Mucosal Immunol 2013; 6(2): 276-287.
- 418. Carragher DM, Kaminski DA, Moquin A, Hartson L, Randall TD. A novel role for non-neutralizing antibodies against nucleoprotein in facilitating resistance to influenza virus. J Immunol 2008; 181(6): 4168-4176.
- 419. LaMere MW, Lam HT, Moquin A, Haynes L, Lund FE, Randall TD et al. Contributions of antinucleoprotein IgG to heterosubtypic immunity against influenza virus. J Immunol 2011; 186(7): 4331-4339.
- 420. Graham MB, Braciale TJ. Resistance to and recovery from lethal influenza virus infection in B lymphocytedeficient mice. J Exp Med 1997; 186(12): 2063-2068.
- 421. Epstein SL, Lo CY, Misplon JA, Bennink JR. Mechanism of protective immunity against influenza virus infection in mice without antibodies. J Immunol 1998; 160(1): 322-327.
- 422. Haury M, Sundblad A, Grandien A, Barreau C, Coutinho A, Nobrega A. The repertoire of serum IgM in normal mice is largely independent of external antigenic contact. Eur J Immunol 1997; 27(6): 1557-1563.
- 423. Hooijkaas H, Benner R, Pleasants JR, Wostmann BS. Isotypes and specificities of immunoglobulins produced by germ-free mice fed chemically defined ultrafiltered "antigen-free" diet. Eur J Immunol 1984; 14(12): 1127-1130.
- 424. Bos NA, Kimura H, Meeuwsen CG, De Visser H, Hazenberg MP, Wostmann BS et al. Serum immunoglobulin levels and naturally occurring antibodies against carbohydrate antigens in germ-free BALB/c mice fed chemically defined ultrafiltered diet. Eur J Immunol 1989; 19(12): 2335-2339.
- 425. Baumgarth N. The double life of a B-1 cell: self-reactivity selects for protective effector functions. Nat Rev Immunol 2011; 11(1): 34-46.
- 426. Berland R, Wortis HH. Origins and functions of B-1 cells with notes on the role of CD5. Annu Rev Immunol 2002; 20: 253-300.
- 427. Herzenberg LA. B-1 cells: the lineage question revisited. Immunol Rev 2000; 175: 9-22.
- 428. Choi YS, Dieter JA, Rothaeusler K, Luo Z, Baumgarth N. B-1 cells in the bone marrow are a significant source of natural IgM. Eur J Immunol 2012; 42(1): 120-129.
- 429. Hayakawa K, Hardy RR, Herzenberg LA. Peritoneal Ly-1 B cells: genetic control, autoantibody production, increased lambda light chain expression. Eur J Immunol 1986; 16(4): 450-456.
- 430. Hayakawa K, Hardy RR, Honda M, Herzenberg LA, Steinberg AD, Herzenberg LA. Ly-1 B cells: functionally distinct lymphocytes that secrete IgM autoantibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1984; 81(8): 2494-2498.
- 431. Kasaian MT, Casali P. Autoimmunity-prone B-1 (CD5 B) cells, natural antibodies and self recognition. Autoimmunity 1993; 15(4): 315-329.
- 432. Racine R, Winslow GM. IgM in microbial infections: taken for granted? Immunol Lett 2009; 125(2): 79-85.

- 433. Zhou ZH, Zhang Y, Hu YF, Wahl LM, Cisar JO, Notkins AL. The broad antibacterial activity of the natural antibody repertoire is due to polyreactive antibodies. Cell Host Microbe 2007; 1(1): 51-61.
- 434. Briles DE, Nahm M, Schroer K, Davie J, Baker P, Kearney J et al. Antiphosphocholine antibodies found in normal mouse serum are protective against intravenous infection with type 3 streptococcus pneumoniae. J Exp Med 1981; 153(3): 694-705.
- 435. Boes M, Prodeus AP, Schmidt T, Carroll MC, Chen J. A critical role of natural immunoglobulin M in immediate defense against systemic bacterial infection. J Exp Med 1998; 188(12): 2381-2386.
- 436. Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC, Brown L, Herzenberg LA, Herzenberg LA. Innate and acquired humoral immunities to influenza virus are mediated by distinct arms of the immune system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(5): 2250-2255.
- 437. Kantor AB, Merrill CE, Herzenberg LA, Hillson JL. An unbiased analysis of V(H)-D-J(H) sequences from B-1a, B-1b, and conventional B cells. J Immunol 1997; 158(3): 1175-1186.
- 438. Ochsenbein AF, Fehr T, Lutz C, Suter M, Brombacher F, Hengartner H et al. Control of early viral and bacterial distribution and disease by natural antibodies. Science 1999; 286(5447): 2156-2159.
- 439. Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC, Brown LE, Herzenberg LA, Chen J. B-1 and B-2 cell-derived immunoglobulin M antibodies are nonredundant components of the protective response to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 2000; 192(2): 271-280.
- 440. Choi YS, Baumgarth N. Dual role for B-1a cells in immunity to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 2008; 205(13): 3053-3064.
- 441. Norderhaug IN, Johansen FE, Schjerven H, Brandtzaeg P. Regulation of the formation and external transport of secretory immunoglobulins. Crit Rev Immunol 1999; 19(5-6): 481-508.
- 442. Jayasekera JP, Moseman EA, Carroll MC. Natural antibody and complement mediate neutralization of influenza virus in the absence of prior immunity. J Virol 2007; 81(7): 3487-3494.
- 443. Turley SJ, Fletcher AL, Elpek KG. The stromal and haematopoietic antigen-presenting cells that reside in secondary lymphoid organs. Nat Rev Immunol 2010; 10(12): 813-825.
- 444. van de Pavert SA, Mebius RE. New insights into the development of lymphoid tissues. Nat Rev Immunol 2010; 10(9): 664-674.
- 445. Roozendaal R, Mebius RE. Stromal cell-immune cell interactions. Annu Rev Immunol 2011; 29: 23-43.
- 446. Moyron-Quiroz JE, Rangel-Moreno J, Kusser K, Hartson L, Sprague F, Goodrich S et al. Role of inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue (iBALT) in respiratory immunity. Nat Med 2004; 10(9): 927-934.
- 447. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, Bergen IM, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Elewaut D et al. Dendritic cells are crucial for maintenance of tertiary lymphoid structures in the lung of influenza virus-infected mice. J Exp Med 2009; 206(11): 2339-2349.
- 448. Halle S, Dujardin HC, Bakocevic N, Fleige H, Danzer H, Willenzon S et al. Induced bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue serves as a general priming site for T cells and is maintained by dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2009; 206(12): 2593-2601.
- 449. Lochner M, Ohnmacht C, Presley L, Bruhns P, Si-Tahar M, Sawa S et al. Microbiota-induced tertiary lymphoid tissues aggravate inflammatory disease in the absence of RORgamma t and LTi cells. J Exp Med 2011; 208(1): 125-134.
- 450. Moghaddami M, Cummins A, Mayrhofer G. Lymphocyte-filled villi: comparison with other lymphoid aggregations in the mucosa of the human small intestine. Gastroenterology 1998; 115(6): 1414-1425.
- 451. Yeung MM, Melgar S, Baranov V, Oberg A, Danielsson A, Hammarstrom S et al. Characterisation of mucosal lymphoid aggregates in ulcerative colitis: immune cell phenotype and TcR-gammadelta expression. Gut 2000; 47(2): 215-227.
- 452. Winter S, Loddenkemper C, Aebischer A, Rabel K, Hoffmann K, Meyer TF et al. The chemokine receptor CXCR5 is pivotal for ectopic mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue neogenesis in chronic Helicobacter pylori-induced inflammation. Journal of molecular medicine 2010; 88(11): 1169-1180.
- 453. Shomer NH, Fox JG, Juedes AE, Ruddle NH. Helicobacter-induced chronic active lymphoid aggregates have characteristics of tertiary lymphoid tissue. Infect Immun 2003; 71(6): 3572-3577.
- 454. Jupelli M, Shimada K, Chiba N, Slepenkin A, Alsabeh R, Jones HD et al. Chlamydia pneumoniae infection in mice induces chronic lung inflammation, iBALT formation, and fibrosis. PLoS One 2013; 8(10): e77447.
- 455. Rangel-Moreno J, Carragher DM, de la Luz Garcia-Hernandez M, Hwang JY, Kusser K, Hartson L et al. The development of inducible bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue depends on IL-17. Nat Immunol 2011; 12(7): 639-646.
- 456. Maglione PJ, Ko HM, Beasley MB, Strauchen JA, Cunningham-Rundles C. Tertiary lymphoid neogenesis is a component of pulmonary lymphoid hyperplasia in patients with common variable immunodeficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014; 133(2): 535-542.
- 457. Takemura S, Braun A, Crowson C, Kurtin PJ, Cofield RH, O'Fallon WM et al. Lymphoid neogenesis in rheumatoid synovitis. J Immunol 2001; 167(2): 1072-1080.
- 458. Wengner AM, Hopken UE, Petrow PK, Hartmann S, Schurigt U, Brauer R et al. CXCR5- and CCR7-dependent lymphoid neogenesis in a murine model of chronic antigen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 56(10): 3271-3283.
- 459. Moyron-Quiroz JE, Rangel-Moreno J, Hartson L, Kusser K, Tighe MP, Klonowski KD et al. Persistence and responsiveness of immunologic memory in the absence of secondary lymphoid organs. Immunity 2006; 25(4): 643-654.
- 460. Feng X, Xu X, Wang Y, Zheng Z, Lin G. Ectopic Germinal Centers and IgG4-Producing Plasmacytes Observed in Synovia of HLA-B27+ Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients with Advanced Hip Involvement. International journal of rheumatology 2015; 2015: 316421.
- 461. Sharifi S, Murphy M, Loda M, Pinkus GS, Khettry U. Nodular lymphoid lesion of the liver: an immune-mediated disorder mimicking low-grade malignant lymphoma. Am J Surg Pathol 1999; 23(3): 302-308.

- 462. Armengol MP, Juan M, Lucas-Martin A, Fernandez-Figueras MT, Jaraquemada D, Gallart T et al. Thyroid autoimmune disease: demonstration of thyroid antigen-specific B cells and recombination-activating gene expression in chemokine-containing active intrathyroidal germinal centers. Am J Pathol 2001; 159(3): 861-873.
- 463. Ludewig B, Odermatt B, Landmann S, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. Dendritic cells induce autoimmune diabetes and maintain disease via de novo formation of local lymphoid tissue. J Exp Med 1998; 188(8): 1493-1501.
- 464. Astorri E, Bombardieri M, Gabba S, Peakman M, Pozzilli P, Pitzalis C. Evolution of ectopic lymphoid neogenesis and in situ autoantibody production in autoimmune nonobese diabetic mice: cellular and molecular characterization of tertiary lymphoid structures in pancreatic islets. J Immunol 2010; 185(6): 3359-3368.
- 465. Serafini B, Rosicarelli B, Magliozzi R, Stigliano E, Aloisi F. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. Brain Pathol 2004; 14(2): 164-174.
- 466. Magliozzi R, Howell O, Vora A, Serafini B, Nicholas R, Puopolo M et al. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. Brain 2007; 130(Pt 4): 1089-1104.
- 467. Hill ME, Shiono H, Newsom-Davis J, Willcox N. The myasthenia gravis thymus: a rare source of human autoantibody-secreting plasma cells for testing potential therapeutics. Journal of neuroimmunology 2008; 201-202: 50-56.
- 468. Katakai T, Hara T, Sugai M, Gonda H, Shimizu A. Th1-biased tertiary lymphoid tissue supported by CXC chemokine ligand 13-producing stromal network in chronic lesions of autoimmune gastritis. Journal of immunology 2003; 171(8): 4359-4368.
- 469. Chang A, Henderson SG, Brandt D, Liu N, Guttikonda R, Hsieh C et al. In situ B cell-mediated immune responses and tubulointerstitial inflammation in human lupus nephritis. J Immunol 2011; 186(3): 1849-1860.
- 470. Nacionales DC, Kelly KM, Lee PY, Zhuang H, Li Y, Weinstein JS et al. Type I interferon production by tertiary lymphoid tissue developing in response to 2,6,10,14-tetramethyl-pentadecane (pristane). Am J Pathol 2006; 168(4): 1227-1240.
- 471. Baddoura FK, Nasr IW, Wrobel B, Li Q, Ruddle NH, Lakkis FG. Lymphoid neogenesis in murine cardiac allografts undergoing chronic rejection. Am J Transplant 2005; 5(3): 510-516.
- 472. Thaunat O, Patey N, Caligiuri G, Gautreau C, Mamani-Matsuda M, Mekki Y et al. Chronic rejection triggers the development of an aggressive intragraft immune response through recapitulation of lymphoid organogenesis. J Immunol 2010; 185(1): 717-728.
- 473. Sato M, Hirayama S, Matsuda Y, Wagnetz D, Hwang DM, Guan Z et al. Stromal activation and formation of lymphoid-like stroma in chronic lung allograft dysfunction. Transplantation 2011; 91(12): 1398-1405.
- 474. Hogg JC, Chu F, Utokaparch S, Woods R, Elliott WM, Buzatu L et al. The nature of small-airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 2004; 350(26): 2645-2653.
- 475. Demoor T, Bracke KR, Maes T, Vandooren B, Elewaut D, Pilette C et al. Role of lymphotoxin-alpha in cigarette smoke-induced inflammation and lymphoid neogenesis. Eur Respir J 2009; 34(2): 405-416.
- 476. Van Pottelberge GR, Bracke KR, Van den Broeck S, Reinartz SM, van Drunen CM, Wouters EF et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in pulmonary lymphoid follicles of patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 2010; 36(4): 781-791.
- 477. Hiramatsu K, Azuma A, Kudoh S, Desaki M, Takizawa H, Sugawara I. Inhalation of diesel exhaust for three months affects major cytokine expression and induces bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue formation in murine lungs. Exp Lung Res 2003; 29(8): 607-622.
- 478. Grabner R, Lotzer K, Dopping S, Hildner M, Radke D, Beer M et al. Lymphotoxin beta receptor signaling promotes tertiary lymphoid organogenesis in the aorta adventitia of aged ApoE-/- mice. J Exp Med 2009; 206(1): 233-248.
- 479. Mahendra G, Pandit H, Kliskey K, Murray D, Gill HS, Athanasou N. Necrotic and inflammatory changes in metalon-metal resurfacing hip arthroplasties. Acta Orthop 2009; 80(6): 653-659.
- 480. Mittal S, Revell M, Barone F, Hardie DL, Matharu GS, Davenport AJ et al. Lymphoid aggregates that resemble tertiary lymphoid organs define a specific pathological subset in metal-on-metal hip replacements. PLoS One 2013; 8(5): e63470.
- 481. Wiley JA, Richert LE, Swain SD, Harmsen A, Barnard DL, Randall TD et al. Inducible bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue elicited by a protein cage nanoparticle enhances protection in mice against diverse respiratory viruses. PLoS One 2009; 4(9): e7142.
- 482. Marchal-Somme J, Uzunhan Y, Marchand-Adam S, Kambouchner M, Valeyre D, Crestani B et al. Dendritic cells accumulate in human fibrotic interstitial lung disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007; 176(10): 1007-1014.
- 483. Perros F, Dorfmuller P, Montani D, Hammad H, Waelput W, Girerd B et al. Pulmonary lymphoid neogenesis in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2012; 185(3): 311-321.
- 484. Colvin KL, Cripe PJ, Ivy DD, Stenmark KR, Yeager ME. Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue in pulmonary hypertension produces pathologic autoantibodies. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013; 188(9): 1126-1136.
- 485. Hiraoka N, Ino Y, Yamazaki-Itoh R. Tertiary Lymphoid Organs in Cancer Tissues. Front Immunol 2016; 7: 244.
- 486. Jones GW, Jones SA. Ectopic lymphoid follicles: inducible centres for generating antigen-specific immune responses within tissues. Immunology 2016; 147(2): 141-151.
- 487. Eberl G, Marmon S, Sunshine MJ, Rennert PD, Choi Y, Littman DR. An essential function for the nuclear receptor RORgamma(t) in the generation of fetal lymphoid tissue inducer cells. Nat Immunol 2004; 5(1): 64-73.
- 488. Vondenhoff MF, van de Pavert SA, Dillard ME, Greuter M, Goverse G, Oliver G et al. Lymph sacs are not required for the initiation of lymph node formation. Development 2009; 136(1): 29-34.
- 489. Peduto L, Dulauroy S, Lochner M, Spath GF, Morales MA, Cumano A et al. Inflammation recapitulates the ontogeny of lymphoid stromal cells. J Immunol 2009; 182(9): 5789-5799.
- 490. van de Pavert SA, Olivier BJ, Goverse G, Vondenhoff MF, Greuter M, Beke P et al. Chemokine CXCL13 is essential for lymph node initiation and is induced by retinoic acid and neuronal stimulation. Nat Immunol 2009; 10(11): 1193-1199.

- 491. Veiga-Fernandes H, Coles MC, Foster KE, Patel A, Williams A, Natarajan D et al. Tyrosine kinase receptor RET is a key regulator of Peyer's patch organogenesis. Nature 2007; 446(7135): 547-551.
- 492. Hjelmstrom P, Fjell J, Nakagawa T, Sacca R, Cuff CA, Ruddle NH. Lymphoid tissue homing chemokines are expressed in chronic inflammation. AmJPathol 2000; 156(4): 1133-1138.
- 493. Kratz A, Campos-Neto A, Hanson MS, Ruddle NH. Chronic inflammation caused by lymphotoxin is lymphoid neogenesis. J Exp Med 1996; 183(4): 1461-1472.
- 494. Luther SA, Lopez T, Bai W, Hanahan D, Cyster JG. BLC expression in pancreatic islets causes B cell recruitment and lymphotoxin-dependent lymphoid neogenesis. Immunity 2000; 12(5): 471-481.
- 495. Marinkovic T, Garin A, Yokota Y, Fu YX, Ruddle NH, Furtado GC et al. Interaction of mature CD3+CD4+ T cells with dendritic cells triggers the development of tertiary lymphoid structures in the thyroid. J Clin Invest 2006; 116(10): 2622-2632.
- 496. Goya S, Matsuoka H, Mori M, Morishita H, Kida H, Kobashi Y et al. Sustained interleukin-6 signalling leads to the development of lymphoid organ-like structures in the lung. J Pathol 2003; 200(1): 82-87.
- 497. Chen SC, Vassileva G, Kinsley D, Holzmann S, Manfra D, Wiekowski MT et al. Ectopic expression of the murine chemokines CCL21a and CCL21b induces the formation of lymph node-like structures in pancreas, but not skin, of transgenic mice. J Immunol 2002; 168(3): 1001-1008.
- 498. Drayton DL, Ying X, Lee J, Lesslauer W, Ruddle NH. Ectopic LT alpha beta directs lymphoid organ neogenesis with concomitant expression of peripheral node addressin and a HEV-restricted sulfotransferase. J Exp Med 2003; 197(9): 1153-1163.
- 499. Fan L, Reilly CR, Luo Y, Dorf ME, Lo D. Cutting edge: ectopic expression of the chemokine TCA4/SLC is sufficient to trigger lymphoid neogenesis. J Immunol2000Apr15;164(8):3955-9 2000; 164(8): 3955-3959.
- 500. Rangel-Moreno J, Moyron-Quiroz JE, Hartson L, Kusser K, Randall TD. Pulmonary expression of CXC chemokine ligand 13, CC chemokine ligand 19, and CC chemokine ligand 21 is essential for local immunity to influenza. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104(25): 10577-10582.
- 501. Gatumu MK, Skarstein K, Papandile A, Browning JL, Fava RA, Bolstad AI. Blockade of lymphotoxin-beta receptor signaling reduces aspects of Sjogren's syndrome in salivary glands of non-obese diabetic mice. Arthritis Res Ther 2009; 11(1): R24.
- 502. Furtado GC, Marinkovic T, Martin AP, Garin A, Hoch B, Hubner W et al. Lymphotoxin beta receptor signaling is required for inflammatory lymphangiogenesis in the thyroid. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104(12): 5026-5031.
- 503. McDonald KG, McDonough JS, Newberry RD. Adaptive Immune Responses Are Dispensable for Isolated Lymphoid Follicle Formation: Antigen-Naive, Lymphotoxin-Sufficient B Lymphocytes Drive the Formation of Mature Isolated Lymphoid Follicles. J Immunol 2005; 174(9): 5720-5728.
- 504. Meier D, Bornmann C, Chappaz S, Schmutz S, Otten LA, Ceredig R et al. Ectopic lymphoid-organ development occurs through interleukin 7-mediated enhanced survival of lymphoid-tissue-inducer cells. Immunity 2007; 26(5): 643-654.
- 505. Shinoda K, Hirahara K, Iinuma T, Ichikawa T, Suzuki AS, Sugaya K et al. Thy1+IL-7+ lymphatic endothelial cells in iBALT provide a survival niche for memory T-helper cells in allergic airway inflammation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2016; 113(20): E2842-2851.
- 506. Timmer TC, Baltus B, Vondenhoff M, Huizinga TW, Tak PP, Verweij CL et al. Inflammation and ectopic lymphoid structures in rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissues dissected by genomics technology: identification of the interleukin-7 signaling pathway in tissues with lymphoid neogenesis. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 56(8): 2492-2502.
- 507. Fukuyama S, Hiroi T, Yokota Y, Rennert PD, Yanagita M, Kinoshita N et al. Initiation of NALT organogenesis is independent of the IL-7R, LTbetaR, and NIK signaling pathways but requires the Id2 gene and CD3(-)CD4(+)CD45(+) cells. Immunity 2002; 17(1): 31-40.
- 508. Krege J, Seth S, Hardtke S, Davalos-Misslitz AC, Forster R. Antigen-dependent rescue of nose-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT) development independent of LTbetaR and CXCR5 signaling. Eur J Immunol 2009; 39(10): 2765-2778.
- 509. Nagatake T, Fukuyama S, Kim DY, Goda K, Igarashi O, Sato S et al. Id2-, RORgammat-, and LTbetaRindependent initiation of lymphoid organogenesis in ocular immunity. J Exp Med 2009; 206(11): 2351-2364.
- 510. Rangel-Moreno J, Moyron-Quiroz JE, Carragher DM, Kusser K, Hartson L, Moquin A et al. Omental milky spots develop in the absence of lymphoid tissue-inducer cells and support B and T cell responses to peritoneal antigens. Immunity 2009; 30(5): 731-743.
- 511. Link A, Hardie DL, Favre S, Britschgi MR, Adams DH, Sixt M et al. Association of T-zone reticular networks and conduits with ectopic lymphoid tissues in mice and humans. Am J Pathol 2011; 178(4): 1662-1675.
- 512. Cupedo T, Jansen W, Kraal G, Mebius RE. Induction of secondary and tertiary lymphoid structures in the skin. Immunity 2004; 21(5): 655-667.
- 513. Endres R, Alimzhanov MB, Plitz T, Futterer A, Kosco-Vilbois MH, Nedospasov SA et al. Mature follicular dendritic cell networks depend on expression of lymphotoxin beta receptor by radioresistant stromal cells and of lymphotoxin beta and tumor necrosis factor by B cells. J Exp Med 1999; 189(1): 159-168.
- 514. Ansel KM, Ngo VN, Hyman PL, Luther SA, Forster R, Sedgwick JD et al. A chemokine-driven positive feedback loop organizes lymphoid follicles. Nature 2000; 406(6793): 309-314.
- 515. Litsiou E, Semitekolou M, Galani IE, Morianos I, Tsoutsa A, Kara P et al. CXCL13 production in B cells via Toll-like receptor/lymphotoxin receptor signaling is involved in lymphoid neogenesis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013; 187(11): 1194-1202.
- 516. Kobayashi S, Murata K, Shibuya H, Morita M, İshikawa M, Furu M et al. A distinct human CD4+ T cell subset that secretes CXCL13 in rheumatoid synovium. Arthritis Rheum 2013; 65(12): 3063-3072.
- 517. Peters A, Pitcher LA, Sullivan JM, Mitsdoerffer M, Acton SE, Franz B et al. Th17 cells induce ectopic lymphoid follicles in central nervous system tissue inflammation. Immunity 2011; 35(6): 986-996.
- 518. Jones GW, Bombardieri M, Greenhill CJ, McLeod L, Nerviani A, Rocher-Ros V et al. Interleukin-27 inhibits ectopic lymphoid-like structure development in early inflammatory arthritis. J Exp Med 2015; 212(11): 1793-1802.

- 519. Fleige H, Haas JD, Stahl FR, Willenzon S, Prinz I, Forster R. Induction of BALT in the absence of IL-17. Nat Immunol 2012; 13(1): 1; author reply 2.
- 520. Lee Y, Chin RK, Christiansen P, Sun Y, Tumanov AV, Wang J et al. Recruitment and activation of naive T cells in the islets by lymphotoxin beta receptor-dependent tertiary lymphoid structure. Immunity 2006; 25(3): 499-509.
- 521. van Rijt LS, Vos N, Willart M, Muskens F, Tak PP, van der Horst C et al. Persistent activation of dendritic cells after resolution of allergic airway inflammation breaks tolerance to inhaled allergens in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011; 184(3): 303-311.
- 522. Muniz LR, Pacer ME, Lira SA, Furtado GC. A critical role for dendritic cells in the formation of lymphatic vessels within tertiary lymphoid structures. J Immunol 2011; 187(2): 828-834.
- 523. Fletcher AL, Lukacs-Kornek V, Reynoso ED, Pinner SE, Bellemare-Pelletier A, Curry MS et al. Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells directly present peripheral tissue antigen under steady-state and inflammatory conditions. J Exp Med 2010; 207(4): 689-697.
- 524. Link A, Vogt TK, Favre S, Britschgi MR, Acha-Orbea H, Hinz B et al. Fibroblastic reticular cells in lymph nodes regulate the homeostasis of naive T cells. Nat Immunol 2007; 8(11): 1255-1265.
- 525. Rangel-Moreno J, Hartson L, Navarro C, Gaxiola M, Selman M, Randall TD. Inducible bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (iBALT) in patients with pulmonary complications of rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Invest 2006; 116: 3183-3194.
- 526. Lotzer K, Dopping S, Connert S, Grabner R, Spanbroek R, Lemser B et al. Mouse aorta smooth muscle cells differentiate into lymphoid tissue organizer-like cells on combined tumor necrosis factor receptor-1/lymphotoxin beta-receptor NF-kappaB signaling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2010; 30(3): 395-402.
- 527. Esen N, Rainey-Barger EK, Huber AK, Blakely PK, Irani DN. Type-I interferons suppress microglial production of the lymphoid chemokine, CXCL13. Glia 2014; 62(9): 1452-1462.
- 528. Guedj K, Khallou-Laschet J, Clement M, Morvan M, Gaston AT, Fornasa G et al. M1 macrophages act as LTbetaR-independent lymphoid tissue inducer cells during atherosclerosis-related lymphoid neogenesis. Cardiovascular research 2014; 101(3): 434-443.
- 529. Bouskra D, Brezillon C, Berard M, Werts C, Varona R, Boneca IG et al. Lymphoid tissue genesis induced by commensals through NOD1 regulates intestinal homeostasis. Nature 2008; 456(7221): 507-510.
- 530. Cabello H, Torres A, Celis R, El-Ebiary M, Puig de la Bellacasa J, Xaubet A et al. Bacterial colonization of distal airways in healthy subjects and chronic lung disease: a bronchoscopic study. The European respiratory journal : official journal of the European Society for Clinical Respiratory Physiology 1997; 10(5): 1137-1144.
- 531. Velaga S, Herbrand H, Friedrichsen M, Jiong T, Dorsch M, Hoffmann MW et al. Chemokine receptor CXCR5 supports solitary intestinal lymphoid tissue formation, B cell homing, and induction of intestinal IgA responses. J Immunol 2009; 182(5): 2610-2619.
- 532. Kim TS, Hufford MM, Sun J, Fu YX, Braciale TJ. Antigen persistence and the control of local T cell memory by migrant respiratory dendritic cells after acute virus infection. J Exp Med 2010; 207(6): 1161-1172.
- 533. Chiavolini D, Rangel-Moreno J, Berg G, Christian K, Oliveira-Nascimento L, Weir S et al. Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (BALT) and survival in a vaccine mouse model of tularemia. PLoS One 2010; 5(6): e11156.
- 534. Henry RA, Kendall PL. CXCL13 blockade disrupts B lymphocyte organization in tertiary lymphoid structures without altering B cell receptor bias or preventing diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. J Immunol 2010; 185(3): 1460-1465.
- 535. Herold S, Steinmueller M, von Wulffen W, Cakarova L, Pinto R, Pleschka S et al. Lung epithelial apoptosis in influenza virus pneumonia: the role of macrophage-expressed TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. J Exp Med 2008; 205(13): 3065-3077.
- 536. Hogner K, Wolff T, Pleschka S, Plog S, Gruber AD, Kalinke U et al. Macrophage-expressed IFN-beta contributes to apoptotic alveolar epithelial cell injury in severe influenza virus pneumonia. PLoS Pathog 2013; 9(2): e1003188.
- 537. Fujikura D, Chiba S, Muramatsu D, Kazumata M, Nakayama Y, Kawai T et al. Type-I interferon is critical for FasL expression on lung cells to determine the severity of influenza. PLoS One 2013; 8(2): e55321.
- 538. Davidson S, Crotta S, McCabe TM, Wack A. Pathogenic potential of interferon alphabeta in acute influenza infection. Nature communications 2014; 5: 3864.
- 539. Stifter SA, Bhattacharyya N, Pillay R, Florido M, Triccas JA, Britton WJ et al. Functional Interplay between Type I and II Interferons Is Essential to Limit Influenza A Virus-Induced Tissue Inflammation. PLoS Pathog 2016; 12(1): e1005378.
- 540. Arimori Y, Nakamura R, Yamada H, Shibata K, Maeda N, Kase T et al. Type I interferon limits influenza virusinduced acute lung injury by regulation of excessive inflammation in mice. Antiviral Res 2013; 99(3): 230-237.
- 541. Snelgrove RJ, Edwards L, Rae AJ, Hussell T. An absence of reactive oxygen species improves the resolution of lung influenza infection. Eur J Immunol 2006; 36(6): 1364-1373.
- 542. Medina E. Neutrophil extracellular traps: a strategic tactic to defeat pathogens with potential consequences for the host. J Innate Immun 2009; 1(3): 176-180.
- 543. Abraham E. Neutrophils and acute lung injury. Critical care medicine 2003; 31(4 Suppl): S195-199.
- 544. Sideras P, Apostolou E, Stavropoulos A, Sountoulidis A, Gavrill A, Apostolidou A et al. Activin, neutrophils, and inflammation: just coincidence? Seminars in immunopathology 2013; 35(4): 481-499.
- 545. Sakai S, Kawamata H, Mantani N, Kogure T, Shimada Y, Terasawa K et al. Therapeutic effect of antimacrophage inflammatory protein 2 antibody on influenza virus-induced pneumonia in mice. J Virol 2000; 74(5): 2472-2476.
- 546. Kobasa D, Takada A, Shinya K, Hatta M, Halfmann P, Theriault S et al. Enhanced virulence of influenza A viruses with the haemagglutinin of the 1918 pandemic virus. Nature 2004; 431(7009): 703-707.
- 547. Schmitz N, Kurrer M, Bachmann MF, Kopf M. Interleukin-1 is responsible for acute lung immunopathology but increases survival of respiratory influenza virus infection. J Virol 2005; 79(10): 6441-6448.
- 548. Brandes M, Klauschen F, Kuchen S, Germain RN. A systems analysis identifies a feedforward inflammatory circuit leading to lethal influenza infection. *Cell* 2013; 154(1): 197-212.

- 549. Shepardson KM, Larson K, Morton RV, Prigge JR, Schmidt EE, Huber VC et al. Differential Type I Interferon Signaling Is a Master Regulator of Susceptibility to Postinfluenza Bacterial Superinfection. mBio 2016; 7(3).
- 550. Shahangian A, Chow EK, Tian X, Kang JR, Ghaffari A, Liu SY et al. Type I IFNs mediate development of postinfluenza bacterial pneumonia in mice. J Clin Invest 2009; 119(7): 1910-1920.
- 551. Navarini AA, Recher M, Lang KS, Georgiev P, Meury S, Bergthaler A et al. Increased susceptibility to bacterial superinfection as a consequence of innate antiviral responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006; 103(42): 15535-15539.
- 552. Srikiatkhachorn A, Chintapalli J, Liu J, Jamaluddin M, Harrod KS, Whitsett JA et al. Interference with intraepithelial TNF-alpha signaling inhibits CD8(+) T-cell-mediated lung injury in influenza infection. Viral Immunol 2010; 23(6): 639-645.
- 553. Zhou J, Matsuoka M, Cantor H, Homer R, Enelow RI. Cutting edge: engagement of NKG2A on CD8+ effector T cells limits immunopathology in influenza pneumonia. J Immunol 2008; 180(1): 25-29.
- 554. Lin KL, Suzuki Y, Nakano H, Ramsburg E, Gunn MD. CCR2+ monocyte-derived dendritic cells and exudate macrophages produce influenza-induced pulmonary immune pathology and mortality. Journal of immunology 2008; 180(4): 2562-2572.
- 555. McGill J, Van Rooijen N, Legge KL. Protective influenza-specific CD8 T cell responses require interactions with dendritic cells in the lungs. J Exp Med 2008; 205(7): 1635-1646.
- 556. Smit JJ, Lindell DM, Boon L, Kool M, Lambrecht BN, Lukacs NW. The balance between plasmacytoid DC versus conventional DC determines pulmonary immunity to virus infections. PLoS One 2008; 3(3): e1720.
- 557. Rimmelzwaan GF, Baars MM, de Lijster P, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD. Inhibition of influenza virus replication by nitric oxide. J Virol 1999; 73(10): 8880-8883.
- 558. Nasr IW, Reel M, Oberbarnscheidt MH, Mounzer RH, Baddoura FK, Ruddle NH et al. Tertiary lymphoid tissues generate effector and memory T cells that lead to allograft rejection. Am J Transplant 2007; 7(5): 1071-1079.
- 559. Kendall PL, Yu G, Woodward EJ, Thomas JW. Tertiary lymphoid structures in the pancreas promote selection of B lymphocytes in autoimmune diabetes. J Immunol 2007; 178(9): 5643-5651.
- 560. Hogg JC. Pathophysiology of airflow limitation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Lancet 2004; 364(9435): 709-721.
Chapter 2

Aims and outline of the thesis

As was pointed out in the introduction, IAV infection evokes a complex immune response. A common theme of the thesis is that the heterogeneity and complexity of the immune system and its components are taken into account to understand the immunology of IAV infection. By using a mouse model for mild seasonal IAV infection (X31 virus, H3N2) three diverse aspects of the immune response against IAV infection were studied:

- What is the precise functional contribution of the recently described subsets of cDCs and MCs?
- What is the precise contribution of a rare population of CD4-CD8- "double negative" T cells?
- Is there a role for the innate immune response in driving organized lymphoid tissues (iBALT) development in response to infection?

First, even if DCs have already been studied in the context of IAV, It is important to realize that each lung DC subset can activate a different functional program in response to viral infections. Most studies on viral lung infection thus far have not incorporated DC heterogeneity into the conceptual framework. On the other hand, the same DC subset can react differently depending on the type of virus that is detected. Therefore in chapter 3 we are focusing on the different dendritic cell subsets during influenza infection. More specifically DC subsets in the lung and MLN during IAV infection are reexamined with more precision by using a gating strategy including CD64 and MAR-1. By applying this gating strategy the origin, kinetics and the migratory capacity of the different subsets after infection are defined and the previously never described MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>2</sub> is characterized in detail.

Secondly, the same degree of heterogeneity and complexity is also seen in T cells. Traditionally, T cells have been subdivided in CD4 and CD8 T cells and this is also how T cells have been mainly studied in IAV infection. In chapter 4 the T cell response after influenza infection is described and more specifically the often-ignored CD4·CD8<sup>-</sup> T cells. These cells are a rather small part of the total population of T cells, but our experiments showed that these cells can also exert immunoregulatory functions. The new concept that some T cells become resident memory cells is incorporated and the relationship between DCs and conventional and CD4·CD8<sup>-</sup> T cells is studied.

Finally in chapter 5 we study in greater detail how TLO formation is initiated following IAV infection. We describe that IL-1 plays a role and provide evidence on how innate cytokines like IL-1 that are produced very early after infection can modulate the lung environment and condition it to promote iBALT development, an event that is only fully completed after viral clearance.

To end, the findings of this thesis are extensively discussed and put in perspective in chapter 6.

# Chapter 3

# IFNAR signaling induces a functional IRF8 module in type 2 conventional dendritic cells during influenza infection

Katrijn Neyt<sup>1,2</sup>, Sofie De Prijck<sup>1,2</sup>, Cedric Bosteels<sup>1,2</sup>, Mary Van Helden<sup>1,2</sup>, Liesbet Martens<sup>3,4</sup>, Yvan Saeys<sup>3,4</sup>, Dorine Sichien<sup>1,4</sup>, Charlotte Scott<sup>1,4</sup>, Martin Guilliams<sup>1,4</sup>, Bart N Lambrecht<sup>1,2,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>VIB Inflammation Research Center, Laboratory of Immunoregulation, Ghent, Belgium
<sup>2</sup>Department of Respiratory Medicine, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium
<sup>3</sup>VIB Inflammation Research Center, Data mining and Modeling for Biomedicine Group, Ghent, Belgium

<sup>4</sup>Department of Biomedical Molecular Biology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium <sup>5</sup>Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Manuscript in preparation

# Abstract

Dendritic cells play a crucial role during the immune response against influenza A virus infection as they can take up viral antigen and present it to T cells to induce a T cell response. Historically several subsets have been introduced and many different functions were attributed to these different subsets. It is generally accepted that CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1 DCs have the best cross-presenting capacities, but an important antigen presenting function was also attributed to CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2s. Recent insights in dendritic cell biology provide potential to study the functional specialization of DC subsets during influenza A virus infection. We applied a novel gating strategy implementing CD64 and MAR-1 antibodies to clearly differentiate between conventional and monocyte-derived cells and study the DC functions on well-defined populations. By applying this gating strategy on a mouse model for mild seasonal influenza infection, a conventional cDC2 population that acquired expression of the monocyte markers MAR-1 and CD64 and expression of IRF8, the terminal selector of the cDC1 lineage, was identified. Functionally this MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 has a more mature phenotype than MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s and has better cross-presenting capacities. This population is induced in a type 1 interferon dependent manner but is not dependent of IRF8 for its development. Rather, IRF8 controls a functional module in these cells and confers increased antigen cross-presentation and increased T cell stimulating capacities.

## Introduction

Influenza A virus (IAV) is a respiratory pathogen that causes seasonal infections that usually run a mild course. Pandemics with a more severe outcome can occur when the fragmented genome of the virus undergoes antigenic shift. Combined with the continuous antigenic drift it is currently not possible to develop a long-term effective vaccine. Therefore it is important to understand the immune response against IAV infection thoroughly to find new protective or therapeutic strategies.

Dendritic cells (DC) are the sentinels of the immune system that activate the adaptive immune system after sensing viral particles by innate immune receptors. Within the DC compartment, IRF8 and IRF4 are two transcription factors involved in driving the development towards the CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1 lineage or the CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 lineage respectively<sup>1-9</sup>. Functionally, IRF4 and IRF8 are involved in DC maturation, IL-12 production, migration and induction of the MHCI and MHCII presentation machinery genes<sup>2, 9, 10</sup>. Both directly or indirectly, these transcription factors can regulate T cell responses, like the acquisition of helper functions in CD4 T cells and induction of CD8 cytotoxic T cells<sup>3, 4, 11-20</sup>. During the course of primary IAV infection, DCs can acquire viral antigens through direct infection or through the acquisition of exogenous antigens by phagocytosis of dying infected cells or viral particles and prime CD8+ T cells by a process called MHC-I presentation or cross-presentation respectively. In the past, several studies were undertaken to define which DC subsets induce T cell proliferation and how this process is induced. Generally CD103<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-</sup>DCs were shown to have the best cross-presenting capacity during IAV infection<sup>14, 21-23</sup>. Other groups described that CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs and late arriving presenting cells (LAPC) were the major antigen-presenting DC subsets controlling adaptive CD8 and CD4 T cell immunity to IAV<sup>24, 25</sup>.

The observed inconsistencies in the results of these early studies on the function of various DC subsets have generated a lot of discussion on why results could be so diametrically different. Recent insights in DC biology now warrant further exploration and offer some explanations. Firstly, the paradigm that cDC1s are the exclusive crosspresenting cells that activate and induce cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (CTL) and that cDC2 are the antigen presenting cells that activate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to acquire a Th phenotype has recently been questioned. It was shown that also cDC2s can induce CTL responses under the condition that antigen is seen in the presence of a TLR signal, that might differ from the cDC1 subset<sup>26</sup>. For cDC1 DCs, TLR3 triggering (dsRNA) is necessary whereas for cDC2 DCs TLR7 triggering (ssRNA) is crucial. The exact molecular mechanism driving the acquisition of cross-presenting potential by cDC2s is currently unknown. Presumably, a gene module switch is induced by a transcriptional network downstream of TLR7. Secondly, the lack of robust identification markers to distinguish pure cDC subpopulations has obscured the results of many experiments, as many markers that define a lineage in steady state can be profoundly upregulated when cells get activated by cytokines or PRR signals<sup>27</sup>. In this paper, we apply the recently described gating method based on CD64 and MAR-1<sup>28</sup> to identify the DC subsets during mild IAV infection, greatly improving the correct identification of cDCs, as contaminating macrophages and monocyte-derived cells (MCs) are gated out. This led to the identification of a maturation state of conventional cDC2s that expressed the monocyte-marker MAR-1 and thus called MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 DC. MAR-1 expression on cDC2s was induced in a type 1 IFN dependent manner and these cells were more mature than conventional cDC2s and acquired expression of the cDC<sub>1</sub>-associated transcription factor IRF8. Functionally, IRF8 controlled a functional module in cDC2s, responsible for maturation and induction of a CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response rather than a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response. These findings show that the transcription factor IRF8, traditionally associated with cDC1 development, is co-opted by cDC2s to drive a functional module associated with cDC1 functions.

### Results

A population of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs is present in the lung and MLN during Influenza A virus infection

We have recently described that dendritic cells (DCs) in the lung consist of both conventional DCs (cDCs) and monocyte-derived DCs (recently termed MCs, to reflect their origin from circulating monocytes)<sup>28, 29</sup>. In the steady-state lung and MLN, cDCs, which express CD11c and MHCII but lack expression of CD64 and MAR-1, can be subdivided into two subsets, cDC1s and cDC2s that are distinguishable by CD103 and CD11b expression<sup>28</sup>. MCs express CD11c, MHCII, CD11b, CD64 and MAR-1. Thus inclusion of CD64 and MAR-1 in the gating strategy is required to distinguish cDC2s from MCs. Unfortunately, many papers describing the function of DCs during IAV infection discriminate the DC subsets based on expression of CD11b and CD103 only. Thus we first aimed to reexamine the DC subsets present in the lung and MLN during IAV infection with more precision using a gating strategy including CD64 and MAR-1. Similar to steady-state mice, this analysis revealed three DC subsets to be present in the lungs of mock-infected mice (Fig 1A): CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC1s, CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2s which made up almost half of the DC population, and CD11b<sup>+</sup> CD64<sup>+</sup> MCs which were the smallest fraction of pulmonary DCs (Fig 1B). At 4 days post infection (dpi) with IAV, the proportion of cDC1s and cDC2s was decreased while the proportion of MCs was significantly increased (Fig 1B). However, also a previously undescribed DC population within the CD11b+CD11c+MHCII+ cells expressing intermediate levels of CD64 (CD64int) and MAR-1 (MAR-1<sup>+</sup>) was identified (Fig 1A), which we termed MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs. Following viral clearance all DC populations returned to baseline and MAR-1+ DCs were no longer identifiable in the lung (Fig 1C).

To assess if this MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DC population migrated to the draining lymph node, the same gating strategy was applied to the MHCII<sup>hi</sup> DCs of the MLN. After mock-infection, analysis of the MLN revealed a slight increase in cDC2s compared with cDC1s while no MCs or MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs were found (Fig 1D,E). However, at 4dpi with IAV, while again no MCs were identified, there was a significant increase in both cDC1s and cDC2s and a substantial population of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs. Indeed these MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs represented over half of the total DC population at 4dpi (Fig 1D,E). Similar to the situation in the lung, cDC1s, cDC2s and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs returned to baseline levels following viral clearance (Fig 1F).

Interestingly, the generation of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs was not unique to infection with IAV. When mice were infected with a low dose of the murine paramyxovirus pneumonia virus of mice (PVM), MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs in the lung and MLN were similarly detected(Fig 1G) from 8dpi with PVM onwards.



#### Figure 1 - MAR-1<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs are induced after influenza infection

(A) Representative flow cytometry plots showing gating of lung CD11c<sup>+</sup> MHCll<sup>+</sup> DC subsets 4dpi with X31 virus (bottom panel) compared with mock-infected controls (upper panel). Plots are pre-gated on single, live, CD3<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup> cells. Histograms show expression of MAR-1 and CD64 on the different CD11c<sup>+</sup> MHCll<sup>+</sup> DC subsets. (B) Pie charts showing distribution of lung DC subsets in steady state conditions and 4dpi with mock or X31 virus as percentage of living DCs. The size of the pie is proportional to the total amount of DCs in the lung. (C) Kinetics of different lung DC subset numbers after mock (white circles) or X31 (black circles) infection. (D) Representative flow cytometry plots showing the gating strategy used to define MHCll<sup>In</sup> DC subsets in the mediastinal lymph node (MLN) in mock (upper panel) and X31 virus (bottom panel) infected mice at 4dpi. Plots are pre-gated on single, live, CD3<sup>-</sup>CD19<sup>-</sup> cells. Histograms show expression of MAR-1 and CD64 on the different CD11c<sup>+</sup> MHCll<sup>In</sup> DC subsets. (E) Pie charts showing distribution of MHCll<sup>In</sup> DC subsets in steady state and 4dpi with mock or X31 virus in the MLN as percentage of living MHCll<sup>In</sup> DCs. The size of the pie is proportional to the absolute number of MHCll<sup>In</sup> DCs in the MLN. (F) Kinetics of different MHCll<sup>In</sup> DC subset numbers in the MLN after mock (white circles) or X31 (black circles) infection. (G) Kinetics of different lung (upper panel) and MHCll<sup>In</sup> MLN (lower panel) DC subset numbers after PVM infection. Data are representative of at least two independent experiments with 4-6 mice per group.

#### MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs are bona fide cDCs

←

As MAR-1 is a marker typically used to define monocyte-derived cells, including the cells historically known as MoDCs<sup>28</sup>, we next questioned whether the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DC population was of monocytic or pre-cDC origin, like cDC1s and cDC2s. To examine this directly, pre-cDCs were sorted from the bone marrow of wild-type CD45.2 mice, labeled with a cell tracker dye and transferred into CD45.1/CD45.2 mice at 1dpi with IAV. The expression of the congenic marker within the DC subsets was analyzed 4 days later (Fig S1, Fig 2A). The transferred pre-cDCs gave rise to cDC1s, cDC2s and the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DC population, but not to the CD64<sup>+</sup>MAR-1<sup>+</sup> MC population (Fig 2A). To determine if the origin of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs was restricted to cDC-committed progenitors, we next examined the dependence of this population on the chemokine receptor CCR2 using Wt:Ccr2-/- mixed BM chimeras. CCR2 is required on monocytes for the egress from the BM to the blood and hence CCR2 dependency is often used to define monocyte origin. Analysis of the DC populations in these chimeras revealed MAR-1 DCs to be CCR2 dependent but this dependence was less pronounced than for the MC population (Fig S2). As it has recently been reported that some cDCs can also be CCR2-dependent<sup>30</sup> we next assessed whether MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs could also derive from monocytes. Monocytes were sorted from the bone marrow of CD45.1 wild-type mice, labeled with a cell tracker dye and transferred into CD45.2 Ccr2-/- mice at 1dpi. The expression of the congenic markers on DC subsets was analyzed 4 days later (Fig S1, Fig 2B). Ccr2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were used as hosts to give the transferred monocytes a competitive advantage over the endogenous population aiding their identification following transfer. Four days after the monocyte transfer, the transferred cells were present exclusively in the CD11b<sup>+</sup> gate in the lung and within this gate only in the CD64<sup>+</sup> MAR-1<sup>+</sup> MC gate (Fig 2B). Thus MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs generated during IAV infection are strictly derived from pre-cDCs and hence represent a bona fide population of cDCs. No transferred monocyte-derived cells could be identified in the MLN indicating that MCs do not migrate to the draining LN at this time point after infection.





(A) CD45.2 pre-cDCs were sorted from eFI450+ cell tracker labeled bone marrow and transferred i.v. into CD45.1/CD45.2 wild-type recipient mice at 1dpi with IAV. 4 days later donor cells were identified in the lung (upper panel) and MLN (lower panel) as cell tracker+ CD45.1- cells and were subsequently examined for CD103 and CD11b expression and for CD64 and MAR-1 expression. The graphs represent the distribution of the different DC subsets in the endogenous population (white) and the pre-cDC derived population (black). Data are pooled from 2 independent experiments (circles and squares) with 4 transferred mice in total are analyzed with a Two-way ANOVA with Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. The plots showing transferred pre-cDCs in the MLN is a pooled sample of two transferred mice. (B) CD45.1/CD45.2 monocytes were sorted from eFI450+ cell tracker labeled bone marrow and transferred i.v. into CD45.2 CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> recipient mice at 1dpi. 4 days later donor cells were identified in the lung (upper panel) and MLN (lower panel) as cell tracker+ CD45.1+ cells and were subsequently examined for CD103 and CD11b expression and for CD64 and MAR-1 expression. The graphs represent the distribution of the different DC subsets in the endogenous population (white) and the monocyte-derived population (black). Data are from 2 independent experiments (circles and squares) with 5 transferred mice in total are analyzed with a Two-way ANOVA with Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. (C) Representative histograms showing expression of CD26, MerTk, XCR1 and SIRPa on lung and MLN DC subsets at 4dpi with IAV. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments with 4-6 mice per group. (D) Expression of CD64 and MAR-1 on lung and MLN DC subsets over time, expressed as MFI.

\* =  $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\*  $\le 0.01$ ; ns = not statistically significant.

As CD26 and MerTk have recently been described by the Immgen consortium to be conserved in cDCs and macrophages respectively<sup>31-33</sup> we next stained for these markers in the lung and MLN during IAV infection to assess their expression on MAR-1+ cDCs compared with the other DC populations. Correlating with their pre-cDC origin, MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDCs expressed high levels of CD26 and low levels of MerTk, similar to cDC1s and cDC2s (Fig 2C). Conversely and fitting with their distinct origin, MCs expressed intermediate levels of both CD26 and MerTk (Fig 2C). Expression of CD11b is not enough to categorize DCs as cDC2s as CD11b can be induced on DC subsets, like pDCs as part of an activation module<sup>34</sup>. XCR1 and SIRPa (CD172a) have been identified as conserved surface markers that can be used to identify cDC1s and cDC2s respectively throughout different tissues and species<sup>29, 33, 35, 36</sup>. MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDCs in the lung and MLN expressed SIRPa but did not express XCR1 identifying them as members of the cDC2 lineage and further described as MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s (Fig 2C). As MAR-1 expression, and to a lesser extent CD64 expression, was induced over time on the total cDC2 population (i.e. MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s) and on the MCs and returned back to baseline levels once the infection is cleared, this suggests that MAR-1 and CD64 may represent temporal activation markers of cDC2s (Fig 2D).

# MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s represent a hyper activated state of cDC2s

To further characterize the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s, DC subsets were sorted 4 days post mock and IAV infection and were subjected to a micro-array analysis. By performing a principal component analysis (PCA, Fig 3A), the first principal component (PC1) corresponded to the ontogeny of the DCs whereas the second principal component (PC2) corresponded the activation status (mock versus IAV). The MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s appeared to be in a more extreme activation state than MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s at 4dpi IAV infection. This was also confirmed when the 30 most upregulated genes and the 30 most downregulated genes between mock cDC2s and MAR-1+ cDC2s were plotted on a heat map (Fig S3A). MAR-1- cDC2s from IAV infected mice always showed an intermediate gene expression profile between MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s from mock infected mice and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s from IAV infected mice. In a next step we sought to identify unique genes that were expressed in the different DC subsets, using a novel triwise comparison algorithm<sup>37</sup>. Therefore the gene expression profiles from the 3 different subsets were plotted on a triwise plot representing total gene expression under mock or IAV condition (Fig 3B). Even in mock condition hardly any cDC2 specific genes could be defined, while Xcr1, Clec9a and Irf8 were highly specific for cDC1s and Mertk, Emr1 (F4/80) and Fcgr1 were specific for MCs. The cDC2s rather shared most genes with either cDC1s (Dpp4 (CD26) and Zbtb46) or MCs (Sirpa). Furthermore cDC1s shared almost no genes with MCs whereas they did share genes with their conventional cDC2 counterparts.

To determine which genes are differentially expressed upon IAV infection, and which genes remained reliable identifiers of cDC subsets, a pairwise comparison of cDC1s, cDC2s and MCs in mock versus X31 condition was made and the differentially expressed genes were plotted on a triwise plot representing the total gene expression profile 4dpi with IAV (Fig 3C). Only a very low number of genes were upregulated in



only one cellular subset. The genes upregulated in cDC1s were mostly shared with cDC2s and MCs during IAV infection. For cDC2s the upregulated genes were either shared by cDC1s (e.g. Irf8, II12b, II12rb, Cd80, Cd86, Tnfsf4), MCs (e.g. CxcI10, CxcI11, Fcgr1, CcI7, TIr7, Batf2) or all subsets. The genes shared with cDC1s were classified by Ingenuity pathway analysis (IPA) to belong to the canonical pathways involved with T helper cell differentiation, DC maturation and IL-12 signaling (Fig S3B). In contrast, the shared genes with MCs were classified in the canonical pathways linked with recognition of viruses by pattern recognition receptors (PRR), IFN induction, and activation of IRF by cytosolic PRR and RIG-I like receptors (Fig S3C). This suggests that MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s acquired a hybrid phenotype sharing typical cDC1 and MC gene modules. The differentially expressed genes in MCs were shared with all the subsets or shared with cDC2 DCs but not with cDC1s. However, most of the genes that were upregulated in the different subsets upon infection were mostly shared by all the subsets. This common "influenza signature" in the DCs consists mainly of type I IFN genes (e.g. Ifit family, Irf7, Oas family, Mx2, Stat1) (Fig 3D, cluster 1).

Another cluster of genes represented the genes that are specifically expressed in mock cDC1s, but are acquired by cDC2 and/or MCs but caution should be taken as these genes are separated into 3 different clusters upon IAV infection (Fig 3E): only a small fraction of surface markers remained cDC1 specific (e.g. Xcr1, Cadm1, Clec9a, Tlr3 and Itgae; cluster 5). The remainders of genes were either also expressed by cDC2s (e.g. *lrf8*, Il12b, Il15, Stat4 and Tnfrsf4; cluster 3) or by both cDC2s and MCs and became shared by all DC subsets (e.g. Tap1, Bcl2l1, Slfn1; cluster 2). This indicates that caution should be taken when studying DCs during inflammatory conditions.

Despite the fact that MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s were FACS-purified on the basis of expression of the MAR-1 epitope of Fc $\epsilon$ R1, the gene, Fcer1a, was not identified as being differentially expressed between MAR-1<sup>-</sup> and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s and also appeared not to be specifically expressed in MCs (Fig 3B). As we found this quite surprising, we next sought to investigate if the MAR-1 antibody was indeed specifically staining Fc $\epsilon$ R1 on DCs and MCs. To this end, we infected WT and Fc $\epsilon$ r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice with IAV and examined MAR-1 expression by the DC subsets. Despite lacking Fc $\epsilon$ R1, MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s were readily identifiable in the lung and MLN of Fc $\epsilon$ r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Fig S4). Furthermore, there was no difference in either their proportion or number compared with WT controls. This demonstrates that the MAR-1 antibody also recognizes another surface protein than

Figure 3 - Gene expression changes dramatically upon IAV infection

<sup>(</sup>A) PCA analysis of lung DC subsets 4dpi mock (lighter colors) or IAV (darker color) infection. (B) To visualize differential gene expression between the DC subsets after mock (left) and IAV infection (right) each gene was plotted in a hexagonal triwise diagram in which the direction of a point represents an up-regulation in ore or two populations, whereas the distance from the origin represents the magnitude of this up-regulation. Genes that are >32 fold differentially expressed are plotted on the outer grid line. Rose diagrams (top right) show the percentage of genes in each orientation. Brown dots represent genes that are not differentially expressed. Green dots represent statistically significant differentially expressed genes. (C) Triwise diagrams of the gene expression after IAV infection. Red dots represent the upregulated genes in cDC1s (left), cDC2s (middle) and MCs (right) after IAV infection. Rose diagrams (top right) show the percentage of the red dots in each orientation. (D) Heat maps showing relative expression of differentially expressed genes between DC subsets from mock and IAV infected mice. (E) Triwise diagrams of the gene expression after mock (upper diagram) and IAV (lower diagram) infection. The red dots represent the genes that are cDC1 specific in mock conditions. Rose diagrams (top right) show the percentage of the red dots in each orientation.

the Fc  $\epsilon R1$  expressed on mast cells and basophils. The precise nature of this epitope in cDC2s and MC remains enigmatic.

One major observation in the micro-array analysis was that Irf8 expression, which was previously shown to be a terminal selector of the cDC1 lineage<sup>38</sup>, shifted during IAV infection towards a shared expression pattern with cDC2s (Fig 3B,E). We next aimed to confirm these differences at the protein level. To this end, intracellular IRF4 and IRF8 were stained in all DC subsets in the lung and MLN during IAV infection. This analysis confirmed that both MAR-1<sup>-</sup> and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s upregulated IRF8 after IAV infection while retaining IRF4 expression (FIG 4A), but the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s expressed higher levels of IRF8 than their MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2 counterparts. Other than in the lung, where the expression of IRF8 in MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s remained modest compared to the expression in cDC1s (Fig 4A), IRF8 expression by MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 DCs in the MLN was further increased and almost equaled the IRF8 expression level of cDC1s (Fig 4B).

As the transcription factor IRF8 is induced in cDC2s during IAV, we next addressed whether IRF8 drove the expression of MAR-1 on cDC2s. Irf8<sup>fl/fl</sup> x Cd11c Cre mice that lack IRF8 specifically in CD11c-expressing cells were infected with IAV and DC subsets were analyzed at 4dpi. The transgenic mice indeed showed a loss of cDC1s consistent with previously published data<sup>1, 38-42</sup>, however, no reduction in the MAR-1<sup>-</sup> or MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDCs in the lung and MLN compared with Cre<sup>-</sup> littermate controls was observed (Fig 4C,D). Thus, unlike cDC1s, MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s are not dependent upon IRF8 for their development.

MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s acquire expression of IRF8 in a type I IFN dependent manner

Contrary to cDC1s requiring IRF8 for their development, cDC2s have been shown to require IRF4 for their terminal differentiation, survival and migration<sup>4, 5, 43-46</sup>. Thus we also examined the prevalence of the distinct DC subsets in Irf4<sup>fl/fl</sup> x Cd11c Cre mice, which lack IRF4 specifically in CD11c-expressing cells. While lack of IRF4 in CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells resulted in a reduction of CD24<sup>+</sup> cDC2s in the lung and a severe reduction of migratory cDC2s in the MLN in the steady state<sup>1</sup>, this dependence on IRF4 was overcome during the inflammatory setting of IAV infection where the proportion and absolute numbers of all of the conventional DC subsets was similar to that in Cre<sup>-</sup> littermate control mice (Fig 4E and F). Thus IRF4 is dispensable for development, survival and migration of cDC2s during inflammation.

Based on the micro-array data, IPA analysis suggested that IRF8, IFNAR, STAT1, IRF3 and IRF7 were potential upstream regulators of the differential gene expression between cDC2s in mock condition and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2. A deeper analysis of the canonical pathways linking these upstream regulators showed that IFNAR signaling could be the initiating factor (Fig S3E). To validate this, Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected with IAV and DC subsets were quantified at 4dpi. This analysis revealed that MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s were almost completely absent in Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Fig 5A) demonstrating their dependence on type 1 IFN signaling. Additionally, the intensity of MAR-1 expression was found to be decreased within the MC population, showing that IFNAR-signaling is involved in inducing MAR-1 expression on all DC subsets, also those derived from monocytes and sharing macrophage characteristics (Fig 5A). Conversely, MAR-1 cDC2s were increased in both



Figure 4 - MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s express IRF8 but do not depend on IRF8 or IRF4 for their induction

(A,B) Representative flow cytometry plots showing IRF4 and IRF8 expression (upper panel) and pooled MFIs (bottom panel) in (A) lung and (B) MLN DC subsets at 4dpi with IAV compared with mock infected controls. Data are representative for 3 independent experiments with 3-6 mice per group and are analyzed with a Two-way ANOVA with Tukey correction for multiple comparisons. (C,D) Representative flow cytometry plots (upper panel), absolute numbers (middle panel) and distribution of DC subsets as a % of live DCs (lower panel) in the (C) lungs and (D) MLN of Irf8 x Cd11c Cre<sup>WT</sup> and Irf8 x Cd11c Cre<sup>Tg</sup> mice 4dpi with IAV. The size of the pie chart is proportional to the total amount of DCs. Data are representative for 2 independent experiments with 4-5 mice per group. (E,F) Representative flow cytometry plots (upper panel), absolute numbers (middle panel) and distribution of DC subsets as a % of live DCs (lower panel), compared with a Cd11c Cre<sup>Tg</sup> mice 4dpi with IAV. The size of the pie chart is proportional to the total amount of DCs. Data are representative for 2 independent experiments with 4-5 mice per group. (E,F) Representative flow cytometry plots (upper panel), absolute numbers (middle panel) and distribution of DC subsets as a % of live DCs (lower panel) in the (E) lungs and (F) MLN of Irf4 x Cd11c Cre<sup>WT</sup> and Irf4 x Cd11c Cre<sup>Tg</sup> mice 4dpi with IAV. The size of the pie chart is proportional to the total amount of DCs. Data are representative for 2 independent experiments with 3-6 mice per group and are analyzed with a Two-way ANOVA with Sidak correction for multiple comparisons.



Figure 5 - IFNAR signaling is necessary for the generation of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s and their expression of IRF8 (A) Representative flow cytometry plots showing identification of DC subsets in the lung (upper panel) and MLN (lower panel) in Ifnar<sup>+/+</sup> and Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> mice 4dpi with IAV. Representative histograms showing expression of MAR-1 on Ifnar<sup>+/+</sup> and Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> DC subsets 4dpi with IAV. Data are representative for 3 independent experiments with 4-5 mice per group. (B) Absolute number (upper panel) and distribution as a percentage of live DCs (lower panel) of DC subsets lung and MLN of Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> and Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> mice 4dpi with IAV. Data are representative for 3 independent experiments with 4-5 mice per group. (C) Expression of IRF4 and IRF8 by DC subsets in lung and MLN of Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> and Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> mice 4dpi with IAV. Upper panel shows representative flow cytometry plots. Bottom panel shows MFIs. Data are representative for 2 independent experiments with 4-5 mice per group and are analyzed with a Two-way ANOVA with Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. \* = p ≤ 0,05; \*\* ≤ 0,01; ns = not statistically significant.

proportion and number in the lung and MLN which lead to an unchanged total amount of cDC2s (Fig 5B). Additionally, we confirmed that type I IFN signaling is an upstream regulator of IRF8, as IRF8 expression was significantly reduced in the cDC2s in Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared with WT controls (Fig 5C).

## MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s gain the capacity to stimulate CD8 T cells

Given the observation that expression of Cd80, Cd86, II12 and Irf8 was induced in MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 DCs during IAV infection (Fig 3C) and that these genes are typically linked to antigen presentation, we sought to address the functional capacity of the IRF8<sup>hi</sup> MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>2</sub> DCs. Therefore the WSN-OVA virus, encoding the OVA<sub>257-264</sub> Kb restricted MHC I epitope in the neuraminidase gene, was used to infect wildtype mice. DC subsets were sorted from the MLN at 4dpi and put in coculture with CFSE-labeled CD8<sup>+</sup> OT-I T cells. After 4 days of coculture, the cells were restimulated for 5 hours and CFSE dilution and production of IFN<sub>Y</sub> and Granzyme B were examined by flow cytometry. In the MLN, cDC1s were found to induce strong proliferation of OT-I T cells. Strikingly, MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s also induced proliferation of OT-IT cells, whereas MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s only induced a modest degree of proliferation (Fig 6A). The same results were obtained with lung DC subsets, but MCs did not induce T cell proliferation (data not shown). These results were further reflected in the cytokine production of responding T cells; MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 DCs had the tendency to induce stronger IFN<sub>Y</sub> and Granzyme B production than MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2 DCs, although to a lesser extent than cDC<sub>1</sub> DCs (Fig 6B). In contrast to an enhanced presentation to OT-I CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, the capacity of cDC2s to present antigen to CD4<sup>+</sup> OT-II cells was diminished when they acquired the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> state (Fig 6C). These results suggest that MAR-1+ cDC2s acquire an intermediate phenotype in which they can acquire cDC1 functions depending on the environmental milieu.

Examination of expression of the T cell costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 at protein level by flow cytometry showed that all DC subsets were activated by IAV infection and moreover that MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s are in a hyper activated state compared to classical MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s potentially explaining their enhanced ability to cross-present antigen to naïve OT-I cells (Fig 6C). In addition to the increased expression of maturation markers, a significant increase was observed in the proportion of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s producing IL-12 compared with MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s after 5 hours of ex vivo restimulation (Fig 6C).

Other genes involved in presentation in the MHCI pathway such as Tapbpl were induced in MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 after IAV, whereas this is a gene normally expressed higher in cDC1s (Fig 3E). To delineate the underlying signaling cascade responsible for this hyper mature state of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s we assessed the maturation state and IL-12 production capacity in Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> and Irf8 x Cd11c Cre mice. This revealed that in addition to inducing MAR-1 expression on cDC2s, IFNAR signaling was also required to induce the hyper-mature state of cDC2s, with MLN cDC2s from Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> mice expressing less CD80, CD86 and IL-12 compared with WT controls (Fig 6E). Similarly, the increased IRF8 expression observed on MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s was also essential to induce this hyper mature state as this was not induced in MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s from Irf8 x Cd11c Cre MLNs (Fig 6F).

Thus taken together, these data demonstrate that type 1 IFN signaling during IAV infection leads to the generation of a MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 which upregulates IRF8 causing them to be hyper-activated and acquiring an enhanced ability to induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation rather than CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation.



#### Figure 6 - MAR-1+ cDC2s represent a hyper-activated cDC subset

(A) Proliferation profile (left) and absolute number of T cells (right) following 4 days of coculture of CFSE-labeled OT-I T cells and DC subsets sorted from the MLN of WSN-OVA infected mice. (B) Representative flow cytometry plots showing IFN<sub>Y</sub> (upper row) and Granzyme B (lower row) expression by OT-I T cells following 4 days of coculture with DC subsets from MLN. Data are representative for 2 independent experiments with DC subsets sorted from 10-15 mice per group. Graphs with amount of cells show the individual replicates from 1 experiment. Data are analyzed by a One-way ANOVA and Tukey correction for multiple comparisons. (C) Percentage and absolute number of proliferating T cells following 5 days of coculture of eFI450 proliferation dye labeled OT-I (left) or OT-II (right) cells and DC subsets sorted from the MLN of X31 infected mice together with 10ug/ml ovalbumin. Data are analyzed by a One-way ANOVA and Tukey correction for multiple comparisons of CD80 and CD86 expressed as MFI on MHCIIhi DC subsets from the MLN and % of MHCII hi MLN DCs expressing IL-12 after 6h of restimulation in X31 virus infected mice compared with mock-infected controls at 4dpi. (E-F) Same analysis for Ifnar<sup>+/+</sup> and Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> (panel E) and Irf8 x Cd11c Cre<sup>WT</sup> and Cre<sup>Tg</sup> mice (panel F). Data are representative for 2 independent experiments with 3-4 mice per group and are analyzed with a Two-way ANOVA with Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. \* = p ≤ 0,05; \*\* ≤ 0,01; ns = not statistically significant.

### Discussion

Previously published data about the division of labor between different DC subsets during IAV infection often led to results that are inconclusive and hard to compare. The variability between the used strains, the infectious dose, the route of administration and the timing of the read-outs is one major influencing factor. Next to this, the strategy to define the different DC subsets lacked consistency between different reports<sup>14, 21, 23, 24, 47</sup>. In addition, until recently no flow cytometry staining strategy was available to study the different subsets without contamination, as CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs were a mixture of conventional and monocyte-derived DCs due to the lack of good monocyte markers. Therefore, we applied a new gating strategy based on expression of MAR-1 and CD64 to define the monocyte-derived compartment of the CD11b<sup>+</sup> gate (MC). MCs expanded during infection and became the majority of the pulmonary DC population 4dpi with IAV while they were absent in the MHCII<sup>hi</sup> DCs in the MLN, suggesting that they do not migrate from the lung to the MLN. Remarkably, we also identified a CD11b<sup>+</sup> DC with intermediate expression of CD64 and MAR-1 in mice infected with IAV and PVM. It has been shown that infection with Sendai virus also induces expression of MAR-1 on lung DCs, and MAR-1 was proposed by these authors to stain specifically the alpha chain of the FcERI receptor<sup>47</sup>. In our hands however, MAR-1 staining was also observed on lung MCs and cDC2s of Fcerl<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Which protein is causing the cross-reaction with the MAR-1 antibody on DCs and MCs is a matter of intense study in our lab.

Transfer of pre-cDCs and monocytes pointed out that MAR-1<sup>+</sup> CD64<sup>int</sup> DCs represented bona fide cDCs as they developed from pre-cDCs but not monocytes and they shared the expression pattern of CD26 with MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2 DCs, while lacking expression of MerTk found on macrophages and MCs. Despite the fact that MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs were pre-cDC derived, they were partially CCR2 dependent. Together with the description of a conventional DC in the gut that is partially CCR2 dependent<sup>30</sup> this shows that caution should be taken when Ccr2:Wt mixed chimeras are used to define the monocyte origin of a cell population. MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s expressed Sirp $\alpha$  on their surface, but no XCR1 just like MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s. MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s can thus be seen as a special activation status of the cDC2 population.

The induction of MAR-1 is dependent on IFNAR signaling since no MAR-1<sup>+</sup> population could be detected within the cDC2 gate in Ifnar<sup>-/-</sup> mice, as was previously reported by others as well<sup>47</sup>. Analysis of the gene expression data obtained by micro-array pointed

out that a strong type I IFN signature was induced upon IAV infection in the 3 different DC subsets. It is however not clear which cell type is the source of the IFN as many cells can produce it. Given the anatomical structure of the lung environment, epithelial cells are one of the first targets of IAV infection<sup>48</sup>. In vitro infection of murine tracheal epithelial cells leads to induction of IFN $\beta$ ,  $\alpha 4$  and  $\alpha 5$ , but not other subtypes, rendering epithelial cells ideal candidate sources of type I IFN that on its turn can induce MAR-1 upregulation on cDC2s<sup>49</sup>. But amongst many other cell types, DCs can also produce type I IFNs themselves. In the blood of infected people, DCs appeared to be the highest producers of IFN<sup>50</sup>. Although it was previously thought that pDCs are responsible for much of the type I IFN production<sup>51</sup>, more recent studies showed that cDCs also produce considerable amounts of type I IFNs<sup>52, 53</sup>. As we were limited to the use of full Ifnar deficient mice and could not deplete Ifnar in specific cell types, it remains to be elucidated if IFNAR signaling induces MAR-1 on cDC2s in a direct or indirect manner. In cDCs, type I IFN production after viral infection seems to occur in two distinct waves. The first wave is driven directly by viral recognition acting on TLR3, TLR7 or RIG-I like receptors. The second wave is driven by a feedback mechanism whereby type I IFN signaling induces IRF8, which subsequently further boosts type I IFN production<sup>54</sup>.

Gene expression profiling suggested that transcription factor IRF8 was a possible upstream regulator of the differentially expressed genes when comparing mock cDC2s and IAV cDC2s. Furthermore, IRF8 got upregulated in cDC2s and acquired an expression pattern shared with cDC1s whereas in mock conditions IRF8 is specific for cDC1s. IRF4 and IRF8 are structurally very similar and therefore can compete for binding the same gene elements<sup>55</sup>. Potentially the ratio of IRF4 and IRF8 expression can determine a switch in cell development or differentiation. This concept of IRF4 and IRF8 being the driving forces behind the switch of phenotypes has been described before in other cell types. IRF4 is involved in the polarization of macrophages towards a M2 rather than a M1 phenotype<sup>56, 57</sup> and IRF4 is essential for the acquisition of Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17, Tfh and Treg phenotypes<sup>15-20, 58</sup>. In this process of polarization, IRF4 and IRF8 can also have counteracting functions. For example IRF4 regulates Roryt, thereby promoting Th17 cell differentiation<sup>11, 12</sup> whereas IRF8 silences the Th17 differentiation by interfering with Roryt and repression of IL-17 associated genes<sup>13</sup>. In B cell development expression of IRF8 and IRF4 mutually counteracts each other<sup>59</sup>. IRF4 and IRF8 expression is also involved in the cDC1-cDC2 lineage decision during DC development. IRF8 is expressed already in the common DC progenitor<sup>60</sup> whereas IRF4 expression only comes up in the pre-cDC stage and cDC2s only develop when IRF4 expression is induced. The final numbers of cDC2s and cDC1s most likely depend on the levels of IRF4 and IRF8 in the tissues<sup>1</sup>.

In this paper, we describe that the expression of IRF4 and IRF8 are not limited to respectively cDC2s and cDC1s. We observed that IRF8 could be acquired by cDC2s in an inflammatory situation. This observation questions on its turn the dogma that different DC subsets are specialized in particular functions. According to this dogma, cDC1s are specialized in induction of CTLs, whereas cDC2s are specialized in induction of CD4 Th cells<sup>61, 62</sup>. We showed that by the acquisition of IRF8 a functional module leading to enhanced CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell stimulation and proliferation was induced in cDC2s. This enhanced MHCI-dependent antigen presentation capacity was induced by an

induction of the maturation status of the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 as these DCs expressed higher levels of the activation markers CD80 and CD86 on their surface, and by acquisition of processing machinery necessary for MHCI presentation. Recently it was already argued that cDC2s are capable to induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses on the condition that they are provided with a strong TLR7 signal<sup>26</sup>. Our micro-array data indicated that Tlr7 is upregulated in cDC2s upon IAV infection, which can equip the cDC2s with a more MHCI prone machinery. Furthermore they have an enhanced capacity to produce IL-12 upon ex vivo restimulation. These changes in activity status are induced in a DC-intrinsic IRF8-dependent manner. Type I IFN signaling and IRF8 expression in cDC1s licenses them to produce IL-12 and thereby promote Th1 immune responses<sup>63-68</sup> while IRF4 can inhibit IL-12 production and skew the responses towards a Th2 profile<sup>69-72</sup>. Based on these data, it was somewhat surprising that we observed a decreased ability to present antigen to OT-II CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in vitro and to induce Th cell proliferation whereas the ability to present antigen to OT-I CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and to induce CTL proliferation was enhanced. Nevertheless, IL-12 has also been described to contribute to the proliferation and IFN<sub>y</sub> production of cytotoxic T cells during influenza infection, but not their cytolytic activity<sup>73, 74</sup> and for memory CTL induction<sup>75</sup> which supports our observations in the in vitro cocultures. Recently it was shown that IRF4 is superior to IRF8 in providing DCs with the machinery to process antigen and present it in a MHCII-dependent manner to initiate T helper cell responses<sup>2</sup>. Given the capacity of IRF4 and IRF8 to bind the same gene elements, it can be hypothesized that the induction of IRF8 in cDC2s results in a competition with IRF4 for their binding partners resulting in less IRF4 able to activate the genes driving MHCII antigen presentation and thereby favoring IRF8 to activate the genes necessary for CTL induction.

All together, we have shown that during IAV infection cDC2s evolve towards a hybrid DC type that combines the capacity of cDC1s for CTL induction with the capacity of MCs for inducing an antiviral response. This shows the extraordinary flexibility of cDC2s, and their potential to react to environmental cues like type I interferons, and exploiting a gene module that is mainly used for development and function of cDC1s. It is possible that this flexibility is required during later phases of infection, when cDC1s tend to be depleted by IAV infection. Future studies will have to unravel the precise genes bound by IRF8 in cDC1s and activated cDC2s, to understand the full functional implications of our observations. We finally want to caution against the use of IRF8 as a universal lineage defining transcription factor for cDC1s that could be used to knock out this lineage. Our data clearly show that genetic deficiency of IRF8 selectively in DCs will greatly impact also on cDC2 function.

# Materials and methods

#### Ethics statement

All experiments were approved by the independent animal ethical committee "Ethische Commissie Dierproeven – faculteit Geneeskunde en Gezondheidswetenschappen Universiteit Gent" (identification number: ECD 14/49). Animal care and used protocols adhere to the Belgian Royal Degree of May 29th 2013 for protection of experimental animals which incorporates European guideline 2010/63/EU.

#### Mice

C57Bl/6 mice (6-10w) were purchased from Harlan Laboratories. CD45.1/2, OT-I Tg, OT-II Tg, FccRl-/- and IRF8<sup>fl/fl</sup> x CD11c Cre mice were bred and housed in specific pathogenfree conditions at the animal facility of Ghent University. Ifnar-/- mice were kindly donated by Prof. Claude Libert.

#### Influenza virus infection

Mice were infected intranasally with  $10^5$  TCID<sub>50</sub> H3N2 X31 influenza A virus,  $10^3$  TCID<sub>50</sub> WSN influenza A virus encoding the OVA<sub>257-264</sub> Kb restricted MHC I epitope in the neuraminidase gene (Topham et al. J Immunol 2001 - Doherty) or mock virus (allantoic fluid of uninfected eggs); all diluted in 50µl PBS. Weight loss was monitored daily.

#### PVM virus infection

Mice were infected intratracheally with 35pfu PVM virus (J3666) diluted in  $80\mu$ I PBS. Weight loss was monitored daily.

#### Isolation of lung and MLN cells

Mice were sacrificed and the MLN and lung were isolated and mechanically cut. Single cell suspensions were prepared by digestion in collagenase/DNase (Roche) solution; lungs were digested for 30 minutes at 37°C, MLNs were digested 15 minutes at 37°C. After digestion, the suspension was filtered over an  $100\mu$ m filter and red blood cells in the lung suspension were lysed with osmotic lysis buffer.

### Flow cytometry and cell sorting

Staining of DC subsets was done by staining with MAR-1 (conjugated to biotin, eBioscience) combined with streptavidin (conjugated to PE-CF594, BD biosciences), CD3 (conjugated to PE-Cy5, eBioscience), CD19 (conjugated to PE-Cy5, eBioscience), CD11c (conjugated to PE-Cy7, eBioscience), MHC II (conjugated to APC-Cy7, Biolegend), CD103 (conjugated to PE, BD biosciences or Pacific Blue, Biolegend), CD11b (conjugated to BV605 or Horizon V450, BD biosciences), CD64 (conjugated to AF647 or PE, BD biosciences), CD24 (conjugated to eFI450, eBioscience) and a fixable live/dead marker in eFI506 (eBioscience). Following additional markers were used: XCR1 (conjugated to PE, Biolegend), Sirpa (conjugated to PerCp-eFI710, eBioscience), CD26 (conjugated to Fitc, BD biosciences), MerTk (Unlabeled, R&D systems) combined with a donkey-anti-goat (conjugated to AF647, Invitrogen), CCR2 (conjugated to PE, R&D systems), CD45.1 (conjugated to BV605, Biolegend ), CD45.2 (conjugated to AF700, eBioscience), IRF4 (Unlabeled, Santa Cruz) combined with an donkey-anti-goat (conjugated to AF647, Invitrogen), IRF8 (conjugated to PerCp-Efl710, eBioscience), CD40 (conjugated to PE, BD biosciences), CD80 (conjugated to PerCp-Cy5.5, BD biosciences), CD86 (conjugated to PE-Cy7, Biolegend).

Acquisition of 12-color samples was performed on a Fortessa cytometer equipped with FACSDiva software (BD98 biosciences). Final analysis and graphical output were performed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Inc.).

For sorting of DC subsets, cells were stained as described and cell sorting was performed on a FACSAria II (BD biosciences).

## Pre-cDC transfer

To expand pre-cDCs, CD45.2 wildtype mice were injected every other day with 10µg Flt3L (PSF, VIB). Mice were killed 8 days after the first treatment and bone marrow was isolated. Red blood cells were lysed by osmotic lysis buffer. Cells were labeled with eFl450 cell proliferation dye (eBioscience) and pre-cDCs were sorted as CD45<sup>+</sup>, Lin<sup>-</sup> (CD3, CD19, MHC II, CD49b, CD11b, B220), CD11c<sup>int</sup>, Sirpa<sup>int</sup>. 8x10<sup>5</sup> cells were injected i.v. into CD45.1/2 wildtype mice 1dpi. Lung and MLN cells were analyzed 4 days later (5dpi).

## Monocyte transfer

Bone marrow cells were isolated from CD45.1/2 wildtype mice. Red blood cells were lysed by using osmotic lysis buffer. Cells were labeled with eFl450 cell proliferation dye (eBioscience) and monocytes were sorted as Lin<sup>-</sup> (CD3, CD19, MHC II, Siglec F, Ly6G), CD11c<sup>-</sup>, c-kit<sup>-</sup>, CD11b<sup>hi</sup> and Ly6C<sup>hi</sup>. 8x10<sup>5</sup> cells were injected i.v. into CD45.2 CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice 1dpi. Lung and MLN cells were analyzed 4 days later (5dpi).

## Micro-array

10 000 cells of each of the DC subsets were isolated from the lung and MLN 4dpi as described above. RNA was obtained with an RNEasy Plus Micro Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen) and RNA integrity was assessed with a Bioanalyser 2100 (Agilent). With a WT Expression Kit (Ambion) 50ng of total RNA per sample 'spiked' with bacterial poly(A) RNA positive control (Affymetrix) was converted to doublestranded cDNA in a reverse-transcription reaction. Samples were fragmented and labeled with biotin in a terminal labeling reaction according to the Affymetrix WT Terminal Labeling Kit. A mixture of fragmented biotinylated cDNA and hybridization controls (Affymetrix) was hybridized on a GeneChip Mouse Gene 1.0 ST Array (Affymetrix), followed by staining and washing in a GeneChip fluidics station 450 according to the manufacturer's procedures (Affymetrix). For analysis of raw probe signal intensities, chips were scanned with a GeneChip scanner 3000 (Affymetrix). Samples were subsequently analyzed with software of the R project for statistical computing (Bioconductor). All samples passed quality control, and the robust multiarray average procedure was used for normalization of data within arrays (probeset summarization, background correction and log2 transformation) and between arrays (quantile normalization). In a subsequent step, probe sets that either mapped to multiple genes or had low variance were filtered out. The final analysis of the obtained data was performed by using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA, Qiagen).

# DC-OT-IT cell coculture

Mice were infected with WSN influenza virus encoding the OVA<sub>257-264</sub> Kb restricted MHC I epitope in neuraminidase. OT-1 transgenic T cells were isolated from spleens and LN of OT-1 transgenic mice, enriched by MACS purification with a CD8 T cell isolation kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Miltenyi Biotec) and labeled with CFSE (Invitrogen). 10 000 sorted DCs were co-cultured with T cells in a 1:10 DC:T cell ratio for 4 days. T cells were restimulated for 5h with a cell stimulation cocktail containing PMA,

ionomycin, Brefeldin A and monensin (eBioscience). T cell divisions and cytokine production were measured by flow cytometry.

## DC-OT-II T cell coculture

Mice were infected with the X31 influenza virus. OT-II transgenic T cells were isolated from spleens and LN of OT-II transgenic mice, enriched by MACS purification with a CD4 T cell isolation kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Miltenyi Biotec) and naive T cells were isolated by FACS purification. The cells were labeled with cell proliferation dye eFI450 (eBioscience). 5 000 sorted DCs were co-cultured with T cells in a 1:10 DC:T cell ratio for 5 days in the presence of 10ug/ml ovalbumine (endograde, Hyglos). T cells were restimulated for 5h with a cell stimulation cocktail containing PMA, ionomycin, Brefeldin A and monensin (eBioscience). T cell divisions and cytokine production were measured by flow cytometry.

### Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed using 3-6 animals per group. All experiments were performed at least two to three times. Statistical analysis was performed with Prism version 6 (GraphPad Software, Inc.). Data are depicted as mean +/- SEM. Differences were considered significant when p<0,05. \* = p  $\leq$  0,05; \*\*  $\leq$  0,01; ns = not statistically significant.

# Supplementary material



#### Figure S1

Flow cytometry plots illustrating the gating strategy to FACS purify pre-cDCs and monocytes (upper row) and the purity after the sort (lower row).



#### Figure S2

(A) CD45.1/2 wildtype recipient mice were irradiated and reconstituted with mixed CD45.1 WT and CD45.2 CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> bone marrow in a 50:50 ratio. 3 months after irradiation, the proportion of DC subsets from wildtype and CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> origin were defined. Graphs show the ratio of wildtype over CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> origin of DC subsets 4dpi in lung (left) and MLN (right). (B) CCR2 expression on lung DC subsets in mock (upper row) or X31 virus (lower row) infected animals at 4dpi. (C) CCR2 expression on MHCII<sup>hi</sup> DC subsets in the MLN of mock (upper row) or X31 virus (lower row) infected animals at 4dpi.

For irradiation experiments 9 mice were irradiated in two independent rounds and analyzed in 3 different independent experiments (and also 10 for mock infection, but not shown).







#### Figure S3

(A) Heat maps showing the relative expression of the top 30 downregulated (left) and upregulated (right) genes in lung DC subsets after mock and IAV infection. (B) IPA analysis for the potential canonical pathways driving the genes that are upregulated upon IAV infection in cDC2 DCs that are shared with cDC1s. (C) Same analysis for genes shared with MCs.

Е

CD11b-Spe_the299genes - 2014-09-04 02:51 PM 🛛 🖉 🗵							
Summary Canonical Pathways Upstream Analysis Diseases & Functions Regulator Effects Networks Lists My Pathways Molecules							
ADD TO MY PATHWAY ADD TO MY LIST CUSTOMIZE TABLE DISPLAY AS NETWORK MECHANISTIC NETWORKS 📾 🚑 🚝							
	Upstream Regulator	Log Ratio	Molecule Type	Predicted Activ	Activation z-score	p-value of overlap	Target molecules inMechanistic Net
	IRF8	<b>†</b> 2.950	transcription regulate	Activated	2.097	1.30E-07	↑BCL2L1, ↑all 9 59 (12)
	IFNAR1		transmembrane rece	Activated	2.767	1.21E-06	↑CCL5, ↓all 10 61 (12)
	Ifnar		group	Activated	2.948	1.10E-06	↑CCL5, ↑Call 9 57 (9)
	IFNB1		cytokine	Activated	2.767	1.82E-08	+CCL5, +all 14 56 (9)
	IFN alpha/beta		group	Activated	2.563	3.39E-09	↑CCL5, ↑all 10 55 (7)
	IFNG		cytokine	Activated	2.393	3.94E-13	◆BATF2, ↑all 34 54 (12)
	STAT1		transcription regulate	Activated	3.582	3.64E-11	◆BATF2, ↑all 17 53 (9)
	TICAM1		other	Activated	2.207	4.80E-12	↑ACSL1, ↑all 16 51 (10)
	TLR3		transmembrane rece	Activated	2.359	7.87E-04	◆CCL5, ◆Call 7 33 (8)
	IRF3		transcription regulate	Activated	2.495	2.66E-05	↑CCL5, ↑FAall 8 27 (3)
	BAK1		other	Activated	2.588	6.09E-08	↑CCL5, ↑Hall 7 25 (3)
	DOCK8		other	Activated	2.121	2.63E-06	◆BBX, ◆CD40all 8
	SASH1		other	Activated	2.121	3.27E-06	◆BBX, ◆CD40all 8
	IRF7		transcription regulate	Activated	2.573	5.58E-05	◆FAM26F, ↑all 7
	FADD		other	Activated	2.373	1.48E-04	↑ASB13, ↓all 6
	Interferon alpha		group	Activated	2.200	4.81E-03	↑IF116, ↑IL15all 5
	ITK		kinase	Activated	2.000	1.90E-02	↑CCL5, ↑Hall 4
	KDM5B		transcription regulate	Activated	2.000	4.00E-02	+CDCA3, ↑all 4
	CEBPA		transcription regulate	Activated	2.219	1.82E-01	↑ACSL1, +Call 5

F



Figure S3

(E) IPA analysis for the possible upstream genes regulating the differential gene expression between mock cDC2s and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s. (F) Possible hierarchical clustering of the proposed upstream regulators of the differential gene expression between mock cDC2s and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s.



#### Figure S4

(A) Representative flow cytometry plots showing DC subsets in the lung (left) and MLN (right) of wild-type and  $Fc\epsilon RI^{-/-}$  mice at 4dpi with IAV and distribution of DC subsets as percentage of live DCs in the lung and MLN in WT and  $Fc\epsilon RI^{-/-}$  mice 4dpi with IAV. The size of the pie is proportional to the total amount of DCs. (B) Absolute number of each DC subset in the lung and MLN of WT and  $Fc\epsilon RI^{-/-}$  mice at 4dpi with IAV. Data are representative for 2 independent experiments with 4-6 mice per group.

#### Acknowledgements

K.N. and D.S. are supported by a grant from FWO Flanders. M.G. is supported by a Marie Curie Career Integration Grant, an Odysseus grant and several FWO Flanders grants. B.N.L. is supported by Project grants of FWO Flanders, by an ERC Consolidator grant, by an Interuniversity Attraction Pole (IUAP) grant and by a Ghent University MRP Grant (Group-ID consortium).

### References

- 1. Bajana S, Turner S, Paul J, Ainsua-Enrich E, Kovats S. IRF4 and IRF8 Act in CD11c+ Cells To Regulate Terminal Differentiation of Lung Tissue Dendritic Cells. J Immunol 2016; 196(4): 1666-1677.
- 2. Vander Lugt B, Khan AA, Hackney JA, Agrawal S, Lesch J, Zhou M et al. Transcriptional programming of dendritic cells for enhanced MHC class II antigen presentation. Nat Immunol 2014; 15(2): 161-167.
- 3. Schlitzer A, McGovern N, Teo P, Zelante T, Atarashi K, Low D et al. IRF4 transcription factor-dependent CD11b+ dendritic cells in human and mouse control mucosal IL-17 cytokine responses. Immunity 2013; 38(5): 970-983.
- Persson EK, Uronen-Hansson H, Semmrich M, Rivollier A, Hagerbrand K, Marsal J et al. IRF4 transcription-factordependent CD103(+)CD11b(+) dendritic cells drive mucosal T helper 17 cell differentiation. Immunity 2013; 38(5): 958-969.
- 5. Bajana S, Roach K, Turner S, Paul J, Kovats S. IRF4 promotes cutaneous dendritic cell migration to lymph nodes during homeostasis and inflammation. J Immunol 2012; 189(7): 3368-3377.
- Edelson BT, Wumesh KC, Juang R, Kohyama M, Benoit LA, Klekotka PA et al. Peripheral CD103(+) dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8 alpha(+) conventional dendritic cells. Journal of Experimental Medicine 2010; 207(4): 823-836.
- 7. Suzuki S, Honma K, Matsuyama T, Suzuki K, Toriyama K, Akitoyo I et al. Critical roles of interferon regulatory factor 4 in CD11bhighCD8alpha- dendritic cell development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101(24): 8981-8986.
- 8. Tamura T, Tailor P, Yamaoka K, Kong HJ, Tsujimura H, O'Shea JJ et al. IFN regulatory factor-4 and -8 govern dendritic cell subset development and their functional diversity. J Immunol 2005; 174(5): 2573-2581.
- 9. Aliberti J, Schulz O, Pennington DJ, Tsujimura H, CR ES, Ozato K et al. Essential role for ICSBP in the in vivo development of murine CD8alpha + dendritic cells. Blood 2003; 101(1): 305-310.
- 10. Tsujimura H, Tamura T, Gongora C, Aliberti J, Reis e Sousa C, Sher A et al. ICSBP/IRF-8 retrovirus transduction rescues dendritic cell development in vitro. Blood 2003; 101(3): 961-969.
- 11. Mudter J, Yu J, Zufferey C, Brustle A, Wirtz S, Weigmann B et al. IRF4 regulates IL-17A promoter activity and controls RORgammat-dependent Th17 colitis in vivo. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2011; 17(6): 1343-1358.
- 12. Brustle A, Heink S, Huber M, Rosenplanter C, Stadelmann C, Yu P et al. The development of inflammatory T(H)-17 cells requires interferon-regulatory factor 4. Nat Immunol 2007; 8(9): 958-966.
- 13. Ouyang X, Zhang R, Yang J, Li Q, Qin L, Zhu C et al. Transcription factor IRF8 directs a silencing programme for TH17 cell differentiation. Nature communications 2011; 2: 314.
- 14. Belz GT, Smith CM, Kleinert L, Reading P, Brooks A, Shortman K et al. Distinct migrating and nonmigrating dendritic cell populations are involved in MHC class I-restricted antigen presentation after lung infection with virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101(23): 8670-8675.
- 15. Lohoff M, Mittrucker HW, Prechtl S, Bischof S, Sommer F, Kock S et al. Dysregulated T helper cell differentiation in the absence of interferon regulatory factor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99(18): 11808-11812.
- 16. Staudt V, Bothur E, Klein M, Lingnau K, Reuter S, Grebe N et al. Interferon-regulatory factor 4 is essential for the developmental program of T helper 9 cells. Immunity 2010; 33(2): 192-202.
- 17. Tamiya T, Ichiyama K, Kotani H, Fukaya T, Sekiya T, Shichita T et al. Smad2/3 and IRF4 play a cooperative role in IL-9-producing T cell induction. J Immunol 2013; 191(5): 2360-2371.
- 18. Bollig N, Brustle A, Kellner K, Ackermann W, Abass E, Raifer H et al. Transcription factor IRF4 determines germinal center formation through follicular T-helper cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012; 109(22): 8664-8669.
- 19. Vasanthakumar A, Moro K, Xin A, Liao Y, Gloury R, Kawamoto S et al. The transcriptional regulators IRF4, BATF and IL-33 orchestrate development and maintenance of adipose tissue-resident regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 2015; 16(3): 276-285.
- 20. Cretney E, Xin A, Shi W, Minnich M, Masson F, Miasari M et al. The transcription factors Blimp-1 and IRF4 jointly control the differentiation and function of effector regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 2011; 12(4): 304-311.
- 21. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Kool M, Baas C et al. Clearance of influenza virus from the lung depends on migratory langerin+CD11b- but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2008; 205(7): 1621-1634.
- 22. Moltedo B, Li W, Yount JS, Moran TM. Unique type I interferon responses determine the functional fate of migratory lung dendritic cells during influenza virus infection. PLoS Pathog 2011; 7(11): e1002345.
- 23. Gosselin D, Link VM, Romanoski CE, Fonseca GJ, Eichenfield DZ, Spann NJ et al. Environment drives selection and function of enhancers controlling tissue-specific macrophage identities. Cell 2014; 159(6): 1327-1340.
- 24. Ballesteros-Tato A, Leon B, Lund FE, Randall TD. Temporal changes in dendritic cell subsets, cross-priming and costimulation via CD70 control CD8(+) T cell responses to influenza. Nat Immunol 2010; 11(3): 216-224.
- 25. Yoo JK, Fish EN, Braciale TJ. LAPCs promote follicular helper T cell differentiation of Ag-primed CD4+ T cells during respiratory virus infection. J Exp Med 2012; 209(10): 1853-1867.
- 26. Desch AN, Gibbings SL, Clambey ET, Janssen WJ, Slansky JE, Kedl RM et al. Dendritic cell subsets require cisactivation for cytotoxic CD8 T-cell induction. Nature communications 2014; 5: 4674.
- 27. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Bergen IM, Muskens F, Boon L, Hoogsteden HC, Osterhaus AD et al. Both conventional and interferon killer dendritic cells have antigen-presenting capacity during influenza virus infection. PLoS One 2009; 4(9): e7187.
- 28. Plantinga M, Guilliams M, Vanheerswynghels M, Deswarte K, Branco-Madeira F, Toussaint W et al. Conventional and monocyte-derived CD11b(+) dendritic cells initiate and maintain T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity to house dust mite allergen. Immunity 2013; 38(2): 322-335.
- 29. Guilliams M, Ginhoux F, Jakubzick C, Naik SH, Onai N, Schraml BU et al. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. Nat Rev Immunol 2014; 14(8): 571-578.
- Scott CL, Bain CC, Wright PB, Sichien D, Kotarsky K, Persson EK et al. CCR2(+)CD103(-) intestinal dendritic cells develop from DC-committed precursors and induce interleukin-17 production by T cells. Mucosal Immunol 2015; 8(2): 327-339.

- 31. Miller JC, Brown BD, Shay T, Gautier EL, Jojic V, Cohain A et al. Deciphering the transcriptional network of the dendritic cell lineage. Nat Immunol 2012; 13(9): 888-899.
- 32. Gautier EL, Shay T, Miller J, Greter M, Jakubzick C, Ivanov S et al. Gene-expression profiles and transcriptional regulatory pathways that underlie the identity and diversity of mouse tissue macrophages. Nat Immunol 2012; 13(11): 1118-1128.
- 33. Guilliams M, Dutertre C, Scott CL, McGovern N, Sichien D, Chakarov S et al. Unsupervised high-dimensional analysis aligns dendritic cells across tissues and species. Immunity 2016.
- 34. Ghosh HS, Ceribelli M, Matos I, Lazarovici A, Bussemaker HJ, Lasorella A et al. ETO family protein Mtg16 regulates the balance of dendritic cell subsets by repressing Id2. J Exp Med 2014; 211(8): 1623-1635.
- 35. Crozat K, Tamoutounour S, Vu Manh TP, Fossum E, Luche H, Ardouin L et al. Cutting Edge: Expression of XCR1 Defines Mouse Lymphoid-Tissue Resident and Migratory Dendritic Cells of the CD8{alpha}+ Type. Journal of immunology 2011.
- 36. Watchmaker PB, Lahl K, Lee M, Baumjohann D, Morton J, Kim SJ et al. Comparative transcriptional and functional profiling defines conserved programs of intestinal DC differentiation in humans and mice. Nat Immunol 2014; 15(1): 98-108.
- 37. van de Laar L, Saelens W, De Prijck S, Martens L, Scott CL, Van Isterdael G et al. Yolk Sac Macrophages, Fetal Liver, and Adult Monocytes Can Colonize an Empty Niche and Develop into Functional Tissue-Resident Macrophages. Immunity 2016; 44(4): 755-768.
- 38. Sichien D, Scott CL, Martens L, Vanderkerken M, Van Gassen S, Plantinga M et al. IRF8 transcription factor controls survival and function of terminally differentiated conventional and plasmacytoid dendritic cells, respectively. Immunity 2016.
- 39. Hambleton S, Salem S, Bustamante J, Bigley V, Boisson-Dupuis S, Azevedo J et al. IRF8 mutations and human dendritic-cell immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med 2011; 365(2): 127-138.
- 40. Edelson BT, Kc W, Juang R, Kohyama M, Benoit LA, Klekotka PA et al. Peripheral CD103+ dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8alpha+ conventional dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2010; 207(4): 823-836.
- 41. Tailor P, Tamura T, Morse HC, 3rd, Ozato K. The BXH2 mutation in IRF8 differentially impairs dendritic cell subset development in the mouse. Blood 2008; 111(4): 1942-1945.
- 42. Luda KM, Joeris T, Persson EK, Rivollier A, Demiri M, Sitnik KM et al. IRF8 Transcription-Factor-Dependent Classical Dendritic Cells Are Essential for Intestinal T Cell Homeostasis. Immunity 2016; 44(4): 860-874.
- 43. Williams JW, Tjota MY, Clay BS, Vander Lugt B, Bandukwala HS, Hrusch CL et al. Transcription factor IRF4 drives dendritic cells to promote Th2 differentiation. Nature communications 2013; 4: 2990.
- 44. Yao S, Buzo BF, Pham D, Jiang L, Taparowsky EJ, Kaplan MH et al. Interferon regulatory factor 4 sustains CD8(+) T cell expansion and effector differentiation. Immunity 2013; 39(5): 833-845.
- 45. Gao Y, Nish SA, Jiang R, Hou L, Licona-Limon P, Weinstein JS et al. Control of T helper 2 responses by transcription factor IRF4-dependent dendritic cells. Immunity 2013; 39(4): 722-732.
- Schlitzer A, McGovern N, Teo P, Zelante T, Atarashi K, Low D et al. IRF4 Transcription Factor-Dependent CD11b(+) Dendritic Cells in Human and Mouse Control Mucosal IL-17 Cytokine Responses. Immunity 2013; 38(5): 970-983.
- 47. Grayson MH, Cheung D, Rohlfing MM, Kitchens R, Spiegel DE, Tucker J et al. Induction of high-affinity IgE receptor on lung dendritic cells during viral infection leads to mucous cell metaplasia. J Exp Med 2007; 204(11): 2759-2769.
- 48. van Riel D, Munster VJ, de Wit E, Rimmelzwaan GF, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD et al. Human and avian influenza viruses target different cells in the lower respiratory tract of humans and other mammals. Am J Pathol 2007; 171(4): 1215-1223.
- 49. Crotta S, Davidson S, Mahlakoiv T, Desmet CJ, Buckwalter MR, Albert ML et al. Type I and type III interferons drive redundant amplification loops to induce a transcriptional signature in influenza-infected airway epithelia. PLoS Pathog 2013; 9(11): e1003773.
- 50. Siegal FP, Kadowaki N, Shodell M, Fitzgerald-Bocarsly PA, Shah K, Ho S et al. The nature of the principal type I interferon-producing cells in human blood. Science 1999; 284: 1835-1837.
- 51. Asselin-Paturel C, Trinchieri G. Production of type I interferons: plasmacytoid dendritic cells and beyond. J Exp Med 2005; 202(4): 461-465.
- 52. Diebold SS, Montoya M, Unger H, Alexopoulou L, Roy P, Haswell LE et al. Viral infection switches nonplasmacytoid dendritic cells into high interferon producers. Nature 2003.
- 53. Kato H, Sato S, Yoneyama M, Yamamoto M, Uematsu S, Matsui K et al. Cell type-specific involvement of RIG-I in antiviral response. Immunity 2005; 23(1): 19-28.
- 54. Tailor P, Tamura T, Kong HJ, Kubota T, Kubota M, Borghi P et al. The feedback phase of type I interferon induction in dendritic cells requires interferon regulatory factor 8. Immunity 2007; 27(2): 228-239.
- 55. Escalante CR, Brass AL, Pongubala JM, Shatova E, Shen L, Singh H et al. Crystal structure of PU.1/IRF-4/DNA ternary complex. Molecular cell 2002; 10(5): 1097-1105.
- 56. Satoh T, Takeuchi O, Vandenbon A, Yasuda K, Tanaka Y, Kumagai Y et al. The Jmjd3-Irf4 axis regulates M2 macrophage polarization and host responses against helminth infection. Nat Immunol 2010; 11(10): 936-944.
- 57. Eguchi J, Kong X, Tenta M, Wang X, Kang S, Rosen ED. Interferon regulatory factor 4 regulates obesity-induced inflammation through regulation of adipose tissue macrophage polarization. Diabetes 2013; 62(10): 3394-3403.
- 58. Lohoff M, Mittrucker HW, Brustle A, Sommer F, Casper B, Huber M et al. Enhanced TCR-induced apoptosis in interferon regulatory factor 4-deficient CD4(+) Th cells. J Exp Med 2004; 200(2): 247-253.
- 59. Xu H, Chaudhri VK, Wu Z, Biliouris K, Dienger-Stambaugh K, Rochman Y et al. Regulation of bifurcating B cell trajectories by mutual antagonism between transcription factors IRF4 and IRF8. Nat Immunol 2015; 16(12): 1274-1281.

- 60. Becker AM, Michael DG, Satpathy AT, Sciammas R, Singh H, Bhattacharya D. IRF-8 extinguishes neutrophil production and promotes dendritic cell lineage commitment in both myeloid and lymphoid mouse progenitors. Blood 2012; 119(9): 2003-2012.
- 61. del Rio M-L, Rodriguez-Barbosa J-I, Kremmer E, Forster R. CD103- and CD103+ bronchial lymph node dendritic cells are specialized in presenting and cross-presenting innocuous antigen to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. J Immunol 2007; 178: 6861-6866.
- 62. Burgdorf S, Kautz A, Bohnert V, Knolle PA, Kurts C. Distinct pathways of antigen uptake and intracellular routing in CD4 and CD8 T cell activation. Science 2007; 316(5824): 612-616.
- 63. Kostense S, Sun WH, Cottey R, Taylor SF, Harmeling S, Zander D et al. Interleukin 12 administration enhances Th1 activity but delays recovery from influenza A virus infection in mice. Antiviral Res 1998; 38(2): 117-130.
- 64. Giese NA, Gabriele L, Doherty TM, Klinman DM, Tadesse-Heath L, Contursi C et al. Interferon (IFN) consensus sequence-binding protein, a transcription factor of the IFN regulatory factor family, regulates immune responses in vivo through control of interleukin 12 expression. J Exp Med 1997; 186(9): 1535-1546.
- 65. Favila MA, Geraci NS, Zeng E, Harker B, Condon D, Cotton RN et al. Human dendritic cells exhibit a pronounced type I IFN signature following Leishmania major infection that is required for IL-12 induction. J Immunol 2014; 192(12): 5863-5872.
- 66. Martinez-Lopez M, Iborra S, Conde-Garrosa R, Sancho D. Batf3-dependent CD103+ dendritic cells are major producers of IL-12 that drive local Th1 immunity against Leishmania major infection in mice. Eur J Immunol 2015; 45(1): 119-129.
- 67. Wohlleben G, Muller J, Tatsch U, Hambrecht C, Herz U, Renz H et al. Influenza A virus infection inhibits the efficient recruitment of Th2 cells into the airways and the development of airway eosinophilia. J Immunol 2003; 170(9): 4601-4611.
- 68. Feng CG, Jankovic D, Kullberg M, Cheever A, Scanga CA, Hieny S et al. Maintenance of pulmonary Th1 effector function in chronic tuberculosis requires persistent IL-12 production. J Immunol 2005; 174(7): 4185-4192.
- 69. Tekkanat KK, Maassab H, Berlin AA, Lincoln PM, Evanoff HL, Kaplan MH et al. Role of interleukin-12 and stat-4 in the regulation of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in respiratory syncytial virus infection. Am J Pathol 2001; 159(2): 631-638.
- 70. Decken K, Kohler G, Palmer-Lehmann K, Wunderlin A, Mattner F, Magram J et al. Interleukin-12 is essential for a protective Th1 response in mice infected with Cryptococcus neoformans. Infect Immun 1998; 66(10): 4994-5000.
- 71. Akbari M, Honma K, Kimura D, Miyakoda M, Kimura K, Matsuyama T et al. IRF4 in dendritic cells inhibits IL-12 production and controls Th1 immune responses against Leishmania major. J Immunol 2014; 192(5): 2271-2279.
- 72. Ireland R, Wang R, Alinger JB, Small P, Bosio CM. Francisella tularensis SchuS4 and SchuS4 lipids inhibit IL-12p40 in primary human dendritic cells by inhibition of IRF1 and IRF8. J Immunol 2013; 191(3): 1276-1286.
- 73. Monteiro JM, Harvey C, Trinchieri G. Role of interleukin-12 in primary influenza virus infection. J Virol 1998; 72(6): 4825-4831.
- 74. Bontkes HJ, Ruizendaal JJ, Kramer D, Meijer CJ, Schreurs MW, Hooijberg E. Interleukin-12 increases proliferation and interferon-gamma production but not cytolytic activity of human antigen-specific effector memory cytotoxic T lymphocytes: power of the effect depends on the functional avidity of the T cell and the antigen concentration. Hum Immunol 2005; 66(11): 1137-1145.
- 75. Garcia K, Sun Z, Mattson E, Li L, Smyth K, Xiao Z. IL-12 is required for mTOR regulation of memory CTLs during viral infection. Genes Immun 2014; 15(6): 413-423.

# Chapter 4

# Double-negative T resident memory cells of the lung react to influenza virus infection via CD11c<sup>hi</sup> dendritic cells

Katrijn Neyt<sup>1,2</sup>, Corine GeurtsvanKessel<sup>3</sup>, Bart Lambrecht<sup>1,2,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>VIB Inflammation Research Center, Laboratory of Immunoregulation, Ghent, Belgium <sup>2</sup>Department of Respiratory Medicine, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium <sup>3</sup>Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands <sup>4</sup>Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Mucosal Immunology 2016; 9(4):999-1014. Epub 2015 Sep 16.
# Abstract

Immunity to Influenza A virus (IAV) is controlled by conventional TCRa<sup>β+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes that mediate protection or cause immunopathology. Here, we addressed the kinetics, differentiation and antigen specificity of CD4 CD8<sup>-</sup> double negative (DN)T cells. DN T cells expressed intermediate levels of TCR/CD3 and could be further divided in  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, CD1d-reactive type I NKT cells, NK1.1<sup>+</sup> NKT-like cells and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells. NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells had a separate antigen specific repertoire in the steady-state lung, and expanded rapidly in response to IAV infection, irrespectively of the severity of infection. Up to 10% of DN T cells reacted to viral nucleoprotein. Reinfection experiments with heterosubtypic IAV revealed that viral replication was a major trigger for recruitment. Unlike conventional T cells, the NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells were in a preactivated state, expressing memory markers CD44, CD11a, CD103 and the cytotoxic effector molecule FasL. DN T cells resided in the lung parenchyma, protected from intravascular labeling with CD45 antibody. The recruitment and maintenance of CCR2<sup>+</sup> CCR5<sup>+</sup> CXCR3<sup>+</sup> NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells depended on CD11c<sup>hi</sup> dendritic cells. Functionally, DN T cells controlled the lung DC subset balance, suggesting they might act as immunoregulatory cells. In conclusion, we identify activation of resident memory NK1.1 DN T cells as an integral component of the mucosal immune response to IAV infection.

# Introduction

Mucosal tissues such as the lung are frequently exposed to pathogens that can cause life threatening pulmonary infections. These infectious agents like influenza virus (IAV) must be quickly and efficiently controlled by the immune system, without causing overt damage to the gas exchange apparatus of the lung<sup>1</sup>. Upon IAV infection, CD103<sup>+</sup> and CD11b<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells (DCs) take up and process viral particles and migrate to the mediastinal lymph node where they encounter naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>2</sup>. These T cells undergo a stepwise process of activation, proliferation and differentiation towards a helper or cytotoxic phenotype respectively, and migrate back to the lung as effector cells in a process requiring the chemokine receptors CCR2, CCR5 and CXCR3<sup>3, 4</sup>. CD8 effector T cells are crucial for viral clearance, but their effector functions need tight regulation since they can also cause immunopathology and damage to the lung microenvironment<sup>5,6</sup>. CD4 T cells promote CD8 T cell and B cell responses to IAV infection although they are not critical for this process<sup>7-10</sup>. Adoptive transfer studies demonstrated that CD4 T cells are also able to control viral load and exert direct cytotoxic effector functions in the lung environment<sup>11, 12</sup>, yet the contribution of CD4 T cell cytotoxicity to viral clearance in vivo in the lungs is modest<sup>13</sup>.

As acute infections are cleared, effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells further differentiate into KLRG-1<sup>hi</sup>CD127<sup>lo</sup> short-lived effector cells and CD127<sup>hi</sup> memory precursor effector cells capable of generating long-lived memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and a similar process occurs in CD4 T cells<sup>14, 15</sup>. Long lived memory cells can recirculate via lymphoid organs as T central memory cells (T<sub>cm</sub>), patrol in and out peripheral tissues as T effector memory (T<sub>em</sub>) cells or reside for prolonged periods in the lungs as T resident memory cells (T<sub>rm</sub>), that express high levels of CD69, CD11a and/or CD103<sup>15</sup>. Triggered by retained antigen presented by DCs, CD4 T<sub>rm</sub> and CD8 T<sub>rm</sub> cells were shown to reside for months in the lungs of IAV-infected mice and -infected volunteers, thus providing immunity against reinfection with the same or heterologous strain of influenza<sup>15-22</sup>.

Non-conventional T cells that express a functional T cell receptor (TCR) but lack expression of CD4 and CD8 co-receptors (therefore called double negative (DN) T cells), can be observed in various disease models in human and mice in which they were attributed different functions<sup>23</sup>. The lungs are one of the many tissues where DN T cells were described in steady state and following insults to the lung<sup>24-30</sup>. As DN T cells are defined by exclusion, they are very heterogeneous, arising either from the thymus or extrathymically. Classical DN T cells express intermediate levels of  $\alpha\beta$ TCR, and are different from type I CD1d-restricted invariant natural killer T cells and  $\gamma\delta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> T cells that are often found to lack CD4 and CD8 expression, and therefore fall under the DN T definition<sup>31, 32</sup>.

The involvement of the different DN T cells in IAV infection is currently unknown. We therefore carefully addressed the phenotype, origin, antigen specificity and TCR repertoire, kinetics of recruitment and activation, and acquisition of effector and memory markers of  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> DN T cells and conventional T cells during and following infection with the H3N2 X31 influenza A virus (IAV) strain, or reinfection with the heterosubtypic H1N1 PR8 IAV strain. We observed a predominant accumulation of NK1.1<sup>-</sup>  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> DN T cells in the lung after primary influenza infection, but not after heterosubtypic infection and these cells had characteristics of Trm cells situated in the 102

lung interstitium. The induction and maintenance of the NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cell response was dependent on lung DCs that caused DN T accumulation through recruitment. Functionally these cells may act as immunoregulatory cells by controlling the lung DC subset balance.

## Results

Influenza infection induces accumulation of unconventional CD4-CD8- double negative T cells in the lung

Studies on T cell responses to airway infection with influenza A virus (IAV; H3N2, strain X31) have mainly focused on MHCI-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> and MHCII-restricted CD4<sup>+</sup> conventional T cells, which can be easily identified within the aBTCR+ CD3+ cell population of a lymphocyte gate (FSC<sup>10</sup> SSC<sup>10</sup>) on dispersed lung cells (Fig 1A;A and B respectively). Within these  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes, a CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> double negative (DN) population can be consistently observed. As this population of DN T cells is defined mainly by exclusion of CD4 and CD8 expression, we sought to further define it using multi-color flow cytometry<sup>26</sup>. A significant proportion of CD3<sup>+</sup> DN T cells expressed a γδ TCR receptor (Fig 1A; population C), consistent with the notion that pulmonary  $\gamma\delta$  T cells often lack expression of CD4 and CD8. Another well-known population of unconventional T cells are NKT cells, sharing some phenotypic markers with NK cells (NK1.1 expression in C57BI/6 mice), variably expressing CD4 depending on tissue residence, and many of which can be identified by staining with α-galactosylceramide (a-GalCer) loaded CD1d tetramers (TM). Based on CD1d TM binding and NK1.1 expression, lung DN T cells could be further classified as DN type I NKT cells (Fig 1A; population D). After gating out  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and type I NKT cells, the remaining lung DN T cells could be further divided into NK1.1 CD1d TM aßTCR<sup>+</sup> DN T cells (Fig 1A; population E) and NK1.1<sup>+</sup> CD1d TM<sup>-</sup>  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> DN T cells (Fig 1A; population F). Whether NK1.1 expression represents an activation state of some lymphocytes or a truly different cell population of DN NKT-like cells remains a matter of debate<sup>33, 34</sup>. Up to 15% of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> CD1d TM<sup>-</sup>  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> DN T expressed B220, a marker previously found on peripheral DN T cells (data not shown). All DN T cells, including the NK1.1 CD1d TM aBTCR+ DN T cells expressed intermediate TCR levels compared with conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, a finding previously also reported for other DN T cells (Fig 1A, histograms)<sup>24</sup>. We next analyzed the relative distribution and kinetics of accumulation of all DN T subsets following IAV or mock infection. Both in mock and IAV infected mice, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> conventional T cells represented the majority of T cells in the lung 9 days post infection (dpi), unconventional T cells each representing less than 2.5% of T cells (Fig 1B). When absolute numbers of DN T cells were studied over time (Fig 1C), only the population of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> CD1d TM<sup>-</sup>  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> DN T cells expanded significantly following infection, in a kinetic that closely resembled the expansion of CD4 and CD8 conventional T cells (Fig 1E). The more than 20 fold expansion of NK1.1<sup>-</sup>  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> DN T cells at the peak of the response (8dpi) was followed by a steep contraction phase also seen in conventional T cells. Since the NK1.1- CD1d TM- aBTCR+ population is the only one that is induced after infection, this is the population that was studied in further detail and will be called NK1.1 DN T cells throughout the paper.



Figure 1 -  $\alpha\beta$  TCR<sup>int</sup> double negative T cells accumulate in the lungs of influenza virus infected mice

(A) Gating strategy used to subdivide the T cell populations into conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> (population A) and CD8<sup>+</sup> (population B) T cells and non-conventional T cells:  $\gamma\delta$  TCR<sup>+</sup> DN T cells (population C),  $\alpha\beta$  TCR<sup>+</sup> CD1d TM<sup>+</sup> DN T cells (type I NKT, population D),  $\alpha\beta$  TCR<sup>+</sup> CD1d TM<sup>+</sup> NK1.1<sup>+</sup> DN T cells (population E) and  $\alpha\beta$  TCR<sup>+</sup> CD1d TM<sup>-</sup> NK1.1<sup>+</sup> DN T cells (population F). As an example, plots were generated 9dpi. Histograms show  $\alpha\beta$  TCR expression intensity on lymphocyte subsets: CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (black), CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (black dashed line) and the total CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (population of conventional and non-conventional T lymphocyte subsets in the lungs 9dpi after X31 (black) or mock (white) virus infection, expressed as % of total CD3<sup>+</sup> alive T cells. (C) Kinetics of accumulation of non-conventional T cells in the lungs of X31 (black) or mock (white) virus infected mice. (D) Kinetics of accumulation of conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> (squares) and CD8<sup>+</sup> (dots) T cells in the lungs of X31 (black) or mock (white) virus infected mice. (E) CD4 and CD8 expression profile of  $\alpha\beta$  TCR<sup>+</sup> T cells (left) and  $\gamma\delta$  TCR<sup>+</sup> T cells (right) in the lungs of athymic nude mice (lower row) compared to 1 wild-type mouse (upper row) at 2dpi and absolute cell number of conventional and non-conventional T cells. Cells were pregated as singlets, alive, CD19<sup>+</sup> and CD3<sup>+</sup>. All experiments were performed at least twice and figures are representative for each separate experiment.

#### Origin of lung DN T cells

We next addressed the origin of the DN T cells of the lungs, which can develop like classical T cells in the thymus or outside of the thymus. DN T cells of the gut have indeed been described in thymectomized mice, but the origin of lung DN T cells is less clear<sup>35-37</sup>. We therefore infected athymic nude-Foxn1<sup>nu</sup> mice and defined T cell subsets 2dpi. Some remaining  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells could be observed, and there was a shift towards more CD8<sup>+</sup>  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in athymic nude-Foxn1<sup>nu</sup> mice, consistent with the notion that many  $\gamma\delta$  T cells develop extrathymically. Some lung CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup>  $\alpha\beta$ TCR<sup>+</sup> T cells were still present, indicative of extrathymic development (Fig 1D). Unexpectedly, lung DN T cells were almost completely lacking in Foxn1<sup>nu</sup> mice. These observations point towards a thymic origin of the type I NKT, NK1.1<sup>-</sup> and NK1.1<sup>+</sup> DN T cell populations during IAV infection.

# NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells resemble CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells

As DN T cells are defined by lack of CD4 and CD8, and as the kinetics of accumulation, and the thymic origin closely resembled those of conventional T cells, we questioned whether some of the DN T cells represent revertant conventional T cells, losing surface expression of CD4 and/or CD8 after ligation of the TCR, as previously described<sup>38</sup>. NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells and conventional T cells were therefore sorted from lungs 9dpi. T cell lineage determination is molecularly controlled by the balance between Thpok (promoting CD4 T cell differentiation) and Runx3 (promoting CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell differentiation) transcription factors<sup>39</sup>. Like CD8<sup>+</sup> conventional T cells, NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells had low expression of the CD4 lineage transcription factor Thpok by gPCR and were negative for the transcription factor Roryt that is typical for Th17 and some subsets of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (data not shown). Expression of the CD8 lineage transcription factor Runx3 was lower in NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells than in conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells but higher than in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Although the ratio of Runx3 over Thpok suggests that NK1.1 DN T cells are transcriptionally more related to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells than to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig 2A), these results do not show a clear bias towards CD4 or CD8 lineage imprinting for the entire NK1.1 DN T cell population. Intracellular staining for CD8 and CD4 revealed that 10% of the NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells had intracytoplasmic CD8 (but not CD4) expression (Fig S1) to the same extent as

conventional CD8 $^{+}$  T cells, indicating that at least part of the DN T cells might indeed be revertant CD8 $^{+}$  T cells.



Figure 2 - NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells are transcriptionally related to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, yet have a different T cell repertoire (A) Quantification of the expression level of Runx3 (CD8 lineage) and Thpok (CD4 lineage) by Q-PCR on sorted CD4, CD8 and NK1.1. DN T cells from the lungs of X31 virus infected mice 8dpi. Expression levels were normalized to expression of the housekeeping gene hprt. B) NP tetramer staining (Kb-ASNENMETM) of CD8 and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells on lungs of X31 infected mice 8dpi and kinetic of TM<sup>+</sup> T cells expressed as percentage of CD4 (dots), CD8 (squares) or αβ TCR<sup>+</sup> CD1d TM<sup>-</sup> NK1.1 · DN T cells (triangles). (C) Screening of the T cell receptor Vβ repertoire of CD4, CD8 and NK1.1 · DN T cells in the pooled lungs of 6 mock (white bars) and 6 X31 (black bars, TM+ cells: gray bars) infected mice 8dpi expressed as % of CD4, CD8 or NK1.1 DN T cells. (D) Quantification of granzyme B (left) and perforin (right) expression on CD4, CD8 and NK1.1. DN T cells in the lungs of X31 (black line) or mock-infected (grey line) mice 4dpi (upper panel) and 9dpi (lower panel). The FMO staining for granzyme and perforin is indicated as a filled gray line (E) Quantification of FasL expression on CD4, CD8 and NK1.1 DN T cells in the lungs of X31 (black) or mock-infected (white) mice 9dpi. (F) Quantification of IFNy production by CD4, CD8 and NK1.1 DN T cells in the lungs of X31 (black) or mock-infected (white) mice. Lung cells were isolated 9dpi and restimulated for 4 hours with NPASNENMETM peptide in the presence of Golgi Stop before staining for IFNy. (G) Expression of exhaustion marker PD-1 was determined on CD4+ and CD8+ T cells and NK1.1- DN T cells 9 days after mock (white) or X31 (black) infection. All experiments were performed at least two times and figures are representative for every separate experiment. \*\* = p < 0.01, \* = p < 0.05, ns = not statistically significant different.

# TCR repertoire of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells

Following influenza infection, conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells react to a restricted set of immunodominant epitopes derived from various antigens, and these CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells undergo oligoclonal expansion. Indeed, at 8dpi, close to 40% of the lung conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells had a receptor specific for the IAV nucleoprotein (NP) peptide ASNENMETM, as revealed by TM staining using the K<sup>b</sup>-ASNENMETM tetramer (Fig 2B).

A considerable proportion of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells also stained for this tetramer, but at the peak of the response, this fraction represented only 10% of DN T cells followed by a slow contraction phase (Fig 2B).

To further delineate if there would be oligoclonal expansion of DN T cells resembling the one seen in CD8+ T cells, we performed a more elaborate profiling of TCR V $\beta$  usage at T cell population level in subsets of lung T cells (Fig 2C). In mock-infected animals, V $\beta$  usage was broad across conventional

CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, whereas in NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells, there was an overrepresentation of V $\beta$  8.1/8.2 cells to 14% of the repertoire. As previously reported, the entire influenza specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell pool has a TCR V $\beta$  repertoire skewed towards TCR V $\beta$ 8.3, V $\beta$ 4 and V $\beta$ 7<sup>40</sup> and type I NKT express an oligoclonal TCR repertoire (V $\alpha$  14)<sup>41, 42</sup> combined with one of three V $\beta$  chains (V $\beta$ 2, V $\beta$ 7, V $\beta$ 8.2). Whereas in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells there was enrichment for V $\beta$ 7 and V $\beta$ 8.3 in the total pool of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells following influenza infection, there was no further enrichment in NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells post infection and TCR V $\beta$ 8.1/8.2 and 5.1/5.2 remained the most prominently expressed TCR V $\beta$  in the total NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T population. In NP<sub>ASNENMETM</sub>-reactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, there was strong enrichment for V $\beta$ 4 and V $\beta$ 8.3 usage, and the same phenomenon was seen in NP<sub>ASNENMETM</sub>-reactive NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells.

# Effector functions of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells

As at least some NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells were transcriptionally related to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and shared NP-reactivity with CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, we measured some of the effector molecules involved in CD8 function. An increase in Granzyme B content of CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup> and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells was observed in reaction to IAV infection already 4dpi, compared with mock-infected mice. The difference in mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) between

mock and virus infected mice was 441, 648 and 773 for CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup> and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells respectively (Fig 2D). At 9dpi however, the Granzyme B content was further increased in all cell types. Conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells showed the largest increase in Granzyme B content with a difference in MFI of 5018 compared to mock-infected mice, whereas the difference in MFI for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells was 1631 and 2242 respectively (Fig 2D). Perforin expression did not change dramatically upon virus infection compared to mock infected mice (Fig 2D).

Conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell mediated cell killing is not only induced via release of intracellular Granzyme B, it can also be mediated via surface expression of FasL (CD95L). In mock-infected animals, NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells expressed the highest level of FasL, followed by CD8<sup>+</sup> conventional T cells that expressed significantly more FasL than CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. After IAV infection FasL was upregulated further, but only in CD4 T cells this reached statistical significance (Fig 2E).

Conventional cytotoxic T cells are a major source of IFN $\gamma$  during infection. The IFN $\gamma$  production was indeed increased in CD8+ T cells after IAV infection. In NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells however the capacity to produce IFN $\gamma$  was reduced upon IAV infection (Fig 2F). This suppression of cytokine production might indicate that the NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells have an exhausted phenotype after IAV infection. One of the signs of T cell exhaustion is expression of the co-inhibitory B7 family receptor PD-1 on the cell surface. Upon IAV infection, PD-1 was expressed on about 60% of CD4 T cells and 70% of CD8+ T cells. In contrast, the percentage of PD-1 expression on NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells was low (20%) and did not increase upon infection.

Lung NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells display an activated phenotype of resident memory T cells The high levels of surface FasL and intermediate levels of intracellular IFNy present already in mock-infected mice suggested that lung NK1.1- DN T cells might be in a pre-activated state prior to infection. To address this issue further, we employed a panel of T cell activation markers. In mock-infected animals, up to 20% of lung conventional T cells expressed the memory/effector T cell marker CD44, whereas close to 80% of NK1.1-DN T cells expressed CD44 (Fig 3A). At 4dpi, CD44 expression was further induced on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and by 9dpi, when the virus was cleared, 60-80% of conventional T cells expressed CD44 (Fig 3B). Expression of CD44 on NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells remained high at 9dpi. The early activation marker CD69 was induced on all studied T cells after IAV infection; 25% of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells expressed CD69, whereas only 15% of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and 5% of CD8+ T cells expressed CD69 at 4dpi (Fig 3C). Even at 9dpi, the levels of CD69 were still elevated on all subsets (Fig 3D). During the clearance of respiratory virus infection, conventional effector T cells can give rise to different cell fates, either giving rise to immediate and short lived effector cells, or to effector cells with the potential to generate long lived memory cells<sup>43</sup>. The phenotype and fate of CD44<sup>hi</sup> effector T cells can be studied in more detail by using the markers KLRG1 and CD127<sup>14</sup> (Fig 3E). Within the CD8<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>+</sup> effector memory population (population A), short-lived effector cells (SLEC) are enriched in the KLRG1+CD127- cells (population D), whereas memory



Figure 3 - NK1.1<sup>-</sup> double negative T cells display a pre-activated memory phenotype and expand as KLRG1<sup>-</sup> CD127<sup>-</sup> cells

(A) Mice were infected with X31 (black) or mock (white) virus, at 4dpi the expression of the memory marker CD44 was measured in conventional and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells, gated as in Fig1. (B) Identical analysis at 9dpi. (C) Identical analysis for CD69 at 4dpi. (D) Identical analysis for CD69 at 9dpi. (E) Gating strategy for studying the phenotype of memory T cells. T cells were gated as CD3<sup>+</sup> CD19<sup>-</sup>  $\alpha\beta$  TCR<sup>+</sup> cells. Memory T cells were gated as CD44<sup>+</sup> (population A), naïve cells were gated as CD44<sup>+</sup> (population B). On memory cells, KLRG1<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup> cells were effector cells (population C, T<sub>erf</sub>), KLRG1<sup>+</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup> cells were identified as short-lived effector memory cells (population D, SLEC), and KLRG1<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> cells are memory precursor effector cells (population E, MPEC). (F) Distribution of the memory populations (MPEC: black, SLEC: dark grey and KLRG1<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup> cells: light grey) of CD4, CD8 and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells the lungs of X31 or mock-infected mice 9dpi expressed as percentage of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells. All experiments were performed at least twice and figures are representative for every separate experiment. \*\* = p < 0,01, \* = p < 0,05, ns = not statistically significant different.

precursor effector cells (MPEC) are enriched in the KLRG1<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> population of cells (population E) (Fig 3E). Whereas this staining has mainly been employed to follow the fate of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, we also employed it to CD4<sup>+</sup> and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells (Fig 3E). In mock-infected cells, very few NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells expressed KLRG1 indicative of immediate effector potential, whereas a major population of CD127<sup>+</sup> memory cells was observed. Viral infection mainly led to expansion of KLRG1<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>-</sup> early effector cells (population C; Fig 3E), of which the ultimate fate is hard to predict.

Memory cells can reside in the central lymphoid organs (as T central memory cells, T<sub>cm</sub>) and recirculate via the blood to other lymphoid tissues. Alternatively, a considerable part of antiviral memory T cells reside in peripheral tissues as T resident memory (Trm) cells<sup>44</sup>. T<sub>rm</sub> cells have been identified by expression of various markers including CD69, CD103 and CD11a<sup>15, 44</sup>. In the lung, T<sub>rm</sub> cells are hard to discriminate from recirculating blood T<sub>cm</sub> or naïve T cells that firmly adhere to lung capillaries, even after extensive flushing of the lung capillary bed. To delineate intravascular DN T cells and conventional T cells simultaneously, we injected an AF700-labeled antibody to the pan leukocyte marker CD45 intravenously, and obtained blood and lung homogenates 5 minutes after injection. Using this labeling protocol, 100% of circulating peripheral blood CD3+ T cells was readily labeled with AF700-CD45 (Fig 4A). In mock-infected cells (Fig 4B), the majority of lung CD4 and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were labeled with CD45, demonstrating that most lung lymphocytes were still in the lung vascular pool, even after extensive exsanguination and flushing. The majority of lung NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells were protected from CD45 in vivo labeling already in mock-infected mice (Fig 4B), identifying these cells as tissue resident cells. At 9dpi, up to 90% of lung conventional CD4+ and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were protected from CD45 labeling and these cells also expressed CD69 (data not shown), as previously described<sup>3, 15</sup>. Tissue resident lymphocytes express various levels of CD11a and/or CD103<sup>3, 15</sup>. Like CD4 and CD8 T<sub>rm</sub> cells, 10-15% of CD45<sup>-</sup> NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells co-expressed CD11a and CD103 and around 60-70% expressed CD11a but not CD103 (Fig 4C).

Reinfection with homologous or heterologous virus does not trigger NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T accumulation

Primary infection with IAV led to induction of an immune response of antigen-specific conventional T cells and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells, which acquired T<sub>em</sub> and T<sub>rm</sub> memory characteristics, and conventional T cells have been shown to control heterosubtypic immunity to re-exposure with a heterologous virus<sup>45</sup>. We therefore set up primary infections using X31 (H3N2) followed by reinfection with the same X31 or the PR8 (H1N1) virus to test the reactivity of DN T cells to reinfection with the same or heterologous virus. X31 usually causes a mild and self-limiting viral infection, whereas PR8 leads to progressive infection that ultimately leads to death. We therefore used a much lower inoculum of PR8 virus to reinfect (5 TCID<sub>50</sub> compared with 1x10<sup>5</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub> for the X31 virus). In the mice that first received a mock infection, comparisons between X31 and PR8 primary infection were possible. Due to the low inoculum, PR8 infection initially led to less weight loss compared with the higher inoculum of X31, but nevertheless caused more weight loss when infection advanced to 8dpi. The amount of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells



Figure 4 - NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells are protected from intravenous CD45 staining and have a  $T_{rm}$  phenotype (A) In vivo labeling of circulatory T cells by intravenous injection of an AF700 labeled antibody against CD45 or PBS 6dpi combined with an in vitro staining of surface CD3 on blood and lung cells. Gated on living CD3<sup>+</sup>  $\alpha\beta$  TCR<sup>+</sup> cells. (B) Proportion of protected CD45<sup>-</sup> cells (white boxes) and intravascular CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (black boxes) within conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells. (C) CD11a and CD103 expression on CD45<sup>+</sup> blood cells (upper panel), intravascular CD45<sup>+</sup> lung cells (middle panel) and protected CD45<sup>-</sup> lung cells (lower panel). Cells were gated as in Fig1, but images were acquired from mechanically dispersed lung cells, after performing bronchoalveolar lavage. All experiments were performed twice and figures are representative for every separate experiment.

obtained after infection with the X31 virus at 8dpi was not significantly different from the amount obtained after infection with the PR8 (H1N1) virus, despite the observed difference in weight loss at 8dpi (Fig 5A and B, mock-X31 versus mock-PR8). As expected, when mice were first infected with X31, re-infection with X31 did not cause weight loss, as replication and infection was prevented due to antibody-mediated sterilizing immunity. There was however an increased accumulation of CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> conventional T cells, whereas NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells failed to expand (X31-X31 versus X31-mock). Boosting of cellular immunity was most likely due to enhanced presentation of opsonized viral antigens, as antibodies to H3 and N2 are induced in these mice. Upon reinfection with the heterologous PR8 virus, heterosubtypic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated immunity has been described to protect mice from becoming sick<sup>46</sup> and consequently mice did not loose weight (X31-PR8 versus mock-PR8). In these mice, there was no boosting of conventional CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup> nor NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells. When we studied NP-specific T cells, re-infection of mice led to strong increases in NP-specific CD8+ conventional T cells in mice reinfected with X31 and PR8, but no such increase was seen in NK1.1-DN T cells (Fig 5C). Together, these observations suggested that viral replication and/or a strong inflammatory signal is needed to induce NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells. In contrast to conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells did not mount a recall response upon the mere presentation of viral antigens.

Induction and maintenance of the NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T response depends on chemokine production by conventional DCs

The increased numbers of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells in the lungs of primary infected, but not reinfected, mice could be due to increased local proliferation or local recruitment of T cells with  $T_{em}$  or  $T_{rm}$  phenotype. To address this, we injected BrdU and measured instantaneous cell division by measuring BrdU uptake in conventional and DN T cells 3,5h later. Whereas 14 and 24% of conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells respectively were dividing within the 3,5h pulse-chase experiment at 6dpi, only a minority of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells incorporated BrdU (Fig 6A), indicating that local proliferation is unlikely to be the explanation for the increase in NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cell numbers. We next infected mice and measured the amount of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells per 100µl of whole blood every other day following infection. A drop early after infection followed by an increase suggested that increased recruitment from the bloodstream is causing the increase in pulmonary NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells (Fig 6B) after infection.

As previously reported, administration of DT efficiently depleted all hematopoietic CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells from the lungs (Fig S2)<sup>48</sup>. DT was administered either 1 day prior to infection, 7dpi or at both time points and numbers of conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, as well as NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells were analyzed 2 days after the last treatment (9dpi). As shown in Fig 6C, the accumulation of cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was strongly reduced in infected DT treated mice, when treatment was given before or after primary infection. Likewise, the accumulation of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells was strongly reduced in animals given DT early and late in infection. However, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were not reduced by DT treatment early in infection, and only minor reductions of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were seen when DT was given late in infection.













(A) Weight loss after second infection expressed as % of initial weight: Mock (dots), X31 (squares) and PR8 (triangles) after mock (white) or X31 (black) infection. (B) Quantification of conventional and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells after primo infection or reinfection with the same or with a heterologous virus, carrying shared nucleoprotein T cell antigens, yet lacking overlapping hemagglutinin and neuraminidase to which neutralizing antibodies are generated. Mice were first infected with mock or X31 (H3N2) virus and reinfected with mock, X31 (H3N2) or PR8 (H1N1) virus 30dpi. Lungs were analyzed 38 days after initial infection. (C) Proportion of TM<sup>+</sup> conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells 38dpi. All experiments were performed at least two times and figures are representative for every separate experiment. \*\* = p < 0,01, \* = p < 0,05, ns = not statistically significant different.

Lung CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are recruited by DCs to the lung interstitium via production of CCL3, CCL4, CCL5 and CXCL10, acting on chemokine receptors CCR2, CCR5 and CXCR3. To investigate which DC-derived chemokines could signal to NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells to attract or maintain them in the lung, CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup> and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells were sorted from the lung 8dpi. Like conventional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells expressed CCR2, CCR5 and CXCR3, suggesting that DCs might induce recruitment and retention of these cells via these chemokine receptor interactions (Fig 6D).

# NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells balance the ratio of dendritic cell subsets

We finally wanted to address the potential function of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells recruited to the lungs by CD11c<sup>hi</sup> cells. In transplantation and autoimmunity models it has been suggested that DN T cells have an immunoregulatory capacity by controlling DCs<sup>51</sup>, and the fact that CD11c<sup>hi</sup> cells attracted these cells, led us to study the impact of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells on DCs. We therefore performed an experiment in which we sorted lung DCs (carefully excluding CD11c<sup>hi</sup> macrophages) and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells from the lungs of infected mice at 9dpi and cocultured them for 36h. We observed that the presence of DN T cells stimulated the survival of lung DCs in culture, whereas in the absence of sorted DN T more apoptotic and dead cells were present in the culture (Fig 6E). CD11c<sup>hi</sup> cells of the lungs can be divided in CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>1</sub>, CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>2</sub> and CD64<sup>+</sup> monocyte derived cells. Within the total population of CD11c<sup>hi</sup> lung cells, only CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs and monocyte-derived cells had a survival benefit.

# Discussion

Prior to the discovery of NKT cells, CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> double negative T cells were found as a major fraction of lung lymphocytes, expressing an intermediate level of TCR, and representing up to 20-60% of all lung CD3<sup>+</sup> cells<sup>52</sup>. However, since NKT cell and  $\gamma\delta$  TCR specific antibodies have been used in combination with the  $\alpha$ GalCer CD1d tetramer in multi-color flow cytometry, the frequency of classical TCR<sup>int</sup> DN T cells was found to be much lower, in the range of 1-2% of lung CD3<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes<sup>28, 32</sup>. We found that the only population of DN T cells that accumulated following IAV infection with X31 or PR8 infection was characterized by intermediate expression of  $\alpha\beta$ TCR, yet lacking expression of NK1.1. Analysis of  $\alpha$ GalCer CD1d tetramers showed that these cells were not type I NKT cells. A minor contamination of NKT-like cells or type II NKT cells in the CD1d TM<sup>-</sup>NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cell gate cannot be excluded since those cells can also lose expression of NK1.1<sup>53, 54</sup>.

The precise origin of these cells has been unclear, but it has been suggested that they originate from the thymus by escaping negative selection<sup>55, 56</sup>. The fact that the numbers of TCR<sup>int</sup> DN T cell are unaffected in the lungs of athymic nude mice, led to the suggestion that these cells might also arise extrathymically, very similar to the intraepithelial lymphocytes of the lamina propria of the gut<sup>27, 28</sup>. However, in our hands the number of DN T cells in the lungs was severely reduced in athymic mice. This suggests that NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells develop via the thymus. In the context of immune



Figure 6 - NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells are recruited from the blood in a DC-dependent manner and control the DC subset balance

(A) BrdU expression on conventional CD4 and CD8+ T cells and NK1.1· DN T cells 3,5h after i.v. injection of BrdU (black) or PBS (white). (B) Kinetics of conventional CD4 (squares) and CD8 (circles) T cells and NK1.1· DN T cells (triangles) per 100ul blood after X31 infection. (C) CD11c DTR chimeric mice were injected with PBS or DT 1 day before infection with X31 virus or 7 dpi. CD4, CD8 and NK1.1· DN T cells in the lungs were quantified 9dpi. (D) Q-PCR analysis of the chemokine receptor repertoire of sorted CD4 (white bars), CD8 (black bars) and NK1.1· DN T (grey bars) cells from the lungs of mice infected with X31 8dpi; expression levels were normalized for expression of the housekeeping gene hprt. (E) Proportion of alive, apoptotic (Annexin V+) and dead (7AAD+) pulmonary DCs in culture after 36h of coculture with (black) or without (white) DN T cells. (F) Proportion of the alive pulmonary DC subsets in culture after 36h of coculture with (black) or without (white) DN T cells. All experiments were performed two times and figures are representative for every separate experiment. \*\* = p < 0,01, \* = p < 0,05, ns = not statistically significant different

activation, some T cells might downregulate TCR expression after cognate ligand-MHC recognition and downregulate CD8 membrane expression, which could also lead to a very similar phenotype of TCR<sup>int</sup> DN T cells<sup>38</sup>. Intracytoplasmic staining for CD4 and CD8 did however not reveal evidence for selective downregulation of membrane CD4 expression and only a small fraction of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells showed intracellular CD8 expression. The V $\beta$  repertoire of the NK1.1<sup>-</sup> NKT cells was distinct from the V $\beta$  repertoire of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Furthermore, the Vß repertoire was not skewed towards a NKT<sup>57, 58</sup> or MAIT cell<sup>58, 59</sup> usage. However, staining with a K<sup>b</sup>-NP tetramer did reveal some MHCI-restricted antigen-specificity shared with conventional CD8 cytotoxic T cells. Lineage specific transcription factor analysis also demonstrated that a part of the NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells were more related to CD8 than to CD4 T cells. Together, these data suggest that some 10% of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells represent antigen specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that have lost surface expression of CD8, while maintaining it in the cytoplasm. Studies in human systemic lupus erythematosus patients have shown that DN T cells can originate from CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by upregulation of the CREMα transcription factor that in turn represses expression of the CD8A and CD8B gene<sup>60, 61</sup>. As we found residual cytoplasmic expression of CD8 in 10% of DN T cells, this is an unlikely scenario. One clear difference between lung CD8<sup>+</sup> and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells was the steady-state activation state in the lung. Indeed, the majority of lung NK1.1<sup>+</sup> DN T cells were CD44<sup>hi</sup>, whereas a majority of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was CD44<sup>neg</sup> in the mock-infected lung. Studying lymphocytes in the lung is not straightforward, as the lung is a highly vascularized organ and houses a major reservoir of recirculating naïve or T<sub>cm</sub> lymphocytes in the lung capillaries. These lymphocytes cannot always be removed by flushing the lung vasculature with PBS via the pulmonary artery. One way of reliably studying conventional Trm cells is to in vivo label these cells by intravenous injection of antibodies to CD4 or to CD8, labeling mainly the intravascular pool of lymphocytes, followed by ex vivo staining for other surface markers, labeling all lymphocytes<sup>3, 62</sup>. Due to their tissue residence around large airways, T<sub>m</sub> cells are protected from labeling by i.v. injected antibody. These studies have been performed using antibodies to CD4 or CD8, but these antibodies were not useful for identifying DN T cells in vivo. To delineate intravascular DN T cells and conventional T cells simultaneously, we developed an in vivo labeling method employing the pan leukocyte marker CD45, effectively labeling 100% of circulating peripheral blood CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells and a majority of lung CD4 and CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, demonstrating that most of the lung conventional lymphocytes in the resting lung are in the lung vascular pool, even after extensive exsanguination and flushing. Only after IAV infection, 90% of lung conventional CD4 and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were protected from in vivo CD45 labeling and these cells also variably expressed CD69, CD11a and CD103, as previously described for T<sub>m</sub> cells and thus validating the use of CD45 labeling<sup>3, 15</sup>. On the contrary, the majority of lung NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells were already protected from CD45 in vivo labeling in the steady-state mock-infected lung, and expressed high levels of CD11a identifying these cells as Trm cells. This is also the reason why the levels of CD44 were so different between CD8<sup>+</sup> and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells, as they were representing the differences between naïve and memory cells respectively. The activated phenotype was previously also reported in human patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis<sup>63</sup> and tuberculosis<sup>64</sup>. The memory profile of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells argues against a MAIT cell 116

phenotype or contamination since MAIT cell are reported to have a mostly naïve phenotype in mice<sup>65</sup> and MAIT cell activation is not observed in in vitro viral infection models<sup>66</sup>.

Heterosubtypic immunity to different strains of IAV that differ in hemagglutinin and neuraminidase is poorly understood but very desirable if we are to develop a universal IAV vaccine. It is generally believed to be mediated by T lymphocytes that reside in the lung as Trm cells, a phenotype also seen in NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells prior to and following infection. One striking finding in our study however was that reinfection with heterosubtypic virus did not lead to expansion of lung NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells, despite the fact that these cells expressed a phenotype of CD44<sup>hi</sup>, CD11a<sup>hi</sup> Trm cells, and some had specificity for viral nucleoprotein. A lack of further expansion upon reinfection with heterosubtypic immunity. A study using depleting antibodies is however very difficult to design as NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells are defined by lack of expression of markers. We initially set up experiments in athymic nude mice so that we could use depleting anti-CD3 antibodies to deplete DN T cells. Unfortunately however, lung DN T cells were already depleted in athymic mice.

Previous studies on the function of DN T cells in lung immunity have led to conflicting results, possibly due to differences in models used. In a passive transfer model of DN T cells to immunodeficient mice, there was no protection offered against respiratory infection with Rhodococcus equi<sup>67</sup>. However, in a model of Francisella tularensis respiratory infection, DN T cells were found to be a prominent source of IFN<sub>Y</sub> and IL-17 early, but not late after infection<sup>30</sup>. In our hands NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells made IFN<sub>Y</sub> but no IL-17 after restimulation with NP<sub>ASNENMETM</sub> peptide (data not shown) and IFN<sub>Y</sub> was downregulated by IAV infection. We have purified NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells and adoptively transferred them to other mice in an attempt to study the function of these cells that were recruited to the lungs after IAV infection (data not shown). Unfortunately, the numbers of cells were too low to perform conclusive adoptive transfer studies. We can therefore only speculate on the potential role of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells in IAV, guided by experiments from the past.

An important consideration is that NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells might have immunoregulatory capacity as they closely resemble the DN Tregs that control allograft rejection by specifically killing Ag specific effector T cells with the same specificity or by killing DCs in a FasL dependent manner<sup>51, 68</sup>. One striking observation was that 20% of the lung NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells expressed high levels of FasL in steady state lung. However, when we cultured lung NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells together with lung DCs, we found that the presence of DN T cells did not kill DCs, but rather led to a higher percentage of DCs in the culture, mainly attributable to an increased survival of CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>2</sub> DCs and monocyte derived cells, while CD24<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>1</sub> DCs were not affected by the presence or absence of DN T cells. Thus, interaction of DN T cells with certain DC subsets turns them less sensitive to apoptosis. As DN T cells, B cells, macrophages and NK cells<sup>69</sup>, it remains an interesting topic to study the interaction of DN T cells with several types of immune cells and to determine if they can exert different functions depending on the cell type they interact with.

In human studies, DN T cells are often reported to be correlated with progression or severity of disease. DN T cells decrease upon HIV disease progression<sup>70</sup> and are inversely correlated with disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis<sup>71</sup>. In contrast, DN T cells are increased during severe M. tuberculosis infection compared to non-severe M. tuberculosis infections<sup>64</sup> and during active Sjögren's syndrome<sup>72</sup> in which the level of DN T cells correlates with the degree of tissue inflammation<sup>73</sup>. Although the fact that DN T cells contract quickly after viral clearance (8dpi) and thus correlate with the kinetic of disease, we could not confirm a relationship with severity of infection since there was no significant difference between the amounts of DN T cells after X31 or PR8 infection, that cause different degrees of weight loss. Future experiments will have to address whether this subset of lung DN T cells has an influence on pulmonary immunity and regulates the severity of immunopathology to variants of IAV.

In conclusion, we have carefully characterized a subset of NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells that resides as a preactivated T<sub>m</sub>-like cell in the lung parenchyma, protected from i.v. labeling. This population rapidly expands in response to IAV infection in a process requiring CD11c<sup>hi</sup> DCs, and has the capacity to balance the ratio of DC subsets. Future studies, in which these cells might be depleted selectively using genetic tools will have to address whether these cells are beneficial or harmful to the outcome of IAV infection.

# Materials and methods

#### Mice

C57BI/6 and athymic nude-Foxn1<sup>nu</sup> mice (8-10w) were purchased from Harlan Laboratories. CD11c-DTR Tg (H2-D<sup>b</sup>) mice were bred and housed in specific pathogen-free conditions. All experiments were performed on 4-6 mice per group, unless mentioned otherwise.

#### Ethics statement

All experiments were approved by the independent animal ethics committees "Ethische Commissie Dierproeven – faculteit Geneeskunde en Gezondheidswetenschappen Universiteit Gent" (identification number: ECD 13/05) and "Ethische Commissie Proefdieren – faculteit Wetenschappen Universiteit Gent en VIB-site Ardoyen" (identification number: EC 2013\_002). Animal care and used protocols adhere to the Belgian Royal Degree of May 29th 2013 for protection of experimental animals. European guideline 2010/63/EU is incorporated in this Belgian legislation.

#### Influenza virus infection

Mice were infected intranasally with 10<sup>5</sup> TCID<sub>50</sub> H3N2 X-31 influenza virus, 5 TCID<sub>50</sub> H1N1 PR8 influenza virus (Medical Research Council, Cambridge, England) or mock (allantoic fluid of uninfected eggs); all diluted in 50µl PBS.

For reinfection experiments, mice were infected with  $10^5 TCID_{50} X-31$  or mock virus and were reinfected 30 days later with  $3x10^5 TCID_{50} X-31$ ,  $5 TCID_{50} PR8$  or mock virus diluted in  $50\mu$ I PBS. Weight loss was monitored daily.

#### Isolation of lung cells

Mice were sacrificed and bronchoalveolar lavage was performed by injecting 3 times 1ml EDTA-containing PBS through a tracheal catheter before isolating the lungs. For some experiments lungs were additionally flushed with 20ml PBS through the right heart ventricle before isolation. Single cell lung suspensions were prepared by digestion in collagenase/DNase solution for 30 minutes at 37°C. After digestion, the suspension was filtered over an 100µm filter and red blood cells were lysed with osmotic lysis buffer.

## Flow cytometry and cell sorting

T cell staining was done by using CD3 (PE-Cy7 and eFI450, eBioscience; APC, BD biosciences), CD4 (conjugated to PE-TxR, Invitrogen; PE-Cy5 and FITC, eBioscience), CD8a (conjugated to efluor450 and PE-Cy7, eBioscience; PerCp, Biolegend; PE-Cy5, BD biosciences), CD19 (conjugated to APC, BD biosciences; AF700 and PE-Cy5, eBioscience), NK1.1 (conjugated to BV605, Biolegend; PE-Cy7, BD biosciences), CD1d tetramer (conjugated to PE and APC, NIH tetramer core facility),  $\alpha\beta$ TCR (conjugated to APC-Cy7, Biolegend), γδTCR (conjugated to FITC, BD biosciences), NP tetramer (conjugated to PE, loaded with ASNENMETM peptide, Pelimer, Sanguin) and a fixable live/dead marker in eFI506 (eBioscience). Following additional extracellular markers were used: B220 (conjugated to PE, BD biosciences; AF700, eBioscience), CD44 (conjugated to AF700, BD biosciences), CD127 (conjugated to PE-CF594, BD biosciences), KLRG1 (conjugated to APC, eBioscience), CD69 (conjugated to PerCp-Cy5.5, BD biosciences), CD103 (conjugated to PE, eBioscience), FasL (conjugated to PE-Cy7, eBioscience), CD11c (conjugated to PE-TxR, Invitrogen), PD-1 (conjugated to PE-Cy7, Biolegend), annexin V (conjugated to PE, BD biosciences) and 7-AAD (BD biosciences). Granzyme B (conjugated to PE, Life Technologies Europe) and perforin (conjugated to APC, eBioscience) was stained intracellularly. The TCR repertoire was analyzed by using the mouse V $\beta$  TCR screening panel (conjugated to FITC, BD biosciences) staining Vβ 2, 3, 4, 5.1 + 5.2, 6, 7, 8.1 + 8.2, 8.3, 9, 10b, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 17a. DC subsets were defined by using CD3 (conjugated to PE-Cy5, Tonbo Bioscience), CD19 (conjugated to PE-Cy5, eBioscience), CD11c (conjugated to PE-Cy7, eBioscience), MHCII (conjugated to APC-Cy7, Biolegend), CD11b (conjugated to BV605, BD bioscience), CD24 (conjugated to eFI450, eBioscience), FcERI (conjugated to biotin, eBioscience) combined with SAV (conjugated to CF594, BD bioscience) and a fixable live/dead marker in eFI506 (eBioscience).

Acquisition of 12-color samples was performed on a LSR II or Fortessa cytometer equipped with FACSDiva software (BD biosciences). Final analysis and graphical output were performed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Inc.).

For soring of T cells, cells were stained as described and cell sorting was performed on a FACSAria II (BD biosciences). The purity of sorted populations was >95%.

#### Cytokine staining – in vitro restimulation

Lung single cell suspensions were restimulated with NP<sub>ASNENMETM</sub> peptide (10µg/ml, Anaspec) 5 hours at 37°C in the presence of Golgi stop (BD biosciences, 1/1500) at a concentration of 5x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml. After restimulation, cells were washed and stained extracellular, washed with PBS and fixed with 2% PFA, permeabilized with 0,5% saponin and stained intracellularly for IFN<sub>γ</sub> (Conjugated to PerCp-Cy5.5, eBioscience).

#### In vivo CD45 labeling

 $3\mu g$  anti-CD45 antibody (AF700, eBioscience) was injected i.v. Mice were killed 5 minutes later, blood was collected immediately before performing bronchoalveolar lavage. To remove blood from the capillary bed of the lungs, the lungs were flushed by injecting 20ml PBS through the right ventricle. To protect the in vivo CD45 staining, lungs were dispersed mechanically instead of enzymatically by smashing them through an 40 $\mu$ m filter before lysis of red blood cells.

#### BrdU incorporation assay

Mice were injected i.p. with 200µl of 10µg/ml BrdU (Sigma, 2µg total/mouse) 6dpi and were killed 3,5 hours after BrdU treatment. Lung cells were isolated as described above. Extracellular stained T cells were fixed and permeabilized by using the BrdU Flow Kit (BD biosciences) according to the manufacturer's protocol in combination with an eFl450 labeled anti-Brdu antibody (eBioscience).

#### Depletion of CD11c<sup>hi</sup> cells

C57Bl/6 mice were irradiated sublethally (9Gy) and reconstituted with 2x10<sup>6</sup> bone marrow cells i.v. from CD11c DTR transgenic donor mice 4 hours after reconstitution. Mice were used for experiment at least 10 weeks after reconstitution. CD11c DTR chimeric mice were injected intraperitoneally with 200ng diphteria toxin (DT) diluted in 200µl PBS or with PBS 24h before infection or 7 dpi. Lungs were analyzed 9 dpi.

#### Real-time quantitative RT-PCR.

Quantitative RT-PCR for Thpok, Runx3, Ccr1, Ccr2, Ccr3, Ccr4, Ccr5, Ccr7, Cxcr1, Cxcr2 and Cxcr3 were performed on cDNA samples obtained from sorted lung T cell subsets. Total RNA was extracted using Tripure reagent (Roche) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA was resuspended in Diethyl-polycarbonate (DEPC, Sigma) treated water. A total of 1µg RNA was used for reverse transcription using the Transcriptor High Fidelity Reverse Transcriptase kit (Roche) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

The subsequent target amplification on triplicates of each cDNA sample was performed using the Universal Probe Library system from Roche (that contains fluorescent hydrolysis probes of 8 loked nucleic acids (LNA). Primers were designed with the help of the web-based application Probefinder (https://qpcr.probefinder.com) and a minimum of 2 primer pairs per target were analyzed. Primers were validated first using the LC480 SybrGreenI Master (Roche) with melting curve analysis (TM calling) in the LC480 Software and then using the LC480 Probes Master. Aspecific primer pairs were discarded. Table 1 shows a comprehensive view of the primer/probe combinations chosen. PCR conditions were: 5' pre-incubation at 95°C followed by 45 amplification cycles of 10" at 95°C, 10" at 60°C and 20" at 72°C using a Lighcycler 480 (Roche). PCR amplifications for the housekeeping genes encoding Hprt or L27 were performed during each run for each sample to allow normalization between samples.

#### Pulmonary DC-DN T cocultures

Pulmonary DCs were sorted from the lungs of IAV infected mice at 9dpi as lineage-, alive, CD11c+ MHCII+ cells. DN T cells were sorted from lungs of infected mice at 9dpi as previously described and cocultured with DCs in a 3,5:1 ratio in cell culture medium containing 10% FCS for 36 hours.

#### Statistical analysis.

All experiments were performed using 4-6 animals per group, unless mentioned otherwise. All experiments were performed at least two to three times. The difference between groups was calculated using the Mann-Whitney U test for unpaired data (Prism version 6; GraphPad Software, Inc.). Data are depicted as mean +/- SEM. Differences were considered significant when P<0,05.

#### Supplementary material



Figure S1

Intracellular expression of CD4 and CD8 in NK1.1<sup>-</sup> DN T cells, that stained negative for extracellular CD4 and CD8, compared with T cells that have expression of extracellular CD4 (left) and CD8 (right). DN T cells are represented as black dots, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are represented as a grey contour plot.



Figure S2

Depletion check in CD11c DTR chimeric mice. Mice received PBS (left) or DT (right) i.t. and lung DCs were analyzed one day later.

#### Acknowledgements

K.N. is supported by a grant from FWO Flanders. B.N.L. is supported by Project grants of FWO Flanders, by an ERC Consolidator grant and by a Ghent University MRP Grant (Group-ID consortium).

The authors wish to thank the technical and logistic support of Dr. Filipe Branco Madeira, Sofie De Prijck, Kim Deswarte, Manon Vanheerswynghels, Gert Van Isterdael, Justine Van Moorleghem and Karl Vergote and Dr. Xavier Saelens and Dr. Michael Schotsaert for helpful discussions.

#### References

- 1. Brandes M, Klauschen F, Kuchen S, Germain RN. A systems analysis identifies a feedforward inflammatory circuit leading to lethal influenza infection. *Cell* 2013; 154(1): 197-212.
- 2. Lambrecht BN, Hammad H. Lung dendritic cells in respiratory viral infection and asthma : from protection to immunopathology Ann Rev Immunol 2012; 30: 243-270.
- 3. Galkina E, Thatte J, Dabak V, Williams MB, Ley K, Braciale TJ. Preferential migration of effector CD8+ T cells into the interstitium of the normal lung. J Clin Invest 2005; 115(12): 3473-3483.
- 4. Yoo JK, Fish EN, Braciale TJ. LAPCs promote follicular helperc T cell differentiation of Ag-primed CD4+ T cells during respiratory virus infection. The Journal of experimental medicine 2012; 209(10): 1853-1867.
- 5. Hufford MM, Kim TS, Sun J, Braciale TJ. Antiviral CD8+ T cell effector activities in situ are regulated by target cell type. J Exp Med 2011; 208(1): 167-180.
- 6. Topham DJ, Tripp RA, Doherty PC. CD8+ T cells clear influenza virus by perforin or Fas-dependent processes. J Immunol 1997; 159(11): 5197-5200.
- 7. Johnson S, Zhan Y, Sutherland RM, Mount AM, Bedoui S, Brady JL et al. Selected Toll-like receptor ligands and viruses promote helper-independent cytotoxic T cell priming by upregulating CD40L on dendritic cells. Immunity 2009; 30(2): 218-227.
- 8. Sun J, Dodd H, Moser EK, Sharma R, Braciale TJ. CD4+ T cell help and innate-derived IL-27 induce Blimp-1dependent IL-10 production by antiviral CTLs. Nat Immunol 2011; 12(4): 327-334.
- 9. Belz GT, Wodarz D, Diaz G, Nowak MA, Doherty PC. Compromised influenza virus-specific CD8(+)-T-cell memory in CD4(+)-T-cell-deficient mice. J Virol 2002; 76(23): 12388-12393.
- 10. Lee BO, Rangel-Moreno J, Moyron-Quiroz JE, Hartson L, Makris M, Sprague F et al. CD4 T cell-independent antibody response promotes resolution of primary influenza infection and helps to prevent reinfection. J Immunol 2005; 175(9): 5827-5838.
- 11. Brown DM, Lee S, Garcia-Hernandez Mde L, Swain SL. Multifunctional CD4 cells expressing gamma interferon and perforin mediate protection against lethal influenza virus infection. J Virol 2012; 86(12): 6792-6803.
- 12. Scherle PA, Palladino G, Gerhard W. Mice can recover from pulmonary influenza virus infection in the absence of class I-restricted cytotoxic T cells. J Immunol 1992; 148(1): 212-217.
- 13. Brown DM, Dilzer AM, Meents DL, Swain SL. CD4 T cell-mediated protection from lethal influenza: perforin and antibody-mediated mechanisms give a one-two punch. J Immunol 2006; 177(5): 2888-2898.
- 14. Joshi NS, Cui W, Chandele A, Lee HK, Urso DR, Hagman J et al. Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. Immunity 2007; 27(2): 281-295.
- 15. Turner DL, Bickham KL, Thome JJ, Kim CY, D'Ovidio F, Wherry EJ et al. Lung niches for the generation and maintenance of tissue-resident memory T cells. Mucosal Immunol 2014; 7(3): 501-510.
- 16. Teijaro JR, Turner D, Pham Q, Wherry EJ, Lefrancois L, Farber DL. Cutting edge: Tissue-retentive lung memory CD4 T cells mediate optimal protection to respiratory virus infection. J Immunol 2011; 187(11): 5510-5514.
- 17. Hogan RJ, Zhong W, Usherwood EJ, Cookenham T, Roberts AD, Woodland DL. Protection from respiratory virus infections can be mediated by antigen-specific CD4(+) T cells that persist in the lungs. J Exp Med 2001; 193(8): 981-986.
- 18. Hogan RJ, Cauley LS, Ely KH, Cookenham T, Roberts AD, Brennan JW et al. Long-term maintenance of virusspecific effector memory CD8+ T cells in the lung airways depends on proliferation. J Immunol 2002; 169(9): 4976-4981.
- 19. Liang S, Mozdzanowska K, Palladino G, Gerhard W. Heterosubtypic immunity to influenza type A virus in mice. Effector mechanisms and their longevity. J Immunol 1994; 152(4): 1653-1661.
- 20. Wilkinson P, Filali-Mouhim A, Li S, Ahlers J, Schatzle J, Pulendran B et al. An open-ended plea for the development of a global database of HIV vaccine responses. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2012; 7(1): 10-16.
- 21. McKinstry KK, Strutt TM, Kuang Y, Brown DM, Sell S, Dutton RW et al. Memory CD4+ T cells protect against influenza through multiple synergizing mechanisms. J Clin Invest 2012; 122(8): 2847-2856.
- 22. Wu T, Hu Y, Lee YT, Bouchard KR, Benechet A, Khanna K et al. Lung-resident memory CD8+ T cells (TRM) are indispensable for optimal cross-protection against pulmonary virus infection. J Leukoc Biol 2014; 95(2): 215-224.
- 23. D'Acquisto F, Crompton T. CD3+CD4-CD8- (double negative) T cells: saviours or villains of the immune response? Biochem Pharmacol 2011; 82(4): 333-340.
- 24. Abraham E, Freitas AA, Coutinho AA. Purification and characterization of intraparenchymal lung lymphocytes. J Immunol 1990; 144(6): 2117-2122.
- 25. Ibraghimov AR, Lynch RG. T cell specialization at environmental interfaces: T cells from the lung and the female genital tract of lpr and gld mice differ from their splenic and lymph node counterparts. Eur J Immunol 1994; 24(8): 1848-1852.
- 26. Kawakami K, Teruya K, Tohyama M, Kudeken N, Yonamine Y, Saito A. Mac1 discriminates unusual CD4-CD8double-negative T cells bearing alpha beta antigen receptor from conventional ones with either CD4 or CD8 in murine lung. Immunol Lett 1995; 46(1-2): 143-152.
- 27. Takamoto M, Kusama Y, Takatsu K, Nariuchi H, Sugane K. Occurrence of interleukin-5 production by CD4- CD8-(double-negative) T cells in lungs of both normal and congenitally athymic nude mice infected with Toxocara canis. Immunology 1995; 85(2): 285-291.
- 28. Watanabe N, Arase H, Kurasawa K, Iwamoto I, Kayagaki N, Yagita H et al. Th1 and Th2 subsets equally undergo Fas-dependent and - independent activation-induced cell death. Eur J Immunol 1997; 27(8): 1858-1864.
- 29. Oreshkova T, Wang H, Seier AM, Sindrilaru A, Varga G, Grabbe S et al. Beta(2) integrin deficiency yields unconventional double-negative T cells distinct from mature classical natural killer T cells in mice. Immunology 2009; 128(2): 271-286.

- 30. Cowley SC, Meierovics AI, Frelinger JA, Iwakura Y, Elkins KL. Lung CD4-CD8- double-negative T cells are prominent producers of IL-17A and IFN-gamma during primary respiratory murine infection with Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain. J Immunol 2010; 184(10): 5791-5801.
- 31. Rajasekar R, Augustin A. Selection of pulmonary CD4-, CD8-, alpha beta+ T cells expressing V beta 8 T cell receptors. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10(1): 79-84.
- 32. Augustin A, Kubo RT, Sim GK. Resident pulmonary lymphocytes expressing the gamma/delta T-cell receptor. Nature 1989; 340(6230): 239-241.
- 33. Godfrey DI, Stankovic S, Baxter AG. Raising the NKT cell family. Nat Immunol 2010; 11(3): 197-206.
- 34. Godfrey DI, MacDonald HR, Kronenberg M, Smyth MJ, Van Kaer L. NKT cells: what's in a name? Nat Rev Immunol 2004; 4(3): 231-237.
- 35. Ford MS, Zhang ZX, Chen W, Zhang L. Double-negative T regulatory cells can develop outside the thymus and do not mature from CD8+ T cell precursors. J Immunol 2006; 177(5): 2803-2809.
- 36. Kadena T, Matsuzaki G, Fujise S, Kishihara K, Takimoto H, Sasaki M et al. TCR alpha beta+ CD4- CD8- T cells differentiate extrathymically in an lck-independent manner and participate in early response against Listeria monocytogenes infection through interferon-gamma production. Immunology 1997; 91(4): 511-519.
- 37. Mohamood AS, Bargatze D, Xiao Z, Jie C, Yagita H, Ruben D et al. Fas-mediated apoptosis regulates the composition of peripheral alphabeta T cell repertoire by constitutively purging out double negative T cells. PLoS One 2008; 3(10): e3465.
- 38. Mehal WZ, Crispe IN. TCR ligation on CD8+ T cells creates double-negative cells in vivo. J Immunol 1998; 161(4): 1686-1693.
- 39. Naito T, Tanaka H, Naoe Y, Taniuchi I. Transcriptional control of T-cell development. Int Immunol 2011; 23(11): 661-668.
- 40. Kedzierska K, Turner SJ, Doherty PC. Conserved T cell receptor usage in primary and recall responses to an immunodominant influenza virus nucleoprotein epitope. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004; 101(14): 4942-4947.
- 41. Lantz O, Bendelac A. An invariant T cell receptor alpha chain is used by a unique subset of major histocompatibility complex class I-specific CD4+ and CD4-8- T cells in mice and humans. J Exp Med 1994; 180(3): 1097-1106.
- 42. Kawano T, Cui J, Koezuka Y, Toura I, Kaneko Y, Motoki K et al. CD1d-restricted and TCR-mediated activation of valpha14 NKT cells by glycosylceramides. Science 1997; 278(5343): 1626-1629.
- 43. Wherry EJ, Teichgraber V, Becker TC, Masopust D, Kaech SM, Antia R et al. Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8+ Tcell subsets. Nat Immunol 2003; 4(3): 225-234.
- 44. Mueller SN, Gebhardt T, Carbone FR, Heath WR. Memory T cell subsets, migration patterns, and tissue residence. Annu Rev Immunol 2013; 31: 137-161.
- 45. Grebe KM, Yewdell JW, Bennink JR. Heterosubtypic immunity to influenza A virus: where do we stand? Microbes Infect 2008; 10(9): 1024-1029.
- 46. Kreijtz JH, Bodewes R, van Amerongen G, Kuiken T, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD et al. Primary influenza A virus infection induces cross-protective immunity against a lethal infection with a heterosubtypic virus strain in mice. Vaccine 2007; 25(4): 612-620.
- 47. Plantinga M, Guilliams M, Vanheerswynghels M, Deswarte K, Branco Madeira F, Toussaint W et al. Conventional and monocyte-derived CD11b+ dendritic cells initiate and maintain T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity to house dust mite allergen. Immunity 2013; 38: doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.1010.1016.
- GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Kool M, Baas C et al. Clearance of influenza virus from the lung depends on migratory langerin+CD11b- but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2008; 205(7): 1621-1634.
- Kim TS, Gorski SA, Hahn S, Murphy KM, Braciale TJ. Distinct dendritic cell subsets dictate the fate decision between effector and memory CD8(+) T cell differentiation by a CD24-dependent mechanism. Immunity 2014; 40(3): 400-413.
- 50. Kim TS, Hufford MM, Sun J, Fu YX, Braciale TJ. Antigen persistence and the control of local T cell memory by migrant respiratory dendritic cells after acute virus infection. J Exp Med 2010; 207(6): 1161-1172.
- 51. Gao JF, McIntyre MS, Juvet SC, Diao J, Li X, Vanama RB et al. Regulation of antigen-expressing dendritic cells by double negative regulatory T cells. Eur J Immunol 2011; 41(9): 2699-2708.
- 52. Chang JC, Zhang L, Distler SG, Ziang G, Kaplan AM. Characterization and function of CD3+ CD4- CD8- TcRalpha beta bearing cells infiltrating the lung during the immune response. Regional immunology 1992; 4(1): 25-33.
- 53. Rossjohn J, Pellicci DG, Patel O, Gapin L, Godfrey DI. Recognition of CD1d-restricted antigens by natural killer T cells. Nat Rev Immunol 2012; 12(12): 845-857.
- 54. Liao CM, Zimmer MI, Wang CR. The functions of type I and type II natural killer T cells in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2013; 19(6): 1330-1338.
- 55. Priatel JJ, Utting O, Teh HS. TCR/self-antigen interactions drive double-negative T cell peripheral expansion and differentiation into suppressor cells. J Immunol 2001; 167(11): 6188-6194.
- 56. Hayes SM, Li L, Love PE. TCR signal strength influences alphabeta/gammadelta lineage fate. Immunity 2005; 22(5): 583-593.
- 57. Paget C, Trottein F. Role of type 1 natural killer T cells in pulmonary immunity. Mucosal Immunol 2013; 6(6): 1054-1067.
- 58. Edholm ES, Grayfer L, Robert J. Evolution of nonclassical MHC-dependent invariant T cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 2014; 71(24): 4763-4780.
- 59. Le Bourhis L, Guerri L, Dusseaux M, Martin E, Soudais C, Lantz O. Mucosal-associated invariant T cells: unconventional development and function. Trends Immunol 2011; 32(5): 212-218.
- 60. Hedrich CM, Rauen T, Crispin JC, Koga T, Ioannidis C, Zajdel M et al. cAMP-responsive element modulator alpha (CREMalpha) trans-represses the transmembrane glycoprotein CD8 and contributes to the generation of CD3+CD4-CD8- T cells in health and disease. J Biol Chem 2013; 288(44): 31880-31887.

- 61. Hedrich CM, Crispin JC, Rauen T, Ioannidis C, Koga T, Rodriguez Rodriguez N et al. cAMP responsive element modulator (CREM) alpha mediates chromatin remodeling of CD8 during the generation of CD3+ CD4- CD8- T cells. J Biol Chem 2014; 289(4): 2361-2370.
- 62. Anderson KG, Sung H, Skon CN, Lefrancois L, Deisinger A, Vezys V et al. Cutting edge: intravascular staining redefines lung CD8+ Tcell responses. J Immunol 2012; 189(6): 2702-2706.
- 63. Antonelli LR, Dutra WO, Oliveira RR, Torres KC, Guimaraes LH, Bacellar O et al. Disparate immunoregulatory potentials for double-negative (CD4- CD8-) alpha beta and gamma delta T cells from human patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis. Infect Immun 2006; 74(11): 6317-6323.
- 64. Pinheiro MB, Antonelli LR, Sathler-Avelar R, Vitelli-Avelar DM, Spindola-de-Miranda S, Guimaraes TM et al. CD4-CD8-alphabeta and gammadelta T cells display inflammatory and regulatory potentials during human tuberculosis. PLoS One 2012; 7(12): e50923.
- 65. Martin E, Treiner E, Duban L, Guerri L, Laude H, Toly C et al. Stepwise development of MAIT cells in mouse and human. PLoS Biol 2009; 7(3): e54.
- 66. Le Bourhis L, Martin E, Peguillet I, Guihot A, Froux N, Core M et al. Antimicrobial activity of mucosal-associated invariant T cells. Nat Immunol 2010; 11(8): 701-708.
- 67. Ross TL, Balson GA, Miners JS, Smith GD, Shewen PE, Prescott JF et al. Role of CD4+, CD8+ and double negative T-cells in the protection of SCID/beige mice against respiratory challenge with Rhodococcus equi. Canadian journal of veterinary research = Revue canadienne de recherche veterinaire 1996; 60(3): 186-192.
- 68. Zhang ZX, Yang L, Young KJ, DuTemple B, Zhang L. Identification of a previously unknown antigen-specific regulatory T cell and its mechanism of suppression. Nat Med 2000; 6(7): 782-789.
- 69. Hillhouse EE, Lesage S. A comprehensive review of the phenotype and function of antigen-specific immunoregulatory double negative T cells. Journal of autoimmunity 2013; 40: 58-65.
- 70. Liang Q, Jiao Y, Zhang T, Wang R, Li W, Zhang H et al. Double Negative (DN) [CD3(+)CD4(-)CD8(-)] T cells correlate with disease progression during HIV infection. Immunol Invest 2013; 42(5): 431-437.
- 71. Miao J, Zhang K, Qiu F, Li T, Lv M, Guo N et al. Percentages of CD4+CD161+ and CD4-CD8-CD161+ T Cells in the Synovial Fluid Are Correlated with Disease Activity in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Mediators of inflammation 2015; 2015: 563713.
- 72. Alunno A, Bistoni O, Bartoloni E, Caterbi S, Bigerna B, Tabarrini A et al. IL-17-producing CD4-CD8- T cells are expanded in the peripheral blood, infiltrate salivary glands and are resistant to corticosteroids in patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis 2013; 72(2): 286-292.
- 73. Alunno Á, Čarubbi F, Bistoni O, Caterbi S, Bartoloni E, Bigerna B et al. CD4(-)CD8(-) T-cells in primary Sjogren's syndrome: association with the extent of glandular involvement. Journal of autoimmunity 2014; 51: 38-43.

# Chapter 5

# Early IL-1 signaling promotes iBALT induction after influenza virus infection

Katrijn Neyt<sup>1,2</sup>, Kim Deswarte<sup>1,2</sup>, Hamida Hammad<sup>1,2</sup>, Corine GeurtsvanKessel<sup>3</sup>, Bart Lambrecht<sup>1,2,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>VIB Inflammation Research Center, Laboratory of Immunoregulation, Ghent, Belgium <sup>2</sup>Department of Respiratory Medicine, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium <sup>3</sup>Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands <sup>4</sup>Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Frontiers in Immunology 2016; 7:312.

# Abstract

Inducible Bronchus Associated Lymphoid Tissue (iBALT) is a long lasting tertiary lymphoid tissue that can be induced following influenza A virus (IAV) infection. Previous studies have shown that iBALT structures containing germinal center (GC) B cells protect against repeated infection by contributing locally to the cellular and humoral immune response. If we are to exploit this in vaccination strategies, we need a better understanding on how iBALT structures are induced. One hypothesis is that the strength of the initial innate response dictates induction of iBALT. In the present study, we investigated the role of IL-1 and IL-1R signaling on iBALT formation.

Mice lacking the IL-1R, had a delayed viral clearance and thus a prolonged exposure to viral replication, leading to increased disease severity compared to wild type mice. Contradictorily, iBALT formation following clearance of the virus was heavily compromised in  $II1r1^{-/-}$  mice. Quantification of gene induction after IAV infection demonstrated induction of IL-1 $\alpha$  and to a much lesser extent of IL-1 $\beta$ . Administration of recombinant IL-1 $\alpha$  to the lungs of wild type mice early but not late after IAV infection, led to more pronounced iBALT formation and an increased amount of GC B cells in the lungs. Bone marrow chimeric mice identified the stromal compartment as the crucial IL-1 responsive cell for iBALT induction. Mechanistically, Q-PCR analysis of lung homogenates revealed a strongly diminished production of CXCL13, a B cell attracting chemokine, in  $II1r^{-/-}$  mice during the early innate phase of IAV infection.

These experiments demonstrate that appropriate innate  $IL-1\alpha$  - IL-1R signaling is necessary for IAV clearance and at the same time instructs the formation of organized tertiary lymphoid tissues through induction of CXCL13 early after infection. These findings are discussed in the light of recent insights on the pathogenesis of TLO formation in the lung in various diseases where the IL-1 axis is hyperactive such as rheumatoid arthritis and COPD.

# Introduction

Influenza A virus (IAV) is a respiratory pathogen that causes seasonal or pandemic outbreaks with severe outcome in elderly and immune compromised patients. Epithelial cells are the first target cells for IAV infection<sup>1, 2</sup> and also coordinate the innate immune defense to prevent spreading of the virus, via production of type I interferons (IFNs). Interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  are among the first cytokines that are secreted by epithelial cells and macrophages at sites of IAV replication<sup>3</sup>. Secretion of IL-1ß requires activation of the NIrp3 inflammasome that leads to activation of caspase-1 and cleavage of pro-IL-1ß into IL-1ß. Infection with IAV leads to activation of the NIrp3 inflammasome in a process requiring the type I IFN induced RNAse L/OAS system, while the virus actively suppresses IL-1 $\beta$  production and NIrp3 activation via the NS1 protein<sup>4-6</sup>. IL-1 induces the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules that promote the entry of innate inflammatory cells like neutrophils, NK cells, dendritic cells (DCs) and monocytes resulting in a double effect on the host. On the one hand it promotes survival by killing virus infected cells, clearing debris and alarming the adaptive immune response. On the other hand, overzealous neutrophil recruitment can also cause inflammatory pathology that can ultimately lead to diffuse alveolar damage and death<sup>6-10</sup>. Not surprisingly, the outcome of genetic deficiency of key components in IL-1 generation or signaling has been very different depending on the severity of the IAV infection<sup>2, 9, 11</sup>.

Simultaneously with the activation of the innate immune response, adaptive immune responses are initiated in the draining lymph nodes by antigen presenting migratory DCs. The architecture of lymph nodes promotes contact between antigen presenting DCs and rare antigen-specific T cells and B cells of the adaptive immune system to maximize the immune response against a certain antigen. Antigen specific T lymphocytes undergo clonal proliferation upon encounter with antigen presented by antigen presenting cells and migrate back to the site of inflammation as T effector memory (T<sub>EM</sub>) cells or become central memory T cells (T<sub>CM</sub>) or T resident memory (T<sub>RM</sub>) cells<sup>12</sup>. Antibody production is initiated from B-lymphocytes that differentiate into plasmablasts immediately, or become plasma cells after going through a germinal center (GC) reaction that promotes somatic hypermutation and affinity maturation of B cells<sup>13</sup>.

The coordinated events of T and B cell activation induced by virus-laden DCs mainly occur in secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs) like lymph nodes and spleen that develop during embryogenesis at predefined areas, often at the crossroads of lymphatic vessels<sup>14</sup>. However, highly organized structures of T and B cells can also be formed in the lung after birth as an adaptation to the increased demand for a localized immune response. Various names such as lymphoid tissue neogenesis, ectopic lymphoid tissue and tertiary lymphoid structures have been used to describe these structures. Furthermore they are often named after the anatomical region in which they occur. In the lungs for example, lymphoid aggregations can often be found in close proximity to bronchi, and hence these are called inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissues (iBALT). As they resemble SLOs anatomically and functionally, yet only develop after birth as a result of chronic immune stimulation, they can also be called tertiary lymphoid organs (TLOs), even when found within the boundaries of another organ.

TLOs have been implicated in protection against IAV. Mice that lack secondary lymphoid organs can mount a rapid CD8 T cell response during IAV infection due to the induction iBALT<sup>15</sup>, induced after clearance of IAV infection. Such TLO structures are generally formed in close proximity to bronchi after IAV infection, but can also be observed in the lung interstitium and are fully formed 17dpi. iBALT structures that are induced in mice with functional lymph nodes can serve as an additional priming site for T cells<sup>16</sup> and can also contribute to the humoral immune responses<sup>17</sup>. Once formed, iBALT structures can mount high affinity immune responses to other antigenic stimuli than the initiating stimulus due to the presence of germinal centers that allow somatic hypermutation and affinity maturation complementing the immune response in the draining lymph nodes<sup>16, 18</sup>. Furthermore, iBALT structures could be the perfect environment for depots of viral antigen that were described long after viral clearance and recovery from viral infection, and possibly related to the induction or maintenance of virus-specific T<sub>RM</sub> cells<sup>19, 20</sup>.

Despite morphological and functional similarities between SLOs and TLOs, the pathways that control formation and maintenance of TLOs are less clear. Generally, the molecular pathway that organizes T and B cells in discrete areas resembles the highly regulated inductive pathway for SLO development. Production of CCL19, CCL21, CXCL12 and CXCL13 by stromal cells and B cells helps to organize and retain T and B cells in discrete areas<sup>21-26</sup>. Also IL-7 seems required for TLO formation, e.g. in joints of rheumatoid arthritis patients and mouse models<sup>27-30</sup> and lungs of idiopathic pulmonary hypertension (IPAH) patients<sup>31</sup>. It is more controversial which cells give the initial instruction for stromal cells to produce these chemokines. During SLO development in the fetal period, this is the distinct task of lymphoid tissue inducer (LT<sub>i</sub>) cells, a cell type that develops from Flt3<sup>+</sup> and Flt3<sup>-</sup> a<sub>4</sub>b<sub>7</sub> integrin positive common progenitors that also forms innate lymphoid cells (ILC), and get expanded in response to Flt3L injections<sup>32, 33</sup>. During formation of the lymph nodes and spleen, LTi cells provide signals for lymphoid organogenesis like lymphotoxin-beta (LT $\beta$ ) acting on the LT $\beta$ R on stromal cells, but the precise signals might differ from organ to organ. Flt31<sup>-/-</sup> mice for example have reduced LTi cells and lack Peyer's patches but still have lymph nodes<sup>33</sup>. However, research in  $Id2^{-/-}$  and Rorc<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which lack LT<sub>i</sub> cells, showed that LT<sub>i</sub> cells were dispensable for the initial TLO induction after IAV infection or other forms of TLO induction <sup>15, 34-37 38</sup>. Although LT<sub>i</sub> cells seem not strictly necessary for TLO induction, an instructive LTβ-LTβR signal remains essential for proper TLO development<sup>25, 39</sup>. B cells, T cells and DCs are heavily induced during inflammatory processes and all express LTa1B2 on their cell surface<sup>17, 35, 40, 41</sup> therefore they are perfect candidates to function as a substitute for LT<sub>i</sub> cells.

Whatever the precise molecular mechanisms of TLO induction might be, these TLO structures are virtually always seen at sites of inflammation. Yet, which inflammatory cytokines contribute to TLO induction is currently unknown. After many insults to the lung, including viral or bacterial infection, interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  are among the first cytokines to be secreted<sup>3</sup>. IL-1 secretion induces the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules that promote the entry of innate and adaptive immune cells, and could thus promote TLO formation. On the other hand, it is also known that IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> mice have a

delayed viral clearance and thus a longer exposure to viral particles<sup>7</sup>. Chronic immune stimulation is often assumed to lead to TLO formation<sup>42</sup>. If IL-1 limits viral replication, it could reduce the trigger for TLO induction.

In this paper we addressed the role of IL-1 and IL-1R in TLO formation in the lung. We show that the iBALT-inducing events are initiated early after infection, long before the virus is cleared. More specifically we show that early IL-1R signaling is necessary for proper IAV-associated iBALT and germinal center (GC) induction and that prolonged viral presence does not automatically lead to iBALT induction.

# Results

II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice have prolonged viral load but are unable to induce iBALT

To assess the immune response to IAV infection in mice lacking signaling via IL-1R, we infected *II1r1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice and monitored weight loss and viral load in the lungs. Wild type mice showed maximum weight loss around 6dpi and bodyweight was fully restored around 10dpi. *II1r1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice lost weight with slower and prolonged kinetics, and reaching a nadir at 8dpi. Like wild type mice they did manage to gain weight again, but did not recover to their starting bodyweight before 17dpi (Fig 1A). This difference in the weight loss curve was also reflected in the viral load in the lungs (Fig 1B). Viral load in wild type mice peaked around 6dpi yet was cleared at 8dpi. *II1r1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice had systematically higher viral loads during the entire course of infection and did not clear the infection completely at 8dpi as an estimated remaining titer of 100 000 viral particles is detected at this time point.

Viral clearance depends on induction of adaptive immunity by dendritic cells that activate CD8 and CD4 T cells and a humoral immune response by B cells. Total numbers and kinetics of increase of T and B cells and conventional dendritic cells (DCs) were not altered in *l*11r1-<sup>/-</sup> mice in response to IAV infection. Lung conventional DCs consist of various subsets that have different functions and can be discriminated based on cell surface markers CD11b and CD103<sup>43, 44</sup>. As soon as there is inflammation in the lung, monocytes can also be recruited and these can rapidly differentiate into a MHCII+CD11c+ cell type (so called monocyte-derived cells, MC) that also expresses the macrophage marker CD64<sup>45</sup>. In contrast to the conventional CD103<sup>+</sup> and CD11b+ DCs, the accumulation of CD11c+CD64+ MCs was reduced in the lungs of *l*11r1-<sup>/-</sup> mice (Fig 1C).

To evaluate the effect of the higher and prolonged viral exposure on IAV-associated iBALT formation, we visualized iBALT structures in the lungs by hematoxilin staining. Generally clusters of cells near the bronchi were more readily detected in wild type mice than in *l*11r1-/- mice (Fig 1D). Because a hematoxilin stain did not allow us to evaluate if the inflammatory clusters of cells were organized and immunologically active iBALT structures, we stained frozen lung sections for B cells, T cells, DCs and GC B cells and analyzed them by confocal microscopy. In wild type mice we could easily detect organized structures composed of B cells, T cells and DCs and B cell aggregates that contain GC B cells, but we were unable to detect similar infiltrates in *l*11r1-/- mice (Fig 1E). To quantify the presence or absence of iBALT structures we measured the proportion of GC B cells in the lungs at 17dpi by flow cytometry as a measure for 130

biologically active iBALT. As GL7<sup>+</sup> GC B cells are not found in the lungs of mice in the absence of iBALT, we believe this is a good approximation of the amount of iBALT formed<sup>17</sup>. Wild type mice showed an induction of GC B cells upon IAV infection, but this induction was absent in *ll1r1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (Fig 1F). Taken together, these data suggest that although *ll1r1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice had a higher and prolonged exposure to viral particles in the lung, they were unable to form organized iBALT structures in the lung, pointing to an essential role for IL-1 cytokines in TLO induction following influenza virus infection.



B cells (B220) Germinal center (GL7) Nucleus (Dapi)

Figure 1 - II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice have a prolonged viral load in the lungs, but do not develop iBALT structures (A) Weight loss curve as percentage of the initial bodyweight for wild type (squares) and II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice (circles) that have been infected with mock (white) or X31 (black) virus. (B) Viral titers in the lung of wild type (white) or II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> (black) mice determined by hemagglutination assay after culture with MDCK cells. (C) Numbers of T and B cells, CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>1</sub> and

determined by hemagglutination assay after culture with MDCK cells. (C) Numbers of T and B cells, CD103<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>1</sub> and CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC<sub>2</sub> DCs and monocyte derived cells (MC) in the lungs of wild type (white) and  $II_{17}$ /- mice (black). (D) Hematoxylin-stained lung sections 17dpi of wild type and  $II_{17}$ /- mice. Images are representative for at least 3 mice per group. (E) Confocal images of lung sections of wild type and  $II_{17}$ /- mice at 17dpi. Sections were stained with either B220 (red), CD11c (Green), CD3 (Grey) and dapi (blue) or B220 (red), GL7 (Green) and dapi (Blue). Shown images are representative for 5 mice per group. (F) Proportion of germinal center B cells (GL7<sup>+</sup>) in the lungs of wild type and  $II_{17}$ /- mice infected with mock (white) or X31 (black) virus at 17dpi determined by flow cytometry. All experiments were performed at least twice with 4-6 mice per group. \* = p<0,05

# IL-1 $\alpha$ administration promotes induction iBALT structures in the lung

As the mere presence of viral particles was not enough to trigger the iBALT initiation and IL-1R signaling was necessary we quantified expression of IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , which signal

both via IL-1R, in the lungs after IAV infection. Both cytokines were induced after infection in a bimodal curve with a first peak around 4dpi and a second, but smaller, peak around 10dpi (Fig 2A). In general, the induction of mRNA for IL-1 $\alpha$  was more pronounced compared with IL-1 $\beta$ .

We next addressed if administration of IL-1 cytokine would be enough to further boost iBALT induction in IAV infected mice. Since IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  have similar effects on the IL-1R, and as induction of IL-1 $\alpha$  was more pronounced after IAV infection, we chose to only administer IL-1 $\alpha$ . When recombinant IL-1 $\alpha$  was administered i.t. 2 days post IAV infection in wild type mice, clustering of inflammatory cells could be detected more readily on lung sections compared to PBS treated IAV infected mice (Fig 2B). To quantify biologically active iBALT we again quantified the proportion of GC B cells by flow cytometry. Administration of recombinant IL-1 $\alpha$  at 2dpi resulted in a higher proportion of GC B cells in the lungs 17dpi compared to PBS administration (Fig 2C). However, when the administration of recombinant IL-1 $\alpha$  was only initiated at 10dpi, no differences in the proportion of GC B cells could be observed between IL-1 $\alpha$  and PBS treated groups (Fig 2C). This suggests that early, but not late IL-1R signaling is necessary and sufficient to promote GC B cell positive iBALT structures.



Figure 2 - Early IL-1a signaling is sufficient and necessary for iBALT induction

(A) mRNA expression of IL-1 $\alpha$  (white) and IL-1 $\beta$  (black) relative to the housekeeping gene L27 in the lungs of wild type mice. (B) Hematoxylin-stained lung sections 17dpi of mice treated with PBS or recIL-1 $\alpha$  2dpi. Images are representative for at least 3 mice per group. (C) Proportion of germinal center B cells 17dpi in the lungs of wild type mice treated with PBS (white) or recombinant IL-1 $\alpha$  (black) i.t. 2 or 10dpi.

All experiments were performed at least twice with 3-5 mice per group. ns = not significant, \*\* = p<0,01

#### IL-1R signaling on stromal cells is necessary to induce GC B cells

As early IL-1R signaling is necessary to induce iBALT structures in the lung, we sought to identify the cell type that is responsive to IL-1 signals. Therefore we constructed bone marrow chimeric mice in which either the radiosensitive hematopoietic or the radioresistant stromal compartment was deficient for II1r1. As a control we also reconstituted II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice with II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> bone marrow as a substitute for intact II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice and control for irradiation effects. II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice that received wild type bone marrow followed a weight loss curve characterized by a longer weight loss and slower recovery, as observed in II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice. In contrast, wild type mice that were reconstituted with II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> bone marrow cells followed a weight loss curve that resembled the one observed in wild type mice with a maximum of approximately 15% weight loss. Surprisingly, II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice that were reconstituted with IL-1R sufficient bone marrow had a tendency to lose more weight than the II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice that were reconstituted with IL-1R-deficient bone marrow (Fig 3A). We also counted the proportion of GC B cells in the lung. Wild type 132

mice with IL-1R-deficient hematopoietic cells were able to induce a higher proportion of GC B cells than II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice with normal hematopoietic cells, suggesting that IL-1 boosts the formation of iBALT structures by signaling to radioresistant stromal cells.



Figure 3 - IL-1R signaling on stromal cells is necessary to induce germinal center B cells in the lung (A) Weight loss curve after infection with X31 virus as percentage of the initial bodyweight for wild type (squares) and IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> (circles) mice reconstituted with wild type (black) or IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> bone marrow (white). (B) Proportion of germinal center B cells 17dpi in the lungs of wild type (squares) and IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> (circles) mice reconstituted with wild type (black) or IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> bone marrow (white). ns = not significant, \* = p<0,05, \*\* = p<0,01

#### CXCL13 expression is reduced in II1r1-/- mice

To define which downstream iBALT-instructive signals are induced by IL-1R signaling in radioresistant cells, we measured the expression level of the chemokines CXCL12, CXCL13, CCL19 and CCL21 which all have been implicated in iBALT formation. The chemokines CCL19 and CCL21 instruct the organization of T cell zones in iBALT structures, but were not impaired in II1r1-/- mice (Fig 4A). The chemokine CXCL12 is important for B cell lymphopoiesis but expression of this chemokine was only slightly reduced early after infection in II1r1-/- mice. The chemokine CXCL13 functions as an LTi and B cell chemoattractant and its expression was reduced 4dpi in  $II_1r_1^{-/-}$  mice (Fig 4A). None of the chemokines involved in iBALT formation and organization was differentially expressed at 17dpi, when iBALT had fully developed in wild type mice, showing that the instructive chemokine signals are given early after infection when the virus is not yet cleared from the lungs. Although CXCL13 expression was impaired early after infection, the total amount of B cells in the lungs was not significantly altered at the time iBALT was present (Fig 1C), suggesting that it is not recruitment of B cells to the lungs that is impaired in II1r1-1- mice, but that the B cells in the lung fail to cluster into organized iBALT structures. Whether this is a direct or indirect effect of defective IL-1R signaling on stromal cells remains a subject for future experiments.

#### Discussion and review of the literature

The IL-1 axis has been described previously to be responsible for inflammatory pathology in the lung, resulting in increased mortality, increased viral titers and neutrophil recruitment following IAV infection<sup>7</sup>. Il1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice indeed suffered more from the mild X31 IAV infection and displayed a tendency to higher viral titers in the lung, but



Figure 4 - II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice have a defect in the production of the iBALT-inducing chemokine CXCL13 (A) mRNA expression levels of the chemokines involved in iBALT induction: CXCL12, CXCL13, CCL19, CCL21 relative to the expression of housekeeping gene L27.

The experiment was performed twice with 3-5 mice per group. ns = not significant, \* = p < 0.05.

did manage to clear infection with delayed kinetics, leading to a presumably higher viral exposure over time. Despite this increased viral exposure, they hardly formed iBALT structures in the lung. Conversely, when recombinant IL-1 was administered early after IAV infection to wild type mice, the formation of iBALT structures was facilitated.

Mechanistically, we found impaired CXCL13 chemokine induction early after infection in II1r1<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Later, at the time when iBALT was fully formed in wild type mice, we could not detect any differences in CXCL13 levels, suggesting that the instructive signals that condition the lung for clustering adaptive immune cells are given very early (2-4dpi) after infection. By studying iBALT formation in chimeric mice, we found that IL-1R expression on stromal cells is necessary for proper iBALT formation. The exact cell type of stromal cells that is needed to induce GC B cells however still needs to be defined. Whether this stromal cell type is directly responsible for the CXCL13 production needed to initiate iBALT formation or an intermediate cell type is involved remains a matter of debate.

As we observed a decreased induction in MCs and these cells are previously described as being major cytokine and chemokine producers<sup>45</sup>, it is a possibility that these cells are involved in the CXCL13 induction. Alternatively, LTβ-sufficient B cells can support the progression towards mature, fully structured TLOs<sup>35, 46</sup> most likely via a positive feedback loop of CXCL13 production and LTβ expression<sup>24</sup>. According to this hypothesis B cells are activated via TLR signaling, induce expression of LTβ on their surface and interact on its turn with LTβR bearing B cells. This LTβ signaling will induce CXCL13 production and release, which attracts more B cells and upregulates LTβ expression. It is an attractive hypothesis that IL-1 might also induce LTβ expression on B cells, although this is hard to reconcile with our observation that a radioresistant cell type responds to IL-1 in our model.

We can only speculate about the source of IL-1 $\alpha$ . Previous research has shown that IL-1 $\alpha$  can be released by dying cells<sup>47</sup>. In this respect virus-infected lung epithelial cells might

be a possible source of IL-1 $\alpha$  as it has been observed that IL-1 $\alpha$  can feedback on epithelial cells and induce a second cytokine and chemokine wave during innate immune responses in the lung<sup>3, 48</sup>. We have only measured the mRNA for IL-1 $\beta$ . Secretion of bioactive IL-1 $\beta$  requires activation of the NIrp3 inflammasome that leads to activation of caspase-1 and cleavage of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  into IL-1 $\beta$ . Infection with IAV leads to activation of the NIrp3 inflammasome in a process requiring the type I IFN induced RNAse L/OAS system, while the virus actively suppresses IL-1 $\beta$  production and NIrp3 activation via the NS1 protein<sup>4, 5</sup>. Although others have shown that the NLRP3 inflammasome controls severity of infection<sup>9, 11, 49, 50</sup>, future studies will have to address if lack of key components of this inflammasome also leads to reduced iBALT formation.

Generally TLOs are absent in the lungs of healthy adults<sup>51</sup>, but bronchus associated lymphoid tissue can be observed in the lungs of children that are frequently infected by respiratory viruses<sup>52</sup> and in the lungs of adults that suffer from rheumatoid arthritis<sup>53, 54</sup>, transplant rejection<sup>55</sup>, COPD<sup>56</sup> and IPAH<sup>31</sup>. We can only speculate that IL-1 might also be involved in the formation of these TLO structures. IL-1 is certainly a cytokine that has been implicated in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis, and targeting the IL-1 pathway via IL1RA (anakinra) has been used as an alternative biological treatment in patients failing therapy on TNF $\alpha$  blockade. A very common risk factor for rheumatoid arthritis development is smoking, which also leads to COPD. End stage COPD is also accompanied by TLO formation in the lungs, and these can be sites of production of antibodies to citrullinated antigens, typical of RA patients. In a preclinical model of smoking induced TLO formation, the production of autoantibodies and TLO structures was reduced in *Il1r1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, accompanied by a reduced CXCL13 production in the lungs<sup>57</sup>.

During development neuronal cells give an  $LT\alpha1\beta2$ -independent instructive signal to local fibroblasts to produce CXCL13 and hereby attract CD3<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup> LT<sub>i</sub> cells<sup>58, 59</sup>. The crucial step for SLO development is the interaction of LT<sub>i</sub> cells with stromal lymphoid tissue organizer (LT<sub>o</sub>) cells. This process happens via interaction of LT<sub>β</sub> expressed on LT<sub>i</sub> cells and the LTβR expressed on LT<sub>o</sub> cells. Upon this interaction, LT<sub>o</sub> cells produce homeostatic chemokines that drive the recruitment of lymphocytes. T cells and DCs are attracted by chemokine CC ligand (CCL)19 and CCL21; B cells are attract by chemokine CXC ligand (CXCL)13. Expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)1, intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)1, mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule (MADCAM)1 allow the attracted cells to cluster together. IL-1 has been very well known for its effects of stimulating adhesion molecules on endothelial cells<sup>60</sup>. It is tempting to speculate that the effects of IL-1 on radioresistant cells is via induction of the crucial adhesion molecules that initially tether a LT<sub>i</sub> like cell to the circulation and subsequently to initiate a communication between stromal cells and lymphoid cells, that initiates the CXCL13 production.

The LT<sub>i</sub>-potential of T cells was first addressed in a model of thyroid overexpression of CCL21, where it was shown that CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> activated T cells interacted with DCs at sites of chronic inflammation, and subsequently acted as LT<sub>i</sub> cells in the absence of Id2

activity<sup>37</sup>. It has also been suggested that IL-17 signaling is involved during the initiation phase of iBALT formation by inducing CXCL13, but this role for IL-17 remains controversial<sup>34</sup>. In two studies on neonatal mice exposed to endotoxin inhalation and on mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis respectively, an activated Th17 CD4 T cell population was found to be involved in inducing TLO structures<sup>34, 61</sup>. RORC+ IL-17-producing cells were also found inside lung TLOs of patients with IPAH. In humans, Th17 cells express the CCR6 receptor, and in the bloodstream of IPAH patients circulating CCR6<sup>+</sup> cells were fewer, while the ligand CCL20 was produced in the perivascular TLOs<sup>31</sup>. However, TLOs seem to develop normally in Ccr6<sup>-/-</sup> mice <sup>34</sup>. The induction of TLOs by Th17 cells was dependent on expression of podoplanin, but why this is the case remains unknown. One possibility is that podoplanin is required for retention of Th17 cells at sites of TLO formation<sup>34, 61</sup>. The role of Th17 as LT<sub>i</sub>-like cells is still under debate and it remains to be seen whether all forms of TLO depend on IL-17 production, and whether IL-17A and/or IL-17F is involved. In this regard, iBALT induced by infection with modified vaccinia virus Ankara or influenza virus is not affected by deficiency of IL-17A while Pseudomonas Aeruginosa-induced iBALT is dependent on IL-17 signaling<sup>35, 62</sup>. As IL-17 production by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and Th17 cells can be induced by IL-163-66 we also considered the possibility that IL-17 is part of the cascade leading to IL-1 $\alpha$  driven iBALT formation. In our hands, IAV infection indeed gave rise to a higher amount of IL-17<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells, but treatment with IL-1 $\alpha$  2dpi could not increase the amount of IL-17<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the lung, and experiments in which we administered IL-1 to IAV infected II17ra<sup>-/-</sup> mice were inconclusive (data not shown). This suggests that, in contrast to SLO formation, the instructive signals can differ depending on the source of initiating antigen or the inflammatory stimulus that is elicited by the used model.

In almost all TLO structures that have been described, the T cell area contained antigen-presenting DCs<sup>17, 31</sup>. As DCs activate T cells, it has been suggested that DCs are sufficient for TLO induction<sup>67</sup>. This hypothesis is supported by the observation that repeated injection of DCs into the lungs of mice is sufficient for induction of iBALT structures accompanied by induction of myofibroblast differentiation<sup>17, 68</sup>. During formation of Peyer's patches, a CD11c<sup>+</sup> cell type expressing  $LT\alpha\beta$  accumulates at the LN anlagen and is necessary for instruction of stromal cells<sup>59</sup>. DCs might also directly instruct stromal cells irrespectively of their effects on T cells. In TLO structures induced in the thymus, DCs were specifically necessary for induction of lymph angiogenesis from stromal cells <sup>69</sup> but how DCs induce TLOs is less clear. In virus-induced iBALT, mainly CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs or monocyte-derived cells accumulate; these cells express instructive  $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$  while also producing the homeostatic chemokines CXCL13 and CCL19/CCL21<sup>17</sup>. However, in some models mostly pDCs accumulate, suggesting a functional role for type I IFN. As is the case in TLOs found in end-stage COPD patients and in a murine SLE model<sup>56, 70</sup>. Three studies have shown that depletion of DCs leads to disappearance of existing TLO structures, suggesting that DCs are necessary for structural organization and maintenance of TLOs, most likely through transpresentation of chemokines, or by providing a continuous source of antigen presentation to T cells<sup>16, 17, 69</sup>. We did observe reduced numbers of monocyte-derived DCs in II1r1-/- mice, but have not performed experiments in which only DCs lacked II-1R to study if the effects of IL-1 were cell-intrinsic 136
or resulting from effects of IL-1 on epithelial cells. Indeed, IL-1R triggering on lung epithelial cells is a very well known trigger for the production of GM-CSF, one of the major cytokines driving activation of monocytes to adopt a DC-like phenotype<sup>48</sup>.

In conclusion, we have described a novel role for early IL-1 production in IAV infection to control the formation of iBALT structures via induction of CXCL13 in a stromal cell compartment. Future studies will have to address if this effect of one of the best-known proinflammatory and innate cytokines is a general feature of TLO formation at sites of acute and chronic immune stimulation such as infectious disease and autoimmune pathologies and if this can be exploited to induce iBALT formation as part of a mucosal vaccination strategy<sup>71</sup>.

# Materials and methods

## Ethics statement

All experiments were approved by the independent animal ethics committee "Ethische Commissie Proefdieren – faculteit Wetenschappen Universiteit Gent en VIB-site Ardoyen" (identification number: EC 2013\_070). Animal care and used protocols adhere to the Belgian Royal Degree of May 29th 2013 for protection of experimental animals. European guideline 2010/63/EU is incorporated in this Belgian legislation.

## Mice

C57Bl/6 mice (8-10w) were purchased from Harlan Laboratories. IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> mice were bred in-house and housed in specific pathogen-free housing.

To create chimeric mice, IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> or wild type acceptor mice were irradiated sublethally (9Gy) and reconstituted with 2x10<sup>6</sup> bone marrow cells i.v. from wild type or IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> donor mice respectively 4 hours after irradiation. Mice were used for experiment at least 10 weeks after reconstitution.

# Influenza virus infection

Mice were infected intranasally with  $10^5$  TCID50 H3N2 influenza virus X-31 (Medical Research Council) or mock (allantoic fluid of uninfected eggs); diluted in 50µl PBS. Weight loss was monitored daily. For suppletion assays, mice were treated intratracheally with 80µg carrier free recombinant IL-1 $\alpha$  (R&D) at 2 or 10 dpi.

# TCID50 assay viral titers

Lungs were homogenized with a tissue homogenizer in 1ml PBS and centrifuged (5min, 400g) to remove cellular debris before storage at -80°C. Titers of infectious virus were determined in triplicate by titration on MDCK cells in serum-free TPCK-treated trypsincontaining medium. Viral titers were determined by measuring chicken red blood cell agglutination activity in the cell supernatant after 7 days of infection of MDCK cells by using the calculation method of Reed and Muench.

#### Isolation of lung cells

Mice were sacrificed and the lungs were removed. Single cell suspensions were prepared by digestion in collagenase/DNase solution for 30 minutes at 37°C. After digestion, the suspension was filtered over a  $100\mu$ m filter and red blood cells were lysed with osmotic lysis buffer (10mM KHCO<sub>3</sub>, 155mM NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, 0,1mM EDTA in ddH<sub>2</sub>0).

## Flow cytometry

Lung cells were stained extracellularly with anti-CD3 (17A2, conjugated to AF700, eBioscience), anti-CD19 (1D3, conjugated to APC, BD Bioscience), anti-IgM (R6-60.2, conjugated to PerCp-Cy5.5, BD Bioscience), anti-IgD (11-26c.2a, conjugated to PE, BD Bioscience), anti-CD95 (Jo2, conjugated to PE-Cy7, BD Bioscience), anti-GL7 (GL7, conjugated to Fitc, BD Bioscience) and a fixable live-dead marker (conjugated to eFI506, eBioscience).

Acquisition of samples was performed on a LSR II or Fortessa cytometer equipped with FACSDiva software (BD biosciences). Germinal center B cells were defined as CD3<sup>-</sup> CD19<sup>+</sup>IgM<sup>-</sup>IgD<sup>-</sup>CD95<sup>+</sup>GL7<sup>+</sup>. Final analysis and graphical output were performed using FlowJo software v9 (Tree Star, Inc.).

#### Real-time quantitative RT-PCR.

Quantitative RT-PCR for IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , LT $\beta$ , CCL19, CCL21, CXCL12 and CXCL13 were performed on RNA obtained from whole lung homogenates. Total RNA was extracted using Tripure reagent (Roche) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA was resuspended in Diethyl-polycarbonate (DEPC, Sigma) treated water. A total of 1µg RNA was used for reverse transcription using the Transcriptor High Fidelity Reverse Transcriptase kit (Roche) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The subsequent target amplification on triplicates of each cDNA sample was performed using the Universal Probe Library system from Roche (that contains fluorescent hydrolysis probes of 8 locked nucleic acids (LNA). Primers were designed with the help of the web-based application Probefinder (https://gpcr.probefinder.com) and a minimum of 2 primer pairs per target were analyzed. Primers were validated first using the LC480 SybrGreen Master (Roche) with melting curve analysis (TM calling) in the LC480 Software and then using the LC480 Probes Master. Aspecific primer pairs were discarded. Table 1 shows a comprehensive view of the primer/probe combinations chosen. PCR conditions were: 5' pre-incubation at 95°C followed by 45 amplification cycles of 10" at 95°C, 10" at 60°C and 20" at 72°C using a Lightcycler 480 (Roche). PCR amplifications for the housekeeping genes encoding Hprt or L27 were performed during each run for each sample to allow normalization between samples.

# Histology

Lungs were inflated with 1ml 1:1 PBS-OCT (Tissue Tec), snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. Frozen  $8\mu$ m sections were fixed in 4% PFA and blocked in a 1% blocking buffer (Roche).

Immunofluorescence staining was performed by staining for B220 (RA3-6B2, Rat-a-mB220 conjugated to PE, BD Bioscience) + Goat-a-Rat conjugated to AF555, Invitrogen), CD4 (RM4-5, Rat-a-CD4 conjugated to Fitc, eBioscience + Rab-a-Fitc conjugated to AF488, Invitrogen), CD8 (53-6.7, Rat-a-CD8 conjugated to Fitc, BD bioscience + Rab-a-Fitc conjugated to AF488, Invitrogen), CD11c (N418, Hamster-a-mCD11c conjugated to AF647, eBioscience), GL7 (GL7, Rat-a-mGL7 Fitc, BD bioscience + a-Fitc conjugated to HRP, Jackson + a-HRP conjugated to Fitc, Jackson). Where necessary, slides were incubated with 10% normal rat serum to prevent aspecific binding of antibodies. Slides were counterstained with Dapi and digitized on a LSM710 microscope (Zeiss). All depicted pictures are representative of at least five mice per group. Images were analyzed using Imaris software (Bitplane).

#### Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed using 3-6 animals per group. All experiments were performed at least two times. The difference between groups was calculated using the student t test for unpaired data (Prism version 6; GraphPad Software, Inc.). Data are depicted as mean +/- SEM. Differences were considered significant when p<0,05.

Analysis of the repeated relative body weight data was performed using the residual maximum likelihood (REML) as implemented in Genstat v17 (Payne, 2013). The following linear mixed model (random terms underlined) was fitted to the data:

 $Y_{ijkt} = \mu$  + genotype<sub>j</sub> + treatment<sub>k</sub> + time<sub>t</sub> + (genotype.treatment)<sub>jk</sub> + (genotype.time)<sub>jt</sub> + (treatment.time)<sub>kt</sub> + (genotype.treatment.time)<sub>jkt</sub> + (mouse.time)<sub>it</sub> + residual<sub>ijkt</sub>, where  $Y_{ijkt}$  is the relative body weight of *i*-th mouse having genotype *j*, k-treated and measured at time point t (t = 3 – 17 days; unequally spaced), and  $\mu$  is the overall mean calculated for all mice considered across all time points. A first order antedependence covariance structure was used to model the within-subject correlation. The significance of the comparison between WT-X31 and KO-X31 across time was assessed by an F-test.

A log-linear model (Poisson distribution and log link) was fitted to the amount of viral particles measured by hemagglutination inhibition assay. The dispersion parameter was set as free. Significance of main effects GENOTYPE and TIME and the GENOTYPE.TIME interaction effect was assessed by an F test.

## Funding

KN is supported by a grant from FWO Flanders. CG is supported by an ESMCID grant BL is supported by Project grants of FWO Flanders, by an ERC Consolidator grant, by an Interuniversity Attraction Pole grant and by a Ghent University MRP Grant (Group-ID consortium).

# Acknowledgments

We thank the technical and logistic support of Sofie De Prijck, Manon Vanheerswynghels, Gert Van Isterdael, Justine Van Moorleghem and Karl Vergote.

#### References

- 1. van Riel D, Munster VJ, de Wit E, Rimmelzwaan GF, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD et al. Human and avian influenza viruses target different cells in the lower respiratory tract of humans and other mammals. Am J Pathol 2007; 171(4): 1215-1223.
- 2. Lupfer C, Thomas PG, Anand PK, Vogel P, Milasta S, Martinez J et al. Receptor interacting protein kinase 2mediated mitophagy regulates inflammasome activation during virus infection. Nat Immunol 2013; 14(5): 480-488.
- 3. Sanders CJ, Doherty PC, Thomas PG. Respiratory epithelial cells in innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Cell Tissue Res 2011; 343(1): 13-21.
- 4. Cheong WC, Kang HR, Yoon H, Kang SJ, Ting JP, Song MJ. Influenza A Virus NS1 Protein Inhibits the NLRP3 Inflammasome. PLoS One 2015; 10(5): e0126456.
- 5. Moriyama M, Chen IY, Kawaguchi A, Koshiba T, Nagata K, Takeyama H et al. The RNA- and TRIM25-Binding Domains of Influenza Virus NS1 Protein Are Essential for Suppression of NLRP3 Inflammasome-Mediated Interleukin-1beta Secretion. J Virol 2016; 90(8): 4105-4114.
- 6. Chakrabarti A, Banerjee S, Franchi L, Loo YM, Gale M, Jr., Nunez G et al. RNase L activates the NLRP3 inflammasome during viral infections. Cell Host Microbe 2015; 17(4): 466-477.
- 7. Schmitz N, Kurrer M, Bachmann MF, Kopf M. Interleukin-1 is responsible for acute lung immunopathology but increases survival of respiratory influenza virus infection. J Virol 2005; 79(10): 6441-6448.
- 8. Szretter KJ, Gangappa S, Lu X, Smith C, Shieh WJ, Zaki SR et al. Role of host cytokine responses in the pathogenesis of avian H5N1 influenza viruses in mice. J Virol 2007; 81(6): 2736-2744.
- 9. Ichinohe T, Lee HK, Ogura Y, Flavell R, Iwasaki A. Inflammasome recognition of influenza virus is essential for adaptive immune responses. J Exp Med 2009; 206(1): 79-87.
- 10. Brandes M, Klauschen F, Kuchen S, Germain RN. A systems analysis identifies a feedforward inflammatory circuit leading to lethal influenza infection. *Cell* 2013; 154(1): 197-212.
- 11. Allen IC, Scull MA, Moore CB, Holl EK, McElvania-TeKippe E, Taxman DJ et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome mediates in vivo innate immunity to influenza A virus through recognition of viral RNA. Immunity 2009; 30(4): 556-565.
- 12. Breart B, Bousso P. Cellular orchestration of T cell priming in lymph nodes. Curr Opin Immunol 2006; 18(4): 483-490.
- 13. De Silva NS, Klein U. Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol 2015; 15(3): 137-148.
- 14. van de Pavert SA, Mebius RE. New insights into the development of lymphoid tissues. Nat Rev Immunol 2010; 10(9): 664-674.
- 15. Moyron-Quiroz JE, Rangel-Moreno J, Kusser K, Hartson L, Sprague F, Goodrich S et al. Role of inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue (iBALT) in respiratory immunity. Nat Med 2004; 10(9): 927-934.
- 16. Halle S, Dujardin HC, Bakocevic N, Fleige H, Danzer H, Willenzon S et al. Induced bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue serves as a general priming site for T cells and is maintained by dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2009; 206(12): 2593-2601.
- 17. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, Bergen IM, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Elewaut D et al. Dendritic cells are crucial for maintenance of tertiary lymphoid structures in the lung of influenza virus-infected mice. J Exp Med 2009; 206(11): 2339-2349.
- 18. Wiley JA, Richert LE, Swain SD, Harmsen A, Barnard DL, Randall TD et al. Inducible bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue elicited by a protein cage nanoparticle enhances protection in mice against diverse respiratory viruses. PLoS One 2009; 4(9): e7142.
- 19. Kim TS, Hufford MM, Sun J, Fu YX, Braciale TJ. Antigen persistence and the control of local T cell memory by migrant respiratory dendritic cells after acute virus infection. J Exp Med 2010; 207(6): 1161-1172.
- 20. Shinoda K, Hirahara K, Iinuma T, Ichikawa T, Suzuki AS, Sugaya K et al. Thy1+IL-7+ lymphatic endothelial cells in iBALT provide a survival niche for memory T-helper cells in allergic airway inflammation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2016.
- 21. Winter S, Loddenkemper C, Aebischer A, Rabel K, Hoffmann K, Meyer TF et al. The chemokine receptor CXCR5 is pivotal for ectopic mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue neogenesis in chronic Helicobacter pylori-induced inflammation. Journal of molecular medicine 2010; 88(11): 1169-1180.
- 22. Henry RA, Kendall PL. CXCL13 blockade disrupts B lymphocyte organization in tertiary lymphoid structures without altering B cell receptor bias or preventing diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. J Immunol 2010; 185(3): 1460-1465.
- 23. Magliozzi R, Columba-Cabezas S, Serafini B, Aloisi F. Intracerebral expression of CXCL13 and BAFF is accompanied by formation of lymphoid follicle-like structures in the meninges of mice with relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Journal of neuroimmunology 2004; 148(1-2): 11-23.
- 24. Litsiou E, Semitekolou M, Galani IE, Morianos I, Tsoutsa A, Kara P et al. CXCL13 production in B cells via Toll-like receptor/lymphotoxin receptor signaling is involved in lymphoid neogenesis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013; 187(11): 1194-1202.
- Rangel-Moreno J, Moyron-Quiroz JE, Hartson L, Kusser K, Randall TD. Pulmonary expression of CXC chemokine ligand 13, CC chemokine ligand 19, and CC chemokine ligand 21 is essential for local immunity to influenza. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104(25): 10577-10582.
  Luther SA, Bidgol A, Hargreaves DC, Schmidt A, Xu Y, Paniyadi J et al. Differing activities of homeostatic
- 26. Luther SA, Bidgol A, Hargreaves DC, Schmidt A, Xu Y, Paniyadi J et al. Differing activities of homeostatic chemokines CCL19, CCL21, and CXCL12 in lymphocyte and dendritic cell recruitment and lymphoid neogenesis. J Immunol 2002; 169(1): 424-433.
- 27. Timmer TC, Baltus B, Vondenhoff M, Huizinga TW, Tak PP, Verweij CL et al. Inflammation and ectopic lymphoid structures in rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissues dissected by genomics technology: identification of the interleukin-7 signaling pathway in tissues with lymphoid neogenesis. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 56(8): 2492-2502.

- 28. Takemura S, Braun A, Crowson C, Kurtin PJ, Cofield RH, O'Fallon WM et al. Lymphoid neogenesis in rheumatoid synovitis. J Immunol 2001; 167(2): 1072-1080.
- 29. van Roon JA, Verweij MC, Wijk MW, Jacobs KM, Bijlsma JW, Lafeber FP. Increased intraarticular interleukin-7 in rheumatoid arthritis patients stimulates cell contact-dependent activation of CD4(+) T cells and macrophages. Arthritis Rheum 2005; 52(6): 1700-1710.
- 30. Meier D, Bornmann C, Chappaz S, Schmutz S, Otten LA, Ceredig R et al. Ectopic lymphoid-organ development occurs through interleukin 7-mediated enhanced survival of lymphoid-tissue-inducer cells. Immunity 2007; 26(5): 643-654.
- 31. Perros F, Dorfmuller P, Montani D, Hammad H, Waelput W, Girerd B et al. Pulmonary lymphoid neogenesis in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2012; 185(3): 311-321.
- 32. Ishizuka IE, Chea S, Gudjonson H, Constantinides MG, Dinner AR, Bendelac A et al. Single-cell analysis defines the divergence between the innate lymphoid cell lineage and lymphoid tissue-inducer cell lineage. Nat Immunol 2016; 17(3): 269-276.
- 33. Baerenwaldt A, von Burg N, Kreuzaler M, Sitte S, Horvath E, Peter A et al. Flt3 Ligand Regulates the Development of Innate Lymphoid Cells in Fetal and Adult Mice. J Immunol 2016; 196(6): 2561-2571.
- 34. Rangel-Moreno J, Carragher DM, de la Luz Garcia-Hernandez M, Hwang JY, Kusser K, Hartson L et al. The development of inducible bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue depends on IL-17. Nat Immunol 2011; 12(7): 639-646.
- 35. Lochner M, Ohnmacht C, Presley L, Bruhns P, Si-Tahar M, Sawa S et al. Microbiota-induced tertiary lymphoid tissues aggravate inflammatory disease in the absence of RORgamma t and LTi cells. J Exp Med 2011; 208(1): 125-134.
- 36. Rangel-Moreno J, Moyron-Quiroz JE, Carragher DM, Kusser K, Hartson L, Moquin A et al. Omental milky spots develop in the absence of lymphoid tissue-inducer cells and support B and T cell responses to peritoneal antigens. Immunity 2009; 30(5): 731-743.
- 37. Marinkovic T, Garin A, Yokota Y, Fu YX, Ruddle NH, Furtado GC et al. Interaction of mature CD3+CD4+ T cells with dendritic cells triggers the development of tertiary lymphoid structures in the thyroid. J Clin Invest 2006; 116(10): 2622-2632.
- 38. Link A, Hardie DL, Favre S, Britschgi MR, Adams DH, Sixt M et al. Association of T-zone reticular networks and conduits with ectopic lymphoid tissues in mice and humans. Am J Pathol 2011; 178(4): 1662-1675.
- 39. Furtado GC, Marinkovic T, Martin AP, Garin A, Hoch B, Hubner W et al. Lymphotoxin beta receptor signaling is required for inflammatory lymphangiogenesis in the thyroid. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104(12): 5026-5031.
- 40. Endres R, Alimzhanov MB, Plitz T, Futterer A, Kosco-Vilbois MH, Nedospasov SA et al. Mature follicular dendritic cell networks depend on expression of lymphotoxin beta receptor by radioresistant stromal cells and of lymphotoxin beta and tumor necrosis factor by B cells. J Exp Med 1999; 189(1): 159-168.
- 41. Ansel KM, Ngo VN, Hyman PL, Luther SA, Forster R, Sedgwick JD et al. A chemokine-driven positive feedback loop organizes lymphoid follicles. Nature 2000; 406(6793): 309-314.
- 42. Neyt K, Perros F, GeurtsvanKessel CH, Hammad H, Lambrecht BN. Tertiary lymphoid organs in infection and autoimmunity. Trends Immunol 2012; 33(6): 297-305.
- 43. Neyt K, Lambrecht BN. The role of lung dendritic cell subsets in immunity to respiratory viruses. Immunol Rev 2013; 255(1): 57-67.
- 44. Lambrecht BN, Hammad H. Lung dendritic cells in respiratory viral infection and asthma : from protection to immunopathology Ann Rev Immunol 2012; 30: 243-270.
- 45. Plantinga M, Guilliams M, Vanheerswynghels M, Deswarte K, Branco Madeira F, Toussaint W et al. Conventional and monocyte-derived CD11b+ dendritic cells initiate and maintain T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity to house dust mite allergen. Immunity 2013; 38: doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.1010.1016.
- 46. McDonald KG, McDonough JS, Newberry RD. Adaptive Immune Responses Are Dispensable for Isolated Lymphoid Follicle Formation: Antigen-Naive, Lymphotoxin-Sufficient B Lymphocytes Drive the Formation of Mature Isolated Lymphoid Follicles. J Immunol 2005; 174(9): 5720-5728.
- 47. Chen CJ, Kono H, Golenbock D, Reed G, Akira S, Rock KL. Identification of a key pathway required for the sterile inflammatory response triggered by dying cells. Nat Med 2007; 13(7): 851-856.
- 48. Willart MA, Deswarte K, Pouliot P, Braun H, Beyaert R, Lambrecht BN et al. Interleukin-1alpha controls allergic sensitization to inhaled house dust mite via the epithelial release of GM-CSF and IL-33. J Exp Med 2012; 209(1505-1517).
- 49. McAuley JL, Tate MD, MacKenzie-Kludas CJ, Pinar A, Zeng W, Stutz A et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by IAV virulence protein PB1-F2 contributes to severe pathophysiology and disease. PLoS Pathog 2013; 9(5): e1003392.
- 50. Thomas PG, Dash P, Aldridge JR, Jr., Ellebedy AH, Reynolds C, Funk AJ et al. The intracellular sensor NLRP3 mediates key innate and healing responses to influenza A virus via the regulation of caspase-1. Immunity 2009; 30(4): 566-575.
- 51. Tschernig T, Pabst R. Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (BALT) is not present in the normal adult lung but in different diseases. Pathobiology 2000; 68(1): 1-8.
- 52. Heier I, Malmstrom K, Sajantila A, Lohi J, Makela M, Jahnsen FL. Characterisation of bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue and antigen-presenting cells in central airway mucosa of children. Thorax 2011; 66(2): 151-156.
- 53. Moyron-Quiroz JE, Rangel-Moreno J, Hartson L, Kusser K, Tighe MP, Klonowski KD et al. Persistence and responsiveness of immunologic memory in the absence of secondary lymphoid organs. Immunity 2006; 25(4): 643-654.
- 54. Takemura S, Braun A, Crowson C, Kurtin PJ, Cofield RH, O'Fallon WM et al. Lymphoid neogenesis in rheumatoid synovitis. J Immunol 2001; 167(2): 1072-1080.
- 55. Sato M, Hirayama S, Matsuda Y, Wagnetz D, Hwang DM, Guan Z et al. Stromal activation and formation of lymphoid-like stroma in chronic lung allograft dysfunction. Transplantation 2011; 91(12): 1398-1405.

- 56. Van Pottelberge GR, Bracke KR, Van den Broeck S, Reinartz SM, van Drunen CM, Wouters EF et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in pulmonary lymphoid follicles of patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 2010; 36(4): 781-791.
- 57. Morissette MC, Jobse BN, Thayaparan D, Nikota JK, Shen P, Labiris NR et al. Persistence of pulmonary tertiary lymphoid tissues and anti-nuclear antibodies following cessation of cigarette smoke exposure. Respir Res 2014; 15: 49.
- 58. van de Pavert SA, Olivier BJ, Goverse G, Vondenhoff MF, Greuter M, Beke P et al. Chemokine CXCL13 is essential for lymph node initiation and is induced by retinoic acid and neuronal stimulation. Nat Immunol 2009; 10(11): 1193-1199.
- 59. Veiga-Fernandes H, Coles MC, Foster KE, Patel A, Williams A, Natarajan D et al. Tyrosine kinase receptor RET is a key regulator of Peyer's patch organogenesis. Nature 2007; 446(7135): 547-551.
- 60. Osborn L, Hession C, Tizard R, Vassallo C, Luhowskyj S, Chi-Rosso G et al. Direct expression cloning of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, a cytokine-induced endothelial protein that binds to lymphocytes. Cell 1989; 59(6): 1203-1211.
- 61. Peters A, Pitcher LA, Sullivan JM, Mitsdoerffer M, Acton SE, Franz B et al. Th17 cells induce ectopic lymphoid follicles in central nervous system tissue inflammation. Immunity 2011; 35(6): 986-996.
- 62. Fleige H, Haas JD, Stahl FR, Willenzon S, Prinz I, Forster R. Induction of BALT in the absence of IL-17. Nat Immunol 2012; 13(1): 1; author reply 2.
- 63. Sutton C, Brereton C, Keogh B, Mills KH, Lavelle EC. A crucial role for interleukin (IL)-1 in the induction of IL-17producing T cells that mediate autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med 2006; 203(7): 1685-1691.
- 64. Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH. Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. Immunity 2009; 31(2): 331-341.
- 65. Chung Y, Chang SH, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Nurieva R, Kang HS et al. Critical regulation of early Th17 cell differentiation by interleukin-1 signaling. Immunity 2009; 30(4): 576-587.
- 66. Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD et al. Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. Nat Immunol 2007; 8(9): 950-957.
- 67. Ludewig B, Odermatt B, Landmann S, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. Dendritic cells induce autoimmune diabetes and maintain disease via de novo formation of local lymphoid tissue. J Exp Med 1998; 188(8): 1493-1501.
- 68. van Rijt LS, Vos N, Willart M, Muskens F, Tak PP, van der Horst C et al. Persistent activation of dendritic cells after resolution of allergic airway inflammation breaks tolerance to inhaled allergens in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011; 184(3): 303-311.
- 69. Muniz LR, Pacer ME, Lira SA, Furtado GC. A critical role for dendritic cells in the formation of lymphatic vessels within tertiary lymphoid structures. J Immunol 2011; 187(2): 828-834.
- 70. Nacionales DC, Kelly KM, Lee PY, Zhuang H, Li Y, Weinstein JS et al. Type I interferon production by tertiary lymphoid tissue developing in response to 2,6,10,14-tetramethyl-pentadecane (pristane). Am J Pathol 2006; 168(4): 1227-1240.
- 71. Pabst R, Tschernig T. Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue: an entry site for antigens for successful mucosal vaccinations? Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2010; 43(2): 137-141.

Chapter 6

# Summarizing discussion and future perspectives

Every winter period many people are affected by an influenza infection. While for the majority of people infected this does not cause severe illness or death, it does have a significant economical impact due to the associated medical costs and days lost from work or school. The threat of influenza pandemics is constantly present. Due to the genetic variability of influenza virus strains, the circulating viruses need to be monitored continuously and the vaccine composition needs to be adapted yearly. Currently no general vaccination strategy exists. Therefore it is crucial to enhance the knowledge about the molecular mechanisms behind genetic variability but also about the immune response against influenza infections.

The main immune responses against influenza virus infection are well understood. The epithelial layer provides a first natural barrier against infection, once this barrier is broken, influenza viruses can infect these epithelial cells. Innate immune cells like NK cells and neutrophils will recognize these foreign antigens and provide a first non-specific defense mechanism. Dendritic cells will sample viral antigens and present it to CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the lung-draining lymph nodes (LNs). Antigen specific T cells will be activated, proliferate and migrate back to the lung environment where a second encounter with their cognate antigen will activate them to exert their effector functions: cytotoxic killing by CD8 T cells and Th1-mediated. Also in the LNs, antigen-specific B cells will be activated and will produce virus-specific antibodies to kill infected cells or limit viral spread. Once the infection is cleared, memory T and B cells will remain in the tissue and the secondary lymphoid organs that provide a rapid defense mechanism by reinfection with a homologous or heterologous virus.

In this thesis, different aspects of the immune response to influenza A virus infection were addressed – DC-mediated immunity, T cell immunity and iBALT formation – by using a mouse model for mild seasonal influenza infection and with the main focus on a better understanding of the heterogeneity of the different arms of the immune system.

In chapter 3 we examined the different populations of dendritic cells (DCs) present in the lung and LNs during influenza infection. Dendritic cells are the crucial link between the innate and adaptive immune responses, sampling antigen during the innate response and initiating the adaptive response by presenting such antigens to naïve T cells in the LN. As DCs are a crucial link to shift from a non-specific innate immune response towards a very specific adaptive immune response, better understanding of the DC biology can aid to improve or accelerate the generation of a powerful and more optimal T cell response during vaccination or treatment strategies. Our analysis of the DC subsets revealed that in addition to the presence of cDC1s, cDC2s and monocyte derived cells (MCs), which are also found in the lung during homeostasis, mild seasonal influenza infection (X31 virus, H3N2) resulted in the presence of a new subset of cDCs. These cDCs resembled cDC2s, however they also expressed the prototypical monocyte-marker MAR-1. We termed these novel cDC2s MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s. We found that MAR-1 expression was induced in a type 1 IFN dependent manner and that these cells were more mature than conventional cDC2s. Additionally, and somewhat surprisingly, these MAR-1+ cDC2s also acquired expression of the cDC1related transcription factor IRF8. Functionally, IRF8 induction controls a functional module in cDC2s responsible for maturation and antigen presentation. During the process of defining the ontogeny of this MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DC, we came across some limitations

of widely used techniques for dissecting DC ontogeny. We first attempted to use Flt3l-/- and Ccr2-/- mice to define the pre-cDC or monocyte-derived cells respectively<sup>1,2</sup> but this was not that straightforward as several bystander effects occurred in these transgenic mice. Flt31-/- mice also have a defect in lymphocyte, NK cell and neutrophil development<sup>3</sup> that can influence the course of infection and obscure the results. CCR2 dependency is typically used to identify cells of monocytic origin. However, we noted a significant reduction in cDC1s and cDC2s upon inflammation in Ccr2<sup>-/-</sup> mice which would theoretically indicate that these cells are of monocytic origin however, we know this is not the case as it is well established that cDCs arise from progenitors committed to the cDC lineage namely the pre-cDCs. Additionally, the WT:CCR2-/- competitive chimeras that we generated suggested that the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs were CCR2-dependent and hence one would normally conclude that these are thus of monocytic origin. However, when we performed adoptive transfer of monocytes or pre-cDCs, it became apparent that these MAR-1<sup>+</sup> DCs arose from pre-cDCs and not monocytes demonstrating them to be a cDC population. Thus adoptive transfer of progenitors appears to be the most valid method of investigating and confirming DC ontogeny. Importantly, this is not the first time that CCR2-dependency has been described in a cDC population. In the gut it has previously been reported that a subset of CD103-CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2s express CCR2 and are dependent upon it<sup>4</sup>. Additionally, in our lab it has recently been shown that cDCs in the heart also express CCR2 and these are also reduced in Ccr2<sup>+</sup> mice (Van Der Borght et al. submitted for publication). This is the first time that a typical monocyte marker is described to be expressed on conventional DCs. This questions of course the classification of MAR-1 as a monocyte marker. Together with the analysis of gene expression data, we showed that caution should be taken when analyzing DC subsets in inflammatory models since the expression levels of many genes and surface markers change upon inflammation, which can influence the classification system. Gene expression analysis showed that XCR1 and SIRPa are good markers to separate cDC1s and cDC2s respectively as XCR1 expression remains cDC1 specific upon IAV infection and the expression of SIRP $\alpha$  remains shared between MCs and cDC2s. As SIRPa expression is shared with MCs, a good monocyte and conventional marker remains necessary to split up MCs and cDC2s. Two possible candidates we identified in this project are MerTk and CD26. This confirms the gating strategy that can be applied on human, mouse and macague DC subsets that was empirically developed in our lab by Dr. Charlotte Scott and Prof. Martin Guilliams in collaboration with the labs of Prof. Bernard Malissen and Prof. Florent Ginhoux which they described as "a global key" to define DC subsets (Guilliams et al., Immunity, in press).

As mentioned above MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s were found to express the transcription factor (TF) IRF8. TFs such as IRF8 can induce and/or repress a substantial amount of genes and therefore we hypothesized that the upregulation of IRF8 in cDC2s would have major effects. Indeed, we found that both the maturation status (signal 2 for T cell activation) and the capacity to produce IL-12 (signal 3 for T cell activation) were increased in MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s compared with MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s. This led us to investigate the antigen presenting potential of these cells. Remarkably, MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s acquire a good capacity to present antigen to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and to induce their proliferation, a function 146

that is mostly attributed to cDC1s during IAV<sup>5, 6</sup>. Nevertheless, some research groups also attributed this function to CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs, consisting of both true cDCs and MCs<sup>7</sup>. Retrospectively, the ratio of MCs and cDCs in this population might be influencing the outcome of antigen presentation assays as we have shown that MCs do not fall in the MHCII<sup>hi</sup> DC population of the LN (suggesting that they do not migrate from the lung to the LN) and that MCs of the lung are not capable of inducing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation. Therefore, when they are highly present in the sorted population, they might dilute the antigen presentation capacity of the cDCs in the population. The contrary is also true, antigen presentation capacity of cDCs will only be picked up in a model where the induction of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s is high compared to the MAR-1<sup>-</sup> cDC2s as these are poor antigen presentation assays.

In conclusion, the correct identification of the DC subsets is crucial and only once the distinct subsets are evaluated can the consequences of different viral strains, infectious doses and routes of administration be compared. Thus we believe that the gating strategy presented in this thesis provides a significant step forward in the field as it allows the distinct subsets present during IAV to be comprehensively evaluated. The next step will be to see if this holds true in humans so that once we understand the specific functions of the cells we can aim to boost the DC response of the most powerful subset to aid in viral elimination.

Philosophically we can wonder why the immune system would instruct a cell to acquire a hybrid phenotype (MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2) when a specialized cell (cDC1) is already present to perform a certain function. One hypothesis is that in the context of inflammation and more specifically IAV infection, the pressure on the immune system to limit the spread of the virus is high. We and others have previously made the observation that the amount cDC1s in the lungs is not strongly increased shortly after IAV infection and cDC1 DCs disappear from the trachea at that time, which might limit the strength of the CTL response<sup>8, 9</sup>. It is possible that induction of the IRF8-dependent module is an emergency rescue for allowing additional CTL induction by DC subsets that normally do not (cross)present viral antigens to CD8 T cells, driven by type I interferons<sup>10</sup>. One can assume that in this way a maximum capacity of antigen transport to the draining lymph nodes is maintained as cDC2s migrate proficiently also later in infection. Additionally, it would be beneficial to the host to send cells to the lymph node that can combine different immune functions. In this way, the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 acquire a capacity to induce the CTL response (a function traditionally attributed to cDC1) while maintaining the capacity to mount a strong antiviral state (a feature shared with MCs and cDC1). As there are also genes that are specifically induced by IAV only in MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s and MCs (cluster 4 genes), we speculate that closer study of those genes might offer explanations why DCs adopt a hybrid phenotype.

New tools are urgently needed to address the exact in vivo role of the MAR-1+ cDC2s. The use of CD11c Cre mice to create conditional knock-out mice has the disadvantage that the whole DC population is targeted. Additionally, as alveolar macrophages also express CD11c these are also targeted in these mice. Recently, two interesting new mice lines have been created. Zbtb46 Cre mice target the conventional DCs (i.e. cDC1 and cDC2) specifically while the Xcr1 DTR mice allow the

specific removal of cDC1s through administration of diphtheria toxin. Crucially, however, a cDC2 specific mouse line is still missing and considering the fact that cDC2s share all their genes with either cDC1s or MCs, it will be almost impossible to develop such a line. The MAR-1 antibody that we used to define MCs and that is also expressed on a subset of cDC2s is generated to react specifically to an antigenic site of the FcERI. By studying the DC subsets in  $Fc \in RI^{-/-}$  mice we found that the amount and distribution of the different subsets, nor the intensity of MAR-1 staining on DCs is affected in these mice, while expression of FceRI on mast cells and basophils is indeed absent. This means that the antibody potentially has a cross reactivity with other proteins. Hence, if we can identify the gene product that is targeted by our MAR-1 antibody, we could develop new mouse tools. First, we could develop a mouse line lacking the MAR-1 epitope based on Cre-Lox technology (floxing the gene of interest, encoding the MAR-1 epitope) and crossing it to the Zbtb46 Cre mice. In this way, we will create a mouse that is unable to express the unknown MAR-1 epitope on the cDCs, while still allowing expression on MCs. Hence we can address the effect of lack of MAR-1 induction in the cDC2 population on for example CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses in vivo. A tool to specifically deplete the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 subset would involve creating a knock in of loxSTOPlox-DTR in the "MAR-1" gene, and subsequent crossing of these mice to the Zbtb46-Cre line. This should allow specific targeting of MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s, while sparing MCs.

Besides improving murine experimental tools, it is also necessary to develop tools to investigate whether MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s can also be detected in humans. Currently there is no human MAR-1 antibody available. This means that the MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s can until now only be identified as an IRF8 expressing population within the total cDC2 population. If human cDC2s also segregate into two different activation states (being an IRF8 expressing population), it would be of great interest of the DC vaccination field to screen for correlation between disease severity, duration of the disease and induced direct antiviral and memory responses.

As described above, cDCs are crucial in the initiation of adaptive immune responses through the presentation of antigen to naïve T cells. Thus having investigated the distinct DC populations during IAV, in chapter 4, we next turned our attention to the T cell response during IAV infection. Specifically, we focused on the CD4-CD8 double negative (DN) T cell population, as these cells are often neglected from analysis, and compared their phenotype with the already intensively described CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. DN T cells are true T cells as they express the T cell receptor and are not NKT cells, as they don't react with the aGalCer CD1d tetramers. They are thymically derived and in contrast to the conventional T cells, they reside in the lung parenchyma rather than in the lung vasculature already in steady-state conditions where they have a  $T_{\rm rm}$ phenotype. Although they had a memory phenotype, they did not react to reinfection with a heterologous virus, showing that viral replication is necessary for their expansion. In the field of transplant rejection it is believed that DN T cells are activated CD4 T cells that downregulate the expression of the CD4 coreceptor<sup>11</sup>. We were not able to confirm that during IAV infection classical CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells give rise to the DN T cells population. Our arguments against this hypothesis are that the V $\beta$  repertoire of the TCR is not similar to that of either CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and that intracellular staining for CD4 148

and CD8 could not reveal significant expression of CD4 and CD8 inside DN T cells. Moreover it was recently shown that thymically-derived DN T cells from the gut epithelium have a different TCR repertoire than other T cells, with a specificity different from the currently existing MHCI- and MHCII-restricted specificities<sup>12</sup>. These observations led to the hypothesis that DN T cells are playing a non-redundant role in the protection against invading pathogens especially under conditions of immune evasion as well-developed conventional pathways are often the target of immune evasion strategies. This hypothesis is well applicable to the IAV infection model as influenza viruses developed several immune evasion strategies based on protection mechanisms at different levels of the immune response<sup>13</sup>. Therefore it would be interesting to study the TCR repertoire in more detail, e.g. with the cloning strategies used by the Cheroutre group. Functionally, DN T cells have immunoregulatory capacities as they enhanced the survival of CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDC2 and MCs during in vitro cocultures. The inhibition of apoptosis in part of the DC subsets indicates that DN T cells can prolong the survival of certain cell types when immune pressure is present. A substantial part of the DN T cells expressed high levels of FasL, a protein involved in cell dead induction. Therefore it was surprising that DN T cells actually prolonged the survival of certain DC subsets in vitro. This suggests that DN T cells might either have different functions or that they represent a mixed population composed of cells with opposite functions. In the first scenario, DN T cells might exert a different function depending on the cells they interact with. Previously, they have been described to suppress B cells<sup>14</sup> and T cells<sup>15</sup>. Therefore it might be of interest to coculture them with different cell types and compare the effect of presence of DN T cells with the cells to address whether they react differently depending on the interacting cell type.

As these cells are defined by negative markers, it is difficult to do functional in vivo studies, as we cannot deplete them with depleting antibodies. Therefore it would be interesting to perform single-cell RNA sequence analysis to evaluate if this population is homogenous or a mixture of different cell types. Further, we can use these data to define a discriminating marker to facilitate in vivo functional studies on these cells.

Long after the virus has been cleared from the lung by specific T cell and B cell responses, iBALT structures can be observed in the lungs. These tertiary lymphoid structures often form at the branching of the bronchi and are composed of B cells, T cells and DCs, similar to classical secondary lymphoid organs such as the spleen and lymph nodes. Consequently they can be a local induction site for protective immune responses in case of viral or bacterial infections. Therefore it is of great interest to have an in-depth knowledge about the developmental mechanisms and signals to sustain iBALT structures in the lung. The development of TLOs is very similar to SLOs, but in contrast to the well-defined developmental pathway of SLOs, the development of TLOs is subjected to more variation depending on the model. Especially the early initiating steps are still unclear. For example, the typical lymphoid tissue inducer cells are dispensable for iBALT formation, but the true nature of the cell or signal that is necessary to induce iBALT is still under debate. In chapter 5 we questioned whether the intensity of the early innate response is influencing the outcome of iBALT formation. We have shown that the instructive signals for iBALT formation are already given very early (2dpi)

after infection and that it is the innate cytokine IL-1 $\alpha$  that can boost germinal center formation in the lung. Before, it was shown that IL-17 plays an important role in iBALT induction during IAV infection<sup>16</sup>. As there is a link between IL-1 signaling and IL-17 production<sup>17-20</sup>, we also questioned whether IL-17 is involved in our model. However, studies in II17r<sup>-/-</sup> mice could not reveal a difference in iBALT formation and the administration of recombinant IL-1 did not influence the magnitude of the Th17 response in our model. We deliberately chose a mild seasonal influenza virus infection (X31, H3N2) whereas mostly PR8 (H1N1), a more pathological virus strain, is used to study iBALT induction. Additionally, the Randall group already primed neonatal mice with LPS before influenza infection at 6 weeks of age. Given the big amount of LPS to which the lungs are exposed we can assume that the natural environment of the lung is already changed before the actual influenza infection. In our lab, Martijn Schuijs studied the effect of LPS exposure on asthma development. LPS pretreatment appeared protective for later asthma development and histological analysis of the lungs revealed a major presence of iBALT structures whereas the normal house dust mite-driven model of asthma development generally does not lead to iBALT formation. So it remains a question if the Randall group rather studied LPS-driven iBALT formation rather than influenza-driven iBALT formation. The group of Förster has confirmed that iBALT formation caused by different respiratory infections can have different developmental mechanisms as infection with Vaccinia Ankara virus leads to iBALT formation in an IL-17 independent manner whereas Pseudomonas-induced iBALT does require IL-17 signals<sup>21</sup>.

We have previously shown that repeated injections of GM-CSF cultured bone marrow DCs can induce iBALT formation<sup>22</sup>. As we noticed that MCs are decreased during the course of IAV infection in IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> mice and that MCs were previously described to be major chemokine producers, it might be that IL-1 signaling results in MC recruitment and these MCs might be the producers of CXCL13. We also observed a decrease in MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2 induction (data not shown), so it would be informative to address the iBALT-inducing capacity of injected MCs and MAR-1<sup>+</sup> cDC2s and compare them with macrophages as it was recently shown that GM-CSF DCs are a mixture of cDC2s and a macrophage-like monocyte-derived cell<sup>23</sup>.

The fact that germinal centers are present in these structures enables them to mount specific immune responses to invading pathogens. Therefore, they are of interest to be exploited during vaccination<sup>24</sup>. Our study identified an innate cytokine that boosts iBALT formation. It would be interesting to see if repeated exposure of the lungs to IL-1 $\alpha$  without the presence of a pathogen also induces iBALT. Secondly, iBALT structures are present in the lungs of children with recurrent respiratory infections<sup>25</sup>, but are generally absent in the lungs of healthy adults<sup>26</sup> suggesting that they disappear over time when there are not enough insults. Thus it would not only be interesting to study if IL-1 $\alpha$  can induce iBALT but also if repeated exposure after formation of iBALT structures can prevent the disappearance.

Before iBALT can be used as a vaccination strategy, it is however crucial to investigate how we can prevent that, as a side effect, iBALT structures can also generate autoantibodies and thus induce auto-immune diseases. Another issue that is hampering translation to humans is the fact that invasive techniques are essential to assess the presence of iBALT structures in the lungs. All together, we generated several insights that can improve future research to the immune response against influenza virus infection. Firstly, we identified a maturation status of cDC2s that acquires typical cDC1 functions and might be a strategy of the immune response to optimize the immune response by combining the most necessary immune functions in one cell type, a finding that could be exploited to create novel vaccination strategies, if we could find vaccines that specifically elicit IRF8+MAR-1+ cDC2s. In addition, this research has raised the consciousness about the fact that caution should be taken when using cell subset "specific" markers or transcription factors - generally regarded as the gold standards of lineage definition - in inflammatory models. Secondly, we gained more insight in the phenotype of DN T cells. More in-depth analysis of the TCR specificity of these cells will however be necessary to evaluate if these cells exert an antigen-specific function or not. Moreover single-cell analysis will be crucial to exclude that these cells are a heterogeneous population. Lastly, we showed that innate immune signals condition the lung for iBALT formation after viral clearance, creating the awareness that the first nonspecific immune response is crucial for later adaptive immune reservoirs. Again, better understanding of such innate signals that boost the formation of iBALT structures that are emerging as important structures in long lasting immune protection could greatly improve vaccine design in the future.

#### References

- Karsunky H, Merad M, Cozzio A, Weissman IL, Manz MG. Flt3 ligand regulates dendritic cell development from Flt3+ lymphoid and myeloid-committed progenitors to Flt3+ dendritic cells in vivo. J Exp Med 2003; 198(2): 305-313.
- 2. Serbina NV, Pamer EG. Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2. Nat Immunol 2006; 7(3): 311-317.
- 3. McKenna HJ, Stocking KL, Miller RE, Brasel K, De Smedt T, Maraskovsky E et al. Mice lacking flt3 ligand have deficient hematopoiesis affecting hematopoietic progenitor cells, dendritic cells, and natural killer cells. Blood 2000; 95(11): 3489-3497.
- 4. Scott CL, Bain CC, Wright PB, Sichien D, Kotarsky K, Persson EK et al. CCR2(+)CD103(-) intestinal dendritic cells develop from DC-committed precursors and induce interleukin-17 production by T cells. Mucosal Immunol 2015; 8(2): 327-339.
- 5. Helft J, Manicassamy B, Guermonprez P, Hashimoto D, Silvin A, Agudo J et al. Cross-presenting CD103+ dendritic cells are protected from influenza virus infection. The Journal of clinical investigation 2012; 122(11): 4037-4047.
- 6. Moltedo B, Li W, Yount JS, Moran TM. Unique type I interferon responses determine the functional fate of migratory lung dendritic cells during influenza virus infection. PLoS Pathog 2011; 7(11): e1002345.
- 7. Ballesteros-Tato A, Leon B, Lund FE, Randall TD. Temporal changes in dendritic cell subsets, cross-priming and costimulation via CD70 control CD8(+) T cell responses to influenza. Nat Immunol 2010; 11(3): 216-224.
- 8. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Kool M, Baas C et al. Clearance of influenza virus from the lung depends on migratory langerin+CD11b- but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med 2008; 205(7): 1621-1634.
- 9. Hao X, Kim TS, Braciale TJ. Differential response of respiratory dendritic cell subsets to influenza virus infection. J Virol 2008; 82(10): 4908-4919.
- 10. Tailor P, Tamura T, Kong HJ, Kubota T, Kubota M, Borghi P et al. The feedback phase of type I interferon induction in dendritic cells requires interferon regulatory factor 8. Immunity 2007; 27(2): 228-239.
- 11. Grishkan IV, Ntranos A, Calabresi PA, Gocke AR. Helper T cells down-regulate CD4 expression upon chronic stimulation giving rise to double-negative T cells. Cell Immunol 2013; 284(1-2): 68-74.
- 12. Mayans S, Stepniak D, Palida SF, Larange A, Dreux J, Arlian BM et al. alphabetaT cell receptors expressed by CD4(-)CD8alphabeta(-) intraepithelial T cells drive their fate into a unique lineage with unusual MHC reactivities. Immunity 2014; 41(2): 207-218.
- 13. van de Sandt CE, Kreijtz JH, Rimmelzwaan GF. Evasion of influenza a viruses from innate and adaptive immune responses. Viruses 2012; 4(9): 1438-1476.
- 14. Li W, Tian Y, Li Z, Gao J, Shi W, Zhu J et al. Ex vivo converted double negative T cells suppress activated B cells. Int Immunopharmacol 2014; 20(1): 164-169.
- 15. Voelkl S, Gary R, Mackensen A. Characterization of the immunoregulatory function of human TCRalphabeta(+) CD4(-) CD8(-) double-negative T cells. Eur J Immunol 2011; 41(3): 739-748.
- 16. Rangel-Moreno J, Carragher DM, de la Luz Garcia-Hernandez M, Hwang JY, Kusser K, Hartson L et al. The development of inducible bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue depends on IL-17. Nat Immunol 2011; 12(7): 639-646.
- 17. Sutton C, Brereton C, Keogh B, Mills KH, Lavelle EC. A crucial role for interleukin (IL)-1 in the induction of IL-17producing T cells that mediate autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med 2006; 203(7): 1685-1691.
- Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH. Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. Immunity 2009; 31(2): 331-341.
- 19. Chung Y, Chang SH, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Nurieva R, Kang HS et al. Critical regulation of early Th17 cell differentiation by interleukin-1 signaling. Immunity 2009; 30(4): 576-587.
- 20. Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD et al. Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. Nat Immunol 2007; 8(9): 950-957.
- 21. Fleige H, Haas JD, Stahl FR, Willenzon S, Prinz I, Forster R. Induction of BALT in the absence of IL-17. Nat Immunol 2012; 13(1): 1; author reply 2.
- 22. GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, Bergen IM, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Elewaut D et al. Dendritic cells are crucial for maintenance of tertiary lymphoid structures in the lung of influenza virus-infected mice. J Exp Med 2009; 206(11): 2339-2349.
- 23. Helft J, Bottcher J, Chakravarty P, Zelenay S, Huotari J, Schraml BU et al. GM-CSF Mouse Bone Marrow Cultures Comprise a Heterogeneous Population of CD11c(+)MHCII(+) Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. Immunity 2015; 42(6): 1197-1211.
- 24. Pabst R, Tschernig T. Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue: an entry site for antigens for successful mucosal vaccinations? Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2010; 43(2): 137-141.
- 25. Heier I, Malmstrom K, Sajantila A, Lohi J, Makela M, Jahnsen FL. Characterisation of bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue and antigen-presenting cells in central airway mucosa of children. Thorax 2011; 66(2): 151-156.
- 26. Tschernig T, Pabst R. Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (BALT) is not present in the normal adult lung but in different diseases. Pathobiology 2000; 68(1): 1-8.

Chapter 7

Nederlandse samenvatting

Elke winter worden heel wat mensen getroffen door de griep, veroorzaakt door infectie met een influenza virus. Voor de meerderheid leidt griep infectie gelukkig niet tot ernstige ziekte of zelfs de dood. Toch heeft dit een aanzienlijke economische impact door de medische kosten die het met zich mee brengt en de afwezigheid op het werk of school. Bovendien is er de continue dreiging dat er een pandemie ontstaat. Doordat het genoom van influenza virussen zeer variabel is moeten de circulerende virussen constant gescreend worden en moet de samenstelling van de vaccins voor het komende griepseizoen op basis van voorspellingen aangepast worden. Daardoor is er nooit een volledige zekerheid dat het vaccin perfect afgestemd zal zijn op de virussen die daadwerkelijk mensen gaan infecteren. Bovendien is er nog geen uitzicht op een universele vaccinatiestrategie die de variabiliteit van het influenza virus omzeilt. Daarom is het belangrijk om de kennis over de moleculaire mechanismes die de genetische variabiliteit drijven en over de afweerreactie tegen influenza virussen uit te bouwen.

De algemene principes van de afweerreactie tegen influenza virus infectie zijn al goed gekarakteriseerd. Het epitheel van de longen vormt een eerste natuurlijke barrière, maar eens deze barrière omzeild is, kan het virus de epitheelcellen infecteren. Aangeboren (innate) afweercellen zoals NK cellen en neutrofielen zullen de vreemde partikels herkennen en een eerste aspecifieke afweerreactie induceren. Dendritische cellen nemen stukjes van het virus op en presenteren dit antigen aan de T cellen in de lymfeknopen. Op deze plaats zullen T cellen die deze stukjes herkennen geactiveerd worden, migreren naar de long en daar hun functies uitoefenen. Veder zullen er in de lymfeknopen ook B cellen geactiveerd worden en deze cellen zullen uiteindelijk antilichamen produceren om geïnfecteerde cellen te doden of om de verspreiding van het virus tegen te gaan. Eenmaal de infectie geklaard is zullen T en B cellen in de weefsels en lymfoïde organen achterblijven die een "geheugen" hebben over hun functie en specificiteit en hierdoor zullen zij een snelle maar heel specifieke afweerrespons kunnen induceren wanneer het lichaam getroffen wordt door een reïnfectie met hetzelfde of een sterk gelijkend virus.

In dit proefschrift hebben we verschillende takken van de afweerrespons tegen influenza virussen bestudeerd: de heterogeniteit van dendritische cellen en T cellen en de vorming van iBALT structuren.

In hoofdstuk 3 werden de verschillende types dendritische cellen (DCs) bestudeerd in de long en de lymfeknopen die de long draineren. Omdat DCs een cruciale link vormen tussen de overgang van een aspecifieke aangeboren afweerreactie naar een specifieke afweerrespons, is het belangrijk om de biologie van de DCs goed te begrijpen. Deze kennis kan immers bijdragen tot het verbeteren of versnellen van een optimale T cel respons tijdens vaccinatie- of behandelingsstrategieën. Tijdens onze onderzoeken hebben we een type 2 DC geïdentificeerd die de oppervlakte merkers van een monocyte-afgeleide cel (MC) verkrijgt, maar ook functies kan uitvoeren die voornamelijk aan type 1 DCs werden toegewezen. Dit zou een strategie van het afweersysteem kunnen zijn om de meest noodzakelijke functies in één celtype te combineren. Deze bevindingen kunnen gebruikt worden om te onderzoeken of we vaccins kunnen ontwikkelen die specifiek dit celtype induceert. Tijdens dit onderzoek hebben we er ook op gewezen dat het gebruik van merkers en transcriptiefactoren die eerder beschreven werden als specifiek voor een bepaald type cel vaak geen stand houdt tijdens inflammatoire reacties.

Aangezien DCs verantwoordelijk zijn voor het induceren van een specifieke (adaptieve) afweerreactie door antigenen te presenteren aan T cellen, zijn we in hoofdstuk 4 dieper ingegaan op de T cel respons tegen influenza virus infectie. We hebben hierbij voornamelijk de focus gelegd op de zogenaamde "dubbel negatieve T cellen" die heel vaak niet geanalyseerd worden wanneer men de verschillende types T cellen bestudeert. Als eerste hebben we aangetoond dat dit weldegelijk echte T cellen zijn aangezien ze de T cel receptor op hun oppervlakte dragen. Verder hebben we het fenotype van deze cellen grondig vergeleken met dat van de CD4+ en CD8+ T cellen. Hieruit bleek dat deze cellen al in basale condities een geheugen fenotype hebben en eerder in het weefsel dan in de bloedvaten van de long verblijven. Functioneel hebben we aangetoond dat deze cellen het overleven van type 2 DCs en MCs, maar niet van type 1 DCs, tijdens in vitro culturen verlengen. Verder onderzoek moet uitwijzen of deze cellen een homogene populatie vormen of een samenstelling zijn van functioneel verschillende types T cellen.

Na het klaren van de infectie blijven er vaak iBALT structuren achter in de long. Deze lymfoïde structuren liggen dicht bij de vertakkingen van de van de luchtpijp. Hun samenstelling is sterk vergelijkbaar met die van de lymfeknopen en functioneel kunnen ze ook een plaats zijn waar T en B cel responsen geïnduceerd worden. In hoofdstuk 5 hebben we bestudeerd of de intensiteit van de vroege aangeboren afweerreactie invloed heeft op latere iBALT vorming. Uit de proeven bleek dat de signalen voor iBALT vorming al heel vroeg na infectie moeten gegeven worden en dat het cytokine IL-1 het ontstaan van iBALT structuren kan bevorderen. Een experimenteel model waarin gekeken wordt of IL-1 toediening enerzijds de vorming van iBALT structuren kan induceren zonder blootstelling aan pathogenen en anderzijds de al gevormde iBALT structuren in stand kan houden zou een interessante onderzoekslijn zijn om de mogelijke toepassing van iBALT als vaccinatiestrategie te bepalen. Echter, een belangrijke kanttekening bij het potentieel van iBALT structuren als vaccinatiestrategie is het feit dat deze structuren naast een nuttige afweerrespons tegen virale infecties ook een afweerrespons zou kunnen induceren tegen lichaamseigen eiwitten en ΖO auto-immuun ziektes zou kunnen veroorzaken.

About the author

# Curriculum Vitae

Katrijn Neyt °22/09/1986, Ghent, Belgium

A strong interest in understanding the immune response leading to allergic diseases and the possible genetic predispositions was the reason why I started my master thesis on mast cells and asthma in the lab of prof. Lambrecht at Ghent University. After my thesis, I was offered the opportunity to start up an influenza research line in the lab to study tertiary lymphoid organ formation after influenza virus infection. Six years later, after successfully implementing viral assays and read-outs in our lab and several side-step projects, I am finishing my PhD thesis based on several review articles and three primary research articles on dendritic cell and T cell subsets biology and iBALT formation. A specific interest in translating basic research into vaccine or drug development inspired me to work as an industrial liaison within the Lambrecht lab to coordinate and perform research assignments from pharmaceutical and biotech companies like GSK, ALK, Thrombogenics and Argen-x.

Education

2009 - 2016	PhD in biomedical sciences "Pulmonary immune responses after influenza virus infection" Promotor: Prof. Dr. Bart Lambrecht VIB Inflammation Research Center FWO Aspirant Fellowship
2007 - 2009	Master in biomedical sciences "The role of transcription factor GATA-1 in mast cell development and function" Promotor: Prof. Dr. Bart Lambrecht Ghent University
2004 - 2007	Bachelor in biomedical sciences Ghent University
2002 - 2004	Secondary school: science-mathematics Sint-Lievenscollege Gent
1998 - 2002	Secondary school: Latin-mathematics De La Salle College Gent

# PhD portfolio

#### Publications in A1 journals

<u>Neyt K</u>, GeurtsvanKessel C, Deswarte K, Hammad H, Lambrecht B. 2016. Early IL-1a signaling is required and sufficient for iBALT induction after influenza virus infection. Frontiers in Immunlogy 7:312.

<u>Neyt K,</u> GeurtsvanKessel CH, Lambrecht BN. 2016. Double-negative T resident memory cells of the lung react to influenza virus infection via CD11c<sup>hi</sup> dendritic cells. Mucosoal Immunology 9(4):999-1014.

<u>Neyt K</u>, Lambrecht B. 2013. The role of lung dendritic cell subsets in immunity to respiratory viruses. Immunological reviews 255:57-67.

Plantinga M, Guilliams M, Vanheerswynghels M, Deswarte K, Branco-Madeira F, Toussaint W, Vanhoutte L, <u>Neyt K</u>, Killeen N, Malissen B, Hammad H, Lambrecht B. 2013. Function of conventional and monocyte-derived dendritic cells in house dust mite driven Th2 immunity and asthma. Immunity 38:322-335.

<u>Neyt K</u>, Perros F, GeurtsvanKessel CH, Hammad H, Lambrecht BN. 2012. Tertiary lymphoid organs in infection and autoimmunity. Trends in Immunology 33:297-305.

Schotsaert M, Ysenbaert T, <u>Neyt K</u>, Ibanez LI, Bogaert P, Schepens B, Lambrecht BN, Fiers W, Saelens X. 2013. Natural and long-lasting cellular immune responses against influenza virus in the M2e-immune host. Mucosal Immunology 6:276-287.

#### Manuscripts in preparation

<u>Neyt K</u>, De Prijck S, Bosteels C, Van Helden M, Martens L, Saeys Y, Sichien D, Scott C, Guilliams M, Lambrecht B. IFNAR signaling induces a functional IRF8 module in conventional CD11b+ type 2 dendritic cells during influenza infection.

#### Book chapters

Lambrecht BN, <u>Neyt K</u>, van Helden MJ. 2015. The mucosal immune response to respiratory viruses. In Mestecky J, Strober W, Russel M, Cheroutre H & Lambrecht B (Eds.), Mucosal Immunology. Academic Press Amsterdam. ISBN: 9780124158474 (Print), 9780124159754 (eBook).

Lambrecht BN, <u>Neyt K</u>, GeurtsvanKessel CH, Hammad H. 2013. Lung dendritic cells and pulmonary defense mechanisms to bacteria. In Prince A (Ed.), Mucosal immunology of acute bacterial pneumonia. Springer Science+Business Media New York. ISBN: 978-1-4614-5325-3 (Print), 978-1-4614-5326-0 (Online).

Lambrecht BN, <u>Neyt K</u>, GeurtsvanKessel CH. 2011. Pulmonary defense mechanisms and inflammatory pathways in bronchiectasis. In Floto RA & Haworth CS (Eds.), European respiratory monograph 52: Bronchiectasis. ISBN:978-1-84984-011-8.

Oral presentations

NVVI Annual Meeting 2013, Noordwijkerhout – The Netherlands

The innate cytokine IL-1alpha is necessary and sufficient for formation of tertiary lymphoid tissues following influenza A virus infection

The Innate Immune Response in the Pathogenesis of Infectious Disease, Keystone Symposium 2013, Ouro Preto - Brasil The innate cytokine IL-1alpha is necessary and sufficient for formation of tertiary lymphoid tissues following influenza A virus infection Keystone Scholarship

VIB seminar 2013, Blankenberge – Belgium The innate cytokine IL-1alpha is necessary and sufficient for formation of tertiary lymphoid tissues following influenza A virus infection

NVVI Winterschool 2012, Noordwijkerhout – The Netherlands The innate cytokine IL-1alpha is necessary and sufficient for formation of tertiary lymphoid tissues following influenza A virus infection

4<sup>th</sup> ESWI influenza conference 2011, Malta The role of CD4-CD8- double negative T cells during influenza virus infection Young scientist award

Poster presentations

The Innate Immune Response in the Pathogenesis of Infectious Disease, Keystone Symposium 2013, Ouro Preto - Brasil

The innate cytokine IL-1alpha is necessary and sufficient for formation of tertiary lymphoid tissues following influenza A virus infection

NVVI Annual Meeting 2011, Noordwijkerhout – The Netherlands The role of CD4-CD8- double negative T cells during influenza virus infection

Additional courses and workshops Course in virology; Erasmus MC Rotterdam Entrepreneurship in life sciences; VIB Microscopy summer school; VIB Quality research skills; doctoral schools UGent Leadership foundation; doctoral schools UGent Project management; doctoral schools UGent Effective scientific communication; doctoral schools UGent Populair-wetenschappelijk schrijven; doctoral schools UGent Advanced academic English, writing skills; doctoral schools UGent Statistics (basics of statistical interference, ANOVA), doctoral schools UGent

# Dankwoord

Het feit dat jullie dit boekje lezen betekent dat mijn doctoraatsperiode tot een einde gekomen is. De afgelopen jaren zijn er heel wat personen de revue gepasseerd die elk hun eigen bijdrage hebben geleverd om tot dit resultaat te komen. Daarom wil ik hen van harte danken in deze laatste pagina's van mijn boekje.

Allereerst is er natuurlijk de promotor van dit werk: Prof. Lambrecht. Bart, bij jou begon alles. Onze eerste ontmoeting staat nog levendig in mijn geheugen gegrift en hoewel de "In de Gloria" sketches nooit meer hetzelfde zullen zijn ben ik toch in de eerste plaats zeer tevreden dat ik het geluk had om mijn masterthesis bij jou in het lab te mogen doen. Toen je me voorstelde om het werk van mijn thesis verder te zetten in een doctoraat heb ik geen seconde getwijfeld. Jammer genoeg was het geen vloeiend traject, maar na wat rondzwerven zijn we uiteindelijk toch op een mooi pad beland. Het is een zeer leerrijke tijd geweest en jouw enthousiasme en wetenschappelijke kennis blijven me nog elke dag verbazen.

Bedankt voor de kans die je me geeft om het contractwerk voor bedrijven te coördineren. Werken in een lab waar zo veel mogelijk is en met zo'n toffe collega's is echt een voorrecht!

Corine, na een valse start met mijn project, nam ik van jou het iBALT project over. Het was zeker niet evident: jij in Rotterdam, ik in Gent. Toch hebben we er samen het beste van gemaakt en stond je altijd paraat om raad en feedback te geven. Ook onze meetings in Rotterdam waren steeds nuttig. Ik apprecieer het enorm dat je ondanks de drukte met je opleiding en eigen onderzoek ook nog tijd voor mij wist vrij te maken.

Martin, het heeft me wat tijd gekost om jouw aandacht te trekken, maar deel mogen uitmaken van jouw Onset groep en meegezogen worden door je grenzeloos enthousiasme was voor mij een enorme boost. We hebben op korte tijd heel wat werk verzet en dat heeft me heel veel bijgeleerd.

To all the people in the lab: I really enjoyed working with you! You are very nice colleagues but also good friends. I had great times during the laboutings and parties but also the atmosphere in the lab is amazing. It's good to know that everybody is willing to help and support each other when necessary!

To the people of the onset group: thanks for adopting me into your group. It was great for me to finally fit in and to be able to discuss about the projects. Especially Charlie, thanks a lot for helping me with the manuscripts and experimental tips and tricks. Your input made everything so much better!

Filipe, thanks for being my supervisor during my master thesis. Although we are very different, I learned a lot from you during my first steps in the lab. Together with Wendy you also learned me a lot about life. Thanks for supporting me!

Ruth, bedankt om gaatjes te maken in Bart zijn agenda en de administratie voor jouw rekening te nemen. Zonder jou zou het lab zoveel stroever draaien.

Justine, Manon, Sofie, José, Karl, Gert, en Kim: jullie zijn echt goud waard als technicians. Super hoe jullie altijd voor iedereen klaar staan en tijdens drukke experimenten wat rust brengen omdat we weten dat onze muisjes en stalen bij jullie in goede handen zijn.

Leen, bedankt om alle rederivaties in goede banen te leiden, dankzij jou was de overstap van het UZ naar het VIB toch iets makkelijker. Hamida and Kim, thanks for helping me with the imaging of iBALT lungs.

Mijn mededoctoraatsstudenten: Dorine, Eline, Julie, Katrien, Lana, Martijn, Nincy, Simon. Soms leek het meer op een zelfhulpgroep want als er iemand een verzetje, een duwtje in de rug of een kroontje op de shit nodig had konden we op elkaar rekenen. Het was super om met jullie samen te werken! Ook de nieuwere garde heeft zich al fantastisch geïntegreerd en ingewerkt: Bastiaan, Cedric, Jessica, Mathias, Ines, Anneleen en Wouter. Veel succes met de komende jaren en vergeet niet: ooit komt het goed!

Nele, bedankt om je ervaringen rond het schrijven en afwerken van een doctoraat met mij te delen. Succes met je carrièrewending als wetenschappelijk coördinator. Je doet het super!

Monique, Maud en Hamida, het was fijn om met jullie te kunnen KLIKen en TAMen! Monique, een extra dankjewel om me wegwijs te maken in de wereld van IL-1.

Liesbet en Ivan, bio-IT is een ander universum voor mij dus jullie hulp bij het verwerken van de micro-array data is van onschatbare waarde geweest.

Philippe Pouliot, thanks for all the help with the molecular part of my research. You were very energetic and always there to answer questions. You were the one that told me that it is really not worth being unhappy about lab-troubles. It is not always easy, but I try to keep it in mind! You were a really amazing colleague and a very good mentor. I'm happy you found your way outside academia and wish you and your family all the best!

Mirjam en Ismé, jullie zijn terug naar Rotterdam maar ook van jullie heb ik veel geleerd en ik bewaar mooie herinneringen aan jullie. Bedankt voor de enthousiaste ontvangst als ik in Rotterdam op bezoek kwam.

Een virologieproject doen binnen een astmagroep was een grote uitdaging. Heel veel mensen hebben me met raad en daad bijgestaan om dit tot een goed einde te brengen.

Eerst en vooral de virologie groep van Xavier Saelens: bij jullie kon ik steeds terecht met al mijn vragen. Michael, de kleinste vraag kreeg van jou het meest uitgebreide antwoord, ook vanop afstand in New York. Jouw kritische blik en helpvolle discussies hebben zeker bijgedragen tot het eindresultaat. Tine, bedankt om mij te helpen bij de eerste titerbepalingen en andere virus-gerelateerde technieken. Anouk, bedankt voor het uitzaaien van de MDCK cellen.

Vervolgens iets verder van huis: de virologiegroep in Rotterdam waar ook Joost en Rogier altijd klaar stonden voor advies en waar ik virus leerde opkweken.

Er zijn ook heel wat mensen die achter de schermen werken, maar toch onontbeerlijk zijn voor het vlotte verloop van onderzoek en ook deze mensen verdienen een plekje in dit dankwoord.

Ingrid, Marit, Chantal, Lut, Lynn, Deborah, Evelien en Johan van het animalarium in het UZ: bedankt om voor onze muisjes te zorgen. Ook de caretakers van het VIB samen met Daisy, Katrien en Patricia verdienen een dankjewel voor de dagelijkse zorgen voor onze muizen en om de transfers tussen het VIB en het UZ vlot te laten verlopen.

Charly en Geert, bedankt voor alle creatieve oplossingen en herstellingen aan onze toestellen, jullie handen zijn goud waard!

Christiane en Ann van de keuken en Nancy van de stockruimte, dankzij jullie hebben we altijd voldoende materiaal in het lab, waarvoor dank!

Verder zijn er nog het ICT team en Chantal, Marita en de andere mensen van het secretariaat die ervoor zorgen dat alles blijft draaien die een pluim verdienen. "The rockiest roads lead to the highest peaks". Gelukkig zijn er heel wat mensen die mij op het pad gehouden hebben toen het wel heel hobbelig werd: Mary, Lianne, Charlie en Martin bedankt voor jullie begrip, medeleven, het delen van jullie ervaringen en goede raad. Katrien Aelvoet, bedankt om op het juiste moment op mijn rem te staan. Je was een fantastische steun en uitlaatklep. Jessica, ook jij was er voor een babbel en een motiverend woord op moeilijke momenten en daar ben ik zeer dankbaar voor. Je koos zelf voor een niet zo voor de hand liggend traject, maar ik bewonder je enorm voor je moed en doorzettingsvermogen. Ik wens je nog heel veel succes voor de toekomst, welke kant je ook op gaat!

Delphine(mienemaximeid), klaagmuur, bestie, super bedankt om altijd klaar te staan voor een lach, een traan, een knuffel, een goeie babbel, shopping- en wellnessuitjes en ga zo maar door. Zonder jou zou het maar een grijze boel zijn, dus handjes in de lucht voor jou!

Kevin - gauven oil – Verwimp, bedankt voor de creatieve bijdrage aan dit boekje en voor de leuke momenten in den oil.

Dirk, bedankt om deze bijzondere dag te vereeuwigen op film.

Linda en Johny, bedankt om de catering voor julie rekening te nemen.

Moeke en vake, het feit dat dit boekje hier ligt is voor een groot deel aan jullie te danken. Bedankt voor alle kansen die jullie me gegeven hebben en voor de steun, welke weg ik ook op ging.

Sara, vroeger kon het af en toe wel eens botsen tussen ons, maar nu we die streken ontgroeid zijn geniet ik er van om met mijn zusje op te trekken om leuke dingen te doen en om de frustraties even te luchten.

Andert, Seppe en Ferre, bedankt voor de glimlach die jullie spontaan op mijn gezicht kunnen toveren. Jullie kinderlijke oprechtheid brengt zoveel relativering met zich mee! Liefste oma, wat had ik graag gehad dat je vandaag nog eens een kaarsje voor me kon branden. Je was altijd geïnteresseerd hoe het met mijn muizekes ging en super fier. Van jou heb ik heel wat studiediscipline meegekregen en dat heeft me bij het werken aan m'n doctoraat zeker geholpen.

Liefste Robin, in het heetst van de strijd kruisten onze paden. Ik heb het je zeker niet gemakkelijk gemaakt, maar waarom zouden we de gemakkelijke weg kiezen? Bedankt voor alle steun en om me op de juiste momenten rechtuit te zeggen waar het op staat. Vandaag zijn we een nieuwe hindernis voorbij en kan Team Hermans op naar de volgende uitdaging!

Katrijn